
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Fields

AGENDA March 18, 2015

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Fields

Presentation Mayor Coppinger Proclaiming UT / TSU Extension Month - Agenda Session Only

Minutes Recessed Meeting - February 25, 2015

Minutes Agenda Meeting - February 25, 2015

Minutes Regular Meeting - March 4, 2015

Report Order of Designation - Planning Commission - Todd Leamon - March 9, 2015

Report Hixson Utility District Board of Commissioners - Reappointment of Kenneth W. Rich.

Report Juvenile Court Clerk's Report November and December 2014

Res. No. 315-15 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions.

Res. No. 315-16 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor and County Clerk to renew a contract with Business
Information Systems (BIS) for the annual maintenance of a motor vehicle system software
package for a contract period ending June 30, 2020 at a cost of $15,000.00 annually.

Res. No. 315-17 A Resolution to accept a donation in the amount of $12,500 from the AEGIS Foundation of
Greater Chattanooga to be used to purchase body cameras and associated equipment upon
selected patrol officers.

Res. No. 315-18 A Resolution accepting the proposal of Securus Technologies to provide inmate video visitation
for the Hamilton County Jail and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contract necessary
to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 315-19 A Resolution accepting the bids of Acme Supply Company, Ltd., Bob Barker Company, Inc.,
HBD Inc. dba Pacific Concepts, ICS Jail Supplies, Inc., Carolina Textiles, Idel International
Trading, Inc., and  Uniform Manufacturing, Inc., for one (1) year contract pricing, beginning
March 20, 2015, through March 19, 2016, for clothing and miscellaneous items for the Sheriff’s
Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this
Resolution.

Res. No. 315-20 A Resolution accepting the proposal of Harwood International Corporation for a storage area
network (SAN) solution amounting to $73,647.90 for the Sheriff’s Department and authorizing
the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 315-21 A Resolution to rezone from R2-A Rural Residential District to M-2 Wholesale and Light Industry
District, property located at 8537 Highway 58.

Res. No. 315-22 A Resolution to rezone from A-1 Agricultural District to R-1 Single Family Residential District,
properties located at 7527 and 7579 McDaniel Lane and 8324 Providence Road.

Res. No. 315-23 A Resolution granting a Special Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development for
properties located at 7527 and 7579 McDaniel Lane and 8324 Providence Road.

Res. No. 315-24 A Resolution granting a special permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development for properties
located at 2607 & 2631 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.

Res. No. 315-24B A Resolution Granting a Special Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development for
properties located at 2607 & 2631 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.

Res. No. 315-25A A Resolution to rezone from R-2A Rural Residential District & R-3 Apartment-Townhouse District
to C-2 Local Business Commercial District, properties located at 8603 and 8699 North Hickory
Valley Road.

Res. No. 315-25B A Resolution to rezone from R-2A Rural Residential District & R-3 Apartment-Townhouse District
to C-2 Local Business Commercial District, properties located at 8603 and 8699 North Hickory
Valley Road.



Res. No. 315-26 A Resolution accepting the unit price bids of MXN Corporation and CMS Communications
beginning March 18, 2015, through November 18, 2015, for HP data communications
equipment for the Telecommunications Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign
any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 315-27 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to execute all documents necessary for Hamilton
County to enter into a consulting agreement with Russ Blakely & Associates, LLC at an annual
cost of $11,000.

Res. No. 315-28 A Resolution accepting the bid of Lee Smith, Inc. for two (2) single axle dump trucks and
equipment amounting to $247,652.00 for the Highway Department and authorizing the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 315-29 A Resolution accepting the bids of Barky Beaver Mulch & Soil, Inc. and Bliss Products &
Services, Inc. for contract unit pricing, beginning March 18, 2015, through March 17, 2017, for
woodcarpet for playgrounds and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary
to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 315-30 A Resolution accepting the bid of NAFECO for six (6) fire training air packs amounting to
$33,660.00 for Emergency Services and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts
necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 315-31 A Resolution accepting the bid of Special Touch Lawn Care Service for one (1) year contract
pricing, beginning April 6, 2015, through April 5, 2016, for landscape maintenance for EMS
Stations and Sheriff’s Annexes for the Recreation Department and to authorize the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 315-32 A Resolution adding Hazardous Materials/Waste Remediation Services to the list of
professional, technical, and consultant services that may be obtained subject to Section 4.2.4.k
of the Purchasing Rules for Hamilton County.

Res. No. 315-33 A Resolution authorizing Hamilton County to make an intergovernmental transfer to the State of
Tennessee's TennCare Program in order to secure additional funding from the State of
Tennessee's Public Hospital Supplemental Payment Pool ("PHSPP") for the
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Hospital Authority ("Erlanger").

Res. No. 315-34 A Resolution of the Legislative Body of Hamilton County, Tennessee, authorizing the issuance of
interest-bearing general obligation bonds, Series 2015A of Hamilton County, Tennessee in an
amount not to exceed $75,000,000 and interest-bearing general obligation refunding bonds,
Series 2015B of Hamilton County, Tennessee in an amount not to exceed $57,000,000; and
providing for the payment of the bonds.

Res. No. 315-35 A Resolution to authorize an employer participating the the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement
System to change from its existing regular defined benefit plan to either the alternate defined
benefit plan or the local government hybrid plan in accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated,
Title 8, Chapter 35, Part 2, or to the hybrid retirement plan for State employees and teachers in
accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8, Chapter 36, Part 9.

Res. No. 315-36 A Resolution to allow a Political Subdivision of the State of Tennessee to contribute to a tax
deferred retirement plan in accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8, Chapters
34-37.

Res. No. 315-37 A Resolution to participate in a 401(K) Defined Contribution Plan offered by the State of
Tennessee pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-25-111(A).

Res. No. 315-38 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to execute a contract between the State of
Tennessee, Department of Health and Hamilton County, Tennessee, Health Services Division,
operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department for the provision of a tobacco
use prevention program, using funds from the State of Tennessee, Department of Health in the
amount not to exceed $79,400.00 for the period beginning April 1, 2015, ending March 31, 2017,
which includes $13,700.00 that is already budgeted for the current fiscal year ending June 30,
2015.

Res. No. 315-39 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to sign a continuation contract with the Tennessee
Department of Health and Hamilton County, Tennessee, the Health Services Division, operating
as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department, for the fiscal year 2015 - 2016 contract
period, in an amount not to exceed $247,500.00 to provide home visits in accordance with the
Department of Health’s Children’s Special Services (CSS) program guidelines.



Res. No. 315-40 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to sign a
continuation contract with the Tennessee Department of Health for the time period July 1, 2015
through June 30, 2016, in the  amount of $230,000.00 to provide for the coordination of Fetal
Infant Mortality Review and Community Infant Mortality Reduction services in accordance with
the Tennessee Department of Health’s guidelines.

Res. No. 315-41 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to accept a two-year $250,000.00 grant, beginning
April 1, 2015 and ending March 31, 2017, from the Office on Violence Against Women (OVW) to
continue supervised visitation and exchange services for eligible families.

Res. No. 315-42 A Resolution appropriating twenty thousand dollars ($20,000.00) to the Mountain Education
Foundation from the discretionary funds of Commission District Two.

Res. No. 315-43 A Resolution to make certain findings relating to the Choo Choo Partners, LP Project, to
delegate certain authority to the Health, Educational, and Housing Facility Board of the City of
Chattanooga, Tennessee, and to authorize the County Mayor to enter into and execute an
agreement for payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 
 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  February 25, 2015 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 25th day of February, 2015, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman. County Clerk Bill 

Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Fields.  Total 

present - 9.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 
 

 2

PRESENTATION – UTC MOCS FOOTBALL TEAM SUBDIVISION PLAYOFFS 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks and Commissioner Smedley honored the University of 

Tennessee at Chattanooga Mocs football team for advancing to the Football 

Championship Subdivision Playoffs for the first time since 1984. Commissioner 

Fairbanks read from a press release that highlighted the Mocs record breaking finish for 

the 2014 Season. Commissioner Fairbanks introduced Senior Associate Athletic 

Director, Andrew Horton; Head Coach, Russ Huesman; Director of Football Operations, 

Carter Crutchfield; and Chattanooga Mocs football players, Keionta Davis and Jacob 

Huesman. They were given a round of applause.  Commissioner Fairbanks 

congratulated the staff and players for their 2014 season, and thanked them for the 

excitement and recognition they brought to Chattanooga.  

  

 Commissioner Smedley presented the team with a plaque on behalf of the 

officials and citizens of Hamilton County. She congratulated them on posting their first 

10 win season in 107 years, a 10-4 overall record, and for a perfect record of 7 wins 

against 0 losses in the Southern Conference. Commissioner Smedley also thanked the 

staff and players for their excellent spirit of sportsmanship and competition in bringing 

prestige and recognition to Hamilton County and its citizens.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 
 

 3

 Coach Russ Huesman thanked the Commission on behalf of the group for 

today’s recognition. 

 

 Commissioner Mackey and Mayor Coppinger each commended Coach Huesman 

for maintaining a high standard for his players on and off the field. 

 

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Fields indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered as 

follows: 

 The Trustee’s Excess Fee Report and Monthly Report for January 2015 would be 
submitted for the record. 

 Resolution No. 315-1 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

 Resolutions No. 315-4A and 315-4B were assigned to the Zoning Committee, 
chaired by Commissioner Haynes. 

 Resolutions No. 315-5 through 315-9, and 315-12 were assigned to the Finance 
Committee, chaired by Commissioner Graham.  

 Resolution No.  315-13 was assigned to the Legal and Legislative Committee, 
chaired by Commissioner Bankston.  

 Resolutions No. 315-2, 315-3, 315-10, 315-11, and 315-14 would be heard by 
the Committee of the Whole 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 
 

 4

Chairman Fields stated that Resolution No. 315-2 would now be heard by the 

Committee of the Whole. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 315-2 

 

 This item confirms the reappointment of Hicks Armor by the County Mayor to the 

Carter Street Corporation Board of Directors for a term ending March 4, 2019. There 

were no questions regarding this Resolution.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 315-3 

 

 Assessor of Property, Bill Bennett, spoke regarding the Resolution which would 

proclaim the month of March 2015 as Myeloma Awareness Month. Assessor Bennett 

spoke about his diagnosis of multiple myeloma in July 2008, his treatment in a medical 

center in Tampa Florida, and the recovery process that followed. He stated that 

because of the medication, help from family, and prayers he received during that time, 

he was fortunate to be in remission. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 
 

 5

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 315-10 

 

Finance Administrator, Albert Kiser, spoke regarding the Resolution which would  

begin the process of issuing $132 million dollars in bonds with the intent of financing 

new capital projects, paying off $35 million dollars in the line of credit, and refunding 

some previously issued bonds issued in 2009 and 2011 that have a higher interest rate. 

He  explained that refunding those previously issued bonds would result in a significant 

savings.  

 

Mr. Kiser briefly described a handout which was previously distributed to the 

Commissioners that outlined the dollar amounts for this project. He noted that it was 

important to allow for market and interest rate fluctuations. Mr. Kiser explained that 

Resolution No. 315-10 set the parameters for the project and served as a public notice 

that new debt would be issued in an amount not to exceed $40 million dollars. It was 

noted that this Resolution does not approve the issuance of new bonds. Mr. Kiser 

added that a Resolution would be coming before the Commission in the near future that 

would seek to authorize the issuance and the final terms of the bonds.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Haynes question, Mr. Kiser clarified that the 

savings from refunding previously issued bonds would be seen in the form of fewer debt 

payments.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 
 

 6

 

 Commissioner Graham clarified that the refinance of previously issued bonds 

does not increase the term or the principal balance. He also clarified that if the market 

flucuates and it is no longer benefical  to sell the bonds, the financial staff can choose 

not to do so.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Fairbanks question, Mr. Kiser explained that only 

the necessary amount of bonds would be issued.  

 

 Chairman Fields distributed a copy of the handout to Clerk Knowles to be made a 

matter of record.  

  

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 315-11 

 

 Mr. Kiser spoke regarding this item that would approve the selection of bond 

counsel and a financial aid advisor to assist with the proposed issuance of new general 

obligation bonds. There were no questions concerning this Resolution. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 
 

 7

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 315-13 

 

 Chairman Fields indicated that according to Commission rules of procedure, 

Resolution No. 315-13 must first go before the Legal and Legislative Committee, 

chaired by Commissioner Bankston, before it can be presented to the Commission. This 

item was not heard by the Committee of the Whole. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 315-14 

 

 County Attorney Taylor spoke regarding this item which would allow narcotics 

and patrol dogs to be donated to their respective Sheriff’s Department handlers upon 

their retirement from service.  

 

 Sheriff’s Department Director of Administration, Don Gorman, added that this 

Resolution would release the County’s liability while also making sure the dogs are 

either placed with their handlers, or an appropriate organization that would house them 

after they are retired.   

 

 Commissioner Boyd thanked Attorney Taylor for bringing this item to the 

Commission. He clarified that the reason he had asked for this Resolution was to make 

sure the animals could live out their natural lives unattached to the County.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 
 

 8

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for announcements from members of the Commission.  

 

To accommodate members of the audience, Commissioner Haynes, Chairman of 

the Zoning Committee, announced that the Zoning Committee would meet in the 

Commission Room after the Finance Committee.   

 

Commissioner Graham, Chairman of the Finance Committee, announced that 

the Finance Committee would have a brief meeting in the Commission Room following 

today’s meeting.   

 

Commissioner Bankston, Chairman of the Legal and Legislative Committee, 

announced that the Legal and Legislative Committee would meet in the conference 

room following today’s meeting.  

 

Commissioner Boyd announced that the joint meetings of the Education 

Committee and the Facilities Planning Committee had been rescheduled to March 18th 

at CSLA at 8:00 am. He invited the public and the media to attend.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 
 

 9

Commissioner Boyd issued a public apology to members of the Commission, the 

Mayor, and Jennifer Stanley as well as her husband for comments made during the 

February 4th Commission meeting. These comments pertained to her suitability to 

continue service on the Board at Erlanger Hospital.  He added that his announced 

assessments as to Mrs. Stanley’s character, or her husband’s character were in error, 

and based on news articles printed in the Times Free Press and the Chattanoogan.com. 

 

Commissioner Graham commended Commissioner Boyd for his public apology. 

He also explained that a late item would be added to the agenda at next week’s meeting 

which would proclaim March 9th Luther Masingill Day.  

 

Commissioner Haynes recognized members of the audience that attended 

today’s meeting, and thanked them for the input regarding Resolution Nos. 315-4A and 

315-4B.  

 

Mayor Coppinger thanked Commissioner Boyd for his public apology. He noted 

that citizens serving on boards are volunteers who are willing to give of their time. He 

expressed thanks to them for helping move Hamilton County forward.  

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 
 

 10

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for delegations on matters other than zoning.  

 

Mark West residing at 2315 Heavenly View Drive Ooltewah, TN 37363 

addressed the Commission. Mr. West spoke briefly about his resistance to PILOT 

programs, and encouraged the Commission to give tax breaks equally among 

developers.  

 

Commissioner Graham clarified that PILOT programs are designed to help areas 

of Chattanooga be more sustainable and grow. He added that any project or developer 

that qualifies for a PILOT agreement may make application.  

 

In response to Mr. West’s comments, Commissioner Mackey agreed that tax 

breaks should be given equally or not at all.  

 

 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 
 

 11

 

Being no further business, Chairman Fields declared the meeting recessed until 

Wednesday, March 4th at 9:30 AM. 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 
           

_______  
Date     Clerk’s Initials 
 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  February 25, 2015 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 25th day of February, 2015, a 

Recessed Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun 

and held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County 

Commission Room, when the following proceedings were held, to wit: -- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman.  County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, 

Commissioner Beck, Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

Commissioner Graham, Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, 

Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Fields.    Total present – 9.  Total absent 

-0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his  

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill 

McGriff. 

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 

 2

Commissioner Beck introduced Senior Pastor Elton L. Young, Mount 

Paran Missionary Baptist Church, who gave the invocation.  Commissioner Beck 

led in the pledge to the flag. 

 

Chairman Fields announced that there was not any scheduled business 

for the Recessed Meeting and asked if anyone had any announcements. 

 

Chairman Fields announced that Hamilton County Schools would be 

closing at twelve o’clock today due to inclement weather.  

 

Chairman Fields addressed Commissioner Beck, Chairman of the Building 

and Economic Development Committee, to look into the specifics of the PILOT 

program currently being administered by River City Company, in conjunction with 

the Mayor’s office and the County Attorney, and report to the Commission with 

any recommendations.  

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

FEBRUARY 25, 2015 
 

 3

Being no further business Chairman Fields declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

     

Respectfully submitted: 

 

____________________________________ 
William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 

 

 

Approved: 

 

____     
Date      Clerk’s Initials 
 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  March 4, 2015 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 4th day of March, 2015, a Regular Meeting of 

the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the Courthouse, 

in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the following 

proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman.  County Clerk 

Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Fields. Total 

present - 9.  Total absent – 0.  

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his  

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 

 Commissioner Fields introduced Reverend Mark K. McCrory of First Lutheran 

Church who gave the invocation.  Commissioner Fields led in the pledge to the flag.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 2

PROCLAMATION TO HONOR LUTHER MASINGILL 

 

 Mayor Coppinger presented a Proclamation declaring March 9th of each year as 

Luther Masingill Day and urged County citizens to recognize the many contributions Mr. 

Masingill made to Hamilton County. Mayor Coppinger asked members of the Masingill 

family to come forward to receive the Proclamation, as well as News Channel 3 

personality, David Carroll. Mr. Masingill’s daughter, Joanie Brown, introduced Mr. 

Masingill’s wife, Mary Masingill, and youngest grandson, Evan Brown.   

  

 Mayor Coppinger asked Deputy Clerk Carrie Godwin to read the Proclamation 

into the record.  

 

 Mayor Coppinger highlighted Mr. Masingill’s 73 years of service as a broadcaster 

in Chattanooga. He spoke about the love Mr. Masingill had for his community, and how 

he often turned down job opportunities in other areas so he could remain in 

Chattanooga. He added that Mr. Masingill remains a well-respected icon in 

Chattanooga and Hamilton County.  

 

 Mayor Coppinger introduced David Carroll to the audience and members of the 

Commission. Mr. Carroll acknowledged several members of the media in the audience 

including Luther’s co-worker James Howard, and pointed out a painting in the 

Commission Room that portrays Mr. Masingill sitting on the seat of his car. Mr. Carroll 

spoke about Mr. Masingill’s years of service in broadcasting and the records he has set 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 3

for his longevity. Mr. Carroll added that in recent recognition of Mr. Masingill, part of 

South Broad Street was renamed in his honor, he was inducted into the Tennessee 

Radio Hall of Fame and the National Radio Hall of Fame, and he was featured on CBS 

news and other national publications. Mr. Carroll also encouraged citizens to perform 

random acts of kindness in honor of Mr. Masingill.  

 

 Members of the Masingill family were thanked and shook hands with each 

member of the Commission.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Bankston, seconded by Commissioner Haynes, 

that the minutes of the Recessed Meeting of February 11, 2015, the Agenda 

Preparation Session of February 11, 2015, the Regular Meeting of February 18, 2015 

be approved, treat same as read, made a matter of record and filed.  The foregoing 

Motion was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the 

County Commission being present and voting as follows:  Commissioner Bankston, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd , “Aye”; Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Fields, 

“Aye”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 4

TRUSTEE’S EXCESS FEE REPORT 

 

The Trustee’s excess fee report for January 2015 was submitted and made a 

matter of record.  

 

TRUSTEE’S MONTHLY REPORT 

 

The Trustee’s monthly report for January 2015 was submitted and made a matter 

of record.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 315-1  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE OATH OF DEPUTY 

COUNTY CLERK, THE OATH OF DEPUTY SHERIFF, AND THE OATH OF MEMBER 

OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS HAMILTON COUNTY RAILROAD AUTHORITY. 

 

Chairman Fields stated he wished to abstain from voting due to a conflict of 

interest. He was listed as a notary public applicant on the resolution. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Haynes, to 

adopt Resolution No. 315-1.  The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows:  Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 5

Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”; Chairman Fields abstained from voting. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.  Total Abstentions – 1.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 315-2  A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE REAPPOINTMENT 

BY THE COUNTY MAYOR OF ONE MEMBER TO THE CARTER STREET 

CORPORATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR A TERM ENDING MARCH 4, 2019. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Bankston, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, 

to adopt Resolution No. 315-2.  The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows:  Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”;  

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total 

“Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 315-3  A RESOLUTION PROCLAIMING THE MONTH OF MARCH 

2015 AS MYELOMA AWARENESS MONTH 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 315-3.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 6

Commissioner Beck welcomed Assessor of Property Bill Bennett to speak about 

this item. Assessor Bennett spoke about his diagnosis of multiple myeloma in July 2008, 

his treatment in a medical center in Tampa Florida, and the recovery process that 

followed. He stated that because of the medication, help from family, and prayers he 

received during that time, he was fortunate to be in remission since 2009.  

 

Mr. Bennett introduced Linda Huguelet, leader of the Chattanooga Multiple 

Myeloma Networking Group. Ms. Huguelet thanked the Commission for the show of 

support for myeloma awareness. She provided additional details regarding the 

symptoms of the illness and noted that early detection is crucial for prognosis and 

therapy. 

 

 The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows:  

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 315-4A  A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A RURAL 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, A-1 AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT AND C-2 LOCAL 

BUSINESS COMMERCIAL DISTRICT TO C-2 LOCAL BUSINESS COMMERCIAL 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 7

DISTRICT, PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 1704 & 1714 THRASHER PIKE AND 1636 & 

7640 MIDDLE VALLEY ROAD 

 

NO ACTION WAS TAKEN ON RESOLUTION NO. 315-4A. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 315-4B  A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A RURAL 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, A-1 AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT AND C-2 LOCAL 

BUSINESS COMMERCIAL DISTRICT TO C-2 LOCAL BUSINESS COMMERCIAL 

DISTRICT, PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 1704 & 1714 THRASHER PIKE AND 1636 & 

7640 MIDDLE VALLEY ROAD 

 

 Commissioner Haynes provided details regarding Resolution No. 315-4A and 

315-4B. He spoke about the discussion that took place during the Zoning Committee 

meeting after the February 25th Agenda Session. Commissioner Haynes stated publicly 

his opposition to these items and added the Zoning Committee would not be making a 

recommendation to approve.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 315-4B. 

 

Commissioner Mackey spoke about last week’s Zoning Committee meeting and 

acknowledged the present opposition to this project. He noted that the Regional 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 8

Planning Agency brought a recommendation to approve before the Commission and 

added that there would be significant benefits to the area with this development.  

 

Commissioner Graham thanked members of the audience for being present. He 

stated that the Commission took this matter very seriously, and that his decision to 

support this development came after thorough research and discussion with the public.  

 

Chairman Fields asked for clarification on whether the Commission should be 

discussing Resolution No. 315-4A or 315-4B. 

 

Attorney Taylor directed the question to Regional Planning Agency Executive 

Director, John Bridger. Mr. Bridger clarified that Resolution 315-4A was the applicant’s 

initial request with no conditions, while 315-4B contains the conditions that were 

recommended by the staff of the Regional Planning Commission. He added that 

Resolution 315-4B is the Resolution the RPA recommended for approval.  

 

 Attorney Taylor noted that zoning items are advertised as public hearings and 

therefore require the Commission to hear public comments.  He indicated it was the 

Chairman’s discretion as to whether the committee meeting following last week’s 

agenda session had met that public hearing requirement. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 9

 Commissioner Haynes added that he would consider supporting Resolution No. 

315-4B if the new school in Middle Valley was already built to help alleviate some of the 

traffic problems in that area.  

 

 Commissioner Mackey added that the construction of the school across the 

street from the proposed development was a result of these types of projects that pay 

taxes.  

 

 Commissioner Fields asked if there were any members of the audience that 

wished to speak about this Resolution.  

 

 Debbie McKinney residing at 1648 West Colorado Street Hixson, TN 37343 

spoke in opposition of Resolution 315-4B. She stated that she was concerned that this 

project would negatively affect her quality of life. She read a quote from the founder of 

Walmart, Sam Walton, noting that the chain would not go into neighborhoods where the 

citizens were opposed to it.  

 

 Julie Bomar residing at 7625 Lennox Trace Drive Hixson, TN 37343 spoke in 

opposition of Resolution 315-4B. She added that she was not opposed to economic 

development, but she was concerned that the proposed development would be too 

large for a residential area.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 10

 Michael Dupree residing at 7622 Wimpton Lane Hixson, TN 37343 added that 

this project would accelerate the need to make Middle Valley Road a five lane road at a 

high cost to all districts.  

 

 Paul Ware residing at 989 Wyndsor Drive Hixson, TN 37343 spoke in opposition 

to Resolution 315-4B. He explained that the increased traffic flow would disturb the 

quiet neighborhood. He added that he was concerned about this development being too 

large for the proposed location.  

 

 Kristie Jackson residing at 6639 Fairview Road Hixson, TN 37343 spoke in favor 

of Resolution 315-4B citing a petition she took showing there were more people in 

support of this development than against it. She asked the Commission to vote in favor 

of this Resolution to help progress Middle Valley.  

 

 Matt Phillips, Vice President of Real Estate of the Hutton Company and 

developer for this project, spoke in favor of Resolution 315-4B. He spoke about a third-

party poll given to registered voters in District 3 in which 675 total calls were received 

with 66 percent voting yes, 28 percent voting no, and 6 percent no opinion. Mr. Phillips 

noted that most of the signatures on the petition Ms. Jackson spoke about were within a 

one and half mile radius of the project location. Mr. Phillips spoke in detail about the 

jobs this project would potentially create, and the salaries those employees would be 

paid.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 11

 In response to Commissioner Hayne’s question, Mr. Phillips clarified that the 

hours of operation of the fuel center and convenience store located at the corner of 

Middle Valley Road and Thrasher Pike would be from 6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. The 

pharmacy would be open from 6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m., and the grocery store would be 

open 24 hours every day.  

  

Rosabelle Gorman residing at 8684 Arbutus Drive Hixson, TN 37343 added that 

a new business would not necessarily generate new tax revenue.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley addressed the audience about whether the 10:00 p.m. 

closing had an impact on their support or opposition. The audience indicated this was 

the first time they had heard about a convenience store being located at the gas pumps. 

 

The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows:  

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Nay”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Nay”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, 

“Nay”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner Smedley, “Nay”; and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 5.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 4.   

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 12

RESOLUTION NO. 315-10  AN INITIAL RESOLUTION OF THE LEGISLATIVE BODY 

OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF 

INTEREST-BEARING GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OF HAMILTON COUNTY, 

TENNESSEE, IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 

$40,000,000, TO BE ISSUED IN ONE OR MORE SERIES, TO FINANCE OR 

REFINANCE CERTAIN SCHOOL PROJECTS AND VARIOUS OTHER PUBLIC 

WORKS PROJECTS IN HAMILTON COUNTY PURSUANT TO SECTION 9-21-101, 

ET. SEQ., OF THE TENNESSEE CODE ANNOTATED. 

 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 315-10.   

 

Commissioner Boyd spoke regarding this item which would begin the process of 

issuing $132 million dollars in bonds with the intent of financing new capital projects, 

paying off $35 million dollars in the line of credit, and refunding some previously issued 

bonds issued in 2009 and 2011 that have a higher interest rate. It was noted that there 

would be a significant savings in interest to the County as a result of refunding the 

previously issued bonds. Commissioner Boyd commeneded the Mayor’s staff for their 

diligent work.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 13

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows:  

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 315-11  A RESOLUTION OF THE LEGISLATIVE BODY OF 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, APPROVING THE SELECTION OF BOND 

COUNSEL AND A FINANCIAL ADVISOR IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROPOSED 

ISSUANCE BY THE COUNTY OF ITS GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to 

adopt Resolution No. 315-11.   

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows:  

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0.   



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 14

 

RESOLUTION 315-14 A RESOLUTION WAIVING THE HAMILTON COUNTY 

PURCHASING RULES AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO DONATE 

NARCOTICS/PATROL DOGS TO THEIR RESPECTIVE HAMILTON COUNTY 

SHERIFF’S OFFICE HANDLERS AT THE TIME SUCH DOGS ARE RETIRED FROM 

SERVICE, OR OTHERWISE RELEASE SAID DOGS FROM THE COUNTY 

INVENTORY IN A MANNER IN THE BEST INTEREST OF PUBLIC SAFETY. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Haynes, to 

adopt Resolution No. 315-14.  The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows:  Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total 

“Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 315-5  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE UNIT PRICE BID OF 

SHIELDS ELECTRONICS FOR BOGEN EQUIPMENT FOR THE PERIOD 

BEGINNING MARCH 4, 2015 THROUGH MARCH 3, 2016, WITH THE OPTION TO 

RENEW FOR ONE (1) ADDITIONAL ONE YEAR TERM FOR THE 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 15

MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 315-6  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF THOMAS 

BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE 

OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD AND STANDIFER GAP ROAD INTERSECTION 

IMPROVEMENTS FOR AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $749,593.10 AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 315-7  A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF 

GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE PERIOD OF JANUARY 1, 2015, 

THROUGH JANUARY 31, 2015, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 

SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 315-8  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF PROSYS 

INFORMATION SYSTEMS FOR DELL SERVERS AND DELL POWER VAULT 

SYSTEM COMPONENTS AMOUNTING TO $63,039.36 FOR THE INFORMATION  

TECHNOLOGY SERVICES DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 16

RESOLUTION NO. 315-9  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF INSIGHT 

PUBLIC SECTOR FOR MICROSOFT SQL SERVER SOFTWARE LICENSES 

AMOUNTING TO $29,335.28 FOR THE INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SERVICES 

DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 315-12  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH THE UNITED STATES GEOLOGICAL 

SURVEY (USGS) TO PROVIDE HAMILTON COUNTY WITH LIDAR DATA AT A 

COST OF $71,502 AND TO AMEND HAMILTON COUNTY GENERAL BUDGET BY 

ADDING $47,668 TO THE REVENUE BUDGET AND $47,668 TO THE 

EXPENDITURE BUDGET. 

 

 Commissioner Graham, Chairman of the Finance Committee, provided details 

regarding Resolutions No. 315-5, 315-7 through 315-9, and 315-12. He stated that the 

Finance Committee reviewed and recommended approval.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley spoke about Resolution 315-6 which would fund 

improvements to the intersection of Ooltewah-Ringgold Road and Standifer Gap Road. 

She explained the high number of traffic accidents that have occurred at this 

intersection created the necessity for these improvements. She added that this 

intersection is in her district and she supports these improvements.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 17

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 315-5, 315-7 through 315-9, and 315-12.  The foregoing 

Resolutions were unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members 

of the County Commission being present and voting as follows:  Commissioner 

Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Fields, 

“Aye”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 315-6. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows:  Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total 

“Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION 315-13  A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE RULES AND 

PROCEDURES OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS TO 

ALLOW INDIVIDUALS AND/OR DELEGATIONS TO APPEAR AND ADDRESS THE 

COMMISSION ON MATTERS BEING CONSIDERED PRIOR TO THE COMMISSION 

MAKING A DECISION. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 18

 

 Commissioner Bankston, Chairman of the Legal and Legislative Committee 

spoke about this Resolution which would allow individuals three minutes to speak, and 

delegations sharing the same or similar views ten minutes to speak. He added that the 

Legal and Legislative Committee recommended approval.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Bankston, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, 

to adopt Resolution No. 315-13.   

 

Commissioner Fields answered Commissioner Mackey’s question regarding the 

amount of time delegations are allowed to speak. It was noted that each individual 

would be allowed three minutes to speak on each side of the issue with a ten minute 

limit for speakers favoring the item and ten minutes for speakers opposing the item. 

There would be no more than twenty minutes allowed in total from the public.  

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Commissioner Fields clarified 

that no discussion would take place until a motion and a second were on the floor.  

 

At this time a lengthy discussion about the precedence of allowing the public to 

speak before voting took place.  

 

Commissioner Beck reiterated that this Resolution would give a maximum of 

twenty minutes per item on the agenda.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 19

  

 In response to Commissioner Smedley’s comments, Commissioner Beck added 

that the public has the opportunity to speak at the agenda session before the regular 

meeting takes place. He added that he wanted to see more research on the precedence 

of this issue before the voting takes place.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

table Resolution No. 315-13 until further notice.   

 

The motion to table Resolution No. 315-13 failed on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows:  

Commissioner Bankston, “Nay”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, 

“Nay”; Commissioner Fairbanks, “Nay”; Commissioner Graham, “Nay”; Commissioner 

Haynes, “Nay”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner Smedley, “Nay”; and 

Chairman Fields, “Nay”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 2.  

Total “Nay” votes – 7.   

 

 Commissioner Graham spoke about his support for Resolution 315-13. He also 

clarified for the public that many avenues were currently available for the public to voice 

their opinions on items presented to the Commission.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 20

Commissioner Mackey added that most legislative bodies do not allow the public 

to address them before decisions are made as it leaves a lot of room for emotion to 

influence decisions.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

postpone Resolution No. 315-13 for thirty days.   

 

The foregoing motion to postpone Resolution No. 315-13 failed on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows:  Commissioner Bankston, “Nay”; Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Boyd, “Nay”; Commissioner Fairbanks, “Nay”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Haynes, “Nay”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner Smedley, 

“Nay”; and Chairman Fields, “Nay”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” 

votes – 3.  Total “Nay” votes – 6.   

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

amend Resolution No. 315-13 to allow six minutes for comments from the public on 

each side of an issue. 

 

Commissioner Graham spoke about the proposed amendment noting that 

allowing such a limited time would not be fair when controversial items are on the 

agenda.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 21

In response to Commissioner Haynes question, Attorney Taylor cited the last 

phrase of Resolution No. 315-13 which gives the Chairman the power to regulate the 

procedure if more or less time is needed.  

 

At this time several Commissioners voiced their concerns over the potential time 

limit changes.  

 

The foregoing motion to amend Resolution No. 315-13 failed on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows:  Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Nay”; Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Nay”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner Smedley, “Nay”; and Chairman Fields, 

“Nay”. Commissioner Beck abstained. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” 

votes – 4.  Total “Nay” votes – 4. Total Abstentions – 1.  

 

 Chairman Fields asked if there was any other discussion on the original motion to 

adopt Resolution 315-13. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows:  

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Mackey, “Nay”; Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 22

Commissioner Beck abstained. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total “Aye” votes – 

7. Total “Nay” votes – 1. Total Abstentions – 1. 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

Chairman Fields asked for announcements from members of the Commission.  

 

Commissioner Haynes publicly recognized that preceding district 3 

Commissioner Mitch McClure was present in the audience and thanked Mr. McClure’s 

son for his military service.  

 

Commissioner Mackey, President of the Tennessee County Commissioners 

Association, spoke regarding ongoing debate about suing the state over how it funds 

the Basic Education Program, also referred to as the BEP Formula. He added that the 

Hamilton County Board of Education is exploring the idea of joining the growing list of 

districts ready to move toward litigation against the state over the funding issue. 

Commissioner Mackey spoke about the BEP formula and its lack of fairness. In closing, 

he encouraged the Hamilton County Legislative body to join the School Board if they 

follow through with a lawsuit.  

 

Commissioner Graham, Commissioner Boyd, and Commissioner Fairbanks 

acknowledged the BEP funding formula issue. They each stated their concerns 

regarding the possibility of following through with a lawsuit against the state.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 23

 

Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Education Committee, announced that the 

joint meeting of the Education Committee and the Hamilton County Board of Education 

Facilities Committee had been rescheduled to March 18th at CSLA at 8:00 am. He 

invited the public and the media to attend.  

 

Commissioner Bankston congratulated Chattanooga Central basketball team, the 

Purple Pounders, who recently won district playoffs and are heading to the state 

tournament.  

 

Several members of the Commission and the Mayor wished Commissioner 

Haynes a Happy fifty-sixth Birthday, Commissioner Fairbanks led in singing Happy 

Birthday. 

 

Commissioner Beck, Chairman of the Building and Economic Development 

Committee, announced that the committee would be meeting after next week’s Agenda 

session to discuss the county’s Payment in Lieu of Taxes program (PILOT). He also 

made comments regarding the BEP formula issue. 

 

Mayor Coppinger reminded the Commission that at 11:00 am today, a reception 

would be held in the Courthouse rotunda honoring the Director of the Highway 

Department, Harold Austin, who recently announced his retirement. He invited members 

of the Commission to attend. In closing, he acknowledged the possibility of inclement 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 24

weather headed towards Chattanooga. He sincerely thanked the various first 

responders for their hard work and dedication.  

 

Mayor Coppinger reminded the Commission that the Chattanooga Lookouts were 

scheduled to have a news conference today at 2:00 pm at AT&T Budweiser Pavilion. 

The press conference will focus on the recent sale of the Lookouts and introduce the 

new owners, the Minnesota Twins.  

 

Commissioner Fields reminded the Commission that the agenda session next 

week will be Thursday, March 12th at 9:30 a.m.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for delegations on matters other than zoning.  

 

Mark West residing at 2315 Heavenly View Drive Ooltewah, TN 37363 

addressed the Commission regarding his resistance to the county’s PILOT programs. 

He quoted tax abatement figures compiled by citizen activist Helen Burns Sharp and 

expressed concern regarding existing conflicts of interest. He suggested that the 

Commission give tax breaks equally among developers. 

 

Commissioner Graham briefly responded to Mr. West’s concerns regarding the 

county’s PILOT program and his service on the River City Board. He reiterated that the 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 4, 2015 
 

 25

school tax portion of the PILOT program is paid in full every year. In closing, he noted 

that the $26 million dollar tax revenue that was forgiven through prior approved PILOTs 

has provided a substantial amount of economic impact to the community.  

 

In response to Commissioner Graham and Commissioner Smedley’s request, 

Commissioner Beck invited all Commissioners to attend next week’s Building and 

Economic Development Economic Committee meeting which will discuss the PILOT 

program issue 

 

There being no further business, Chairman Fields declared the meeting in recess 

until March 12, 2015 at 9:30 AM.  

 

Respectfully submitted: 

 
      

____________________________________    
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

Approved: 
   

_______   
Date     Clerk’s Initials 







No. 315-15 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS. 
 
   
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS are hereby approved as applicants to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State; and 

 
 2. That each such person named on any listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing 

is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to have 
been individually considered according to the particular matter relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER PASSAGE. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
MARCH 18, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 1

 
Irma Adame PO Box 9701 Lord and Adame 
 Chattanooga, TN 37412 1939 Central Ave. 
 423-544-5998 Chattanooga, TN 37408 
  423-757-9989 
 
Rose Y. Arnwine 13907 Lillard Rd. CGLA 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 1802 Bailey Ave. 
 423-332-6100 Chattanooga, TN 37404 
  423-702-7230 
 
Caroline L. Baker 1805 Hixson Pike State Farm Insurance 
 Chattanooga, TN 37405 4830 Hwy. 58, Ste. 106 
 423-227-6661 Chattanooga, TN 37416 
  423-894-8573 
 
Rhonda L. Beard 8063 Savannah Trail Lectrus Corporation 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 1919 Polymer Dr. 
 423-883-5363 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-553-6131 
 
Kathy A. Booker 202 Signal Point Rd. B & B Steel Erection Company, Inc. 
 Signal Mtn., TN 37377 Po Box 1266 
 423-886-7754 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-842-4424 
 
Marilyn L. Burchim 7346 Sterling Rd. JMD Group, LLC. 
 Hixson, TN 37343 720 Walnut St. 
 423-290-0457 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-265-8111 
 
Michael D. Burroughs 1274 Enclave Rd. Wells Fargo Advisors 
 Chattanooga, TN 37415 7213 Noah Reid Rd., Ste. 101 
 423-870-4580 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-305-7750 
 
Lee Clear 9319 Royal Mountain Dr. Clear Media, LLC. 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 1108 Hendricks St. 
 423-855-4899 Chattanooga, TN 37406 
  423-698-8617 
 
James T. Click 9324 Charbar Circle Morris Hill Baptist Church 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 1804 Morris Hill Rd. 
 423-463-7288 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-892-2071 
 
Pamela Cooke 4413 Comet Trail Chattanooga Police Department 
 Hixson, TN 37343 3410 Amnicola Hwy. 
 423-877-2191 Chattanooga, TN 37406 
  423-421-1578 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
MARCH 18, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 2

 
Julia Fairchild 252 Raven Cliff Rd. Hamilton County Juvenile Court 
 Graysville, TN 37338 1600 E. 3rd St. 
 423-508-9055 Chattanooga, TN 37404 
  423-209-5158 
 
Amy V. Fleming 39 Bellflower Circle Triad Corp 
 Chattanooga, TN 37411 1007 East Main St. 
 423-298-1258 Chattanooga, TN 37408 
  423-267-2288 
 
Robin Lee Fouraker 520 Graham St. Fouraker Reporting Service, Inc. 
 Chattanooga, TN 37405 520 Graham St. 
 423-265-8385 Chattanooga, TN 37405 
  423-265-8385 
 
Jennifer M. Goble 5107 Long Hollow Rd. Sound Accounting, PLLC. 
 Rock Spring, GA 30739 PO BOX 28304 
 706-375-3097 Chattanooga, TN 37424 
  423-648-9894 
 
Teresa J. Gombash 141 Burgess Dr. Hospice of Chattanooga 
 Benton, TN 37307 4411 Oakwood Dr. 
 423-299-9479 Chattanooga, TN 37416 
  423-892-4289 
 
Karen Elaine Gouger 4405 highway 134 Alltrade Construction 
 Whiteside, TN 37396 5972 Dayton Blvd. 
 423-443-7036 Chattanooga, TN 37415 
  423-362-8460 
 
Annette Hadden 4445 Paula Ln. Transcomp Permit & Fuel 
 Chattanooga, TN 37415 5901 Shallowford Rd., Ste. 104 
 423-875-5040 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-602-8722 
 
Tabitha Denise Hamilton 437 Northmont Rd. Kennedy, Koontz & Klingler 
 Hixson, TN 37343 320 N. Holtzclaw Ave. 
 423-457-2466 Chattanooga, TN 37404 
  423-622-4535 
 
Amanda J. Harris 2444 Igou Ferry Rd. Richmar 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 4120 South Creek Rd. 
 423-331-7491 Chattanooga, TN 37406 
  423-362-7289 
 
Stacie B. Helton 214 W. Newberry St. Bright School 
 Chattanooga, TN 37415 1950 McDade Ln. 
 423-718-6616 Chattanooga, TN 37415 
  N/A 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
MARCH 18, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 3

 
J. Huddleston 102 Hunt Ave. East Tennessee Chapter, NECA 
 Chattanooga, TN 37411 3924 Volunteer Dr. 
 423-400-1271 Chattanooga, TN 37416 
  423-894-4357 
 
Terry Kelley 6919 Deerwood Dr. Island Cove Marina & Resort 
 Harrison, TN 37341 6701 Hwy. 58 
 423-344-6877 Harrison, TN 37341 
  423-344-8331 
 
Pamela Ingle Laymon 116 Gravitt Rd. Patriot Electric Co. 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 Same 
 423-580-8234 Same 
  423-618-9990 
 
Joe E. Manuel 5835 N. Park Rd. Self Employed 
 Hixson, TN 37343 240 Forest Ave., Ste. 301 
 423-266-3535 Chattanooga, TN 37405 
  423-266-3535 
 
E. Donnell McCorkle 1962 Hardwood Ln. Iron Workers Local 704 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 2715 Belle Arbor Ave. 
 423-843-9603 Chattanooga, TN 37406 
  423-622-2111 
 
Lori C. Ogle 579 Smith Liner Rd. State Farm Insurance 
 Chickamauga, GA 30707 6137 Shallowford Rd., Ste. 101 
 423-413-8346 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-664-2711 
 
Patricia Owens 755 Castleview Dr. The Oak Project 
 Ringgold, GA 30736 730 Germantown Circle #619 
 423-400-6482 Chattanooga, TN 37412 
  423-595-2947 
 
Kathy Potter 3812 Thrushwood Dr. Hamilton County Clerk's Office 
 Chattanooga, TN 373415 625 Georgia Ave., Rm. 201 
 423-424-6713 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-209-7910 
 
Debra J. Prater 3417 Dell Trail Praters Incorporated 
 Chattanooga, TN 37411 2712 8th Ave. 
 423-421-1312 Chattanooga, TN 37407 
  423-899-8676 
 
Rhadonna S. Rich 35 Big Creek Ln. Berry & Hunt 
 Ringgold, GA 30736 633 Chestnut Street, Ste. 850 
 423-635-3317 Chattanooga, TN 37450 
  423-267-8112 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
MARCH 18, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 4

 
Matt Runyan 33 Mountain Cove Rd. Franklin Wealth Management 
 Signal Mtn., TN 37377 4700 Hixson Pike 
 423-886-4826 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-870-2140 
 
Susan L. Smith 8510 Brookplace Dr. Westinghouse Electric Company 
 Hixson, TN 37343 401 River Terminal Rd. 
 423-843-2669 Chattanooga, TN 37406 
  423-697-5110 
 
Marissa Stockburger 3801 Wiley Ave. Merrill Lynch 
 Chattanooga, TN 37412 Two Union Square, Ste. 400 
 928-230-5018 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-752-3614 
 
Dennis J. Sullivan 13401 Bellacoola Rd. Fulmer Concrete Finishing & Co., Inc. 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 432J-B Jersey Pike 
 423-593-8117 Chattanooga, TN 37416 
  423-855-1551 
 
Jill D. Townsend 1128 Harbor Point Dr. Gearhiser, Peters, et al 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 320 McCallie Ave. 
 423-240-5947 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-756-5171 
 
Elizabeth A. Tucker 6603 Harvestview Ln. J. Smith Lanier & Co. 
 Harrison, TN 37341 605 Chestnut St. 
 423-344-7785 Chattanooga, TN 37450 
  423-424-2846 
 
William Wasdin 10427 Jeneva Ln. TVA 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 1101 Market St., BR4B-C 
 423-902-7558 Chattanooga, TN 37401 
  423-751-8068 
 
Gina Whitener 7525 Ooltewah-Georgetown Rd. Ooltewah Nursery 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 5829 Main St. 
 423-238-4295 Ooltewah, TN 37363 
  423-238-9775 
 
Sharon S. Whitson 7227 Teaberry Court HealthPort 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 PO Box 409822 
 423-238-3679 Atlanta, GA 30384 
  800-367-1500 
 
Katie Wixom 4111 Fountain Ave. Donny Garner Ins. Agency 
 Chattanooga, TN 37412 4878 South Terrace 
 423-314-6492 Chattanooga, TN 37412 
  423-899-5512 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
MARCH 18, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 5

 
Charles Wright, Jr. 4572 Longhollow Rd. River City Legal Group, PLLC. 
 Ringgold, GA 30736 3116 Brainerd Rd., Ste. A 
 706-375-3785 Chattanooga, TN 37411 
  423-493-1926 
 
Chuck Yarbrough 1144 Enclave Rd. State Farm Agent 
 Chattanooga, TN 37415 5928 Hixson Pike, Ste. A-308 
 423-664-2431 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-842-3700 
 
A.M. Yother 1333 Dream Catcher Way Northgate Auto Brokers 
 Hixson, TN 37343 4612 Hixson Pike 
 423-877-8223 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-875-3439 
 



No. 315-16 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 

A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR AND COUNTY 
CLERK TO RENEW A CONTRACT WITH BUSINESS INFORMATION 
SYSTEMS (BIS) FOR THE ANNUAL MAINTENANCE OF A MOTOR 
VEHICLE SYSTEM SOFTWARE PACKAGE FOR A CONTRACT PERIOD 
ENDING JUNE 30, 2020 AT A COST OF $15,000.00 ANNUALLY.  

 
 

WHEREAS,  Resolution No. 410-18 authorized the County Mayor and County Clerk to enter 
into a contract with Business Information Systems (BIS) for the licensing and 
maintenance of a motor vehicle system software package; and 

WHEREAS, BIS in providing title and registration custom software to 93 of the 95 
Tennessee counties works very closely with the Department of Revenue’s Title 
and Registration Division; and 

  
 WHEREAS, the current BIS maintenance agreement with Hamilton County will expire   in 

April 2015; and 
           
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Clerk wishes to continue the contractual relationship with 

BIS to provide customized motor vehicle services to benefit Hamilton County 
motorists; and 

 
 WHEREAS, to continue this relationship it will incur an annual maintenance costs of 

$15,000; and 
  
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
WHEREAS, This maintenance cost has not increased since the previous contract, and the 

service has been excellent. County Clerk Bill Knowles recommends a new five 
year agreement to be paid from earmarked funds provided by the Department of 
Revenue for fiscal year 2015-2016 and each year thereafter until the contract is 
terminated or expires. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the Mayor and County Clerk are authorized to execute the attached contract. 
 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



 1 

 

 

BUSINESS INFORMATION SYSTEMS 

  SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE CONTRACT 

TERMS & CONDITIONS 

 

This agreement is entered into by Business Information Systems, hereafter referred to as 

“Vendor” and the Clerks Office, hereafter referred to as “Customer”. This agreement supercedes 

all previous software agreements. Customer agrees to pay vendor a yearly fee to provide certain 

support for computer software installed. 

 

Vendor and Customer agree that the following terms and conditions will apply to the maintenance 

services provided by Vendor for the software specified herein. 

 

      1.     TERM  

            

                       Vendor shall provide the services described below for the software                                     

                        as of April 7, 2015 current year and shall continue in full force and effect for a   

                        period of five (5) years.  

 

2. SOFTWARE  

            

                        The software subject to the maintenance services provided by         

Vendor shall consist of the software specified on the maintenance list included 

with the attached invoice.  Customer may add software to this agreement upon 

acceptance by Vendor.   

 

3.         RESPONSE  

     

                 Response time, upon notification of the nearest Vendor office of 

 program failure, shall be as quick as possible, usually no later than one working 

                 day following the request for service.  This quick response time will be 

                 maintained primarily by offering preferential scheduling for all contract holders.  

 

      4.       MAINTENANCE SERVICES 

 

 Vendor shall provide to Customer the following services: 

 

 A.  Unlimited local or 800 telephone support to answer any questions related 

       to the software during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. EST Mon-Fri 

       and 8:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. EST Sat.  Unlimited email support.  

 

B.  Unlimited support via internet to fix any “bugs” or problems caused    

      by the software purchased from Vendor. 

 

 

 C. On-site support, if necessary, to fix any “bugs” or problems caused by the 

                 software purchased from Vendor. 



 2 

 

            D. Installation and training on all upgrades made to the applications software by 

                Vendor. 

  

 E. Programming changes needed to meet state mandated requirements.  These 

     changes may, at Vendor discretion, only be made to systems running the 

     current supported version of application software.     

 

      

5.        EXCLUSIONS 

                      

                       Maintenance services shall not include the following: 

  
A. Any requested programming changes not needed to meet any state mandated 

     requirements.  All other request will be at the discretion of Vendor and will  

     notify county if the changes will be billable. 

 

B. Cost of any future upgrades/versions released for the operating system 

     software (Unix, Linux, Microsoft Windows, Sunbelt or Database 

     Management System software, etc.). 

 

C. Damage resulting to the software or system caused by hardware failures, 

     power failures, acts of any persons other than Vendor personnel, vandalism 

     or any illegal acts, or any acts of God. 

 

D. Any programming changes needed to make the software work on different 

     types of terminals, printers, etc. that are added to the system in the future not 

     purchased from Vendor or a state requirement. 

 

E. Training new employees or additional training for any employees after the  

     initial training is at the discretion of the Vendor and will notify county if  

     training is to be billable.  

 

F. Any programming or system support resulting from not performing daily, 

    weekly, and monthly backups. 

 

G. Damage or problems caused by computer viruses, internet access, 

     downloaded files, screensavers, spyware, etc. 

   

 

6.            CUSTOMER RESPONSIBILITIES 

  

 A. Customer must have an appropriate communication method to enable Vendor    

      to access Customer’s server and VNC access to computer to provide software    

      maintenance and support. 

 

B. All service, both preventative and corrective, must depend upon the 

     availability of the complete system for the use of Vendor 



 3 

     personnel, within a reasonable time period as needed by the Vendor.   

     Customer will schedule this availability with Vendor. All delays due to 

     non-conformance will be invoiced at Vendor’s standard hourly rates, 

     plus reasonable out-of-pocket travel expenses. 

 

C. Customer shall provide a detailed description of the problem and exact 

     error message code (if any) and access to the person intimately acquainted 

     with the problem. 

 

7.            FEES AND CHARGES 

 

A. The maintenance fees specified herein shall be calculated from the date the  

     software is installed and available for use by Customer. In the event the  

     software has already been installed, unless otherwise specified herein, the  

     maintenance fees shall be calculated from the date Customer’s acceptance of  

     this Agreement. 

 

B. Maintenance fees shall be invoiced annually and will be due and payable by   

    the first day of each period.    

 

C. Other fees or charges incurred by Customer under this Agreement shall be  

     invoiced separately by Vendor and shall be payable twenty (20) days after the  

     date of invoice. 

 

D. The amounts due to Vendor as set forth herein are net amounts to be received 

     by Vendor, exclusive of all taxes, and are not subject to reduction or off-set  

     because of any costs, expenses or liabilities incurred by Customer or imposed 

     on Vendor in the performance of this Agreement. 

 

E. Customer shall be responsible for and shall pay directly, any and all taxes,  

     duties, or charges incurred as a result of this agreement, including but not 

     limited to taxes, duties or charges incurred as a result of this agreement,  

     including but not limited to taxes, duties or charges imposed by Federal, State 

                             or Local Governmental authorities, but excluding U.S. Corporate Income             

     Taxes of Vendor. 

 

F. Failure to pay maintenance fees and invoices as specified herein shall  

    constitute a material breach hereof and may result in assessment of late 

    payment charge at a rate of one and one-half percent (1.5%) per month or the  

    maximum legal rate, whichever is less, for any outstanding fees or payments 

    as required herein. 

 

G. The maintenance fees and charges specified herein are subject to change by  

     Vendor, effective on the (5) year date of the effective date of this Agreement or    

    at any time thereafter subject to ninety (90) days prior written  notice to   

    customer.   

 

 



 4 

 

I. The maintenance provided by the vendor is $15,000.00 per year. 

 

   

 

8.            PERSONNEL  

 

  In recognition of the fact that Vendor personnel provided to the  Customer   

  under this Agreement may perform similar services from time to time 

                       for others, this Agreement shall not prevent Vendor from performing such    

 similar services or restrict Vendor from using in any way the personnel provided 

 to the Customer under this Agreement. 

 

 Vendor will make every effort consistent with sound business practices to honor 

 the specific requests of the Customer with regard to the assignment of its 

 employees; however, Vendor reserves the sole right to determine the assignment 

 of its employees.   

 

9.             CONTROL AND SUPERVISION  

  

 Customer tasks on which Vendor personnel assist shall remain under the 

 supervision, management and control of the Customer, and Customer shall 

          be solely responsible for the successful performance of such tasks. 

 

10.          PROPRIETARY INFORMATION 

 

 With respect to financial, statistical and personnel data relating to the 

 Customer’s business which is proprietary to the Customer and is clearly so 

 designated and submitted in writing to Vendor by the Customer in order to 

 carry out this Agreement, Vendor will instruct its personnel to protect the 

 proprietary nature of such information by using the same care and discretion 

 that they use with similar data which Vendor designates as proprietary.  With 

 respect to technical data relating to the Customer’s business, which is  

 proprietary and is submitted to Vendor in writing by the Customer in order 

 for Vendor to carry out its work under this Agreement, such data must clearly 

 be marked as proprietary.  Vendor will instruct its personnel to respect the 

 proprietary nature of such information by using the same care and discretion 

 with regard to the identified technical data as they use with similar data, which 

 Vendor designates as proprietary.  However, Vendor shall not be required to 

 keep proprietary any data, which is, or becomes publicly available, is already 

 in Vendor’s possession, is independently developed by Vendor outside the  

 scope of this Agreement, or is rightfully obtained, from third parties. 

  

 In addition, Vendor shall not be required to keep proprietary any ideas,  

 concepts, know-how, or techniques relating to data processing submitted to  

 Vendor or developed during the course of the Agreement by Vendor 

 personnel or jointly by Vendor and Customer personnel. 

 



 5 

 

11.          RIGHTS IN DATA 

  

 All original written material including programs, CDs, DVDs, tapes, listings  

 and other programming documentation in any form and in any media 

 originated and prepared for the Customer pursuant to the Agreement shall 

 belong to Vendor. 

 

12.           LIMITED WARRANTY 

 

A. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, VENDOR     

     MAKES NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT 

     NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF      

     MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. 

     IN NO EVENT WILL VENDOR BE LIABLE FOR SPECIAL, INDIRECT,  

     OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES EVEN IF VENDOR HAS BEEN  

     ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. 

 

 

B. CUSTOMER WARRANTS AND REPRESENTS TO VENDOR THAT  

     SERVICES PERFORMED BY VENDOR WILL NOT INFRINGE UPON 

     ANY COPYRIGHTS OR ANY OTHER AGREEMENTS ENTERED INTO 

     BY CUSTOMER, AND THAT VENDOR WILL BE HELD HARMLESS FOR 

     THIS OR ANY OTHER POSSIBLE VIOLATIONS UNLESS VENDOR HAS 

     BEEN NOTIFIED IN WRITING OF SAID INSTANCE, AND HAS  

     ACKNOWLEDGED THIS NOTIFICATION IN WRITING.  SPECIFICALLY, 

     CUSTOMER WARRANTS THAT VENDOR MAY COPY ALL PROGRAM 

     AND DATA FILES, BOTH ON PAPER AND ON MAGNETIC MEDIA SUCH 

     AS DISKS AND TAPES.  CUSTOMER FURTHER WARRANTS THAT  

     PROPER LICENSE OR SUBLICENSE IS HELD BY CUSTOMER TO ALL 

    OPERATING SYSTEM SOFTWARE, LANGUAGE SYSTEM SOFTWARE,  

    AND ANY OTHER PROPRIETARY SOFTWARE. 

 

 

 

13.          LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY 

 

In no event shall Vendor any of its officers, directors, employees, shareholders, or 

representatives be liable to Customer or any third party for any special, indirect, 

incidental, or consequential damages or losses of any nature, including but not  

 limited to damages resulting from delay, loss of profits, loss of good will or other 

 economic loss which may arise in connection with Customers; use of or inability 

            to use the Software or service provided hereunder, even if Vendor has been  

 notified of the possibility or likelihood of such damages occurring. Customer  

 agrees that the limitation set forth herein shall survive in full force and effect  

 despite any termination of this agreement.  Under no circumstances shall the  

 liability of Vendor to Customer exceed the annual maintenance fees received 

 by Vendor from Customer under this agreement. 



 6 

 

 14.         TERMINATION 

 

A. Customer may terminate this Agreement upon ninety (90) days prior written  

     notice of the anniversary date to Vendor. 

 

B. Vendor or Customer may terminate this Agreement upon the occurrence of a 

     material breach by Customer which is not cured within ten (10) days after the  

     date of written notice to the Customer. 

 

C. In the event of termination of this Agreement for any reason, all fees and 

     charges due and owing to Vendor shall become immediately due and payable 

     to Vendor. 

 

D. Performance – Cure Period. 

 

Should Vendor fail to provide quality maintenance service under this agreement, 

the Customer shall advise Vendor’s management of their inadequacy in writing. If 

this inadequacy is not corrected within a fifteen (15) day cure period, then the 

Customer may terminate this Agreement immediately.  Vendor will refund 

Customer the pro rated portion of annual fees paid as of date of termination. 

 

15.         GENERAL 

 

A. Vendor shall not be liable or deemed to be in default or failure in performance 

     under this Agreement or for any interruption resulting directly or indirectly,  

     from the acts of God, civil or military authority, acts of public enemy, war, 

     accidents, fires, explosions, earthquakes, floods, the elements, strikes,  

     labor disputes, shortages of suitable parts, materials, labor, transportation, 

     or any similar or dissimilar cause beyond the reasonable control of Vendor. 

 

 

 

 

 

B. This Agreement shall be governed by interpreted and construed in accordance 

     with laws of the State of Tennessee. 

 

C. Customer nor Vendor may not assign, transfer, or pledge this Agreement or any 

     right of any kind therein, in any manner without prior written consent of  

     Vendor. 

 

D. This Agreement may only be modified or amended by a writing executed by an  

     authorized representative of both parties hereto. 

 

 E. If Vendor at any time does not enforce or require strict compliance with or  

    performance of any term or condition of this agreement, such act or omission 

    shall not be construed as a waiver or any impairment of any term or condition  



 7 

     or of the right of Vendor at any time to remedies which it may have for any  

    breach. 

 

 F. This Agreement constitutes the complete and exclusive statement of mutual 

     understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and  

     supercedes and cancels all previous and contemporaneous written and oral 

     agreements and communications relating thereto. 

 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date set forth on 

the cover page hereof. 

 

                    

 

  VENDOR:                                                             CUSTOMER:     

 

BUSINESS INFORMATION SYSTEMS               COUNTY:  Hamilton County Clerk   

SIGNATURE:   SIGNATURE: _______________________ 

 

 

NAME:  Stoney M. Hale II_________     NAME:_____________________________                           

 

 

TITLE:_Solutions Consultant______                     TITLE:_____________________________  

 

 

DATE:  1/13/2015                                                   DATE:____________________________ 



No. 315-17 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A DONATION IN THE AMOUNT OF $12,500 FROM THE 
AEGIS FOUNDATION OF GREATER CHATTANOOGA TO PURCHASE BODY WORN 
CAMERAS AND RELATED EQUIPMENT UPON SELECTED PATROL OFFICERS. 
 
WHEREAS, funding for such has already been secured by a donation from the “AEGIS 
Foundation” to be used for Law Enforcement purposes; and 
 
WHEREAS, body worn cameras have been proven to protect both officers and citizens of the 
general public from possible false or misleading allegations which may arise while carrying 
out the duties of law enforcement; and 
 
WHEREAS, all parties of Hamilton County agree that it would be of the best interest of all 
parties to be proactive and attempt to prevent any misleading and false accusations from either 
the general public or law enforcement.  Body worn cameras provide a reasonable and effective 
approach to carry out this task. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
To accept the donation from the AEGIS Law Enforcement Foundation of Greater Chattanooga to 
purchase the body worn cameras and related equipment by increasing the Sheriff’s Capital Budget 
revenue and expenditure budget by $12,500 for FY 2015. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 315-18 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF SECURUS TECHNOLOGIES TO PROVIDE INMATE 
VIDEO VISITATION FOR THE HAMILTON COUNTY JAIL AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACT NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
 
WHEREAS; proposals were received in response to public advertisement to provide inmate video visitation 

for the Hamilton County Jail; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the proposals were evaluated based on the criteria listed in the Request for Proposal and later 

cost evaluated on the costs to the inmate / visitor when utilizing the system and revenue 
potential for Hamilton County; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the proposal offered by Securus Technologies was considered to be the best overall proposal 

received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the implementation of this service should result in both a cost savings to the Sheriff’s office by 

reducing corrections officers hours necessary to move inmates to the visitation area, as well as 
generate revenue from the County’s share of the commission from the call charges to the 
visitor; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the on-site visitation services will also utilize the video visitation capabilities but will be free of 

charge for those visiting from the current visitation area; and, 
 
WHEREAS, Securus Technologies currently provides the Inmate Phone System for the County Jail as 

approved on Resolution 614-25 for a term of three (3) years with the option to renew for two 
(2) additional one (1) year periods; and 

 
WHEREAS, Securus has agreed to amend the phone system master contract to incorporate the Inmate Video 

Visitation Services for the full five (5) year term for both services, extending this contract 
through December 4, 2019; and 

 
WHEREAS, County funds will not be required to support this service. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the proposal from Securus Technologies to provide Inmate Video Visitation for the Hamilton County Jail is 
hereby accepted, said proposal being the best overall proposal received and authorizing the County Mayor to sign 



 

 

any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 











No. 315-19 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF ACME SUPPLY COMPANY, LTD, BOB BARKER COMPANY, INC., 
HBD INC. DBA PACIFIC CONCEPTS, ICS JAIL SUPPLIES, INC., CAROLINA TEXTILES, IDEL INTERNATIONAL 
TRADING, INC., AND UNIFORM MANUFACTURING, INC., FOR ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, 
BEGINNING MARCH 20, 2015, THROUGH MARCH 19, 2016, FOR CLOTHING AND MISCELLANEOUS 
ITEMS FOR THE SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract 

pricing for clothing and miscellaneous items for the jail; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bids from Acme Supply Company, LTD, Bob Barker Company, Inc., HBD, Inc. dba 

Pacific Concepts, ICS Jail Supplies, Inc., Carolina Textiles, Idel International Trading, 
Inc., and Uniform Manufacturing, Inc.,  were considered to be the lowest and best 
bids received; and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient funds available to the requisitioning department 
from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Acme Supply Company, LTD, Bob Barker Company, Inc., HBD Inc. dba Pacific 
Concepts, ICS Jail Supplies, Inc., Carolina Textiles, Idel International Trading, Inc., and Uniform 
Manufacturing, Inc. for one (1) year contract pricing, beginning March 21, 2014, through March 20, 
2015, for clothing and miscellaneous items for the Sheriff’s Department are hereby accepted, said 
bids being the lowest and best bids received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts 
necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE 
PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



















































No. 315-20 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF HARWOOD INTERNATIONAL 
CORPORATION FOR A STORAGE AREA NETWORK (SAN) SOLUTION AMOUNTING 
TO $73,647.90 FOR THE SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, proposals were received in response to public advertisement for a storage area 

network (SAN) solution for the Sheriff’s Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the proposal from Harwood International Corporation amounting to 

$73,647.90 was the considered to be the lowest and best proposal received; 
and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the proposal from Harwood International Corporation for a storage area network (SAN) 
solution amounting to $73,647.90 for the Sheriff’s Department is hereby accepted, said 
proposal being the lowest and best proposal received, and authorizing the County Mayor to 
sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 























No. 315-21 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                  (P.C. NO. 2015-021) 

 
A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R2-A RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO 
M-2 WHOLESALE AND LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT, PROPERTY LOCATED AT 

8537 HIGHWAY 58 
 
 WHEREAS, Dennis Burris petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County 
Regional Planning Commission to rezone from R2-A Rural Residential District to M-2 
Wholesale and Light Industry District, property located at 8537 Highway 58, and said 
Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Dennis Burris requested that the County Commission consider 
said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in 
Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on March 18, 
2015, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such having 
been held. 
  
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended to 
rezone from R2-A Rural Residential District to M-2 Wholesale and Light Industry District, 
property located at 8537 Highway 58.  Part of an unplatted tract of land located at 8537 
Highway 58, beginning at the corner of the Tax Map 094-126.01 and going southeast 
approximately 219 feet, thence northeast approximately 105 feet, thence northwest 
approximately 78 feet, thence east approximately 58 feet, thence north approximately 47 feet, 
thence northwest approximately 198 feet to the point of beginning, being part of the property 
described in Deed Book 9465, Page 622, ROHC.  Part of Tax Map 094-126.01 as shown on 
the attached map. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 
 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 















No. 315-22 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

March 18, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

(P.C. NO. 2015-023) 

A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM A-1 
AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT TO R-1 SINGLE 

FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, PROPERTIES 
LOCATED AT 7527 AND 7579 MCDANIEL LANE 

AND 8324 PROVIDENCE ROAD 

WHEREAS, Pratt & Associates, LLC/Miller Land Holdings, LLC/Todd & Tim 
Daniels petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning 
Commission to rezone from A-1 Agricultural District to R-1 Single Family Residential 
District, properties located at 7527 and 7579 McDaniel Lane and 8324 Providence 
Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be 
approved; and 

WHEREAS, Pratt & Associates, LLC/Miller Land Holdings, LLC/Todd & Tim 
Daniels requested that the County Commission consider said petition and notice has 
been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the 
County Commission will hold a public hearing on March 18, 2015, concerning the 
passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such having been held. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended to 
rezone from A-1 Agricultural District to R-1 Single Family Residential District, properties 
located at 7527 and 7579 McDaniel Lane and 8324 Providence Road.  Lot 1, Corson and 
Vincent Subdivision, Plat Book 69, Page, 86, ROHC, being the property described in Deed 
Book 9097, Page 32, ROHC, and Lot 2, Steven A. McKenzie Subdivision, Plat Book 92, Page 
156, ROHC, being the property described in Deed Book 9097, Page 30, ROHC, and an 
unplatted tract of land located at 8324 Providence Road, being the property described in 
Deed Book 9864, Page 105, ROHC.  Tax Maps 114-092.01, 104-009.12, and 104-009.13 as 



shown on the attached map. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: ☐

Rejected: 
☐

 

Approved: ☐

County Clerk 

Vetoed: 
☐

County Mayor 

March 18, 2015 
Date 











No. 315-23 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

March 18, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

(P.C. NO. 2015-024) 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT 
FOR A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT FOR PROPERTIES LOCATED 
AT 7527 AND 7579 MCDANIEL LANE AND 8324 

PROVIDENCE ROAD 

WHEREAS, Pratt & Associates, LLC/Miller Land Holdings, LLC/Todd & Tim 
Daniels petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning 
Commission to grant a Special Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development for 
properties located at 7527 and 7579 McDaniel Lane and 8324 Providence Road, and 
said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; 
and 

WHEREAS, Pratt & Associates, LLC/Miller Land Holdings, LLC/Todd & Tim 
Daniels requested that the County Commission consider said petition and notice has 
been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the 
County Commission will hold a public hearing on March 18, 2015, concerning the 
passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such having been held. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended to 
grant a Special Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development for properties located at 
7527 and 7579 McDaniel Lane and 8324 Providence Road.  These dimensions are 
approximated based on the site plan submitted and dated 12/29/2014.  Beginning at the 
northernmost corner of Tax Map 104-009.12, and going approximately 610 feet southeast 
parallel with Providence Road, thence approximately 180 feet northwest, thence 
approximately 233 feet southwest, thence approximately 75 feet southeast, thence 
approximately 198 feet south, thence approximately 245 feet northwest, thence approximately 
865 feet south, thence approximately 850 feet northwest, thence approximately 405 feet 



northeast, thence approximately 23 feet southeast, thence approximately 193 feet northeast, 
thence approximately 23 feet northwest, thence approximately 730 feet northeast, thence 
approximately 245 feet southeast, thence approximately 435 feet northeast to the point of 
beginning, being part of the properties described in described in Deed Book 9097, Page 30, 
ROHC, and all of the property described in Deed Book 9864, Page 105, ROHC.  Tax Maps 
114-092.01 (part), 104-009.12 (part), and 009.13 as shown on the attached map. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: ☐

Rejected: 
☐

 

Approved: ☐

County Clerk 

Vetoed: 
☐

County Mayor 

March 18, 2015 
Date 

















No. 315-24 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-025) 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT 
FOR A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT FOR PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 
2607 & 2631 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD 

 
 WHEREAS, Craig Design Group/Nelson & Marcetta Wong petitioned the 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special 
Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development for properties located at 2607 & 
2631 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing 
recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Craig Design Group/Nelson & Marcetta Wong requested that the 
County Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a 
newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will 
hold a public hearing on March 18, 2015, concerning the passage of this Resolution 
as required by law, and such having been held. 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended to 
grant a Special Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development for properties located at 
2607 & 2631 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.  Lot 2, Charles and Lou Emma Subdivision, Plat Book 
93, Page 51, ROHC, being the property described in Deed Book 9160, Page 212, ROHC, and 
an unplatted tract of land located at 2631 Ooltewah Ringgold Road, being the property 
described in Deed Book 3069, Page 680, ROHC.  Tax Maps 160-037.04 and 160-037.05 as 
shown on the attached map. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



















No. 315-24B 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-025) 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT 
FOR A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT FOR PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 
2607 & 2631 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD 

 
 WHEREAS, Craig Design Group/Nelson & Marcetta Wong petitioned the 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special 
Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development for properties located at 2607 & 
2631 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing 
recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS,Craig Design Group/Nelson & Marcetta Wong requested that the 
County Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a 
newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will 
hold a public hearing on March 18, 2015, concerning the passage of this Resolution 
as required by law, and such having been held. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended, 
subject to the secondary entrance near the southern property boundary shall be 
limited to service personnel and emergency use only.  To accommodate this purpose, 
this entrance shall be gated at all times, and secured so that general traffic does not 
have access to this entrance, to grant a Special Permit for a Residential Planned Unit 
Development for properties located at 2607 & 2631 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.  Lot 2, Charles 
and Lou Emma Subdivision, Plat Book 93, Page 51, ROHC, being the property described in 
Deed Book 9160, Page 212, ROHC, and an unplatted tract of land located at 2631 Ooltewah 
Ringgold Road, being the property described in Deed Book 3069, Page 680, ROHC.  Tax 
Maps 160-037.04 and 160-037.05 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 



 

 

AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



















No. 315-25A 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-027) 
 

A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A 
RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT & R-3 

APARTMENT-TOWNHOUSE DISTRICT TO C-2 
LOCAL BUSINESS COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, 
PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 8603 AND 8699 

NORTH HICKORY VALLEY ROAD 
 
 WHEREAS, John Parrish/Carlson Consulting Engineers/Cornerstone Auto 
Brokers/Ray Moss & Barbara Moss Belville petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton 
County Regional Planning Commission to rezone from R-2A Rural Residential District 
& R-3 Apartment-Townhouse District to C-2 Local Business Commercial District, 
properties located at 8603 and 8699 North Hickory Valley Road, and said Planning 
Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, John Parrish/Carlson Consulting Engineers/Cornerstone Auto 
Brokers/Ray Moss & Barbara Moss Belville requested that the County Commission 
consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general 
circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing 
on March 18, 2015, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and 
such having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended to 
rezone from R-2A Rural Residential District & R-3 Apartment-Townhouse District to C-2 Local 
Business Commercial District, properties located at 8603 and 8699 North Hickory Valley 
Road.  Part of an unplatted tract of land located at 8699 North Hickory Valley Road, being a 
portion of the property described in Deed Book 8809, Page 69, ROHC and further described 
in rezoning attachment #4 as submitted by the applicant and made part of the case file; along 
with part of Lot 3, Rex Ritchey Tract, Plat Book 14, Page 82, ROHC, being the property 
described as Tract One in Deed Book 7554, Page 1, ROHC.  Tax Maps 120E-A-001 (Part) 



 

 

and 120E-A-005 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 













No. 315-25B 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                        P.C. NO. 2015-027) 
 

A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A 
RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT & R-3 

APARTMENT-TOWNHOUSE DISTRICT TO C-2 
LOCAL BUSINESS COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, 
PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 8603 AND 8699 

NORTH HICKORY VALLEY ROAD 
 
 WHEREAS, John Parrish/Carlson Consulting Engineers/Cornerstone Auto 
Brokers/Ray Moss & Barbara Moss Belville petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton 
County Regional Planning Commission to rezone from R-2A Rural Residential District 
& R-3 Apartment-Townhouse District to C-2 Local Business Commercial District, 
properties located at 8603 and 8699 North Hickory Valley Road, and said Planning 
Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, John Parrish/Carlson Consulting Engineers/Cornerstone Auto 
Brokers/Ray Moss & Barbara Moss Belville requested that the County Commission 
consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general 
circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing 
on March 18, 2015, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and 
such having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended to 
rezone from R-2A Rural Residential District & R-3 Apartment-Townhouse District to C-2 Local 
Business Commercial District, properties located at 8603 and 8699 North Hickory Valley 
Road, subject to submittal of a traffic study to the Hamilton County Engineer.  Part of an 
unplatted tract of land located at 8699 North Hickory Valley Road, being a portion of the 
property described in Deed Book 8809, Page 69, ROHC and further described in rezoning 
attachment #4 as submitted by the applicant and made part of the case file; along with part of 
Lot 3, Rex Ritchey Tract, Plat Book 14, Page 82, ROHC, being the property described as 



 

 

Tract One in Deed Book 7554, Page 1, ROHC.  Tax Maps 120E-A-001 (Part) and 120E-A-
005 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 













No. 315-26 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE UNIT PRICE BIDS OF MXN CORPORATION AND CMS 
COMMUNICATIONS BEGINNING MARCH 18, 2015, THROUGH NOVEMBER 18, 2015, FOR 
HP DATA COMMUNICATIONS  EQUIPMENT FOR THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract unit pricing for 

additional HP data communications equipment for the Telecommunications 
Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bids from MXN Corporation and CMS Communications for the HP data 

communications equipment were considered to be the lowest and best bids received 
and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of MXN Corporation, and CMS Communications for contract unit pricing, beginning 
March 18, 2015 through November 18, 2015, for HP data communications equipment for the 
Telecommunications Department are hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and best bids 
received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



























No. 315-27 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS 
NECESSARY FOR HAMILTON COUNTY TO ENTER INTO A CONSULTING AGREEMENT WITH RUSS 
BLAKELY & ASSOCIATES, LLC AT AN ANNUAL COST OF $11,000. 
 
WHEREAS, Russ Blakely & Associates, LLC is committed to stimulating value-based purchasing through 

price, quality and service competition among healthcare providers and insurers; providing the 
latest information to Hamilton County for effective management of their healthcare benefits 
plan; encouraging healthy lifestyles to improve County employees’ health status; and providing 
Hamilton County with industry leading consultation to most effectively manage healthcare 
expenditures; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Russ Blakely & Associates, LLC will provide the following services: review plan performance 

regarding all benefit plans; facilitate any RFPs needed for services directly or indirectly tied to 
the medical, dental, life and disability benefit plans; assist with cost analysis and budgeting; 
provide risk identification assistance to facilitate onsite clinic success; participate in annual 
renewal negotiations with the Client’s insurers and vendors for medical and dental plans; keep 
Client abreast of pending/current legislation and regulations; provide ongoing compliance 
assistance to the Client; complete review of healthcare reform compliance and strategy to limit 
Client’s liabilities; assist with day to day needs as they arise for all benefit plans; and, 

 
WHEREAS, this contract will be for a three (3) year period, beginning May 1, 2015, with the option to 

renew for two (2) additional one (1) year terms; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the annual cost will be paid from the health insurance fund and is expected to be covered from 

the savings achieved on our behalf by Russ Blakely & Associates, LLC; and, 
 
WHEREAS, establishing this consulting contract is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED. 
That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to execute all documents necessary for Hamilton County to enter 
into this agreement with Russ Blakely & Associates, LLC at an annual cost of $11,000. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 









No. 315-28 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF LEE SMITH, INC. FOR TWO (2) SINGLE 
AXLE DUMP TRUCKS AND EQUIPMENT AMOUNTING TO $247,652.00 FOR THE 
HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 
ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for two (2) single axle 

dump trucks with snow plows and v-box spreaders for the Highway 
Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bid from Lee Smith, Inc. amounting to $247,652.00 was considered to be 

the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Lee Smith, Inc. for two (2) single axle dump trucks and equipment amounting 
to $247,652.00 for the Highway Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and 
best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 











































No. 315-29 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF BARKY BEAVER MULCH & SOIL, INC. 
AND BLISS PRODUCTS & SERVICES, INC. FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, 
BEGINNING MARCH 18, 2015, THROUGH MARCH 17, 2017, FOR WOODCARPET 
FOR PLAYGROUNDS AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for a twenty-four 

months contract, with the option to renew for two (2) additional one (1) year 
periods, for woodcarpet for playgrounds for the Recreation Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bids from Barky Beaver Mulch & Soil, Inc. and Bliss Products & 

Services, Inc. were considered to be the lowest and best bids received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Barky Beaver Mulch & Soil, Inc. and Bliss Products & Services, Inc. for 
contract unit pricing, beginning March 18, 2015, through March 17, 2017, for woodcarpet for 
playgrounds are hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and best bids received, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 





























No. 315-30 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF NAFECO FOR SIX (6) FIRE TRAINING AIR 
PACKS AMOUNTING TO $33,660.00 FOR EMERGENCY SERVICES AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for six (6) Fire 

Training Air Packs (self-contained breathing apparatus) for Emergency 
Services; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bid from NAFECO amounting to $33,660.00 was considered to be the 

lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of NAFECO for six (6) Fire Training Air Packs amounting to $33,660.00 for 
Emergency Services is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 

























No. 315-31 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF SPECIAL TOUCH LAWN CARE SERVICE 
FOR ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING APRIL 6, 2015, THROUGH 
APRIL 5, 2016, FOR LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE FOR EMS STATIONS AND 
SHERIFF’S ANNEXES FOR THE RECREATION DEPARTMENT AND TO AUTHORIZE 
THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT 
THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract 

pricing, with the option to renew for three (3) additional one (1) year periods, 
for landscape maintenance for EMS Stations and the Sheriff’s Annexes; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bid from Special Touch Lawn Care Service was considered to be the lowest 

and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Special Touch Lawn Care Service for one (1) year contract pricing, beginning 
April 6, 2015, through April 5, 2016, for landscape maintenance for EMS Stations and the 
Sheriff’s Annexes for the Recreation Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest 
and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



















































No. 315-32 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ADDING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS/WASTE REMEDIATION 
SERVICES TO THE LIST OF PROFESSIONAL, TECHNICAL, AND CONSULTANT 
SERVICE THAT MAY BE OBTAINED SUBJECT TO SECTION 4.2.4.K OF THE 
PURCHASING RULES FOR HAMILTON COUNTY. 
  
WHEREAS,    State law and the Purchasing Rules for Hamilton County allow certain services 

to be obtained based on recognized competency, integrity and skill. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the Board of County Commissioners hereby authorizes the addition of Hazardous 
Materials/Waste Remediation Services to the list of professional services that may be used 
pursuant to Section 4.2.4.K of the Hamilton County Purchasing Rules. 
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 315-33 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING HAMILTON COUNTY TO MAKE AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
TRANSFER TO THE STATE OF TENNESSEE’S TENNCARE PROGRAM IN ORDER TO SECURE 
ADDITIONAL FUNDING FROM THE STATE OF TENNESSEE’S PUBLIC HOSPITAL 
SUPPLEMENTAL PAYMENT POOL (“PHSPP”) FOR THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY 
HOSPITAL AUTHORITY (“ERLANGER”).   
 
WHEREAS, the TennCare Program as administered by the State of Tennessee has a financial pool of One 

Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000) known as the Public Hospital Supplemental Payment 
Pool (“PHSPP”), for the providing of health services to TennCare enrollees and uninsured 
patients being serviced by Metro Nashville General Hospital, Regional Medical Center at 
Memphis and the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Hospital Authority d/b/a Erlanger Health 
System (“Erlanger”); and 

 
WHEREAS, Erlanger’s participation in said pool requires Hamilton County (as a political subdivision of the 

State of Tennessee) to make an intergovernmental transfer from the County to the State of 
Tennessee’s TennCare Program in the amount of Ten Million One Hundred Seventeen 
Thousand Seven Hundred Seventeen Dollars ($10,117,717) in order to secure Twenty Eight 
Million Eight Hundred Ninety Nine Thousand Five Hundred and Five Dollars ($28,899,505) 
for Erlanger from the TennCare Program; and 

 
WHEREAS, an interlocal agreement was approved by this body in April 2014 by resolution number 414-31 

allowing such intergovernmental transfer; and 
 
WHEREAS, Erlanger shall tender to Hamilton County from Erlanger’s public  funds said required Ten 

Million One Hundred Seventeen Thousand Seven Hundred Seventeen Dollars ($10,117,717), 
and the County will then forward said sum as received from Erlanger to the State of 
Tennessee’s TennCare Program to be credited as Erlanger’s required contribution of the non-
federal share  of the said Twenty Eight Million Eight Hundred Ninety Nine Thousand Five 
Hundred and Five Dollars ($28,899,505) in TennCare payments to Erlanger, and 

 
WHEREAS, this County Legislative Body deems this transaction to be in the best interest of the citizens of 

this County. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Hamilton County is authorized to accept from Erlanger the sum of Ten Million One Hundred Seventeen 
Thousand Seven Hundred Seventeen Dollars ($10,117,717) from the public  Erlanger funds, and to transmit same 
as received to the State of Tennessee’s Bureau of TennCare to be credited by same as the required contribution on 
behalf of Erlanger  to be used as the non-federal share of  Public Hospital Supplemental Payment Pool (“PHSPP”) 
payments to Erlanger in the amount of  Twenty Eight Million Eight Hundred Ninety Nine Thousand Five 
Hundred and Five Dollars ($28,899,505) for  Erlanger’s uncompensated care of TennCare enrollees and 
uninsured patients. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 315-34 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION OF THE LEGISLATIVE BODY OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, 
AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF INTEREST-BEARING GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, 
SERIES 2015A OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$75,000,000 AND INTEREST-BEARING GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, 
SERIES 2015B OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$57,000,000; AND PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS. 

WHEREAS, under the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 21, Tennessee Code Annotated, Hamilton 
County, Tennessee (the “County”) is authorized to issue and sell from time to time its general 
obligation bonds, and in anticipation thereof to issue and sell from time to time general obligation bond 
anticipation notes, for various public purposes; and 

WHEREAS, in order to provide financing and refinancing for the cost of certain school 
projects and various other capital projects, including an “industrial park” project as defined in 
Section 9-21-105(21) of the Tennessee Code Annotated, for which general obligation bonds and bond 
anticipation notes have been authorized to be issued and sold and including the costs of issuing such 
general obligation bonds and bond anticipation notes (collectively, the “Project Costs”), the 
Legislative Body of the County: 

(1) previously authorized, received approval from the State director of local finance for 
and issued general obligation bond anticipation notes of the County in an aggregate principal 
amount not to exceed $90,000,000 (the “2013 Notes”) pursuant to an initial resolution adopted 
by the Legislative Body of the County on August 1, 2013 (the “2013 Initial Resolution”) 
authorizing the issuance of general obligation bonds of the County in an aggregate principal 
amount not to exceed $90,000,000 and the 2013 Notes and a resolution adopted by the 
Legislative Body of the County on September 4, 2013, and to date, has issued $35,000,000 in 
aggregate principal amount of the 2013 Notes; and 

(2) previously adopted an initial resolution on March 4, 2015 (the “2015 Initial 
Resolution”) authorizing the issuance of general obligation bonds of the County in an 
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $40,000,000; and 



 

deems it advisable and in the best interests of the County to provide at this time for the issuance and 
sale from time to time of general obligation bonds of the County for the purpose of (A) paying the 
principal of all of the outstanding 2013 Notes and (B) financing certain Project Costs; and 

WHEREAS, the County expects that the “industrial park” portion of the capital projects 
described above will consist of the acquisition, construction and equipping roads, sewers, sidewalks, 
storm drainage and other infrastructure for an “industrial park” known as the Enterprise South 
Industrial Park (the “Enterprise South Industrial Park”) located at 6703 Bonny Oaks Drive, 
Chattanooga, Tennessee in the County; and 

WHEREAS, the County has determined that the Enterprise South Industrial Park is well 
conceived, has a reasonable prospect of success, will provide proper economic development and 
employment and will not likely become a burden on the taxpayers of the County; and 

WHEREAS, the County has determined at this time to issue its negotiable interest-bearing 
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015A in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $75,000,000 
(the “Series 2015A Bonds”) pursuant to the 2013 Initial Resolution, the 2015 Initial Resolution and 
this Resolution for the purpose of (i) paying the principal of all of the outstanding 2013 Notes in an 
aggregate principal amount of $35,000,000, the proceeds of which paid for certain Project Costs and 
(ii) financing certain Project Costs; 

WHEREAS, the County published the 2015 Initial Resolution as required by Section 9-21-206, 
Tennessee Code Annotated; and failed to receive any petition with the requisite signatures protesting 
the issuance of the Series 2015A Bonds so as to require the Series 2015A Bonds be approved by a 
majority of the registered voters, as provided in Section 9-21-207, Tennessee Code Annotated; and 

WHEREAS, this Legislative Body has been advised that the refunding of all or a portion of 
certain outstanding general obligation bonds of the County will result in debt service savings to the 
County and has determined that it is necessary and desirable to accomplish such refunding; and 

WHEREAS, the general obligation bonds of the County proposed to be refunded may include 
all or a portion of the County’s General Obligation Bonds, Series 2009 issued in the original aggregate 
principal amount of $31,500,000 and the County’s General Obligation Bonds, Series 2011A issued in 
the original aggregate principal amount of $61,310,000 (collectively, the “Refunded Bonds”); and 

WHEREAS, the Counties in Tennessee are authorized to issue general obligation refunding 
bonds to refund outstanding obligations which are secured by a pledge of the full faith and credit and 
unlimited taxing power of the local government pursuant to Section 9-21-901 et seq., Tennessee Code 
Annotated; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to a letter dated February 24, 2015 from the County Mayor to the 
Director, Office of State and Local Finance, State of Tennessee, Comptroller of the Treasury (the 
“Director”), the County submitted a plan of refunding (the “Plan of Refunding”) relating to the 
proposed refunding of the Refunded Bonds to the Director as required by Section 9-21-903, Tennessee 



Code Annotated; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to a letter dated March 4, 2015 from the Director to the County Mayor 
(the “Director’s Letter”) and the report of the Director attached to the Director’s Letter (the “Report 
of the Director”), a copy of which has been presented to this Legislative Body, the Director 
acknowledged receipt of the Plan of Refunding and prepared an analysis of the Plan of Refunding as 
described in the Report of the Director; and 

WHEREAS, each of the members of this Legislative Body of Hamilton County, Tennessee has 
received and reviewed the Plan of Refunding, the Director’s Letter and the Report of the Director in 
connection with the refunding of the Refunded Bonds and the adoption of this Resolution; and 

WHEREAS, the County has determined at this time to issue its negotiable interest-bearing 
General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2015B in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed 
$57,000,000 (the “Series 2015B Bonds” and together with the Series 2015A Bonds, the “Bonds”) to 
accomplish the refunding of the Refunded Bonds and to pay the costs of issuing the Series 2015B 
Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, it appears advantageous to the County at this particular time to issue the Series 
2015B Bonds to refund and defease the Refunded Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, Section 9-21-108 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorizes the Legislative 
Body of Hamilton County to delegate to the County Mayor, as the chief executive officer of the 
County, the authority to sell the Bonds pursuant to the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 21, Tennessee 
Code Annotated and this Resolution; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Legislative Body of Hamilton County, 
Tennessee as follows: 

Section 1.  That the Legislative Body hereby finds and determines that (i) the financing of the 
Project Costs, including through the payment of the principal of all of the outstanding 2013 Notes, and 
(ii) the refunding of the Refunded Bonds is advantageous to the County. 

Section 2.  That, for the purpose of providing funds necessary to (i) pay the Project Costs, 
including through the payment of the principal of all of the outstanding 2013 Notes, (ii) refund the 
Refunded Bonds, including payment of the principal thereof, premium, if any, and interest due and 
payable thereon to their date of maturity or earlier redemption, and (iii) pay the costs of issuing the 
Bonds, the Legislative Body hereby finds and determines that the Bonds should be issued; provided 
that the County will not issue the portion of the Series 2015A Bonds authorized by the 2015 Initial 
Resolution if a petition protesting the issuance of the general obligation bonds described in the 2015 
Initial Resolution signed by at least ten percent (10%) of the registered votes of Hamilton County, 
Tennessee is filed with the County on or prior to March 26, 2015.  The Series 2015A Bonds will be 
designated “Hamilton County, Tennessee General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015A” and will be 
numbered from RA-1 upward, and the Series 2015B Bonds will be designated “Hamilton County, 
Tennessee General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2015B” and will be numbered from RB-1 
upward.  Each of the Bonds will be dated as of their date of delivery to the initial purchaser.  The 



Bonds will be issued in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $75,000,000 with respect to the 
Series 2015A Bonds and $57,000,000 with respect to the Series 2015B Bonds and will mature serially, 
or will be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, on May 1 with respect to the Series 2015A 
Bonds and March 1 with respect to the Series 2015B Bonds in each of the years and in the principal 
amounts as described in the certificate of the County Mayor executed by the County Mayor or his 
designee on or after the date the Bonds are sold and on or prior to the date of initial issuance and 
delivery of the Bonds (the “Certificate of County Mayor”); provided that the Bonds will mature on or 
prior to May 1, 2030 with respect to the Series 2015A Bonds and March 1, 2027 with respect to the 
Series 2015B Bonds and the aggregate principal amount of Bonds maturing or subject to mandatory 
sinking fund redemption in any particular year will not exceed $5,000,000 with respect to the Series 
2015A Bonds and $7,000,000 with respect to the Series 2015B Bonds. 

Optional Redemption.  Each series of the Bonds maturing on or before the date designated in 
the Certificate of County Mayor (which date will not be later than May 1, 2025) are not subject to 
redemption before their stated maturities.  Each series of the Bonds maturing on or after the date 
designated in the Certificate of County Mayor are subject to redemption at the option of the County on 
and after the date designated in the Certificate of County Mayor, in whole or in part on any date at a 
redemption price equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds called for redemption, together 
with accrued interest thereon to the redemption date. 

The Bonds, if any, described in the Certificate of County Mayor as Term Bonds (the “Term 
Bonds”) are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption at a redemption price equal to 100% of the 
principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the redemption date on May 1 with respect to the 
Series 2015A Bonds and March 1 with respect to the Series 2015B Bonds of the years and in the 
principal amounts of Term Bonds as set forth in the Certificate of County Mayor.  At the option of the 
County to be exercised by delivery of a written certificate to the Registrar (defined below) not less than 
45 days next preceding any mandatory sinking fund redemption date, the County may (1) deliver to the 
Registrar for cancellation Term Bonds (which are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on 
such mandatory sinking fund redemption date) or portions thereof in denominations of $5,000 or any 
integral multiple thereof or (2) specify a principal amount of such Term Bonds (which are subject to 
mandatory sinking fund redemption on such mandatory sinking fund redemption date) or portions 
thereof in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof which prior to said date have been 
redeemed and cancelled by the Registrar and not theretofore applied as a credit against any mandatory 
sinking fund redemption obligation with respect to such Term Bonds.  Each Term Bond or portion 
thereof so delivered or previously redeemed will be credited by the Registrar at 100% of the principal 
amount thereof against the obligation of the County on such mandatory sinking fund redemption date. 

If the Bonds or any portion thereof are called for redemption, notice of redemption, describing 
the Bonds to be redeemed and specifying the redemption date, will be given by first-class mail, postage 
prepaid, to the registered owners thereof as shown on the registry books (the “Register”) of the County 
kept by The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., or its successor, as registrar and paying 
agent (the “Registrar” and “Paying Agent”), not less than 30 days nor more than 60 days prior to the 
redemption date.  If the notice of redemption is mailed as aforesaid and if on or before the date fixed 
for redemption, payment thereof is duly made or provided for, interest on the Bonds to be redeemed 
will cease to accrue from and after the redemption date specified in such notice.  If less than all of the 



Bonds are called for redemption, the Bonds within a maturity to be redeemed will be selected by the 
Paying Agent by lot, in such manner as it may determine. 

Section 3.  That the Bonds will bear interest at a rate or rates, not to exceed 6.0% per annum.  
Both principal of and interest on the Bonds are payable in lawful money of the United States of 
America.  Principal of the Bonds is payable on surrender thereof at the designated office of the 
Registrar and Paying Agent for the County, or such successor Registrar and Paying Agent as may be 
designated by the County Mayor.  Interest on the Bonds (computed on the basis of a 360-day year of 
twelve 30-day months) is payable on May 1 and November 1 with respect to the Series 2015A Bonds 
and March 1 and September 1 with respect to the Series 2015B Bonds (each an “Interest Payment 
Date”) of each year commencing on  November 1, 2015 with respect to the Series 2015A Bonds and 
September 1, 2015 with respect to the Series 2015B Bonds, by check or draft mailed to the owner of 
the Bonds at the address listed on the registration books maintained by the Registrar and Paying Agent 
for such purpose as of the fifteenth day of the month preceding the Interest Payment Date.  On each 
Interest Payment Date, the interest on the Bonds, respectively, accruing from and including the date of 
the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date in question will be paid. 

Section 4.  That the Bonds will be issued in fully registered form in the denominations of 
$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof and will be in substantially the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit A with respect to the Series 2015A Bonds and Exhibit B with respect to the Series 2015B 
Bonds. 

Section 5.  That the Bonds will be registered so as to participate in a securities depository 
system with The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), as set forth herein.  The Bonds will be initially 
issued in the form of a separate single fully registered Bond for each of the maturities of the Bonds.  
Upon initial issuance, the ownership of each such Bond will be registered in the Register in the name of 
Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC.  The County Mayor is hereby authorized to execute and deliver such 
letters or agreements with DTC on behalf of the County to effectuate the DTC system, with respect to 
the Bonds. 

With respect to Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the County 
will have no responsibility or obligation to any broker-dealer, bank or other financial institution for 
which DTC holds Bonds from time to time as securities depository (each such broker-dealer, bank or 
other financial institution being referred to herein as a “DTC Participant”) or to any person on behalf 
of whom such a DTC Participant directly or indirectly holds an interest in the Bonds (each such person 
being herein referred to as an “Indirect Participant”).  Without limiting the immediately preceding 
sentence, the County will have no responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the 
records of DTC, Cede & Co. or any DTC Participant with respect to any ownership interest in the 
Bonds, (ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or any Indirect Participant or any other person, other 
than a Bondholder, as shown in the Register, of any notice with respect to the Bonds, (iii) the payment 
to any DTC Participant or any Indirect Participant or any other person, other than a Bondholder, as 
shown in the Register, of any amount with respect to principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, the 
Bonds or (iv) any consent given by DTC as registered owner.  So long as certificates for the Bonds are 
not issued, the County may treat DTC or any successor securities depository as, and deem DTC or any 
successor securities depository to be, the absolute owner of the Bonds for all purposes whatsoever, 



including without limitation (i) the payment of principal and interest on the Bonds and (ii) registering 
transfers with respect to the Bonds.  While in the DTC system, no person other than Cede & Co., or any 
successor thereto, as nominee for DTC, will receive a Bond certificate with respect to any Bond.  Upon 
delivery by DTC to the County of written notice to the effect that DTC has determined to substitute a 
new nominee in place of Cede & Co., the name “Cede & Co.” in this Resolution shall refer to such new 
nominee of DTC. 

In the event that (a) the County determines that DTC is incapable of discharging its 
responsibilities described herein and in the Blanket Issuer Letter of Representations dated May 1, 1996 
from the County to DTC, (b) the Representation Letter will be terminated for any reason or (c) the 
County determines that it is in the best interest of the beneficial owners of the Bonds that they be able 
to obtain certificated Bonds, the County will notify DTC of the availability through DTC of Bond 
certificates and the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered on the Register in the name 
of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC.  At that time, the County may determine that the Bonds will be 
registered in the name of and deposited with a successor depository operating a securities depository 
system, qualified to act as such under Section 17(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, as may be acceptable to the County or such depository’s agent or designee, and if the County 
does not select such an alternate securities depository system, then the Bonds may be registered in 
whatever name or names registered owners of Bonds transferring or exchanging Bonds will designate, 
in accordance with the provisions hereof. 

Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, so long as any of the Bonds are registered 
in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, all payments with respect to principal of, premium, if 
any, and interest on such Bonds and all notices with respect to such Bonds will be made and given, 
respectively, in the manner provided in the Blanket Issuer Letter of Representations. 

Section 6.  That the Bonds will be executed and signed in the name of the County, by the 
County Mayor and attested by the County Clerk with the seal of the County attached thereto; such 
signatures and the seal will be in facsimile form.  The Registrar and Paying Agent will authenticate the 
Bonds.  The action of the County Mayor in selling the Bonds and, by agreement with the purchaser 
thereof, fixing the date, denomination, interest rate or rates and the Registrar and Paying Agent in 
accordance with this Resolution, is binding on the County and this Legislative Body, and no further 
action by this Legislative Body is necessary.  The County Mayor is authorized to arrange for the 
preparation and printing of a Preliminary Official Statement in substantially the form presented to this 
Legislative Body on the date of adoption of this Resolution and an Official Statement in substantially 
the form of the Preliminary Official Statement, subject to such changes, insertions and omissions as 
may be approved by the County Mayor for use in connection with the sale of the Bonds, to retain the 
law firm of McKenna Long & Aldridge LLP to serve as bond counsel and the financial and investment 
advisory firm of Public Financial Management, Inc. to serve as financial advisor, and to expend and 
invest bond proceeds in the manner required by law and this Resolution.  The County Attorney is 
authorized to certify that there is not now pending any litigation restraining or enjoining the issuance or 
delivery of the Bonds or questioning or affecting the legality of the Bonds.  The County Mayor, County 
Trustee, County Clerk and other appropriate officials are hereby authorized to execute on behalf of the 
County any and all documents, including a certificate as to the Preliminary Official Statement and the 
Official Statement used in connection with the sale of the Bonds and a certificate as to arbitrage, as are 



reasonably necessary and appropriate to the issuance of the Bonds and to take any actions necessary or 
advisable to carry out the purpose of this Resolution, including using proceeds of the Bonds to pay the 
costs of issuance of the Bonds. 

Section 7.  That, for the purpose of providing funds with which to pay the principal and interest 
accruing on the Bonds at their maturities, there will be levied upon all taxable property in the County, 
in addition to all other taxes, a direct annual tax for each of the years while the Bonds, or any of them, 
are outstanding, in amounts sufficient for that purpose. 

Section 8.  That each series of the Bonds will be sold at not less than 99.0% of the par amount 
of such Bonds and may be sold at a premium in excess of the par amount of the Bonds and otherwise in 
compliance with Section 9-21-906, Tennessee Code Annotated.  The County Mayor may sell the Bonds 
at a competitive public sale.  Unless all bids are rejected, each series of the Bonds will be awarded by 
the County Mayor or his designee on the sale date to the bidder whose bid complies with the Detailed 
Notice of Sale and results in the lowest interest cost to the County, to be determined in accordance with 
the Detailed Notice of Sale. 

Section 9.  That the proceeds from the sale of the Series 2015A Bonds, less any amount used to 
pay the costs of issuing the Series 2015A Bonds, will be deposited as follows:  (1) $35,000,000 will be 
paid to U.S. Bank National Association (the “Lender”) on the date of issuance and delivery of the 
Series 2015A Bonds as prepayment for the outstanding principal of the 2013 Notes and the Term Loan 
described in the Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of September 1, 2013 between the County and 
the Lender; and (2) the balance will be deposited in a separate account (the “Project Account”) to be 
held by the County Trustee to pay Project Costs.  Such proceeds held in the Project Account will be 
invested and reinvested at the direction of the County Mayor, and the income therefrom, to the extent 
permitted by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, will be retained in the Project Account 
and used as the County Mayor will direct. 

That the proceeds from the sale of the Series 2015B Bonds, less any amount used to pay the 
costs of issuing the Series 2015B Bonds, will be deposited in an escrow account to be held by The 
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as escrow agent (the “2015B Escrow Agent”) under 
an Escrow Agreement with the County (the “2015B Escrow Agreement”) in substantially the form 
presented to this Legislative Body, all in accordance with the provisions of Section 9-21-914(a), 
Tennessee Code Annotated.  Such proceeds, together with other available moneys of the County, held 
in such escrow account will be invested as provided in Section 9-21-914(b), Tennessee Code 
Annotated and in the 2015B Escrow Agreement and will be applied as provided in the 2015B Escrow 
Agreement. 

The County Mayor and the County Clerk are hereby authorized to execute and deliver the 
2015B Escrow Agreement in the form presented to this Legislative Body with such changes and 
additions to or omissions from such draft agreement as the officer executing such agreement approves 
as necessary or appropriate, such execution and delivery to be conclusive evidence of such approval. 

Section 10.  That when the principal of, premium, if any, and interest due on the Bonds (the 
“Bond Requirements”) have been duly paid, the Bonds will no longer be deemed to be outstanding 
within the meaning of this Resolution.  A Bond will be deemed to be paid when there has been placed 



in irrevocable escrow an amount sufficient (including the known minimum yield available for such 
purpose from obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the United States of America (“Federal 
Securities”), in which such amount wholly or in part may be initially invested) to pay the Bond 
Requirements of such Bond, as the same become due to the final maturity thereof.  The Federal 
Securities must become due at or before the respective times on which the proceeds thereof are needed, 
in accordance with a schedule established and agreed upon between the County and the escrow agent at 
the time of the creation of the escrow or trust.  For the purpose of this section “Federal Securities” 
includes only Federal Securities which are not callable for redemption prior to their maturities except at 
the option of the holder thereof.  Upon written direction of the County, the Paying Agent will mail 
written notice of the defeasance of any Refunded Bonds to the owners of such Bonds at the addresses 
last shown on the registration records for such Bonds, maintained by the Registrar. 

Section 11.  That the County will not take or permit, or omit to take or cause to be taken, any 
action that would adversely affect the exclusion from federal income taxation of the interest on the 
Bonds and, if it should take or permit, or omit to take or cause to be taken, any such action, the County 
will take or cause to be taken all lawful actions within its power necessary to rescind or correct such 
actions or omissions promptly upon having knowledge thereof.  The County acknowledges that the 
continued exclusion of interest on the Bonds from a Bond purchaser’s gross income for federal income 
tax purposes depends, in part, upon compliance with the arbitrage limitations imposed by Section 148 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  The County covenants that it will 
comply with all the requirements of Section 148 of the Code and that it will not permit at any time any 
of the proceeds of the Bonds or other funds of the County to be used, directly or indirectly, to acquire 
any asset or obligation, the acquisition of which would cause the Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” for 
purposes of Section 148 of the Code. 

Section 12.  That the County Mayor is authorized to deem the Preliminary Official Statement to 
be a “final” official statement on behalf of the County within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”) except for the offering prices, interest rates, selling 
compensation, aggregate principal amount, principal amount per maturity, delivery dates, ratings, 
identity of the original purchasers and other terms of the Bonds. 

Section 13.  (a)  This Section constitutes the written undertaking of the County for the benefit 
of the registered owners or beneficial owners of the Bonds (the “Bondholders”) required in order to 
allow the purchaser of the Bonds to comply with the Rule. 

(b) For purposes of this Section, the following definitions will apply: 

(1)   “Annual Financial Information” means the financial information and operating 
data with respect to the County of the type set forth in Part II of the Official Statement under 
the captions “SUMMARY OF GENERAL FUND BALANCES” and “SUMMARY OF GOVERNMENTAL 

OPERATIONS” delivered at least annually to MSRB pursuant to clause (c) hereof, including 
Audited Financial Statements, or if Audited Financial Statements are not available, unaudited 
financial statements of the County prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles. 



(2)   “Audited Financial Statements” means the County’s annual financial statements, 
prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and audited by a firm 
of certified public accountants . 

(3)   “MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established pursuant 
to Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  See 
http://www.emma.msrb.org/. 

(4)   “Official Statement” means the Official Statement delivered in connection with 
the original issue and sale of the Bonds. 

(c) Commencing with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, the County agrees to provide or 
cause to be provided the Annual Financial Information to MSRB.  Such Annual Financial Information 
and Audited Financial Statements for each Fiscal Year shall be provided to the MSRB within nine 
months following the end of the County’s Fiscal Year.  If Audited Financial Statements are not 
available on such due date, the County will provide unaudited financial statements on such date and 
provide Audited Financial Statements as soon as practicable thereafter. 

(d) The County may provide or cause to be provided Annual Financial Information and 
Audited Financial Information by specific reference to documents previously provided to the MSRB or 
filed with the SEC; provided, however, that if the document so referenced is a final official statement 
within the meaning of the Rule, such final official statement must be available from the MSRB. 

(e) The County will provide or cause to be provided, in a timely manner not in excess of 
ten business days after the occurrence of the event, to the MSRB notice of any of the following events 
with respect to the Bonds: 

(1) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 
(2) Nonpayment related defaults, if material; 
(3) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves, if any, reflecting financial 

difficulties; 
(4) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements, if any, reflecting financial 

difficulties; 
(5) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, if any, or their failure to perform; 
(6) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of 

proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS 
Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to 
the tax status of the Notes or other material events affecting the tax status of 
the Bonds; 

(7) Modifications to rights of Bondholders, if material; 
(8) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 
(9) Defeasances; 
(10) Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if 

material; 
(11) Rating changes; 
(12) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person; 

http://www.emma.msrb.org/


(13) Consummation of a merger, consolidation or acquisition involving an 
obligated person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the 
obligated person, other than in the ordinary course of business or the entry into 
a definitive agreement to undertake such an action, if material; and 

(14) Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a 
trustee, if material. 

(f) The County will provide or cause to be provided, in a timely manner to the MSRB, 
notice of any failure of the County to timely provide the Annual Financial Information as specified in 
clause (c) of this Section. 

(g) The obligation of the County hereunder is for the benefit of the Bondholders.  Unless 
otherwise required by law, no Bondholder will be entitled to damages resulting from the County’s 
noncompliance with its undertaking set forth in this Section; however, Bondholders may take action to 
require performance of such obligation by any judicial proceeding available.  Breach of the 
undertakings of the County hereunder will not constitute an event of default hereunder and any rights 
and remedies provided herein in the event of default are not applicable to a breach of the obligation of 
the County hereunder. 

(h) The undertaking contained in this Section 13 will be in effect from and after the 
issuance and delivery of the Bonds, and will extend to the earlier of (i) the date all principal and interest 
on the Bonds have been deemed paid pursuant to the terms of this Resolution, (ii) the date that the 
County no longer constitutes an “obligated person” within the meaning of the Rule; or (iii) the date on 
which those portions of the Rule which required this written undertaking are held to be invalid by a 
court of competent jurisdiction in a non-appealable action, have been repealed retroactively or 
otherwise do not apply to the Bonds. 

(i) The requirements of this Section 13 may be amended from time to time by the County 
without the consent of the Bondholders, if such amendment would not, in and of itself, cause the 
undertaking herein (or action of the purchaser in reliance on the undertakings herein) to violate the 
Rule, as amended or officially interpreted from time to time by the SEC.  The County will provide 
notice of such amendment to the MSRB with its Annual Financial Information. 

(j) All documents, reports, notices, statements, information and other materials provided 
to the MSRB under this Section 13 shall be provided in an electronic format and accompanied by 
identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB.  See http://www.emma.msrb.org/. 

Section 14.  That the County Mayor and the County Clerk are hereby authorized to execute and 
deliver the Paying Agency Agreement between the County and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust 
Company, N.A., relating to the Bonds in the form presented to this Legislative Body with such changes 
and additions to or omissions from such draft agreement as the officer executing such agreement 
approves as necessary or appropriate, such execution and delivery to be conclusive evidence of such 
approval. 

 

http://www.emma.msrb.org/


 

 

Section 15.  That all orders or resolutions in conflict herewith be and the same are repealed insofar as 
such conflict exits and this Resolution will become effective immediately upon its passage, the public 
welfare requiring it. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 





















































EXHIBIT A 

(Form of Series 2015A Bond) 

UNLESS THIS BOND IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE 

DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY, A NEW YORK CORPORATION (“DTC”), TO THE 

PAYING AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT, AND 

ANY BOND ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR IN SUCH OTHER 

NAME AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC (AND ANY 

PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY 

AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE 

HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL INASMUCH 

AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN. 

AS PROVIDED IN THE RESOLUTION REFERRED TO HEREIN, UNTIL THE TERMINATION 

OF THE SYSTEM OF BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY TRANSFERS THROUGH DTC (OR ANY 

SUCCESSOR SECURITY DEPOSITORY APPOINTED PURSUANT TO THE RESOLUTION), 
AND NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THE RESOLUTION TO THE 

CONTRARY, THIS BOND MAY BE TRANSFERRED, IN WHOLE BUT NOT IN PART, ONLY TO 

A NOMINEE OF DTC, OR BY A NOMINEE OF DTC TO DTC OR A NOMINEE OF DTC, OR 

BY DTC OR A NOMINEE OF DTC TO ANY SUCCESSOR SECURITIES DEPOSITORY OR 

ANY NOMINEE THEREOF. 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF TENNESSEE 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND 

SERIES 2015A 

No. RA- $ 

Interest Rate: Maturity Date: Dated Date: CUSIP: 

May 1, 20__   April __, 2015 

Registered Owner: 

Principal Amount: 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:  That the County of Hamilton, in the State of 
Tennessee (the “County”), hereby acknowledge itself to owe and for value received hereby promises to 
pay to the Registered Owner set forth above, or registered assigns, the Principal Amount set forth above 
on the Maturity Date set forth above and to pay interest thereon from the Dated Date set forth above until 
paid at the Interest Rate per annum set forth above on November 1, 2015, and each May 1 and 
November 1 thereafter until said Principal Amount is paid.  Both principal of and interest on this Bond 
are payable in lawful money of the United States of America at the designated corporate trust office of 
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Registrar and Paying Agent.  The Registrar and 
Paying Agent will make all interest payments with respect to this Bond on each interest payment date 
directly to the registered owner shown, as of the close of business on the day which is the fifteenth day of 
the month next preceding the interest payment date, on the registration records maintained by the 
Registrar and Paying Agent and at the registered owner’s address shown on those registration records, 



without, except for final payment, the presentation or surrender of this Bond, and all payments will 
discharge the obligations of the County to the extent of the payments so made.  Payment of principal will 
be made on presentation and surrender of this Bond to the Registrar and Paying Agent when it is due.  For 
the prompt payment of this obligation, both principal and interest, the full faith, credit and other resources 
of the County are hereby irrevocably pledged. 

This Bond is one of an issue of bonds aggregating $___________ [not to exceed $75,000,000 
issued under the authority of and in full compliance with the Constitution and statutes of Tennessee, 
including Section 9-21-201 et seq., and a resolution duly adopted by the Legislative Body of the County 
on March 18, 2015 (the “Resolution”), which authorizes said Bonds.  The Bonds are issued for the 
purpose of providing funds to be applied to (1) the payment of costs of financing and refinancing of the 
design, acquisition, construction, renovation, equipping and furnishing of various capital projects, 
including infrastructure improvements at an industrial park, (2) the payment of the principal of all of the 
County’s outstanding General Obligation Bond Anticipation Notes issued by the County pursuant to a 
resolution duly adopted by the Legislative Bond of the County on September 4, 2013, and (3) the 
payment of the costs of issuing the Bonds. 

[Bonds maturing on or before May 1, 20__ are not subject to redemption before their stated 
maturities.  Bonds maturing on or after May 1, 20__ are subject to redemption at the option of the County 
on and after May 1, 20__, in whole or in part on any date at the principal amount thereof, together with 
accrued interest thereon to the redemption date.] 

[The Bonds maturing on May 1, 20__ (the “Term Bonds”) are subject to mandatory sinking fund 
redemption at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to 
the redemption date on May 1 of the years and in the principal amounts as follows: 

 Year Principal Amount 

 

At the option of the County to be exercised by delivery of a written certificate to the Registrar 
(defined below) not less than 45 days next preceding any mandatory sinking fund redemption date, the 
County may (1) deliver to the Registrar for cancellation Term Bonds (which are subject to mandatory 
sinking fund redemption on such mandatory sinking fund redemption date) or portions thereof in 
denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof or (2) specify a principal amount of such Term 
Bonds (which are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on such mandatory sinking fund 
redemption date) or portions thereof in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof which 
prior to said date have been redeemed and cancelled by the Registrar and not theretofore applied as a 
credit against any mandatory sinking fund redemption obligation with respect to such Term Bonds.  Each 
Term Bond or portion thereof so delivered or previously redeemed will be credited by the Registrar at 
100% of the principal amount thereof against the obligation of the County on such mandatory sinking 
fund redemption date.] 

If the Bonds or any portion thereof are called for redemption, notice of redemption, describing the 
Bonds to be redeemed, specifying the redemption date and the premium, if any, payable on such 
redemption, will be given by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the registered owner thereof 
as shown on the registry books of the County kept by the Registrar, not less than 30 days nor more than 
60 days prior to the redemption date.  If the notice of redemption is mailed as aforesaid and if on or before 
the date fixed for redemption, payment thereof is duly made or provided for, interest on the Bonds to be 
redeemed will cease to accrue from and after the redemption date specified in such notice.  If less than all 
of the Bonds are called for redemption, the particular maturity of the Bonds to be redeemed will be 

 A-2 ATLANTA:5457535.5  



selected by the County and the Bonds within a maturity to be redeemed will be selected by the Paying 
Agent by lot, in such manner as it may determine. 

This Bond is issued in fully registered form and is non-negotiable.  It may be exchanged for a like 
aggregate principal amount of Bonds of authorized denominations, as set forth in the Resolution.  This 
Bond is transferable by the Registered Owner hereof, in person or by his attorney duly authorized in 
writing, at the designated corporate trust office of the Registrar, upon surrender and cancellation of this 
Bond.  Upon such transfer, new Bonds of an authorized denomination for the same aggregate principal 
amount will be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor. 

It is hereby certified and recited that all acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution 
and by the laws of the State of Tennessee to exist, or to be done precedent to and in the issuance of this 
obligation, do exist, and have been properly done, have happened and been performed in regular and due 
form and time as required by law; and that provision has been made to pay the principal hereof and 
interest hereon as same falls due. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County of Hamilton, Tennessee through its Legislative Body, has 
caused this Bond to be signed by its County Mayor and attested by its County Clerk in facsimile form 
under the facsimile seal of his office. 

   HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
 
       
     County Mayor 
[SEAL] 
 
ATTESTED: 
 
 
   
County Clerk 

 A-3 ATLANTA:5457535.5  



Date of Authentication: 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This bond is one of the Bonds described in and issued under the Resolution referred to herein. 

   THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST  
      COMPANY, N.A., as Registrar 
 
 
   By:    
     Authorized Officer 

 A-4 ATLANTA:5457535.5  



ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned hereby sells, assign and transfers unto 

  
(Please print or typewrite Name and Address, 

including Zip Code, and Federal Taxpayer Identification or 
Social Security Number of Assignee) 

the within bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 

  
Attorney to transfer the within bond on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of 
substitution in the premises. 

Dated:     

Signature guaranteed by: 

 
 
  
NOTICE:  Signature must be guaranteed by a member 
firm of a Medallion Program acceptable to the Registrar. 

  
 
  
NOTICE:  The signature to this assignment must 
correspond with the name as it appears on the face of the 
within bond in every particular, without alteration or 
enlargement or any change whatever. 

 

 A-5 ATLANTA:5457535.5  



EXHIBIT B 

(Form of Series 2015B Bond) 

UNLESS THIS BOND IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE 

DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY, A NEW YORK CORPORATION (“DTC”), TO THE 

PAYING AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT, AND 

ANY BOND ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR IN SUCH OTHER 

NAME AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC (AND ANY 

PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY 

AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE 

HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL INASMUCH 

AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN. 

AS PROVIDED IN THE RESOLUTION REFERRED TO HEREIN, UNTIL THE TERMINATION 

OF THE SYSTEM OF BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY TRANSFERS THROUGH DTC (OR ANY 

SUCCESSOR SECURITY DEPOSITORY APPOINTED PURSUANT TO THE RESOLUTION), 
AND NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THE RESOLUTION TO THE 

CONTRARY, THIS BOND MAY BE TRANSFERRED, IN WHOLE BUT NOT IN PART, ONLY TO 

A NOMINEE OF DTC, OR BY A NOMINEE OF DTC TO DTC OR A NOMINEE OF DTC, OR 

BY DTC OR A NOMINEE OF DTC TO ANY SUCCESSOR SECURITIES DEPOSITORY OR 

ANY NOMINEE THEREOF. 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF TENNESSEE 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON 
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BOND 

SERIES 2015B 

No. RB- $ 

Interest Rate: Maturity Date: Dated Date: CUSIP: 

March 1, 20__  April __, 2015 

Registered Owner: 

Principal Amount: 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:  That the County of Hamilton, in the State of 
Tennessee (the “County”), hereby acknowledge itself to owe and for value received hereby promises to 
pay to the Registered Owner set forth above, or registered assigns, the Principal Amount set forth above 
on the Maturity Date set forth above and to pay interest thereon from the Dated Date set forth above until 
paid at the Interest Rate per annum set forth above on September 1, 2015, and each March 1 and 
September 1 thereafter until said Principal Amount is paid.  Both principal of and interest on this Bond 
are payable in lawful money of the United States of America at the designated corporate trust office of 
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Registrar and Paying Agent.  The Registrar and 
Paying Agent will make all interest payments with respect to this Bond on each interest payment date 
directly to the registered owner shown, as of the close of business on the day which is the fifteenth day of 
the month next preceding the interest payment date, on the registration records maintained by the 
Registrar and Paying Agent and at the registered owner’s address shown on those registration records, 

 A-6 ATLANTA:5457535.5  



without, except for final payment, the presentation or surrender of this Bond, and all payments will 
discharge the obligations of the County to the extent of the payments so made.  Payment of principal will 
be made on presentation and surrender of this Bond to the Registrar and Paying Agent when it is due.  For 
the prompt payment of this obligation, both principal and interest, the full faith, credit and other resources 
of the County are hereby irrevocably pledged. 

This Bond is one of an issue of bonds aggregating $___________ [not to exceed $57,000,000 
issued under the authority of and in full compliance with the Constitution and statutes of Tennessee, 
including Section 9-21-901 et seq., and a resolution duly adopted by the Legislative Body of the County 
on March 18, 2015 (the “Resolution”), which authorizes said Bonds.  The Bonds are issued for the 
purpose of providing funds to be applied to the refunding of certain outstanding general obligation bonds 
of the County and the costs of issuing the Bonds. 

[Bonds maturing on or before March 1, 20__ are not subject to redemption before their stated 
maturities.  Bonds maturing on or after March 1, 20__ are subject to redemption at the option of the 
County on and after March 1, 20__, in whole or in part on any date at the principal amount thereof, 
together with accrued interest thereon to the redemption date.] 

[The Bonds maturing on March 1, 20__ (the “Term Bonds”) are subject to mandatory sinking 
fund redemption at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest 
to the redemption date on March 1 of the years and in the principal amounts as follows: 

 Year Principal Amount 

 

At the option of the County to be exercised by delivery of a written certificate to the Registrar 
(defined below) not less than 45 days next preceding any mandatory sinking fund redemption date, the 
County may (1) deliver to the Registrar for cancellation Term Bonds (which are subject to mandatory 
sinking fund redemption on such mandatory sinking fund redemption date) or portions thereof in 
denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof or (2) specify a principal amount of such Term 
Bonds (which are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on such mandatory sinking fund 
redemption date) or portions thereof in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof which 
prior to said date have been redeemed and cancelled by the Registrar and not theretofore applied as a 
credit against any mandatory sinking fund redemption obligation with respect to such Term Bonds.  Each 
Term Bond or portion thereof so delivered or previously redeemed will be credited by the Registrar at 
100% of the principal amount thereof against the obligation of the County on such mandatory sinking 
fund redemption date.] 

If the Bonds or any portion thereof are called for redemption, notice of redemption, describing the 
Bonds to be redeemed, specifying the redemption date and the premium, if any, payable on such 
redemption, will be given by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the registered owner thereof 
as shown on the registry books of the County kept by the Registrar, not less than 30 days nor more than 
60 days prior to the redemption date.  If the notice of redemption is mailed as aforesaid and if on or before 
the date fixed for redemption, payment thereof is duly made or provided for, interest on the Bonds to be 
redeemed will cease to accrue from and after the redemption date specified in such notice.  If less than all 
of the Bonds are called for redemption, the particular maturity of the Bonds to be redeemed will be 
selected by the County and the Bonds within a maturity to be redeemed will be selected by the Paying 
Agent by lot, in such manner as it may determine. 

 A-7 ATLANTA:5457535.5  



This Bond is issued in fully registered form and is non-negotiable.  It may be exchanged for a like 
aggregate principal amount of Bonds of authorized denominations, as set forth in the Resolution.  This 
Bond is transferable by the Registered Owner hereof, in person or by his attorney duly authorized in 
writing, at the designated corporate trust office of the Registrar, upon surrender and cancellation of this 
Bond.  Upon such transfer, new Bonds of an authorized denomination for the same aggregate principal 
amount will be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor. 

It is hereby certified and recited that all acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution 
and by the laws of the State of Tennessee to exist, or to be done precedent to and in the issuance of this 
obligation, do exist, and have been properly done, have happened and been performed in regular and due 
form and time as required by law; and that provision has been made to pay the principal hereof and 
interest hereon as same falls due. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County of Hamilton, Tennessee through its Legislative Body, has 
caused this Bond to be signed by its County Mayor and attested by its County Clerk in facsimile form 
under the facsimile seal of his office. 

   HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
 
       
     County Mayor 
[SEAL] 
 
ATTESTED: 
 
 
   
County Clerk 

 A-8 ATLANTA:5457535.5  



Date of Authentication: 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This bond is one of the Bonds described in and issued under the Resolution referred to herein. 

   THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST  
      COMPANY, N.A., as Registrar 
 
 
   By:    
     Authorized Officer 

 A-9 ATLANTA:5457535.5  



ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned hereby sells, assign and transfers unto 

  
(Please print or typewrite Name and Address, 

including Zip Code, and Federal Taxpayer Identification or 
Social Security Number of Assignee) 

the within bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 

  
Attorney to transfer the within bond on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of 
substitution in the premises. 

Dated:     

Signature guaranteed by: 

 
 
  
NOTICE:  Signature must be guaranteed by a member 
firm of a Medallion Program acceptable to the Registrar. 

  
 
  
NOTICE:  The signature to this assignment must 
correspond with the name as it appears on the face of the 
within bond in every particular, without alteration or 
enlargement or any change whatever. 

 

 

 A-10 ATLANTA:5457535.5  



03/05/15 Draft 

ESCROW AGREEMENT 

By and Between 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 

AND 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A. 

as Escrow Agent 

Dated as of April 1, 2015 

Relating to 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS 

SERIES 2015B 
 

ATLANTA 5624633.3 



 

THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of April 1, 2015, by and between 
HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE (the “County”), a legislative body of the State of Tennessee (the 
“State”), and THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., a national banking association 
duly organized and existing under and pursuant to the laws of the United States, as escrow agent (the 
“Escrow Agent”). 

WITNESSETH THAT: 

WHEREAS, pursuant to resolutions adopted by the Board of Commissioners of the County on 
June 21, 2006 and February 18, 2009 and a Certificate of County Mayor executed on March 10, 2009 
(collectively, the “Series 2009 Resolution”), the County has heretofore issued its General Obligation 
Bonds, Series 2009 (the “Series 2009 Bonds”) in the original aggregate principal amount of $31,500,000, 
of which $18,975,000 in the aggregate principal amount is currently outstanding; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to resolutions adopted by the Board of Commissioners of the County on 
June 21, 2006, September 15, 2011 and October 19, 2011 and a Certificate of County Mayor executed on 
October 25, 2011 (collectively, the “Series 2011 Resolution”), the County has heretofore issued its 
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2011A (the “Series 2011A Bonds”) in the original aggregate principal 
amount of $61,310,000, of which $55,350,000 in the aggregate principal amount is currently outstanding; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Series 2009 Bonds maturing on and after March 1, 2018 are subject to 
redemption prior to their maturities, at the option of the County, on and after March 1, 2017 in whole or 
in part at any time at a price equal to the principal amount of each Series 2009 Bond so redeemed, plus 
accrued interest thereon to the redemption date; and 

WHEREAS, the Series 2011A Bonds maturing on and after January 1, 2021 are subject to 
redemption prior to their maturities, at the option of the County, on and after January 1, 2020 in whole or 
in part at any time at a price equal to the principal amount of each Series 2011A Bond so redeemed, plus 
accrued interest thereon to the redemption date; and 

WHEREAS, in order to achieve debt service savings, the County wishes to provide funds 
necessary to advance refund [all / the portion] of the Series 2009 Bonds maturing on and after March 1, 
2018 in the outstanding principal amount of $[__________] (the “2009 Refunded Bonds”) on March 1, 
2017; and 

WHEREAS, in order to achieve debt service savings, the County wishes to provide funds 
necessary to advance refund [all / the portion] of the Series 2011A Bonds maturing on and after 
January 1, 2021 in the outstanding principal amount of $[__________] (the “2011A Refunded Bonds” 
and together with the 2009 Refunded Bonds, the “Refunded Bonds”) on January 1, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Board of Commissioners of the County on 
March 18, 2015 and the Certificate of County Mayor dated April __, 2015 (collectively, the 
“Resolution”), the County has authorized the issuance and sale of the County’s General Obligation 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2015B (the “Series 2015B Bonds”) to provide funds to pay the cost of 
(i) refunding the Refunded Bonds and (ii) issuing the Series 2015B Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Resolution provides that a portion of the proceeds of the sale of the Series 2015B 
Bonds will be deposited in an Escrow Fund (as hereinafter defined) established under this Agreement and 
applied to purchase Government Obligations (as hereinafter defined), the proceeds of which will be 
applied to refund and pay the Refunded Bonds; and 

ATLANTA 5624633.3 



 

WHEREAS, this Agreement sets forth the understandings and agreements of the County and the 
Escrow Agent with respect to the Refunded Bonds and the Escrow Fund; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants set forth in 
this Agreement, and intending to be legally bound, the County and the Escrow Agent covenant and agree 
as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS; INCORPORATION OF RECITALS 

Section 1.01  Definitions.  In addition to words and terms elsewhere defined in this Agreement, 
the following words and terms as used in this Agreement will have the following meanings, unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise. 

“Agreement” means this Escrow Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2015, by and between the 
County and the Escrow Agent. 

“County” means Hamilton County, Tennessee. 

“Escrow Agent” means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking 
association organized and existing under the laws of the United States and having a corporate trust office 
in Dallas, Texas, which is authorized under such laws to exercise corporate trust powers. 

“Escrow Fund” means the Escrow Fund created in Section 2.01 hereof which will be applied to 
the payment of the Refunded Bonds as provided herein. 

“Government Obligations” means direct general obligations of, or obligations the payment of the 
principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed as to full and timely payment by, the 
United States of America, which obligations are noncallable. 

“Redemption Date” means (1) March 1, 2017 with respect to the 2009 Refunded Bonds and 
(2) January 1, 2020 with respect to the 2011A Refunded Bonds. 

“Refunded Bonds” means, collectively, the 2009 Refunded Bonds and the 2011A Refunded 
Bonds. 

“Resolution” means, collectively, the resolution of the Board of Commissioners of the County 
adopted on March 18, 2015 and the Certificate of County Mayor dated April __, 2015, authorizing the 
terms and conditions and the issuance, sale and delivery of the Series 2015B Bonds. 

“Series 2009 Bonds” means the General Obligation Bonds, Series 2009 issued by the County in 
the original aggregate principal amount of $31,500,000. 

“Series 2009 Resolution” means, collectively, the resolutions adopted by the Board of 
Commissioners of the County on June 21, 2006 and February 18, 2009 and the Certificate of County 
Mayor executed on March 10, 2009, authorizing the terms and conditions and the issuance, sale and 
delivery of the Series 2009 Bonds. 

“Series 2011A Bonds” means the General Obligation Bonds, Series 2011A issued by the County 
in the original aggregate principal amount of $61,310,000. 

 2 ATLANTA:5465244.5  



 

“Series 2011A Resolution” means, collectively, the resolutions adopted by the Board of 
Commissioners of the County on June 21, 2006, September 15, 2011 and October 19, 2011 and the 
Certificate of County Mayor executed on October 25, 2011, authorizing the terms and conditions and the 
issuance, sale and delivery of the Series 2011A Bonds. 

“Series 2015B Bonds” means the General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2015B issued by 
the County in an aggregate principal amount of $[__________] to accomplish, among other things, the 
refunding of the Refunded Bonds. 

“State” means the State of Tennessee. 

“2009 Refunded Bonds” means the Series 2009 Bonds maturing on and after [March 1, 2018] in 
the aggregate principal amount of $[__________]. 

“2011A Refunded Bonds” means the Series 2011A Bonds maturing on and after [January 1, 
2021] in the aggregate principal amount of $[__________]. 

Words of the masculine gender are to be deemed and construed to include correlative words of 
the feminine and neuter genders.  Words importing the singular number include the plural number and 
vice versa unless the context otherwise indicates.  The word “person” includes corporations, associations, 
natural persons and public bodies unless the context otherwise indicates.  Reference to a person other than 
a natural person includes its successors. 

Section 1.02  Incorporation of Recitals.  The recital clauses and the definitions set forth 
hereinabove are specifically incorporated into the text of this Agreement and are to be interpreted as a 
material part hereof. 

ARTICLE II 
 

CREATION OF TRUST FUND 

Section 2.01  Escrow Fund.  There is hereby created and established with the Escrow Agent a 
special and irrevocable escrow fund designated the Escrow Fund to be held in the custody of the Escrow 
Agent separate and apart from other funds and accounts of the County or the Escrow Agent. 

Section 2.02  Initial Deposit; Securities Purchase.  Concurrently with the execution of this 
Agreement, the County will deposit or cause to be deposited with the Escrow Agent for deposit in the 
Escrow Fund, and the Escrow Agent hereby acknowledges receipt of, $[__________] from the proceeds 
of the Series 2015B Bonds.  Concurrently with the receipt of such proceeds, the Escrow Agent will apply 
$[__________] of the proceeds from the Escrow Fund to the purchase of those Government Obligations 
specifically described in Schedule II attached hereto (“Schedule II”) and $[____] will be held as 
uninvested cash.  The Government Obligations shall mature in principal amounts and pay interest in such 
amounts and at such times so that sufficient moneys, together with uninvested cash, will be available to 
pay the principal of and interest on the Refunded Bonds when due and payable whether at maturity or on 
the Redemption Date.  On the basis of the verification report of Robert Thomas CPA, LLC delivered to 
the County on the date of issuance and delivery of the Series 2015B Bonds, the County hereby finds and 
determines that the investments described in Schedule II are advantageous in yield and maturity date to 
provide sufficient moneys, together with uninvested cash, to refund and pay the Refunded Bonds and to 
comply with United States Department of the Treasury regulations adopted or applicable pursuant to the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

 3 ATLANTA:5465244.5  



 

Section 2.03  Irrevocable Deposit; Control.  The deposit of the cash in the Escrow Fund shall 
constitute an irrevocable deposit of such cash exclusively for the benefit of the Refunded Bonds, and such 
proceeds and Government Obligations, together with any income or interest earned thereon, shall be held 
in trust and shall be applied solely to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Refunded Bonds 
as the same become due through and including the Redemption Date as set forth in Schedule I attached 
hereto (“Schedule I”).  Subject to the requirements set forth herein for the use of the Escrow Fund and the 
moneys and investments therein, including, without limitation, Sections 2.04, 2.05 and 3.02 hereof, the 
County covenants and agrees that the Escrow Agent shall have full and complete control and authority 
over and with respect to the Escrow Fund and moneys and investments therein and that the County shall 
not exercise any control or authority over and with respect to the Escrow Fund and the moneys and 
investments therein. 

This Agreement constitutes an irrevocable instruction by the County to the Escrow Agent, in its 
capacity as Paying Agent under the Series 2009 Resolution  and the Series 2011A Resolution, to pay the 
principal of and interest due on the Refunded Bonds in the amounts set forth on Schedule I when due 
through the Redemption Date and to call the Refunded Bonds for optional redemption on the Redemption 
Date. 

Section 2.04    Reinvestment; SLGS.  (a) The Escrow Agent is hereby authorized and directed to 
reinvest proceeds of the Government Obligations which are attributable to amounts received as principal 
of or interest on the Government Obligations and not immediately needed to pay principal of and interest 
on the Refunded Bonds (including certain fees and expenses related thereto).  Such amounts shall be 
continuously invested in Government Obligations maturing on a date not later than the date on which the 
amounts invested are needed to pay the Refunded Bonds as shown in the verification report of an 
independent certified public accounting firm in accordance with written instructions to the Escrow Agent 
from the County.  Such instructions shall be accompanied by an opinion of nationally recognized bond 
counsel to the effect that investments made in accordance with such instructions will not cause interest on 
the Refunded Bonds or the Series 2015B Bonds to become includable in gross income for federal income 
tax purposes. 

(b) If the Escrow Agent is instructed to purchase United States Treasury Obligations - State 
and Local Government Series (“SLGS”), such instructions will be given in accordance with regulations of 
the United States Bureau of Public Debt then in effect. 

Section 2.05    Substitute Securities.  The County may at any time substitute cash or other 
Government Obligations for the Government Obligations listed in Schedule II provided that such cash or 
Government Obligations: 

(i) are, in the opinion of, and as certified by, independent certified public 
accountants, in an amount or mature in an amount (including any interest received 
thereon), which together with any cash or Government Obligations substituted for the 
Government Obligations listed in Schedule II is equal to or greater than the amount 
payable on the maturity date of the Government Obligations listed in Schedule II for 
which the substitution occurred, and 

(ii) mature on or before the next date on which the Government Obligations 
listed in Schedule II for which substitution is to occur will be required for payment of 
principal of or interest on the Refunded Bonds (including certain fees and expenses 
related thereto), 

 4 ATLANTA:5465244.5  



 

and provided that, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, acceptable to the County and the 
Escrow Agent, on such substitution, the Refunded Bonds are deemed defeased and that such substitution 
will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on 
the Refunded Bonds or the Series 2015B Bonds. 

ARTICLE III 
 

DUTIES OF THE ESCROW AGENT; FEES AND COSTS 

Section 3.01  Payments on Refunded Bonds.  The Escrow Agent, without further authorization 
and direction from the County, will pay from moneys available in the Escrow Fund to the persons entitled 
thereto on the dates and in the amounts set forth in Schedule I hereto, moneys sufficient to pay the 
principal of and interest (including certain fees and expenses) falling due on the Refunded Bonds as set 
forth in Schedule I hereto.  Such payments shall be made from the principal of and interest on the 
Governmental Obligations or other moneys in the Escrow Fund and shall be made to the persons entitled 
thereto. 

Section 3.02    Fund Established. The Escrow Agent hereby accepts the money caused to be 
deposited in the Escrow Fund by the County.  The Escrow Agent shall purchase or cause to be purchased 
those Government Obligations listed in Schedule II solely from the moneys deposited by the County in 
the Escrow Fund.  The Escrow Agent shall apply the moneys deposited in such account and the 
Government Obligations, together with any income or interest earned thereon, in accordance with this 
Agreement.  The Escrow Agent shall have no power or duty to invest any moneys held hereunder or to 
make substitutions of the Government Obligations held hereunder or to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose 
of the Government Obligations acquired hereunder except as provided in Sections 2.04 and 2.05 hereof or 
as otherwise provided herein.  The Escrow Agent may, on the written request of the County, sell or 
redeem all or a portion of the Government Obligations held for the credit of the Escrow Fund and reinvest 
the required proceeds of such sale or redemption, in Government Obligations designated in such request 
of the County, but only on receipt by the Escrow Agent of: 

(a) a certificate of an independent certified public accountant stating that after giving 
effect to such request the Government Obligations held for the credit of such account are of such 
maturities and interest payment dates and bear such interest as will, without further investment or 
reinvestment of either the principal amount thereof or the interest earnings thereon, be sufficient 
together with all cash and other immediately available invested funds held for the credit of such 
account to pay the principal of and interest on (including certain fees and expenses) the Refunded 
Bonds when due and as set forth in Schedule I hereto; and 

(b) an opinion of counsel acceptable to the County and the Escrow Agent, which 
shall be nationally recognized bond or tax counsel, stating that the Refunded Bonds are deemed 
defeased and that the compliance with such request of the County will not adversely affect the 
exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest on the Refunded 
Bonds. 

The liability of the Escrow Agent for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Refunded 
Bonds (including certain fees and expenses related thereto) pursuant to this Section shall be limited to the 
cash available for such purposes in the Escrow Fund, and the Escrow Agent will not be required to 
expend its own funds for the purpose of performing its duties hereunder.  The County and the Escrow 
Agent hereby covenant that no part of the moneys or funds at any time in the Escrow Fund shall be used 
directly or indirectly to acquire any obligations which would cause any Refunded Bond to be an 
“arbitrage bond” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

 5 ATLANTA:5465244.5  



 

Section 3.03    Escrow Agent’s Fees, Costs and Expenses.  The Escrow Agent’s fees, costs and 
expenses for and in carrying out the provisions of this Agreement have been fixed, which fees, costs and 
expenses are to be paid by the County as they are due from funds of the County and not from any funds in 
the Escrow Fund; provided however, if the Escrow Agent is required by governmental agency or court 
proceeding initiated by a third party to undertake efforts beyond that which is set forth herein but related 
thereto (other than due to the Escrow Agent’s negligence or willful misconduct), the Escrow Agent will 
promptly notify the County of the same in writing, and the County will pay the Escrow Agent for such 
extraordinary fees, costs and expenses reasonably and necessarily incurred in connection therewith. 

Section 3.04  Notice of Optional Redemption.  Not less than 30 days nor more than 60 days prior 
to each Redemption Date, the Escrow Agent hereby agrees to deliver a notice of redemption in 
substantially the form set forth in Exhibit A-1 and Exhibit A-2, respectively, attached hereto and in the 
manner as described in the Refunded Bonds to the owners of the Refunded Bonds then outstanding that 
the Refunded Bonds will be optionally redeemed on the Redemption Date. 

Section 3.05    Concerning the Escrow Agent.  It is expressly understood and agreed that the 
Escrow Agent’s duties and obligations in connection with this Agreement are confined to those expressly 
defined herein and no additional covenants or obligations will be read into this Agreement against the 
Escrow Agent.  The Escrow Agent may consult with counsel with respect to any question relating to its 
duties or responsibilities hereunder or otherwise in connection herewith and will not be liable for any 
action taken, suffered or omitted by the Escrow Agent in good faith upon the advice of such counsel.  The 
Escrow Agent may act through its agents and attorneys appointed with due care.  The Escrow Agent may 
conclusively rely upon and shall be fully protected in acting and relying upon any notice, order, 
requisition, request, consent, certificate, order, opinion (including an opinion of independent counsel), 
affidavit, letter, telegram or other paper or document in good faith deemed by it to be genuine and correct 
and to have been signed or sent by the proper person or persons.  The Escrow Agent will not be liable for 
any action taken or neglected to be taken in performing or attempting to perform its obligations hereunder 
other than for its negligence or willful misconduct.  Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, 
in no event will the Escrow Agent be liable for special, indirect or consequential loss or damage of any 
kind whatsoever (including but not limited to lost profits), even if the Escrow Agent has been advised of 
the likelihood of such loss or damage and regardless of the form of action.  The Escrow Agent will not be 
responsible or liable for any failure or delay in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement 
arising out of or caused, directly or indirectly, by circumstances beyond its reasonable control, including, 
without limitation, acts of God; earthquakes; fire; flood; hurricanes or other storms; wars; terrorism; 
similar military disturbances; sabotage; epidemic; pandemic; riots; interruptions; loss or malfunctions of 
utilities, computer (hardware or software) or communications services; accidents; labor disputes; acts of 
civil or military authority or governmental action; it being understood that the Escrow Agent will use 
commercially reasonable efforts which are consistent with accepted practices in the banking industry to 
resume performance as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section 4.01  Escrow Fund Irrevocable.  The Escrow Fund hereby created shall be irrevocable, 
and the registered owners of the Refunded Bonds are hereby granted an express lien on the Escrow Fund 
until applied in accordance with this Agreement. 

The Escrow Agent shall hold the Escrow Fund as a separate trust account wholly segregated from 
all other funds and accounts held in any capacity and shall make disbursements from such accounts only 
in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  The principal of and interest on the Government 

 6 ATLANTA:5465244.5  



 

Obligations shall not be reinvested except as provided in Sections 2.04 and 3.02 hereof, and the Escrow 
Agent shall not sell or dispose of such securities except as provided in Sections 2.05 and 3.02 hereof. 

Under no circumstances shall the Escrow Agent have a lien on the Escrow Fund for its charges, 
fees and expenses and under no circumstances shall the Escrow Agent make any claim against the Escrow 
Fund for such charges, fees and expenses. 

Section 4.02  Reports.  The Escrow Agent shall deliver to the County not later than the fifteen 
day of each month beginning on May 15, 2015, a report of each transaction relating to the Escrow Fund 
for the prior month. 

Section 4.03    Verification.  The accuracy of the mathematical computations of the adequacy of 
the Government Obligations in the Escrow Fund to pay the principal of and interest due and to become 
due on the Refunded Bonds (including certain fees and expenses related thereto) through the Redemption 
Date will be verified by Robert Thomas CPA, LLC.  A copy of such verification has been delivered to the 
parties hereto.  The Escrow Agent may conclusively rely upon such verification and shall not be held 
liable with respect to any error in such mathematical computations. 

Section 4.04  Deficiency.  If there is any deficiency in the Escrow Fund, the County will remedy 
such deficiency promptly by paying to the Escrow Agent the amount of such deficiency.  The Escrow 
Agent is not liable for any such deficiency, except as may be caused by its negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

Section 4.05  Termination.  This Agreement will terminate when all payments of the principal of 
and interest on the Refunded Bonds (including certain fees and expenses related thereto) required to be 
made to the owners of the Refunded Bonds under the provisions of the Series 2009 Resolution and the 
Series 2011A Resolution, respectively, have been made.  If after the termination of this Agreement, there 
are any funds remaining in the Escrow Fund, the Escrow Agent shall promptly transmit the amount of 
such funds to the County.  Such moneys may be used by the County for any lawful purpose, subject to the 
limitations in the Resolution. 

Section 4.06  Indemnification.  To the extent permitted by applicable law, the County hereby 
agrees to indemnify the Escrow Agent and save it harmless from and against any and all actions or suits 
and from and against any and all losses, liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and expenses) arising out of this Agreement, unless such losses, liabilities, costs and expenses shall 
have been finally adjudicated to have resulted from the willful misconduct or negligence of the Escrow 
Agent, and such indemnification shall survive the termination of this Agreement 

Section 4.07    Resignation of Escrow Agent.  The Escrow Agent may resign at any time by 
giving written notice thereof to the County; provided that such resignation will not take effect until the 
appointment of a successor Escrow Agent and the acceptance thereof by such successor Escrow Agent.  If 
an instrument of acceptance by a successor Escrow Agent has not been delivered to the Escrow Agent 
within sixty (60) days after the giving of such notice of resignation, the resigning Escrow Agent may 
petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Escrow Agent. 

Section 4.08  Severability.  If any one or more of the covenants or agreements provided in this 
Agreement on the part of the parties hereto to be performed should be determined by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be contrary to law, such covenant or agreement shall be deemed and construed to be 
severable from the remaining covenants and agreements herein contained and shall in no way affect the 
validity of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

 7 ATLANTA:5465244.5  



 

Section 4.09  Law.  This Agreement shall be governed exclusively by the laws of the State of 
Tennessee. 

Section 4.10  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, all or any 
of which shall be regarded for all purposes as one original and shall constitute and be one and the same 
instrument. 

Section 4.11  Notices.  Any notice or other communication to be given under this Agreement shall 
be in writing and may be given by certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested), telegraph or 
personal delivery: 

(a) to the County at the following address: 
 
  Hamilton County, Tennessee 
  117 East 7th Street, 5th Floor, Newell Tower  
  Chattanooga, Tennessee  37402 
  Attention:  Administrator of Finance 

(b) to the Escrow Agent at the following address: 
 
  The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. 
  2001 Bryan Street, 11th Floor 
  Dallas, Texas  75201 
  Attention:  Corporate Trust Department 

Section 4.12    Electronic Communications.  The Escrow Agent agrees to accept and act upon 
instructions or directions from the County pursuant to this Agreement sent by unsecured e-mail, facsimile 
transmission or other similar unsecured electronic methods; provided, however, the County shall provide 
to the Escrow Agent an incumbency certificate listing the names of the individuals who are designated 
and authorized to sign on behalf of the County.  If the County otherwise elects to give the Escrow Agent 
e-mail or facsimile instructions (or instructions by a similar electronic method) and the Escrow Agent in 
its discretion reasonably exercised elects to act upon such instructions, such instructions shall be deemed 
controlling.  The Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any losses, costs or expenses arising directly or 
indirectly from the Escrow Agent’s reliance upon and compliance with such instructions notwithstanding 
such instructions conflict or are inconsistent with a subsequent written instruction.  The County agrees to 
assume all risks arising out of the use of such electronic methods to submit instructions and directions to 
the Escrow Agent, including without limitation the risk of the Escrow Agent acting on unauthorized 
instructions, and the risk of interception and misuse by third parties. 

[SIGNATURES BEGIN ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

 8 ATLANTA:5465244.5  



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Escrow Agent and the County have caused this Agreement to be 
executed and attested by their duly authorized officers, as of the date first above written. 

   THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST  
      COMPANY, N.A.,  as Escrow Agent 
 
 
   By:    
    Laura R. Takeshita 
    Vice President 

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 
 

 9 ATLANTA:5465244.5  



 

[COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE ESCROW AGREEMENT] 

   HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
[SEAL] 
   By:    
    Jim M. Coppinger  
    County Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:   
 W.F. Knowles  
 County Clerk 
 

 10 ATLANTA:5465244.5  



 

EXHIBIT A-1 

NOTICE OF REDEMPTION 

Hamilton County, Tennessee 
General Obligation Bonds 

Series 2009 

CUSIP NUMBERS:  2018 Maturity – 407324-___; 2019 Maturity – 407324-___; 
2020 Maturity – 407324-___; 2021 Maturity – 407324-___; 2022 Maturity – 407324-___; 

2023 Maturity – 407324-___; and 2024 Maturity – 407324-Y30 

Notice is hereby given by Hamilton County, Tennessee (the “County”) of its intention to redeem 
its outstanding General Obligation Bonds, Series 2009 [maturing on and after March 1, 2018] (the 
“Refunded Bonds”) on March 1, 2016 (the “Redemption Date”) at the redemption price (the “Redemption 
Price”) of the par amount thereof plus accrued interest to the Redemption Date. 

Payment of the Redemption Price for the Refunded Bonds will be made on presentation and 
surrender of the Refunded Bonds to The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., , as paying 
agent (the “Paying Agent”) as follows: 

Via First Class, Registered 
or Certified Mail 

 
Via Express Delivery 

 
Via Hand Delivery 

The Bank of New York Mellon 
Global Corporate Trust 
P.O. Box 396 
East Syracuse, New York 13057 

The Bank of New York Mellon 
Global Corporate Trust 
111 Sanders Creek Parkway 
East Syracuse, New York 13057 

The Bank of New York Mellon 
Global Corporate Trust 
Corporate Trust Window 
101 Barclay Street, 1st Floor E. 
New York, New York 10286 

Government Obligations and cash sufficient to pay the Redemption Price have been deposited with The 
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as escrow agent, on April __, 2015 and will be 
transferred to the Paying Agent on or before the Redemption Date.  Consequently, on the Redemption 
Date, the Refunded Bonds will cease to bear interest. 

Under the provisions of the Jobs and Growth Relief Reconciliation Act of 2003, a paying agent 
making payments of principal and interest on municipal securities may be obligated to withhold a tax at 
the applicable backup withholding rate from remittances to individuals who have failed to furnish the 
paying agent with a valid Taxpayer Identification Number.  Registered owners of the Refunded Bonds 
who wish to avoid the imposition of this tax should submit certified Taxpayer Identification Numbers 
when presenting their Refunded Bonds to the Paying Agent for collection. 

The Paying Agent shall not be responsible for the selection or use of the CUSIP Number(s), nor is 
any representation made as to its correctness indicated in this Notice or on any Refunded Bond.  It is 
included solely for convenience of the owners of the Refunded Bonds. 

Dated this ____ day of ________, 2017 

  HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 

  By:   
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 
N.A., as paying agent 

ATLANTA 5624633.3 



 

EXHIBIT A-2 

NOTICE OF REDEMPTION 

Hamilton County, Tennessee 
General Obligation Bonds 

Series 2011A 

CUSIP NUMBERS:  2021 Maturity – 407324-___; 2022 Maturity – 407324-___; 
2023 Maturity – 407324-___; 2024 Maturity – 407324-___; 2025 Maturity – 407324-___; 

2026 Maturity – 407324-___; and 2027 Maturity – 407324-3H3 

Notice is hereby given by Hamilton County, Tennessee (the “County”) of its intention to redeem 
its outstanding General Obligation Bonds, Series 2011A [maturing on and after January 1, 2021] (the 
“Refunded Bonds”) on January 1, 2020 (the “Redemption Date”) at the redemption price (the 
“Redemption Price”) of the par amount thereof plus accrued interest to the Redemption Date. 

Payment of the Redemption Price for the Refunded Bonds will be made on presentation and 
surrender of the Refunded Bonds to The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., , as paying 
agent (the “Paying Agent”) as follows: 

Via First Class, Registered 
or Certified Mail 

 
Via Express Delivery 

 
Via Hand Delivery 

The Bank of New York Mellon 
Global Corporate Trust 
P.O. Box 396 
East Syracuse, New York 13057 

The Bank of New York Mellon 
Global Corporate Trust 
111 Sanders Creek Parkway 
East Syracuse, New York 13057 

The Bank of New York Mellon 
Global Corporate Trust 
Corporate Trust Window 
101 Barclay Street, 1st Floor E. 
New York, New York 10286 

Government Obligations and cash sufficient to pay the Redemption Price have been deposited with The 
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as escrow agent, on April __, 2015 and will be 
transferred to the Paying Agent on or before the Redemption Date.  Consequently, on the Redemption 
Date, the Refunded Bonds will cease to bear interest. 

Under the provisions of the Jobs and Growth Relief Reconciliation Act of 2003, a paying agent 
making payments of principal and interest on municipal securities may be obligated to withhold a tax at 
the applicable backup withholding rate from remittances to individuals who have failed to furnish the 
paying agent with a valid Taxpayer Identification Number.  Registered owners of the Refunded Bonds 
who wish to avoid the imposition of this tax should submit certified Taxpayer Identification Numbers 
when presenting their Refunded Bonds to the Paying Agent for collection. 

The Paying Agent shall not be responsible for the selection or use of the CUSIP Number(s), nor is 
any representation made as to its correctness indicated in this Notice or on any Refunded Bond.  It is 
included solely for convenience of the owners of the Refunded Bonds. 

Dated this ____ day of ________, 2019 

  HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 

  By:   
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 
N.A., as paying agent 

 2 ATLANTA:5465244.5  



 

SCHEDULE I 

2009 REFUNDED BONDS 

 Payment Date Principal Interest 

 09/01/2015   
 03/01/2016   
 09/01/2016   
 03/01/2017   

2011A REFUNDED BONDS 

 Payment Date Principal Interest 

 07/01/2015   
 01/01/2016   
 07/01/2016   
 01/01/2017   
 07/01/2017   
 01/01/2018   
 07/01/2018   
 01/01/2019   
 07/01/2019   
 01/01/2020   

ATLANTA 5624633.3 



 

SCHEDULE II 

 Maturity Date Par Type Coupon CUSIP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Escrow Fund will also include $[____] uninvested cash. 

ATLANTA 5624633.3 













No. 315-35 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE AN EMPLOYER PARTICIPATING IN THE TENNESSEE 
CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM TO CHANGE FROM ITS EXISTING REGULAR 
DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN TO EITHER THE ALTERNATE DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OR THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT HYBRID PLAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH TENNESSEE CODE 
ANNOTATED, TITLE 8, CHAPTER 35, PART 2, OR TO THE HYBRID RETIREMENT PLAN FOR 
STATE EMPLOYEES AND TEACHERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH TENNESSEE CODE 
ANNOTATED, TITLE 8, CHAPTER 36, PART 9. 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8, Chapter 35, Part 2, and Title 8, Chapter 36, Part 9 
allow an employer participating in the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (“TCRS”) to change from its 
existing regular defined benefit plan to either the alternate defined benefit plan, the local government hybrid plan, 
or to the hybrid retirement plan for state employees and teachers; and 
 
 WHEREAS, effective October 1, 2015 (the “Effective Date”), the County of Hamilton, Tennessee (the 
“Employer”) desires to change from its existing regular defined benefit plan to either the alternate defined benefit 
plan or the local government hybrid plan in accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8, Chapter 35, Part 
2, or to the hybrid retirement plan for state employees and teachers in accordance with Tennessee Code 
Annotated, Title 8, Chapter 36, Part 9 and in accordance with the following terms and conditions; and 
 

WHEREAS, employees of the Employer who were hired by the Employer prior to October 1, 2015 and 
who are members of TCRS on the Effective Date shall continue membership in TCRS pursuant to the regular 
defined benefit plan as it exists for such Employer on the Effective Date;  provided, however, any such employee 
who thereafter (i) leaves or is discharged from employment with the Employer, (ii) loses membership in TCRS 
pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-35-104(a)(1) or (a)(2), and (iii) later returns to employment 
with the Employer shall participate prospectively in whatever plan exists for that Employer on the date the 
employee returns to employment;  and 

 
WHEREAS, employees of the Employer, other than those employees described in the preceding 

“Whereas”, shall participate in either the alternate defined benefit plan, the local government hybrid plan, or the 
hybrid retirement plan for state employees and teachers, as selected below, and as otherwise provided in this 
Resolution; 

 
 
 
 

 



A. TYPE PLAN.  (CHECK BOX 1 OR BOX 2 OR BOX 3).  The Employer adopts the following type 
plan: 

 
(1) [   ] Alternate Defined Benefit Plan. 
(2) [   ] Local Government Hybrid Plan (If this Plan is chosen, the Employer MUST also 

maintain a defined contribution plan on behalf of its employees who will be covered by the 
Plan and pass the attached resolution that describes the type of defined contribution plan the 
Employer will adopt.  The defined contribution plan could provide for employer contributions 
of 0% to up to 7% of its employees’ salaries). 

(3) [X] State Employee and Teacher Hybrid Plan (If this Plan is chosen, the Employer MUST 
also maintain a defined contribution plan on behalf of its employees who will be covered by 
the Plan whereby the Employer makes a mandatory employer contribution on behalf of each 
of its employees participating in the Plan equal to 5% of the respective employee’s salary 
subject to the cost controls and unfunded liability controls of the Hybrid Plan.  The Employer 
must also pass the attached resolution that describes the type of defined contribution plan the 
Employer will adopt). 

 
B. ASSUMPTION OF EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS.  (CHECK BOX 1 OR BOX 2 OR BOX 3 - IF 

THE STATE EMPLOYEE AND TEACHER HYBRID PLAN IS SELECTED ABOVE, NO 
EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS MAY BE ASSUMED AND BOX 1 MUST BE CHECKED).  The 
Employer shall: 
 
(1) [X] NOT assume any employee contributions. 
(2) [   ] ASSUME 2.5% of its employees’ contributions. 
(3) [   ] ASSUME 5.0% of its employees’ contributions. 

 
C. COST-OF-LIVING INCREASES FOR RETIREES.  (CHECK BOX 1 OR BOX 2 – IF EITHER 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT, OR THE STATE EMPLOYEE AND TEACHER HYBRID PLAN IS 
SELECTED ABOVE, COST-OF-LIVING INCREASES FOR RETIREES MUST BE GIVEN, 
SUBJECT TO ANY APPLICABLE COST CONTROLS AND UNFUNDED LIABILITY CONTROLS, 
AND BOX 2 MUST BE CHECKED).  The Employer shall: 

 
(1) [   ] NOT provide cost-of-living increases for its retirees. 
(2) [X] PROVIDE cost-of-living increases for its retirees. 

 
 D. ELIGIBILITY OF PART-TIME EMPLOYEES.  (CHECK BOX 1 OR BOX 2).  The Employer shall: 

(1) [X] NOT allow its part-time employees to participate in TCRS. 
(2) [   ] ALLOW its part-time employees to participate in TCRS. 
 

E. MAXIMUM UNFUNDED LIABILITY.  (COMPLETE THIS ITEM E ONLY IF THE STATE 
EMPLOYEE AND TEACHER HYBRID PLAN IS SELECTED ABOVE).  For purposes of the cost 
control provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-922(d), the Employer defines 
“maximum unfunded liability” to mean an unfunded liability of no greater than $10,000,000, 
adjusted annually each June beginning June 2016 for inflation as determined by the Consumer Price 
Index (CPI), All Urban Consumers. 

 
WHEREAS, the liability for participation and costs of administration shall be the sole responsibility of the 

Employer and not the State of Tennessee. 
 

 



 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Commissioners of Hamilton County, 
Tennessee, hereby changes from its existing defined benefit to either the alternate defined benefit plan, the local 
government hybrid plan, or the hybrid retirement plan for state employees and teachers, as selected above, in 
accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8, Chapter 35, Part 2 or Title 8, Chapter 36, Part 9, whichever 
is applicable, and in accordance with the above terms and conditions.  It is acknowledged and understood that 
pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-35-111 the Employer shall not make employer contributions to 
any other retirement or deferred compensation plans on behalf of any employee who participates in TCRS 
pursuant to this Resolution wherein the total combined employer contributions to such plans exceed 3% of the 
employee’s salary, unless the Local Government Hybrid Plan or the State Employee and Teacher Hybrid Plan is 
adopted by the Employer for such employee.  If either the Local Government Hybrid Plan or the State Employee 
and Teacher Hybrid Plan is adopted by the Employer, the Employer may make employer contributions to the 
defined contribution plan component of that Plan and to any one or more additional tax deferred compensation or 
retirement plans on behalf of such employee provided that the total combined employer contributions to such 
plans on behalf of the employee does not exceed 7% of the employee’s salary.   
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 315-36 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO ALLOW A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF TENNESSEE TO 
CONTRIBUTE TO A TAX DEFERRED RETIREMENT PLAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH TENNESSEE 
CODE ANNOTATED, TITLE 8, CHAPTERS 34-37.  
 
 

WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-35-111(b)(3) provides that all tax deferred 
retirement plans established by public employers participating in the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System 
(“TCRS”), wherein employer contributions made, must be approved by the TCRS director;  and  

 
WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-35-111(b)(3) further provides that the total 

combined employer contributions to all such additional tax deferred retirement plans made on behalf of a single 
employee, other than those made pursuant to a salary reduction agreement, cannot exceed three percent (3%) of 
the employee’s salary, unless the political subdivision has adopted the hybrid plan authorized in Tennessee Code 
Annotated, Section 8-35-256, or in Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-919; and 

 
WHEREAS, in the event the political subdivision has adopted the hybrid plan authorized in Tennessee 

Code Annotated, Section 8-35-256, or in Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-919, the total combined 
employer contributions made by the political subdivision to the defined contribution plan component of the 
hybrid plan and to any one or more additional tax deferred compensation or retirement plans on behalf of single 
employee does not exceed seven percent (7%) of the employee’s salary, or such lower amount as required by the 
Internal Revenue Code; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County of Hamilton, Tennessee desires to make employer contributions to the 

following plan(s) in addition to the contributions it makes to TCRS. 
  
PLAN DATA: 
 
Type of Plan: 401(k)          
 
Plan Administrator’s Name:   State of Tennessee (Great-West Financial)   
 
Address:                                      502 Deaderick Street; Nashville, TN 37243 ________________________________       
 
Beginning Date of Plan:   10/1/2015 ________________    Phone:  423-532-2347 ___________________    
 
Employer Contributions as Percentage of Employee's Salary:   5 percent (5%)    
 
 



 

 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of Hamilton County, 

Tennessee (the “Political Subdivision”) hereby requests the approval of the TCRS director for the Political 
Subdivision to make employer contributions to the above referenced plan(s) in the amount(s) specified and in 
accordance with the provisions of this resolution.  Upon  approval, the Political Subdivision agrees it shall not 
permit contributions to such plan(s) in excess of the applicable amount specified above and which, when 
combined with projected benefits from TCRS, would exceed the limitations of the Internal Revenue Code, as 
amended.  The Political Subdivision further agrees to file, upon request of the Council on Pensions and Insurance 
or the TCRS director, an annual report of the actuarial and financial status of the plan(s) with the TCRS director, 
which shall cover the most recently ended plan year ending on or before June 30 of the year of the request.  The 
report shall be filed with the TCRS director within ninety (90) calendar days from the date of the request and 
contain such additional information as may be prescribed by the TCRS director. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 315-37 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO PARTICIPATE IN A 401(K) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 
OFFERED BY THE STATE OF TENNESSEE PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE CODE 
ANNOTATED, SECTION 8-25-111(A). 
 

 
WHEREAS, the County of Hamilton, Tennessee (hereinafter referred to as the "Employer") has 

determined that in the interest of attracting and retaining qualified employees, it wishes to offer a 401(k) defined 
contribution plan, funded by employee deferrals and, if elected pursuant to Section N, Q, or HH of the 
Participating Employer Agreement, employer contributions;  

 
WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-25-111(a) allows a Tennessee local governmental 

entity to participate in the State of Tennessee's 401(k) defined contribution plan subject to the approval of the 
Chair of the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (hereinafter referred to as the "Chair"); 

 
WHEREAS, the liability for participation and the costs of administration shall be the sole responsibility 

of the Employer and/or its employees, and not the State of Tennessee;  
 
WHEREAS, the Employer has also determined that it wishes to encourage employees' saving for 

retirement;  
 
WHEREAS, the Employer has reviewed the State of Tennessee Deferred Compensation Plan II 

Adoption Agreement for a Section 401(k) Cash or Deferred Arrangement for Governmental Employers, as 
adopted by the State of Tennessee, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2010, as amended December 21, 
2010, and as amended by Amendment Number Two dated January 4, 2012, as well as the Section 401(k) Cash or 
Deferred Arrangement for Governmental Employer Basic Plan Document (collectively known as the "Plan" or 
"Plan Document");  

 
WHEREAS, the Employer wishes to provide certain benefits to its employees, reduce overall 

administrative costs, and afford attractive investment opportunities;  
 
WHEREAS, the Employer is eligible to become a Participating Employer in the Plan, pursuant to Article 

XX of the Plan Document;  
 
WHEREAS, the Employer is concurrently executing a Participating Employer Agreement for the Plan; 

and  
 
 



WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners ("Governing Authority") of the Employer is authorized by law 
to adopt this resolution approving the Participating Employer Agreement on behalf of the Employer;  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Governing Authority of the Employer hereby resolves:  
 

1. The Employer adopts the Plan Document for its Employees; provided, however, that for the purpose of 
the Plan, the Employer shall be deemed to have designated irrevocably the Chair as its agent, except as 
otherwise specifically provided herein or in the Participating Employer Agreement. 

 
2. The Employer acknowledges that the Plan does not cover, and the Trustees of the Plan ("Trustees") have 

no responsibility for, other employee benefit plans maintained by the Employer. 
 
3. The Employer acknowledges that it may not provide employer contributions to the Plan on behalf of any 

of its employees that exceed three percent (3%) of the respective employees' salary if the employees are 
members of the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (“TCRS”) or of any other retirement 
program financed from public funds whereby such employees obtain or accrue pensions or retirement 
benefits based upon the same period of service to the Employer, unless such employees are members of 
TCRS’ local government hybrid plan established under Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-35-256 or 
TCRS’ State hybrid plan established under Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8, Chapter 36, Part 9. If 
such employees participate in TCRS’ local government hybrid plan, the total combined amount of 
employer contributions to the Plan and to any one or more additional defined contribution plans may not 
exceed seven percent (7%) of the respective employees’ salary. If such employees participate in TCRS’ 
State hybrid plan, the employer contributions to the Plan on behalf of each such employee shall equal 
five percent (5%) of the respective employee’s salary unless suspended or reduced pursuant to Tennessee 
Code Annotated, Section 8-36-922. In no instance shall the total combined employer contributions to all 
defined contributions plans on behalf of a single employee exceed the maximum allowed under the 
Internal Revenue Code ("Code"), and shall conform to all applicable laws, rules and regulations of the 
Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) governing profit sharing and/or salary reduction plans for 
governmental employees. 

 
4. The Employer hereby adopts the terms of the Participating Employer Agreement, which is attached 

hereto and made a part of this resolution. The Participating Employer Agreement (a) permits all 
employees of the respective entity to make elective deferrals; (b) sets forth the Employees to be covered 
pursuant to Section N, Q, or HH of the Participating Employer Agreement for employer contributions, if 
any; (c) outlines the benefits to be provided by the Participating Employer under the Plan; and, (d) states 
any conditions imposed by the Participating Employer with respect to, but not inconsistent with, the Plan. 
The Participating Employer reserves the right to amend its elections under the Participating Employer 
Agreement, so long as the amendment is not inconsistent with the Plan, the Code, Tennessee law, or 
other applicable law and is approved by the Chair. 

 
5. The Chair may amend the Plan on behalf of all Employers, including those Employers who have adopted 

the Plan prior to a restatement or amendment of the Plan, for changes in the Code, the regulations 
thereunder, Tennessee law, revenue rulings, other statements published by the IRS, including model, 
sample, or other required good faith amendments, and for other reasons that are deemed at the Chair's 
sole discretion to be in the interest of the Plan. These amendments shall be automatically applicable to all 
Employers. 

 
6. The Chair will maintain, or will have maintained, a record of the Employers and will make reasonable 

and diligent efforts to ensure that Employers have received all Plan amendments.  



 
7. The Employer shall abide by the terms of the Plan, including amendments to the Plan and Trust made by 

the Chair, all investment, administrative, and other service agreements of the Plan, and all applicable 
provisions of the Code, Tennessee law, and other applicable law.  

 
8. The Employer accepts the administrative services to be provided by the Tennessee Treasury Department 

and any services provided by Plan vendors. The Employer acknowledges that fees will be imposed with 
respect to the services provided and that such fees may be deducted from the Participants' Accounts 
and/or charged to the Employer. 

 
9. Subject to the provisions of Section 20.06 of the Plan, the Employer may terminate its participation in the 

Plan, including but not limited to, its contribution requirements pursuant to the Plan, if it takes the 
following actions: 

 
a. A resolution must be adopted by the Governing Authority of the Employer terminating the 

Employer's participation in the Plan.  
 

b. The resolution must specify the proposed date when the participation will end, which must be at least 
six calendar months after notice to the Chair and the Employer's employees.  

 
c. The Chair shall (i) determine whether the resolution complies with the Plan, and all applicable 

federal and state laws, (ii) determine an appropriate effective date, and (iii) provide appropriate 
forms to terminate ongoing participation. Distributions under the Plan of existing accounts to 
Participants will be made in accordance with the Plan Document. 

 
d. Once the Chair determines the appropriate effective date, the Employer shall immediately notify all 

its Employees participating in the Plan of the termination and the effective date thereof.  
 

e. The Chair can, in the Chair's sole discretion, reduce the six month notice and withdrawal period to a 
shorter period if the Employer so requests, but in no event shall the period be less than three months. 

 
10. The Employer acknowledges that the Plan Document contains provisions for Plan termination by the 

Trustees, subject to applicable Tennessee law.  
 

11. The Employer acknowledges that all assets held in connection with the Plan, including all contributions 
to the Plan, all property and rights acquired or purchased with such amounts and all income attributable 
to such amounts, shall be held in trust for the exclusive benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries 
under the Plan. No part of the assets and income of the Plan shall be used for, or diverted to, purposes 
other than for the exclusive benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries and for defraying reasonable 
expenses of the Plan. All amounts of compensation deferred pursuant to the Plan, all property and rights 
acquired or purchased with such amounts and all income attributable to such amounts, property or rights 
held as part of the Plan, shall be transferred to the Trustees to be held, managed, invested and distributed 
as part of the Trust Fund in accordance with the provisions of the Plan and subject to the vesting 
provisions of the Plan. All contributions to the Plan must be timely transferred by the Employer to the 
Trust Fund pursuant to and in the manner provided by the Chair. The Employer acknowledges that if the 
Employer fails to remit the requisite contributions in a timely manner, the Chair reserves the right, at the 
Chair's sole discretion, to terminate the Employer's participation in the Plan. In such event, the Chair 
shall notify the Employer of the effective termination date, and the Employer shall immediately notify all 
its employees participating in the Plan of the termination and the effective date thereof. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the Employer acknowledges that it is the sole responsibility of the Employer to remit the 



 

 

requisite reports and contributions to the Plan and that neither the State, the Chair, the Trustees, its 
employees, or agents shall have any responsibility or liability for ensuring or otherwise monitoring that 
this is done. All benefits under the Plan shall be distributed solely from the Trust Fund pursuant to the 
Plan. 

 
12. The Employer agrees to offer and enroll only those persons, whether appointed, elected, or under 

contract, wherein an employee-employer relationship is established, providing service to the Employer 
for which compensation is paid by the Employer. 

  
13. The Employer understands that IRS rules and Tennessee law limit participation in the Plan to 

governmental entities and their respective employees. The Employer will notify the Chair in writing 
within ten (10) calendar days if it ceases to be a governmental entity under applicable federal or 
Tennessee law, and/or if it discovers that it is transferring or having transferred employee deferrals and/or 
employer contributions to the Plan on behalf of an individual who does not meet the requirements in 
Paragraph 12 above. 

 
14. The Employer acknowledges that the Chair and other Trustees are the fiduciaries of the Plan and have 

sole and exclusive authority to interpret the Plan and decide all claims and appeals for Plan benefits. The 
Employer agrees to abide by the Chair's decisions on all matters involving the Plan.  

 
15. This resolution and the Participating Employer Agreement shall be submitted to the Chair for approval. 

The Chair shall determine whether the resolution and the Agreement comply with the Plan, and, if they 
do, shall provide appropriate forms to the Employer to implement participation in the Plan. The Chair 
may refuse to approve a Participating Employer Agreement executed by an Employer that, in the Chair's 
sole discretion, does not qualify to participate in the Plan.  

 
16. The Governing Authority hereby acknowledges that it is responsible to assure that this resolution and the 

Participating Employer Agreement are adopted and executed in accordance with the requirements of 
applicable law. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

Click here to enter a date. 

  
Date 

 































No. 315-38 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 
THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, 
HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY 
HEALTH DEPARTMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF A TOBACCO USE PREVENTION PROGRAM, 
USING FUNDS FROM THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $79,400.00 FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING APRIL 1, 2015, ENDING MARCH 31, 2017, 
WHICH INCLUDES $13,700.00 THAT IS ALREADY BUDGETED FOR THE CURRENT FISCAL YEAR 
ENDING JUNE 30, 2015. 
 
WHEREAS,  the State of Tennessee, Department of Health has allocated $79,400.00 to the Health Services 
                      Division of Hamilton County, Tennessee, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health  
                      Department, for the purpose of providing programs, activities, and services in the area of tobacco  
                      use prevention; and 
 
WHEREAS, these programs, activities and services will include tobacco use prevention educational  
                     presentations, promote the adoption of voluntary public and private tobacco prevention and  
                     control policies, coalition building, health impact planning and assessment, strategic planning  
                     around counter-marketing campaigns to reduce the impact of advertising by tobacco companies,  
                     health information dissemination, program development and implementation, and program  
                     evaluation; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department is seeking to continue a contractual  
                     arrangement with the State of Tennessee, Department of Health for the provision of tobacco use  
                     prevention programs and services as delineated in the contract and scope of services for an amount 
                     not to exceed $79,400.00 for the period beginning April 1, 2015, ending March 31, 2017, which  
                     includes $13,700.00 that is already budgeted for the current fiscal year ending June 30, 2015. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
       That the County Mayor be authorized to execute a Tobacco Use Prevention contract between the  
                     State of Tennessee, Department of Health and the Health Services Division, Hamilton County,  
                     Tennessee, doing business as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department for the  
                     provision of tobacco use prevention programs, services, activities, materials and related resources,  
                     in an amount not to exceed $79,400.00, of which $13,700.00 is already included in the revenue  
                     and expense budget for the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department for the current fiscal 
                     year, and with the remaining funds to be included in subsequent revenue and expense budgets  
                     through  March 31, 2017. 



 

 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



11-14-14 GG 

 

i 

 

 

 

G O V E R N M E N T A L  G R AN T  C O N T R A C T  
(cost reimbursement grant contract with a federal or Tennessee local governmental entity or their 
agents and instrumentalities) 

Begin Date End Date Agency Tracking # Edison ID 

April 1, 2015 March 31, 2017 34360-46116       

Grantee Legal Entity Name Edison Vendor ID 

Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department 4208 

Subrecipient or Contractor CFDA #  93.283 

Subrecipient 

Contractor Grantee’s fiscal year end June 30
th

  

Service Caption (one line only) 

Tobacco Use Prevention and Control Services 

Funding — 

FY State Federal Interdepartmental Other TOTAL Grant Contract Amount 

2015       $13,700.00             $13,700.00 

2016       $39,700.00             $39,700.00 

2017       $26,000.00             $26,000.00 

                                   

                                   

TOTAL:       $79,400.00             $79,400.00 

 

Grantee Selection Process Summary 

Competitive Selection 
 

Non-competitive Selection The Grantee was chosen for its current capacity to perform all 
needed services, its proximity to the target audience, and its prior 
experience with Tobacco Use Prevention and Control services. 

Budget Officer Confirmation:  There is a balance in the 
appropriation from which obligations hereunder are 
required to be paid that is not already encumbered to pay 
other obligations. 

CPO USE - GG 

Speed Chart (optional) Account Code (optional)  

HL00007864 71301000  

 

 



11-14-14 GG 

 

1 

 

GRANT CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 
AND 

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 
 

This grant contract (“Grant Contract”), by and between the State of Tennessee, Department of Health, 
hereinafter referred to as the “State” or the “Grantor State Agency” and Chattanooga-Hamilton County 
Health Department, hereinafter referred to as the “Grantee,” is for the provision of Tobacco Use 
Prevention and Control Services, as further defined in the "SCOPE OF SERVICES AND 
DELIVERABLES." 
 
Grantee Edison Vendor ID# 4208 
 
A. SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES: 
 
A.1. The Grantee shall provide the scope of services and deliverables (“Scope”) as required, 

described, and detailed in this Grant Contract. 
 
A.2. Service Definitions. 

 
 a. TUPCP is an acronym for Tennessee’s Tobacco Use Prevention and Control Program. 

 
 b. “Tobacco settlement initiatives” refer to local efforts funded by the Tennessee General 

Assembly and Governor to eliminate pregnancy smoking, reduce secondhand exposure 
with infants and young children and promote tobacco abstinence among young school 
children. 
 

A.3. Service Goals.  To improve the health of the citizens of Chattanooga-Hamilton by  
 preventing and controlling the use of tobacco, using funds as detailed in Attachment 1. 

 
A.4. Service Recipients.  Individuals who live in or visit Hamilton County. 

 
A.5. Service Description.  The Grantee shall: 
 
       a. Provide monthly TUPCP services as defined in the Grantee’s Annual Plan submitted, 

approved, and kept on file in the Department of Health, Family Health and Wellness 
Division; 

  
     b. Provide and maintain appropriate staff to serve as a Coordinator/Health Educator for the 

purpose of planning, administering, and monitoring county, regional and/or local tobacco 
prevention and tobacco settlement initiatives from April 1, 2015 through March 31, 2017. 
 

 c. Develop a comprehensive Annual Action Plan of SMART (Specific, Measurable, 
Attainable, Realistic, Timely), objectives for the TUPCP goals and tobacco settlement 
initiatives no later than April 15, 2015.  The Grantee shall select and implement one (1) or 
more Interventions for each goal listed below: 
 

  Goal 1: Preventing initiation of tobacco use among young people: 
  Goal 2: Promoting quitting among adults and young people; 
  Goal 3: Eliminating nonsmokers’ exposure to secondhand smoke; 
  Goal 4: Identifying and eliminating tobacco-related disparities; 

 
 d. Identify and promote the adoption of voluntary public and private tobacco prevention and 

control policy for at least one (1) of the above mentioned goals, i.e., smoke-free homes, 
automobiles, schools, worksites, sports events.  The Grantee shall create and submit to 
the central office TUPCP a Logic Model for these policy initiatives by April 15, 2015 and 



11-14-14 GG 

 

2 

 

April 15, 2016; 
 

 e. Promote, incorporate and coordinate county and/or regional tobacco use prevention and 
control program goals by using one (1) or more of the following electives: Tobacco 
Cessation, Health Department Employee Wellness, Maternal Smoking Cessation, 
Coordinated School Health, Worksite Wellness, or Faith-based Initiatives; 
 

 f. Utilize existing resources to partner with community organizations to implement counter-
marketing campaigns to reduce the impact of advertising by tobacco companies.  The 
counter-marketing shall include media campaigns for reduction of tobacco use available 
from the Media Campaign Resource Center, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 
www.cdc.gov/tobacco.   Counter-marketing media campaigns shall include print, radio, 
television, billboard, videos, store, and other forms of advertising and shall promote use 
of the Tennessee Tobacco Quitline: 1-800-QUIT-NOW (1-800-784-8669); 
 

 g. Partner with community organizations/coalitions to plan, provide and/or participate in 
tobacco settlement initiative and tobacco related social marketing campaigns that include 
local media coverage to advance public awareness and initiate a change in tobacco 
related social norms such as, but not limited to, the Great American Smoke Out, Kick 
Butts Day, World No Tobacco Day, and Public Health Week each budget period. 
 

 h. Establish, maintain or support county, regional, and local health councils’ interventions 
aimed at achieving the goals of the TUPCP and tobacco settlement initiative; 
 

 i. Collaborate with and participate in tobacco advocacy initiatives funded by the State, and 
county, regional and/or local coalitions to promote tobacco control policy, tobacco 
settlement initiatives and provide resources such as data, technical assistance, 
educational materials, and incentives; 
 

 j. Form and/or facilitate organized youth advocacy groups to develop policy and program 
initiatives to reduce youth tobacco use, eliminate the sale of tobacco products to youth 
and increase the knowledge of harmful effects of tobacco; 
 

 k. Develop, organize and maintain youth councils which focus on tobacco prevention and 
strategies that increase the enforcement of the youth access law by working with 
retailers, law enforcement, the judicial system and the public; 
 

 l. Organize and update by April 15, 2015 and April 15, 2016 a county or regional tobacco 
cessation resource guide to include the Tennessee Tobacco Quitline: 1-800-QUIT-NOW 
(1-800-784-8669), for dissemination to local communities and the central office TUPCP; 
 

 m. Participate in quarterly meetings, trainings, teleconferences and/or conferences as 
requested by the Department of Health and attend the TUPCP quarterly teleconferences 
and any additional meetings, trainings, teleconferences and/or conferences hosted by the 
Department of Health.  The Grantee’s TUPCP Coordinators and Health Educators must 
attend the above referenced meetings, trainings, teleconferences and/or conferences for 
the purposes of sharing and receiving information and direction/guidance from the State; 
 

 n. Provide attendance at Field Staff meetings organized by the TUPCP.  The TUPCP 
Coordinators and Health Educators must attend these meetings for the purpose of 
program updates, networking, sharing of information, and receiving presentations by 
speakers on “Best Practices” or the latest tobacco control techniques; and 
 

 o. Document, evaluate and monitor the effectiveness of the regional and/or county tobacco 
program in achieving the TUPCP goals, and the Department’s tobacco settlement 
initiative including outcomes such as policy changes, changes in social norms, and 



11-14-14 GG 

 

3 

 

individual and community participation in local and statewide efforts. 
 

A.6. Service Reporting.  Semi-annual reports are due by October 15, 2015 and by April 15, 2016;  
 October 15, 2016 and by April 15, 2017.  The reporting period of each semi-annual report is as  
 follows: April 1, 2015 through September 30, 2015 and October 1, 2015 through March 31, 2016;  
 April 1, 2016 through September 30, 2016 and October 1, 2016 through March 31, 2017. 

 
A.7. Service Deliverables. 

 

 

 

Deliverable 

 

Contract 

Section 

 

 

Delivery 

Date 

 

 

Due to 

Whom? 

 

Requested 

Format 

Provide services as defined 

in the Grantee’s Annual 

plan 

A.5.a. Monthly Hamilton 

County 

In person 

Maintain appropriate staff A.5.b. April 15, 

2015 – 

March 31, 

2016; April 

15, 2016 – 

March 31, 

2017 

N/A N/A 

Develop a comprehensive 

Annual Action Plan 

A.5.c. April 15, 

2015 and 

April 15 

2016 

Director of 

TUPCP 

Electronic or 

Survey 

Gizmo 

Create and submit a Logic 

Model for policy initiatives 

A.5.d. April 15, 

2015 and 

April 15, 

2016 

Director of 

TUPCP 

Electronic 

Partner with community 

organizations to participate 

in tobacco related social 

marketing campaigns 

A.5.g. Ongoing Hamilton 

County 

Electronic or 

Survey 

Gizmo 

Form or facilitate youth 

advocacy groups 

A.5.j. To be 

determined 

Hamilton 

County 

N/A 

Organize and maintain 

youth council 

A.5.k. To be 

determined 

Hamilton 

County 

N/A 

Organize and update a 

county or regional tobacco 

cessation resource guide 

A.5.l. April 15, 

2015 and 

April 15, 

2016 

Director of 

TUPCP 

Electronic 

Participate in meetings, 

trainings, teleconferences 

A.5.m. Quarterly 

and/or as 

requested by 

the State 

TUPCP To be 

determined 

Provide attendance at field 

staff meetings 

A.5.n. As requested 

by the State 

TUPCP To be 

determined 

Document, evaluate and 

monitor effectiveness of 

Tobacco Programs 

A.5.o. October 15, 

2015 and 

April 15, 

2016; 

October 15, 

Director of 

TUPCP 

Semi-annual 

reports 



11-14-14 GG 

 

4 

 

 

 

Deliverable 

 

Contract 

Section 

 

 

Delivery 

Date 

 

 

Due to 

Whom? 

 

Requested 

Format 

2016 and 

April 15, 

2017 

Submit Semi-Annual 

Reports 

A.6. October 15, 

2015 and 

April 15, 

2016; 

October 15, 

2016 and 

April 15, 

2017 

Director of 

TUPCP 

Electronic or 

Survey 

Gizmo 

 
A.8. Inspection and Acceptance.  Acceptance of the work outlined above will be made by the State or 
 its authorized representative through reports, teleconferences, site visits and/or other periodic 
 reviews.  The State will make the final determination in terms of acceptance of the work being  
 performed under this Contract.  All “To Be Determined” instances mentioned in the document 
 shall be proposed by the Grantee and accepted by the State. 
 
A.9. Incorporation of Additional Documents.  Each of the following documents is included as a part of 

this Grant Contract by reference or attachment.  In the event of a discrepancy or ambiguity 
regarding the Grantee's duties, responsibilities, and performance hereunder, these items shall 
govern in order of precedence below. 
 
a. this Grant Contract document with any attachments or exhibits (excluding the items listed 

at subsections b., below); 
 
b. the Grantee’s most recent and approved Annual Plan; 

  
B. TERM OF CONTRACT: 
 
 This Grant Contract shall be effective on April 1, 2015 (“Effective Date”) and extend for a period 

of twenty-four (24) months after the Effective Date (“Term”).  The State shall have no obligation to 
the Grantee for fulfillment of the Scope outside the Term.  

 
C. PAYMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   
 
C.1. Maximum Liability.  In no event shall the maximum liability of the State under this Grant Contract 

exceed Seventy-Nine Thousand Four Hundred Dollars ($79,400) (“Maximum Liability”).  The 
Grant Budget, attached and incorporated as Attachment 2 is the maximum amount due the 
Grantee under this Grant Contract.  The Grant Budget line-items include, but are not limited to, all 
applicable taxes, fees, overhead, and all other direct and indirect costs incurred or to be incurred 
by the Grantee. 

 
C.2. Compensation Firm.  The Maximum Liability of the State is not subject to escalation for any 

reason unless amended.  The Grant Budget amounts are firm for the duration of the Grant 
Contract and are not subject to escalation for any reason unless amended, except as provided in 
Section C.6. 

 
C.3. Payment Methodology.  The Grantee shall be reimbursed for actual, reasonable, and necessary 

costs based upon the Grant Budget, not to exceed the Maximum Liability established in Section 
C.1.  Upon progress toward the completion of the Scope, as described in Section A of this Grant 



11-14-14 GG 

 

5 

 

Contract, the Grantee shall submit invoices (Attachment 3) prior to any reimbursement of 
allowable costs.   
 

C.4. Travel Compensation.  Reimbursement to the Grantee for travel, meals, or lodging shall be 
subject to amounts and limitations specified in the "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," as 
they are amended from time to time, and shall be contingent upon and limited by the Grant 
Budget funding for said reimbursement.   

 
C.5. Invoice Requirements. The Grantee shall invoice the State no more often than monthly, with all 

necessary supporting documentation, and present such to: 
 

By email:  Theresa.w.bledsoe@tn.gov 
 
By regular mail: 
 
Invoice Administrator 
Division of Family Health and Wellness 
Tennessee Department of Health 
8

th
 Floor, Andrew Johnson Tower 

710 James Robertson Parkway 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 
 
a. Each invoice shall clearly and accurately detail all of the following required information 

(calculations must be extended and totaled correctly). 
 
(1) Invoice/Reference Number (assigned by the Grantee). 
(2) Invoice Date. 
(3) Invoice Period (to which the reimbursement request is applicable). 
(4) Grant Contract Number (assigned by the State). 
(5) Grantor:  Tennessee Department of Health/Family Health and Wellness Section. 
(6) Grantor Number (assigned by the Grantee to the above-referenced Grantor). 
(7) Grantee Name. 
(8) Grantee Tennessee Edison Registration ID Number Referenced in Preamble of 

this Grant Contract. 
(9) Grantee Remittance Address. 
(10) Grantee Contact for Invoice Questions (name, phone, or fax). 
(11) Itemization of Reimbursement Requested for the Invoice Period— it must detail, 

at minimum, all of the following:  
 
i. The amount requested by Grant Budget line-item (including any travel 

expenditure reimbursement requested and for which documentation and 
receipts, as required by "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," are 
attached to the invoice). 

ii. The amount reimbursed by Grant Budget line-item to date. 
iii. The total amount reimbursed under the Grant Contract to date. 
iv. The total amount requested (all line-items) for the Invoice Period. 
 

b. The Grantee understands and agrees to all of the following. 
 
(1) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall include only reimbursement requests 

for actual, reasonable, and necessary expenditures required in the delivery of 
service described by this Grant Contract and shall be subject to the Grant Budget 
and any other provision of this Grant Contract relating to allowable 
reimbursements. 

(2) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall not include any reimbursement 
request for future expenditures. 

mailto:Theresa.w.bledsoe@tn.gov


11-14-14 GG 

 

6 

 

(3) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall initiate the timeframe for 
reimbursement only when the State is in receipt of the invoice, and the invoice 
meets the minimum requirements of this section C.5. 

(4) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall be presented to the State within thirty 
(30) days after the end of the calendar month in which the subject costs were 
incurred or services were rendered by the Grantee.  An invoice submitted more 
than thirty (30) days after such date will NOT be paid.  The State will not deem 
such Grantee costs to be allowable and reimbursable by the State unless, at the 
sole discretion of the State, the failure to submit a timely invoice is warranted.  
The Grantee shall submit a special, written request for reimbursement with any 
such untimely invoice.  The request must detail the reason the invoice is untimely 
as well as the Grantee’s plan for submitting future invoices as required, and it 
must be signed by a Grantee agent that would be authorized to sign this Grant 
Contract. 

 
C.6.    Budget Line-items.  Expenditures, reimbursements, and payments under this Grant Contract shall 

adhere to the Grant Budget.  The Grantee may move up to twenty percent (20 %) of a line-item 
amount to another line item category provided that any increase is off-set by an equal reduction 
of other line-item amount(s) and the total Grant Contract amount detailed by the Grant Budget 
does not increase.  An increase of any line item funded at zero dollars ($0.00) shall require prior 
approval of the Grantor State Agency. 

 
C.7. Disbursement Reconciliation and Close Out.  The Grantee shall submit a grant disbursement 

reconciliation report within thirty (30) days following the end of each quarter and a final invoice 
and a final grant disbursement reconciliation report within forty-five (45) days of the Grant 
Contract end date and in form and substance acceptable to the State (Attachment 4). 

 
a. The Grant Budget specifies a Grantee Match Requirement and the final grant 

disbursement reconciliation report shall detail all Grantee expenditures recorded to meet 
this requirement. 
 
i. No Grantee expenditure shall be recorded and reported toward meeting a 

Grantee Match Requirement of more than one grant contract with the State. 
 
ii. The final grant disbursement reconciliation report shall specifically detail the 

exact amount of any Grantee failure to meet a Match Requirement, and the 
maximum total amount reimbursable by the State pursuant to this Grant 
Contract, as detailed by the Grant Budget column “Grant Contract,” shall be 
reduced by the amount that the Grantee failed to contribute to the Total Project 
as budgeted. 

 
b. If total disbursements by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract exceed the amounts 

permitted by the section C, payment terms and conditions of this Grant Contract 
(including any adjustment pursuant to subsection a.ii. above), the Grantee shall refund 
the difference to the State.  The Grantee shall submit the refund with the final grant 
disbursement reconciliation report. 

 
c. The State shall not be responsible for the payment of any invoice submitted to the state 

after the grant disbursement reconciliation report.  The State will not deem any Grantee 
costs submitted for reimbursement after the grant disbursement reconciliation report to 
be allowable and reimbursable by the State, and such invoices will NOT be paid. 

 
d. The Grantee’s failure to provide a final grant disbursement reconciliation report to the 

state as required by this Grant Contract shall result in the Grantee being deemed 
ineligible for reimbursement under this Grant Contract, and the Grantee shall be required 
to refund any and all payments by the state pursuant to this Grant Contract.   

 



11-14-14 GG 

 

7 

 

 e. The Grantee must close out its accounting records at the end of the contract period in 
such a way that reimbursable expenditures and revenue collections are NOT carried 
forward. 

 
C.8. Indirect Cost.  Should the Grantee request reimbursement for indirect costs, the Grantee must 

submit to the State a copy of the indirect cost rate approved by the cognizant federal agency or 
the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  The Grantee will be reimbursed for indirect costs in 
accordance with the approved indirect cost rate and amounts and limitations specified in the 
attached Grant Budget.  Once the Grantee makes an election and treats a given cost as direct or 
indirect, it must apply that treatment consistently and may not change during the Term.  Any 
changes in the approved indirect cost rate must have prior approval of the cognizant federal 
agency or the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  If the indirect cost rate is provisional during 
the Term, once the rate becomes final, the Grantee agrees to remit any overpayment of funds to 
the State, and subject to the availability of funds the State agrees to remit any underpayment to 
the Grantee. 

 
C.9. Cost Allocation.  If any part of the costs to be reimbursed under this Grant Contract are joint costs 

involving allocation to more than one program or activity, such costs shall be allocated and 
reported in accordance with the provisions of Department of Finance and Administration Policy 
Statement 03 or any amendments or revisions made to this policy statement during the Term. 

 
C.10. Payment of Invoice.  A payment by the State shall not prejudice the State's right to object to or 

question any reimbursement, invoice, or related matter.  A payment by the State shall not be 
construed as acceptance of any part of the work or service provided or as approval of any 
amount as an allowable cost.   

 
C.11. Non-allowable Costs.  Any amounts payable to the Grantee shall be subject to reduction for 

amounts included in any invoice or payment that are determined by the State, on the basis of 
audits or monitoring conducted in accordance with the terms of this Grant Contract, to constitute 
unallowable costs.   

 
C.12. State’s Right to Set Off.  The State reserves the right to set off or deduct from amounts that are or 

shall become due and payable to the Grantee under this Grant Contract or under any other 
agreement between the Grantee and the State of Tennessee under which the Grantee has a right 
to receive payment from the State. 

 
C.13. Prerequisite Documentation.  The Grantee shall not invoice the State under this Grant Contract 

until the State has received the following documentation properly completed.   
 

a. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State an "Authorization Agreement 
for Automatic Deposit (ACH Credits) Form" provided by the State.  The State will pay via 
ACH Credits. 

 
b. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State a "Substitute W-9 Form” 

provided by the State.  The Grantee taxpayer identification number must agree with the 
Federal Employer Identification Number or Social Security Number referenced in this 
Grant Contract or the Grantee's Tennessee Edison Registration.   

 
D. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
D.1. Required Approvals.  The State is not bound by this Grant Contract until it is signed by the parties 

and approved by appropriate officials in accordance with applicable Tennessee laws and 
regulations (depending upon the specifics of this Grant Contract, the officials may include, but are 
not limited to, the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human 
Resources, and the Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 



11-14-14 GG 

 

8 

 

D.2. Modification and Amendment.  This Grant Contract may be modified only by a written amendment 
signed by all parties and approved by the officials who approved the Grant Contract and, 
depending upon the specifics of the Grant Contract as amended, any additional officials required 
by Tennessee laws and regulations (the officials may include, but are not limited to, the 
Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human Resources, and the 
Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.3. Termination for Convenience.  The State may terminate this Grant Contract without cause for any 

reason.  A termination for convenience shall not be a breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  
The State shall give the Grantee at least thirty (30) days written notice before the effective 
termination date.  The Grantee shall be entitled to compensation for authorized expenditures and 
satisfactory services completed as of the termination date, but in no event shall the State be liable 
to the Grantee for compensation for any service that has not been rendered.  The final decision 
as to the amount for which the State is liable shall be determined by the State.   The Grantee 
shall not have any right to any actual general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other 
damages whatsoever of any description or amount for the State’s exercise of its right to terminate 
for convenience.  

 
D.4. Termination for Cause.  If the Grantee fails to properly perform its obligations under this Grant 

Contract, or if the Grantee violates any terms of this Grant Contract, the State shall have the right 
to immediately terminate this Grant Contract and withhold payments in excess of fair 
compensation for completed services.  Notwithstanding the exercise of the State’s right to 
terminate this Grant Contract for cause, the Grantee shall not be relieved of liability to the State 
for damages sustained by virtue of any breach of this Grant Contract by the Grantee. 

 
D.5. Subcontracting.  The Grantee shall not assign this Grant Contract or enter into a subcontract for 

any of the services performed under this Grant Contract without obtaining the prior written 
approval of the State.  If such subcontracts are approved by the State, each shall contain, at a 
minimum, sections of this Grant Contract pertaining to "Conflicts of Interest," “Lobbying,” 
"Nondiscrimination," “Public Accountability,” “Public Notice,” and “Records" (as identified by the 
section headings).  Notwithstanding any use of approved subcontractors, the Grantee shall 
remain responsible for all work performed. 

 
D.6. Conflicts of Interest.  The Grantee warrants that no part of the total Grant Contract Amount shall 

be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of Tennessee as wages, 
compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or 
consultant to the Grantee in connection with any work contemplated or performed relative to this 
Grant Contract. 

 
D.7. Lobbying.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that:  
 

a. No federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal 
contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering into 
of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or 
modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

 
b. If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 

person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the 
Grantee shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure of Lobbying 
Activities,'' in accordance with its instructions. 

 



11-14-14 GG 

 

9 

 

c. The Grantee shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 
documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and 
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients 
shall certify and disclose accordingly.   

 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into and is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by31 U.S.C.§ 1352. 

 
D.8. Communications and Contacts.  All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other 

communications required or contemplated by this Grant Contract shall be in writing and shall be 
made by certified, first class mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, by overnight 
courier service with an asset tracking system, or by email or facsimile transmission with recipient 
confirmation.  All communications, regardless of method of transmission, shall be addressed to 
the respective party as set out below:   

 
 The State: 

 
LaCanas Jordan, Director 
Tobacco Use Prevention and Control Services 
Tennessee Department of Health 

 Division of Family Health and Wellness 
 8

th
 Floor, Andrew Johnson Tower 

 710 James Robertson Parkway 
 Nashville, Tennessee 37243 

Email Address: lacanas.jordan@tn.gov 
Telephone #:  (615) 253-2551 
FAX #:  (615) 532-7189 
 
The Grantee: 
 
Rebekah Barnes, Director 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department 
921 East Third Street 

 Chattanooga, Tennessee 37403-2102 
Email Address: beckyb@hamiltontn.gov 
Telephone #:  (423) 209-8000 
FAX #:  (423) 209-8001 
 
A change to the above contact information requires written notice to the person designated by the 
other party to receive notice.    

 
All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other communications shall be considered 
effectively given upon receipt or recipient confirmation as may be required. 

 
D.9. Subject to Funds Availability.  This Grant Contract is subject to the appropriation and availability 

of State or Federal funds.  In the event that the funds are not appropriated or are otherwise 
unavailable, the State reserves the right to terminate this Grant Contract upon written notice to 
the Grantee.  The State’s right to terminate this Grant Contract due to lack of funds is not a 
breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  Upon receipt of the written notice, the Grantee shall 
cease all work associated with the Grant Contract.  Should such an event occur, the Grantee 
shall be entitled to compensation for all satisfactory and authorized services completed as of the 
termination date.  Upon such termination, the Grantee shall have no right to recover from the 
State any actual, general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other damages whatsoever of 
any description or amount. 

 



11-14-14 GG 

 

10 

 

D.10. Nondiscrimination.  The Grantee hereby agrees, warrants, and assures that no person shall be 
excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination 
in the performance of this Grant Contract or in the employment practices of the Grantee on the 
grounds of handicap or disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other 
classification protected by federal, Tennessee state constitutional, or statutory law.  The Grantee 
shall, upon request, show proof of nondiscrimination and shall post in conspicuous places, 
available to all employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination. 

 
D.11. HIPAA Compliance. The State and the Grantee shall comply with obligations under the Health 

Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), Health Information Technology for 
Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH) and any other relevant laws and regulations 
regarding privacy (collectively the “Privacy Rules”).  The obligations set forth in this Section shall 
survive the termination of this Grant Contract. 

 
a. The Grantee warrants to the State that it is familiar with the requirements of the Privacy 

Rules and will comply with all applicable HIPAA requirements in the course of this Grant 
Contract. 

 
b. The Grantee warrants that it will cooperate with the State, including cooperation and 

coordination with State privacy officials and other compliance officers required by the 
Privacy Rules, in the course of performance of this Grant Contract so that both parties 
will be in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  

 
c. The State and the Grantee will sign documents, including but not limited to business 

associate agreements, as required by the Privacy Rules and that are reasonably 
necessary to keep the State and the Grantee in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  This 
provision shall not apply if information received by the State under this Grant Contract is 
NOT “protected health information” as defined by the Privacy Rules, or if the Privacy 
Rules permit the State to receive such information without entering into a business 
associate agreement or signing another such document. 

 
D.12. Public Accountability.  If the Grantee is subject to Tenn. Code Ann.§ 8-4-401 et seq., or if this 

Grant Contract involves the provision of services to citizens by the Grantee on behalf of the State, 
the Grantee agrees to establish a system through which recipients of services may present 
grievances about the operation of the service program. The Grantee shall also display in a 
prominent place, located near the passageway through which the public enters in order to receive 
Grant supported services, a sign at least eleven inches (11") in height and seventeen inches (17") 
in width stating: 
 
NOTICE:  THIS AGENCY IS A RECIPIENT OF TAXPAYER FUNDING. IF YOU OBSERVE AN 
AGENCY DIRECTOR OR EMPLOYEE ENGAGING IN ANY ACTIVITY WHICH YOU CONSIDER 
TO BE ILLEGAL, IMPROPER, OR WASTEFUL, PLEASE CALL THE STATE COMPTROLLER’S 
TOLL-FREE HOTLINE:  1-800-232-5454. 

 
 The sign shall be on the form prescribed by the Comptroller of the Treasury.  The Grantor State 

Agency shall obtain copies of the sign from the Comptroller of the Treasury, and upon request 
from the Grantee, provide Grantee with any necessary signs. 

 
D.13. Public Notice.  All notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, research reports, signs, and 

similar public notices prepared and released by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall 
include the statement, “This project is funded under a grant contract with the State of 
Tennessee.”  All notices by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall be approved by the 
State. 

 
D.14. Licensure.  The Grantee,  its employees, and any approved subcontractor shall be licensed 

pursuant to all applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations and 
shall upon request provide proof of all licenses. 



11-14-14 GG 

 

11 

 

 
D.15. Records.  The Grantee (and any approved subcontractor) shall maintain documentation for all 

charges under this Grant Contract. The books, records, and documents of the Grantee (and any 
approved subcontractor), insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under this 
Grant Contract, shall be maintained for a period of five (5) full years from the date of the final 
payment and shall be subject to audit at any reasonable time and upon reasonable notice by the 
Grantor State Agency, the Comptroller of the Treasury, or duly appointed representatives.   

The records shall be maintained in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) Accounting Standards Codification, Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(PCAOB) Accounting Standards Codification or Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Accounting Standards Codification, as applicable, and any related AICPA Industry Audit 
and Accounting guides. 

In addition, documentation of grant applications, budgets, reports, awards, and expenditures will 
be maintained in accordance with U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. 

The Grantee shall also comply with any recordkeeping and reporting requirements prescribed by 
the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. 

The Grantee shall establish a system of internal controls that utilize the COSO Internal Control - 
Integrated Framework model as the basic foundation for the internal control system.  The Grantee 
shall incorporate any additional Comptroller of the Treasury directives into its internal control 
system. 

Any other required records or reports which are not contemplated in the above standards shall 
follow the format designated by the head of the Grantor State Agency, the Central Procurement 
Office, or the Commissioner of Finance and Administration of the State of Tennessee. 

D.16. Monitoring.  The Grantee’s activities conducted and records maintained pursuant to this Grant 
Contract shall be subject to monitoring and evaluation by the State, the Comptroller of the 
Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives. 

 
D.17. Progress Reports.  The Grantee shall submit brief, periodic, progress reports to the State as 

requested. 
 
D.18. Annual and Final Reports.  The Grantee shall submit, within three (3) months of the conclusion of 

each year of the Term, an annual report. For grant contracts with a term of less than one (1) year, 
the Grantee shall submit a final report within three (3) months of the conclusion of the Term. For 
grant contracts with multiyear terms, the final report will take the place of the annual report for the 
final year of the Term. The Grantee shall submit annual and final reports to the Grantor State 
Agency and the Department of Finance and Administration (“F&A”).  Send electronic copies of 
annual and final reports to F&A at faaudit@tn.gov.  At minimum, annual and final reports shall 
include: (a) the Grantee’s name; (b) the Grant Contract’s Edison identification number, Term, and 
total amount; (c) a narrative section that describes the program’s goals, outcomes, successes 
and setbacks, whether the Grantee used benchmarks or indicators to determine progress, and 
whether any proposed activities were not completed; and (d) other relevant details requested by 
the Grantor State Agency. Annual and final report documents to be completed by the Grantee 
shall appear on the Grantor State Agency’s website or as an attachment to the Grant Contract 
(Attachment 5).       

 
D.19. Audit Report. When the Grantee has received seven hundred fifty thousand dollars ($750,000.00) 

or more in aggregate federal and state funding for all of its programs within the Grantee’s fiscal 
year, the Grantee shall provide audited financial statements to the Tennessee Comptroller of the 
Treasury.  The Grantee may, with the prior approval of the Comptroller of the Treasury, engage a 
licensed independent public accountant to perform the audit.  The audit contract between the 
Grantee and the licensed independent public accountant shall be on a contract form prescribed 
by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury.  When an audit is required under this Section, the 

mailto:faaudit@tn.gov


11-14-14 GG 

 

12 

 

audit shall be performed in accordance with U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform 
Administration Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. 

The Grantee shall be responsible for reimbursing the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury for 
any costs of an audit prepared by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. 

The Grantee shall be responsible for payment of fees for an audit prepared by a licensed 
independent public accountant.  Payment of the audit fees for the licensed independent public 
accountant by the Grantee shall be subject to the provision relating to such fees contained within 
this Grant Contract.  Copies of such audit reports shall be provided to the designated cognizant 
state agency, the Grantor State Agency, the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury, the Central 
Procurement Office, and the Commissioner of Finance and Administration. 

Audit reports shall be made available to the public.  
 
D.20. Procurement.  If other terms of this Grant Contract allow reimbursement for the cost of goods, 

materials, supplies, equipment, motor vehicles, or contracted services, procurements by the 
Grantee shall be competitive where practicable.  For any procurement for which reimbursement is 
paid under this Grant Contract, the Grantee shall document the competitive procurement method. 
In each instance where it is determined that use of a competitive procurement method is not 
practicable, supporting documentation shall include a written justification for the decision and for 
the use of a non-competitive procurement.  If the Grantee is a subrecipient, the Grantee shall 
comply with 2 C.F.R. §§200.318—200.326 when procuring property and services under a federal 
award. 
 
The Grantee shall obtain prior approval from the State before purchasing any equipment or motor 
vehicles under this Grant Contract. 

 
D.21. Strict Performance.  Failure by any party to this Grant Contract to insist in any one or more cases 

upon the strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, or provisions of this Grant 
Contract is not a waiver or relinquishment of any term, covenant, condition, or provision. No term 
or condition of this Grant Contract shall be held to be waived, modified, or deleted except by a 
written amendment signed by the parties. 

 
D.22. Independent Contractor.  The parties shall not act as employees, partners, joint venturers, or 

associates of one another in the performance of this Grant Contract. The parties acknowledge 
that they are independent contracting entities and that nothing in this Grant Contract shall be 
construed to create a principal/agent relationship or to allow either to exercise control or direction 
over the manner or method by which the other transacts its business affairs or provides its usual 
services.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be deemed or construed to be the 
employees or agents of the other party for any purpose whatsoever. 
 

D.23. State Liability.  The State shall have no liability except as specifically provided in this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.24. Force Majeure.  The obligations of the parties to this Grant Contract are relieved to the extent the 

parties’ non-performance is beyond the parties’ control despite the exercise of due care due to, 
but not limited to, natural disasters, riots, wars, epidemics, or any other similar cause. 

 
D.25. Tennessee Department of Revenue Registration.  The Grantee shall be registered with the 

Tennessee Department of Revenue for the collection of Tennessee sales and use tax. This 
registration requirement is a material provision of this Grant Contract. 

 
D.26. Charges to Service Recipients Prohibited.  The Grantee shall not collect any amount in the form 

of fees or reimbursements from the recipients of any service provided pursuant to this Grant 
Contract. 

 



11-14-14 GG 

 

13 

 

D.27. No  Acquisition of Equipment or Motor Vehicles.  This Grant Contract does not involve the 
acquisition and disposition of equipment or motor vehicles acquired with funds provided under 
this Grant Contract. 

 
D.28. State and Federal Compliance.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable state and federal 

laws and regulations in the performance of this Grant Contract. The U.S. Office of Management 
and Budget’s Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards is available here:http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-
idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl 

 
D.29. Governing Law.  This Grant Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Tennessee.  The Grantee agrees that it will be subject to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Tennessee in actions that may arise under this Grant 
Contract.  The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that any rights or claims against the State of 
Tennessee or its employees hereunder, and any remedies arising there from, shall be subject to 
and limited to those rights and remedies, if any, available under Tenn. Code Ann.§§ 9-8-101 
through 9-8-407. 

 
D.30. Completeness.  This Grant Contract is complete and contains the entire understanding between 

the parties relating to the subject matter contained herein, including all the terms and conditions 
agreed to by the parties.  This Grant Contract supersedes any and all prior understandings, 
representations, negotiations, or agreements between the parties, whether written or oral. 

 
D.31. Severability.  If any terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are held to be invalid or 

unenforceable as a matter of law, the other terms and conditions shall not be affected and shall 
remain in full force and effect.  To this end, the terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are 
declared severable. 

 
D.32. Headings.  Section headings are for reference purposes only and shall not be construed as part 

of this Grant Contract. 
 
E. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  
 
E.1. Conflicting Terms and Conditions. Should any of these special terms and conditions conflict with 

any other terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the special terms and conditions shall be 
subordinate to the Grant Contract’s other terms and conditions. 

 
E.2. Debarment and Suspension.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that 

its, current and future principals, its current and future subcontractors and their principals: 
 

a.      are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or  
     voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any federal or state department or  
     agency; 

  
 b. have not within three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract been convicted of, or  
  had a civil judgment rendered against them from commission of fraud, or a criminal  
  offence in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (federal, 
  state, or local) transaction or grant under a public transaction; violation of federal or state 
  antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification, or 
  destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 
 

c.        are not presently indicted or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government  
entity (federal, state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses detailed in section 
b. of this certification; and 
 

d.        have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract had one or more  
Public transactions (federal, state, or local) terminated for cause or default. 

http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl


11-14-14 GG 

 

14 

 

  
 The Grantee shall provide immediate written notice to the State if at any time it learns that there  
 was an earlier failure to disclose information or that due to changed circumstances, its principals  
 or the principals of its subcontractors are excluded or disqualified. 
 
E.3. Confidentiality of Records. Strict standards of confidentiality of records and information shall be 

maintained in accordance with applicable state and federal law.  All material and information, 
regardless of form, medium or method of communication, provided to the Grantee by the State or 
acquired by the Grantee on behalf of the State that is regarded as confidential under state or 
federal law shall be regarded as “Confidential Information.” Nothing in this Section shall permit 
Grantee to disclose any Confidential Information, regardless of whether it has been disclosed or 
made available to the Grantee due to intentional or negligent actions or inactions of agents of the 
State or third parties.  Confidential Information shall not be disclosed except as required or 
permitted under state or federal law.  Grantee shall take all necessary steps to safeguard the 
confidentiality of such material or information in conformance with applicable state and federal 
law.    

 
             The obligations set forth in this Section shall survive the termination of this Grant Contract. 
 
E.4. Printing Authorization.  The Grantee agrees that no publication coming within the jurisdiction of 

Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-7-101, et seq., shall be printed pursuant to this Grant Contract unless a 
printing authorization number has been obtained and affixed as required by Tenn. Code Ann. 
§12-7-103(d). 

 
E.5. Environmental Tobacco Smoke.  Pursuant to the provisions of the federal “Pro-Children Act of 

1994” and the “Children’s Act for Clean Indoor Air of 1995,” Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 39-17-1601 
through1606,the Grantee shall prohibit smoking of tobacco products within any indoor premises 
in which services are provided to individuals under the age of eighteen (18) years.  The Grantee 
shall post “no smoking” signs in appropriate, permanent sites within such premises.  This 
prohibition shall be applicable during all hours, not just the hours in which children are present.  
Violators of the prohibition may be subject to civil penalties and fines.  This prohibition shall apply 
to and be made part of any subcontract related to this Grant Contract. 
 

E.6. Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA). 
 
 This Grant Contract requires the Grantee to provide supplies or services that are funded in whole 

or in part by federal funds that are subject to FFATA. The Grantee is responsible for ensuring that 
all applicable FFATA requirements, including but not limited to those below, are met and that the 
Grantee provides information to the State as required.   

 
The Grantee shall comply with the following: 

 
a. Reporting of Total Compensation of the Grantee’s Executives.  

 
(1) The Grantee shall report the names and total compensation of each of its five 

most highly compensated executives for the Grantee’s preceding completed 
fiscal year, if in the Grantee’s preceding fiscal year it received: 
 
i. 80 percent or more of the Grantee’s annual gross revenues from Federal 

procurement contracts and federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR 170.320 (and sub awards); and  

ii. $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from federal procurement 
contracts (and subcontracts), and federal financial assistance subject to 
the Transparency Act (and sub awards); and 

iii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation 
of the executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), 



11-14-14 GG 

 

15 

 

78o(d)) or § 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. (To determine if 
the public has access to the compensation information, see the U.S. 
Security and Exchange Commission total compensation filings at 
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm.). 

 
As defined in 2 C.F.R. § 170.315, “Executive” means officers, managing 
partners, or any other employees in management positions. 
 

(2) Total compensation means the cash and noncash dollar value earned by the 
executive during the Grantee’s preceding fiscal year and includes the following 
(for more information see 17 CFR § 229.402(c)(2)):  

 
i. Salary and bonus.  
ii. Awards of stock, stock options, and stock appreciation rights. Use the 

dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with 
respect to the fiscal year in accordance with the Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004) (FAS 123R), Shared 
Based Payments.  

iii. Earnings for services under non-equity incentive plans. This does not 
include group life, health, hospitalization or medical reimbursement plans 
that do not discriminate in favor of executives, and are available 
generally to all salaried employees.  

iv. Change in pension value. This is the change in present value of defined 
benefit and actuarial pension plans.  

v. Above-market earnings on deferred compensation which is not tax 
qualified.  

vi. Other compensation, if the aggregate value of all such other 
compensation (e.g. severance, termination payments, value of life 
insurance paid on behalf of the employee, perquisites or property) for the 
executive exceeds $10,000. 

 
b. The Grantee must report executive total compensation described above to the State by 

the end of the month during which this Grant Contract is established. 
 
c. If this Grant Contract is amended to extend its term, the Grantee must submit an 

executive total compensation report to the State by the end of the month in which the 
amendment to this Grant Contract becomes effective. 

 
d. The Grantee will obtain a Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number and 

maintain its DUNS number for the term of this Grant Contract.  More information about 
obtaining a DUNS Number can be found at: http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/. 

 
 The Grantee’s failure to comply with the above requirements is a material breach of this Grant 

Contract for which the State may terminate this Grant Contract for cause.  The State will not be 
obligated to pay any outstanding invoice received from the Grantee unless and until the Grantee 
is in full compliance with the above requirements. 
 

E.7. CFDA Number(s).   When applicable, the Grantee shall inform its licensed independent public 
accountant of the federal regulations that are to be compiled with in performance of an audit.  
This information shall consist of the following Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Numbers: 
 

 93.283 – Investigations and Technical Assistance 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT: 

http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/


11-14-14 GG 

 

16 

 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT: 

 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE                                                                                       DATE 

 

 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)                    DATE 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH: 

 

JOHN J. DREYZEHNER, MD, MPH, FACOEM, COMMISSIONER DATE 

 

 



ATTACHMENT 1 

1 

Federal Award Identification Worksheet 

 
Subrecipient’s name (must match registered name in 
DUNS) 

Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health 

Department 
Subrecipient’s DUNS number 029870271 
Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN)  
Federal award date  
CFDA number and name 93.283 
Grant contract’s begin date April 1, 2015 
Grant contract’s end date March 28, 2020 
Amount of federal funds obligated by this grant 
contract 

$79,400 

Total amount of federal funds obligated to the 
subrecipient 

 

Total amount of the federal award to the pass-through 
entity (Grantor State Agency) 

 

Name of federal awarding agency Centers for Disease Control and 

Prevention (CDC) 
Name and contact information for the federal awarding 
official 
 
 
 
 

Shawna Shields 

Phone: (770) 488-5325 

Email: sunshields@cdc.gov 

Is the federal award for research and development? No 
Indirect cost rate for the federal award (See 2 C.F.R. 
§200.331 for information on type of indirect cost rate)  

11.5% 

 



GRANT BUDGET

POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT GRANTEE MATCH 

3
TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$79,400.00 $2,400.00 $81,800.00

2 Benefits & Taxes 
$0.00 $5,540.00 $5,540.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

6 Telephone
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

10 Printing & Publications
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$79,400.00 $7,940.00 $87,340.00

3
  A Grantee Match Requirement is detailed by this Grant Budget, and the maximum total amount reimbursable by the State pursuant to this 

Grant Contract, as detailed by the “Grant Contract” column above, shall be reduced by the amount of any Grantee failure to meet the Match 

Requirement.

ATTACHMENT 2

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT - TOBACCO USE PREVENTION AND CONTROL SERVICES

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period 

beginning April 1, 2015  and ending March 31, 2017.  ROLL-UP

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements 

and Cost Allocation Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  

http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2
  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.



GRANT BUDGET

POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT GRANTEE MATCH 

3
TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$39,700.00 $1,200.00 $40,900.00

2 Benefits & Taxes 
$0.00 $2,770.00 $2,770.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

6 Telephone
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

10 Printing & Publications
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$39,700.00 $3,970.00 $43,670.00

ATTACHMENT 2

(BUDGET PAGE 2)

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT - TOBACCO USE PREVENTION AND CONTROL SERVICES

3
  A Grantee Match Requirement is detailed by this Grant Budget, and the maximum total amount reimbursable by the State pursuant to this 

Grant Contract, as detailed by the “Grant Contract” column above, shall be reduced by the amount of any Grantee failure to meet the Match 

Requirement.

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period 

beginning April 1, 2015  and ending March 31, 2016.  

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements 

and Cost Allocation Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  

http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2
  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.



SALARIES AMOUNT

Vacant, Public Health Educator  $   3,407.64 x 12 x 97% $39,664.93

TOTAL ROUNDED $39,700.00 

ATTACHMENT 2 (continued)

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 3)



GRANT BUDGET

POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT GRANTEE MATCH 

3
TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$39,700.00 $1,200.00 $40,900.00

2 Benefits & Taxes 
$0.00 $2,770.00 $2,770.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

6 Telephone
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

10 Printing & Publications
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost 
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$39,700.00 $3,970.00 $43,670.00

3
  A Grantee Match Requirement is detailed by this Grant Budget, and the maximum total amount reimbursable by the State pursuant to this 

Grant Contract, as detailed by the “Grant Contract” column above, shall be reduced by the amount of any Grantee failure to meet the Match 

Requirement.

ATTACHMENT 2

(BUDGET PAGE 4)

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT - TOBACCO USE PREVENTION AND CONTROL SERVICES

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period 

beginning April 1, 2016  and ending March 31, 2017.  

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements 

and Cost Allocation Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  

http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2
  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.



SALARIES AMOUNT

Vacant, Public Health Educator  $   3,407.64 x 12 x 97% $39,664.93

TOTAL ROUNDED $39,700.00 

ATTACHMENT 2 (continued)

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 5)



NAME AND REMITTANCE ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE   

INVOICE NUMBER 

INVOICE DATE 

INVOICE PERIOD 
FROM TO

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY   CONTRACT PERIOD 
FROM TO

PROGRAM AREA   11

EDISON CONTRACT NUMBER   CONTACT PERSON/TELEPHONE NO.

OCR CONTRACT NUMBER

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

USERCODE:

Printing & Publications PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Specific Assistance to Individuals USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the data Please check one of the following boxes

above are correct, that all expenditures were made in These services are for medical services
accordance with the contract conditions, and that payment 

is due and has not been previously requested. non-medical services

Title: Title: Title:

Date: Date: Date:

ATTACHMENT: 3

FOR CENTRAL OFFICE USE ONLY

(MO./DAY/YR.)

(C)

MONTHLY

EXPENDITURES

AMOUNT BILLED

YTD

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

BUDGET

LINE

ITEMS

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

CONTRACTOR'S/GRANTEE'S AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE PROGRAM APPROVAL AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

TOTAL

RECOMMENDED FOR PAYMENT

(A)

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Indirect Cost

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY'S AUTHORIZED CERTIFICATION
FOR FISCAL USE ONLY

Other Non Personnel

Capital Purchase

Depreciation

Interest

Insurance

Travel/Conferences & Meetings

Occupancy

Equipment Rental & Maintenance

Telephone

Postage & Shipping

Professional Fee/Grant & Award

Supplies

BUDGET

Benefits

(B)

Salaries

DUE

TOTAL

CONTRACT

FEDERAL ID#   Edison Vendor #   
Tennessee Department of Health

STATE OF TENNESSEE
INVOICE FOR REIMBURSEMENT

TDOH AGENCY INVOICE NUMBER (ONLY FOR FISCAL OFFICE USE) 



Instructions & Hints

Do not send a worksheet that is linked to another file
Line by line instructions are on the "line by line info" tab

Retain this file in blank form
Use "File Save As" to save information for a specific contract or reporting period
File Names: Please use the following format when naming files.

name of agency REPORTING PERIOD END.xls

do not abbreviate the agency name

example: davidson county health MARCH 02.xls
Reporting period - the start and end dates of the quarter being reported

Reporting periods are based on the Agency's fiscal year
Grant period - the start and end dates of the contract being reported
Send a report for every quarter even if there is no activity for that quarter
Abbreviations - do not abbreviate the Agency name
Number pages using the "page_____of _____ pages" format

THE WORKSHEET IS NOT PROTECTED

do not overwrite formulas (identified by yellow shading and "0" ) or change formats

do not overwrite/edit shaded areas (move to the cell beyond the shading for input)

do not add (insert) lines do not change shaded areas

Expense and Revenue pages can show information for 2 contracts
Use separate Schedules A & B to report contracts for each granting State agency

Use additional expense and revenue pages for more than 2 contracts
     copy all lines & fields to the first blank line below the last line in column A
     with the cursor at the start of the added page, use "insert" "page break" for print purposes
     reset print range to cover the added page(s) and correct the page numbers

Contract Number is the State Contract Number, NOT the agency program number
Report by program within the State Contract Number within State Department
Summarize programs into totals by State Contract Number and State Department totals
Do not combine State Contract Numbers 
One Funding Information Summary and one Schedule C are required from each contractor submitting reports
Review Section C in all contracts for reporting requirements

ALLOCATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

Requires completion of all attached sheets

NOTE If files are not properly named and print ranges not set, the report will be returned for correction

Do not send invoices with expense reports
If refund due, mail reports with check or send note with e-mail that check in the mail

e-mail completed files to: Doug.Curry@tn.gov
e-mail filing replaces mailing forms

Mailing Address:
Doug Curry Telephone:615-532-7115
Tennessee Department of Health FAX 615-741-9533
Fiscal Services
6th Floor - Andrew Johnson Tower
710 James Robertson Parkway
Nashville, TN 37243

Attachment 4

mailto:Doug.Curry@tn.gov


PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT (Excerpted from Policy 3 statement)

SCHEDULE A

EXPENSE BY OBJECT LINE-ITEMS

There are seventeen specific object expense categories; two subtotals (Line 3, Total 

Personnel Expenses, and Line 19, Total Non-personnel Expenses); and Reimbursable 

Capital Purchases (Line 20), above Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses. All expenses

should be included in one or more of the specific categories, or in an additional expense

category entered under Line 18, Other Non-personnel Expenses. The contracting state 

state agency may determine these requirements.

With the exception of depreciation, everything reported in Lines 1 through 21 must 

represent an actual cash disbursement or accrual as defined in the Basis For Reporting 

Expenses/Expenditures section on page 13.

THE YEAR-TO-DATE EXPENSES MUST BE TRACABLE TO THE REPORTING

AGENCY'S GENERAL LEDGER

Line 1 Salaries And Wages

On this line, enter compensation, fees, salaries, and wages paid to officers, directors, 

trustees, and employees. An attached schedule may be required showing client wages or 

other included in the aggregations.

Line 2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes

Enter (a) the organization's contributions to pension plans and to employee benefit 

programs such as health, life, and disability insurance; and (b) the organization's portion of

payroll taxes such as social security and medicare taxes and unemployment and workers’ 

compensation insurance. An attached schedule may be required showing client benefits and

taxes or other included in the aggregations.

Line 3 Total Personnel Expenses

Add lines 1 and 2.

Line 4 Professional Fees

Enter the organization's fees to outside professionals, consultants, and personal-service

contractors. Include legal, accounting, and auditing fees. An attached schedule may be required 

showing the details in the aggregation of professional fees.

Line 5 Supplies

Enter the organization's expenses for office supplies, housekeeping supplies, food and

beverages, and other supplies. An attached schedule may be required showing food

expenses or other details included in the aggregations.

Line 6 Telephone

Enter the organization's expenses for telephone, cellular phones, beepers, telegram, FAX,

E-mail, telephone equipment maintenance, and other related expenses.

Attachment 4



Line 7 Postage And Shipping

Enter the organization's expenses for postage, messenger services, overnight delivery, 

outside mailing service fees, freight and trucking, and maintenance of delivery and 

shipping vehicles. Include vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 8 Occupancy

Enter the organization's expenses for use of office space and other facilities, heat, light,

power, other utilities, outside janitorial services, mortgage interest, real estate taxes, and 

similar expenses. Include property insurance here or on line 14.

Line 9 Equipment Rental And Maintenance

Enter the organization's expenses for renting and maintaining computers, copiers, postage

meters, other office equipment, and other equipment, except for telephone, truck, and

automobile expenses, reportable on lines 6, 7, and 11, respectively.

Line 10 Printing And Publications

Enter the organization's expenses for producing printed materials, purchasing books and

publications, and buying subscriptions to publications.

Line 11 Travel

Enter the organization's expenses for travel, including transportation, meals and lodging, 

and per diem payments. Include gas and oil, repairs, licenses and permits, and leasing 

costs for company vehicles. Include travel expenses for meetings and conferences. Include

vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 12 Conferences And Meetings

Enter the organization's expenses for conducting or attending meetings, conferences, and

conventions. Include rental of facilities, speakers' fees and expenses, printed materials, and

registration fees (but not travel).

Line 13 Interest

Enter the organization's interest expense for loans and capital leases on equipment, trucks

and automobiles, and other notes and loans. Do not include mortgage interest reportable on line 8.

Line 14 Insurance

Enter the organization's expenses for liability insurance, fidelity bonds, and other

insurance. Do not include employee-related insurance reportable on line 2. Do not include 

property and vehicle insurance if reported on lines 7, 8, or 11.

Line 15 Grants And Awards

Enter the organization's awards, grants, subsidies, and other pass-through expenditures to

individuals and to other organizations. Include allocations to affiliated organizations. 

Include in-kind grants to individuals and organizations. Include scholarships, tuition

payments, travel allowances, and equipment allowances to clients and individual beneficiaries.

Pass-through funds are not included when computing administrative expenses reported on Line 22.

Attachment 4



Line 16 Specific Assistance to Individuals

Enter the organization's direct payment of expenses of clients, patients, and individual

beneficiaries. Include such expenses as medicines, medical and dental fees, children's

board, food and homemaker services, clothing, transportation, insurance coverage, and

wage supplements.

Line 17 Depreciation

Enter the expenses the organization records for depreciation of equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other depreciable fixed assets.

Line 18 Other Non-personnel Expenses

NOTE: Expenses reportable on lines 1 through 17 should not be reported in an additional

expense category on line 18. A description should be attached for each additional category

entered on line 18. The contracting state agency may determine these requirements.

Enter the organization's allowable expenses for advertising (1), bad debts (2), contingency

provisions (7), fines and penalties (14), independent research and development (reserved) 

(17), organization (27), page charges in professional journals (29), rearrangement and 

alteration (39), recruiting (41), and taxes (47). Include the organization’s and employees'

membership dues in associations and professional societies (26). Include other fees for the

organization's licenses, permits, registrations, etc.

Line 19 Total Non-personnel Expenses

Add lines 4 through 18.

Line 20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases

Enter the organization's purchases of fixed assets. Include land, equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other fixed assets. An attached schedule may be required

showing the details for each such purchase.

Line 21 Total Direct Program Expenses

Add lines 3, 19, and 20.

Includes direct and allocated direct program expenses.

Line 22 Administrative Expenses

The distribution will be made in accordance with an allocation plan approved by your cognizant 

state agency.

Line 23 Total Direct And Administrative Expenses

Line 23 is the total of Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses, and Line 22, 

Administrative Expenses. Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses Year-to-Date

should agree with the Total of Column B, Year-to-Date Actual Expenditures of the 

Invoice for Reimbursement.

Attachment 4



Line 24 In-Kind Expenses

In-kind Expenses (Line 24) is for reporting the value of contributed resources applied to

the program. Approval and reporting guidelines for in-kind contributions will be specified

by those contracting state agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Carry forward to Schedule B, Line 38.

Line 25 Total Expenses

The sum of Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses, and Line 24, In-kind Expenses,

goes on this line.

PROGRAM REVENUE REPORT (PRR)

SCHEDULE B

SOURCES OF REVENUE

The revenue page is intended to be an extension of the total expenses page, in that the

columns should match up by contract/attachment number and program title. There are ten

revenue sources (Schedule B, Part 1) and three subtotals (Lines 33, 41, and 43). Additional

supplemental schedules for one or more of the line items may be attached, if needed. Each

revenue column should be aligned with its corresponding expense column from Schedule A.

Reimbursable Program Funds

Line 31 Reimbursable Federal Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23, 

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from federal program funds. The state funding agency 

may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 32 Reimbursable State Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23,

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from state program funds. The state funding agency may

require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (Equals Schedule B, Line 55)

Add lines 31 and 32.

Matching Revenue Funds

Line 34 Other Federal Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other federal funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 35 Other State Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other state funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Attachment 4



Line 36 Other Government Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses 

(Equals Line 41), that is from other government funds. The state funding agency may

an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 37 Cash Contributions (Non-government)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from such sources of cash contributions as corporations, 

foundations, trusts, individuals, United Ways, other not-for-profit organizations, and from

affiliated organizations. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing and

reconciliation schedule.

Line 38 In-Kind Contributions (Equals Schedule A, Line 24)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from direct and administrative in-kind contributions. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Approval and guidelines for valuation and reporting of in-kind contributions will be

specified by those grantor agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Line 39 Program Income

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from program income related to the program funded by the state

agency. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 40 Other Matching Revenue

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other revenues not included in lines 34 through 39. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 41 Total Matching Revenue Funds

Add lines 34 through 40

Line 42 Other Program Funds

Enter program income related to the program funded by the state agency but not reported

as matching revenue funds on Line 54.

Line 43 Total Revenue

Add lines 33, 41, and 42

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TOTAL EXPENSES

AND REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES

SCHEDULE B - (Lines 51 to 59)

This section, at the bottom of Schedule B, is for subtracting non-reimbursable amounts

included in Total Expenses (Line 25, Schedule A and Line 51, Schedule B).

The first line of this section, Line 51, Total Expenses, is brought forward from the last

last line of the corresponding Schedule A Total Expense Page.

Attachment 4



There are three categories of adjustments for which titled lines are provided:

Line 52 OTHER UNALLOWABLE EXPENSES:

Some program expenses may not be reimbursable under certain grants. This is a matter

between the contracting parties, and will vary according to the state agency involved and

the type of grant or contract. Consult your contract or the department that funds the

program for guidelines.

Line 53 EXCESS ADMINISTRATION:

This adjustment line may be used to deduct allocated Administration and General expenses

in excess of an allowable percentage specified in the grant contract. It may also be used to

deduct an adjustment resulting from limitations on certain components of Administration

and General expenses. Again, the specific guidelines of the department and grant involved

are the controlling factor.

Line 54 MATCHING EXPENSES (Equals Schedule B, Line 41)

Since the goal is to arrive at a reimbursable amount, the expenses paid out of other sources

of funding, local support and program user fees for example, will have to be deducted. The

amount left should be only that which is to be paid for by the contracting state agency.

Line 55 REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES (Line 51 less Lines 52, 53, and 54)

(Equals Schedule B, Line 33)

This is the amount that the contracting state agency will pay for the quarter's operations of

the program. The cumulative column is what the grant actually paid to date.

Line 56 TOTAL REIMBURSEMENT-TO-DATE

In the quarter-to-date column, this is the total received for this quarter from filing of the

Invoice For Reimbursement. The cumulative column's amount is the total received for the

grant year-to-date.

Line 57 DIFFERENCE (Line 55 less Line 56)

This is the portion of Reimbursable Expenses not yet paid.

Line 58 ADVANCES

Any advance payments for a grant should appear on this line.

Line 59 THIS REIMBURSEMENT (Line 57 less Line 58)

The remainder should be the amount due under the grant contract. Actual payments are

made through the invoicing process and not through the filing of this report.

Attachment 4



POLICY 3 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS - SUMMARY

Policy 3 requires reporting the entire operation of the Grantee agency.  This could include

numerous programs and contracts.  Policy 3 requirements are outlined in each contract and are

available on line at:  http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/policyb.html

The “Contractor/Grantee” is the agency receiving the state grant.

The “Contracting State Agency” is the state agency that gives the grant.

Reports are normally due 30 days after the close of the Grantee's accounting quarter and year,

which may/may not coincide with the State accounting quarter and year end.  Exact requirements

are in the contract.

Policy 3 reporting requires one report from each contracting agency consisting of Schedules A, B,

and C and a Funding Information Summary.  Schedules A and B detail each program added to a

contract total.  Schedules A and B are designed to show 2 programs per page and there would be

only one Schedule C per grantee.  On Schedules A and B, programs that are not state funded can

be rolled into a single program category.  The lines on Schedule A for year-to-date information add

across all programs/contracts to the corresponding line on the Schedule C - Grant contracts in the

first column and non-grant operations in the second column.

The third column of the Schedule C shows Administrative Expenses incurred by the Grantee.

Administrative expenses are generally those that benefit programs but are not directly associated

with the program/contract.  These could include the Executive Director, office operation, accounting

staff, and other similar expenses.  This column will also show the allocation of Administrative

Expenses to the various programs/contracts, if this is done by the Grantee.  If allocated, a negative

on line 22 is equal to the Administrative Expense allocated to the grant and non-grant

programs/contracts.  Administrative Expenses may include some items that are not subject to

allocation so the amount allocated may/may not equal the total Administrative Expense reported.

Allocation of Administrative Expenses requires an approved allocation plan.

The fourth column of the Schedule C shows the total operation of the reporting grantee for the

year-to-date.  The Policy 3 report should, in total, match the total operation of the Grantee.

The funding Information Summary shows the method of allocating Administrative Expenses.  If

there is no approved allocation plan and the grantee does not allocate Administrative Expenses,

then there is no entry on Schedule C, line 22 and no allocation to the programs/contracts.  This

form must be submitted with every report.

Attachment 4

http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/policyb.html


AGENCY NAME

ADDRESS

CITY, STATE, ZIP

REPORTING PERIOD: (MM/DD/YY) FROM: THRU:

AGENCY FISCAL YEAR END (MM/DD)

COST ALLOCATION: DOES YOUR ORGANIZATION HAVE AN APPROVED COST ALLOCATION PLAN?

YES NO

If yes, Name of organization that approved the Plan:

IF COST ALLOCATION IS APPLIED, INDICATE THE METHOD OF ALLOCATION:

Ratio of direct program salaries to total direct salaries applied to administrative cost.

Ratio of direct program expenditure to total direct expenditures applied to administrative cost.

Cost step down.

Other (describe)

Is your organization: A private not-for-profit organization?

A state college or university, or part of a city government?

DIRECTOR PHONE #

PREPARER OF REPORT PHONE #

DATE COMPLETED

Tennessee Department of Health

Funding Information Summary

Attachment 4



Page ___ of ___
Schedule A, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule A
Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages
2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes
3      Total Personnel Expenses (add lines 1 and 2)
4 Professional Fees
5 Supplies
6 Telephone
7 Postage and Shipping
8 Occupancy
9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications
11 Travel
12 Conferences and Meetings
13 Interest
14 Insurance
15 Grants and Awards
16 Specific Assistance to Individuals
17 Depreciation
18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)

a
b
c
d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses (add lines 4 - 18)
20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases
21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES
22 Administrative Expenses
23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
24 In-Kind Expenses
25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 4



Page ___ of ___

Schedule B, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule B
Item # SOURCES OF REVENUE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

Reimbursable Program Funds ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------------
31      Reimbursable Federal Program Funds
32      Reimbursable State Program Funds
33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (equals line 55)

Matching Revenue Funds
34      Other Federal Funds
35      Other State Funds
36      Other Government Funds
37      Cash Contributions (non-government)
38      In-Kind Contributions (equals line 24)
39      Program Income
40      Other Matching Revenue
41 Total Matching Revenue Funds (lines 34 - 40)

42 Other Program Funds

43 Total Revenue (lines 33, 41, & 42)

Reconciliation Between Total and Reimbursable Expenses
51 Total Expenses (line 25)
52 Subtract Other Unallowable Expenses (contractual)
53 Subtract Excess Administration Expenses (contractual)
54 Subtract Matching Expenses (equals line 41)
55 Reimbursable Expenses (line 51 less lines 52,53,54)

56 Total Reimbursement To Date
57 Difference (line 55 less line 56)
58 Advances
59 This reimbursement (line 57 less line 58)

Attachment 4



Page   ___  of ___

Schedule C - Final Page STATE OF TENNESSEE   PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

TOTAL DIRECT 
PROGRAM 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
NONGRANT/ 

UNALLOWABLE 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

EXPENSES GRAND TOTAL

Schedule A Year-To-Date Information

Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages

2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes

3      Total Personnel Expenses

4 Professional Fees

5 Supplies

6 Telephone

7 Postage and Shipping

8 Occupancy

9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications

11 Travel

12 Conferences and Meetings

13 Interest

14 Insurance

15 Grants and Awards

16 Specific Assistance to Individuals

17 Depreciation

18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)

a

b

c

d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses

20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases

21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES

22 Administrative Expenses

23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

24 In-Kind Expenses

25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 4





No. 315-39 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN A CONTINUATION 
CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HAMILTON 
COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE 
CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT, FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 
2015 - 2016 CONTRACT PERIOD, IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $247,500.00 TO 
PROVIDE HOME VISITS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH’S 
CHILDREN’S SPECIAL SERVICES (CSS) PROGRAM GUIDELINES. 
 
WHEREAS, to carry out the Department of Health’s responsibility in the implementation of 

the CSS Care Coordination Program; and 
 
WHEREAS, home and clinic visits are made by CSS Care Coordinators to assist families in 

accessing comprehensive quality services for children and adolescents (birth to 
age 21) with complex health care needs through a holistic and innovative 
network of community services; and 

 
WHEREAS, the State has agreed to provide $247,500.00 for the provision of these Care 

Coordination services; and 
 
WHEREAS, this program and services is for the health and well-being of the citizens of 

Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
 That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract for the July 

1, 2015 - June 30, 2016 contract period in an amount not to exceed 
$247,500.00. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



1-15-15 GG 

 

 

 

 

 

G O V E R N M E N T A L  G R AN T  C O N T R A C T  
(cost reimbursement grant contract with a federal or Tennessee local governmental entity or their 
agents and instrumentalities) 

Begin Date End Date Agency Tracking # Edison ID 

July 1, 2015 June 30, 2016 34360-38716       

Grantee Legal Entity Name Edison Vendor ID 

Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department 4208 

Subrecipient or Contractor CFDA # 93.994 

 Subrecipient   

 Contractor Grantee’s fiscal year end June 30, 2016 

Service Caption (one line only) 

Medical and Care Coordination for Children's Special Services 

Funding — 

FY State Federal Interdepartmental Other TOTAL Grant Contract Amount 

2016 $106,400.00 $141,100.00             $247,500.00 

                                   

                                   

                                   

                                   

TOTAL: $106,400.00 $141,100.00             $247,500.00 

 

Grantee Selection Process Summary 

 Competitive Selection 
Describe the competitive selection process used.  

 Non-competitive Selection The grant selection process was non-competitive because 
the metro health department is a governmental entity that 
has been determined to be capable and willing to provide 
care coordination services to clients enrolled in the 
Children’s Special Services Program.  The terms of the 
grant as well as the grant budget were negotiated taking into 
consideration the grantee’s training, experience, quality of 
services provided, location of the grantee in relation to 
clients, willingness to serve departmental clients and 
willingness to accept departmental reimbursement rates. 

Budget Officer Confirmation:  There is a balance in the 
appropriation from which obligations hereunder are 
required to be paid that is not already encumbered to pay 
other obligations. 

CPO USE - GG 

Speed Chart (optional) Account Code (optional)  

HL00007838 71301000  



1-15-15 GG 

 

1 

 

GRANT CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 
AND 

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 
 

This grant contract (“Grant Contract”), by and between the State of Tennessee, Department of Health, 
hereinafter referred to as the “State” or the “Grantor State Agency” and Chattanooga-Hamilton County 
Health Department, hereinafter referred to as the “Grantee,” is for the provision of Children’s Special 
Services Care Coordination, as further defined in the "SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES." 
 
Grantee Edison Vendor ID #  4208 
 
A. SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES: 
 
A.1. The Grantee shall provide the scope of services and deliverables (“Scope”) as required, 

described, and detailed in this Grant Contract. 
 
A.2. Service Definitions. 
 

a. “Care Coordination” means assistance to families in accessing services (i.e. educational, 
medical, social, transportation, and advocacy).  
 

 b. “CSS” means Children’s Special Services program. 
 

 c. “CSS Policy Manual” means most current Policy and Procedure Manual as approved by 
the State. 

 
 d. Tennessee Early Intervention System is a voluntary early intervention program for 

families with children ages birth through two (2) years of age with disabilities or 
developmental delays. 

 
A.3. Service Goals.  The goal of CSS is to provide comprehensive Care Coordination services to 

eligible children with special healthcare needs. 
 
A.4. Service Recipients.  Service recipients are children from birth to twenty-one (21) who have or are 

at-risk for special healthcare needs. 
 
A.5. Service Description.  The Grantee shall use the grant funds to implement the CSS program as 

follows: 
 

a. Provide Care Coordination services for the CSS Program in accordance with the most 
current version of the CSS Policy Manual, incorporated herein by reference (copy of 
which has been provided to the Grantee), and as directed by the State’s CSS Program 
Director and in conjunction with the program’s rules; 

 
b. Provide appropriate staffing (nursing, clerical, nutritional, medical, and other health care 

providers) as required for CSS service provision; 
 
c. Notify the State’s CSS Program Director of all personnel vacancies and/or personnel 

changes that occur anytime during the year; relating to the positions funded by this grant; 
 

d. Provide administrative supervision of the Care Coordinators with programmatic 
coordination and monitoring; 

 
e. Provide financial and medical eligibility determinations, medical and psychosocial 

assessments (if lacking), care plan development and implementation of care plans for all 
enrolled children; 



1-15-15 GG 

 

2 

 

 
f. Provide comprehensive assessments through the child’s primary care provider or other 

providers including Health Department Clinics for children enrolled in the CSS Program in 
accordance with the most current version of the CSS Policy Manual, incorporated herein 
by reference (copy of which has been provided to the Grantee); 

 
 g. Provide comprehensive pediatric and developmental assessments directly or by referral, 

for children who may lack health coverage or access to a provider; 
 
 h. Provide all necessary supplies and equipment for the clinical and administrative functions 

of the CSS program; 
 
 i. Process payment for all CSS claims from service providers and maintain programmatic 

information in accordance with the CSS Policy Manual; and 
 

j. Provide referrals for qualified medical diagnoses for service recipients who are enrolled 
or who are pending enrollment in the CSS Program. 

 
A.6. Service Reporting.  The Grantee will submit a quarterly report, in a format provided by the State, 

by the fifteenth (15
th
) of the month following the end of each quarter of the Grant period.  

 
A.7. Service Deliverables. 

 
Deliverable 

 

Contract 
Section 

 
Delivery Date 

 
Due to Whom? 

 
Requested Format 

 
Provide Care 
Coordination services 
for the CSS Program in 
accordance with the 
most current version of 
the CSS Policy Manual 
 

 
 

A.5.a. 

 
 

On-going as of start 
date of contract 

 
 

CSS Program 
participants 

 
 

Phone calls, office 
visits and home 

visits 

 
Provide appropriate 
staff as required for 
CSS service provision 
 

 
A.5.b. 

 
On-going as of start 

date of contract 

 
CSS Program 
participants 

 
Phone calls, office 

visits and home 
visits 

 
Notify the State’s CSS 
Program Director of all 
personnel vacancies 
and/or personnel 
changes that occur 
anytime during the year 
 

 
 

A.5.c. 

 
 

At the time the 
vacancy occurs, and 
when the position is 

hired 

 
 

CSS Program 
Director 

 
Update personnel 
on detail page of 

contract budget and 
email the page to 
CSS Director for 

approval 

 
Provide administrative 
supervision of the Care 
Coordinators with 
programmatic 
coordination and 
monitoring by the State 
 

 
 

A.5.d. 

 
 

On-going as of start 
date of contract 

 
 

CSS Program 
staff 

 
Oral/written 

communication in 
addition to 

chart/record reviews 
conducted by CSS 
Program Director 

 
Provide financial and 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



1-15-15 GG 

 

3 

 

 
A.8.      Inspection and Acceptance:  Acceptance of the work outlined above will be made by the State or 

its authorized representative through reports, teleconferences, site visits and/or other periodic 
reviews. The State will make the final determination concerning acceptance of the work 
performed under this Contract.  All “To Be Determined” instances mentioned in the document 
shall be proposed by the Grantee and accepted by the State. 

 
A.9. kidcentraltn. 

medical eligibility 
determinations, medical 
and psychosocial 
assessment (if lacking), 
care plan development 
and implementation of 
care plans for all 
enrolled children 
 

 
A.5.e. 

 
On-going as of start 

date of contract 

 
To CSS program 

participants’ 
chart/record and 

in PTBMIS 

 
In medical record 

and electronically in 
PTBMIS 

 

 
Provide comprehensive 
assessments through 
the child’s primary care 
provider or other 
providers. 

 
 
 

A.5.f. 

 
 
 

On-going as of start 
date of contract 

 
 
To CSS Program 

participants’ 
chart/record and 

in PTBMIS 

 
 

In medical record 
and electronically in 

PTBMIS 
 
 

 
Provide comprehensive 
pediatric and 
developmental 
assessments directly or 
by referral, for children 
who may lack health 
coverage or access to a 
provider 
 

 
 
 

A.5.g. 

 
 
 

On-going as of start 
date of contract 

 
 
 

To CSS 
participants’ 

chart/record and 
in PTBMIS 

 
 
 

In medical record   
and electronically in 

PTBMIS 
. 
 

 
Provide all necessary 
supplies and equipment 
for the administrative 
functions of the CSS 
program 
 

 
 

A.5.h. 

 
 

On-going as of start 
date of contract 

 
 

CSS Program 
staff and 

participants 

 
 

To be determined 

 
Process payment for all 
CSS claims from 
service providers and 
maintain programmatic 
information in 
accordance with the 
CSS Policy Manual 
 

 
 

A.5.i. 

 
 

On-going as of start 
date of contract 

 
 

CSS Program 
service providers 
and in PTBMIS 

 
 

In Edison and 
PTBMIS 

electronically and in 
medical record 

 
Provide referrals for 
qualified medical 
diagnoses for service 
recipients who are 
enrolled or who are 
pending enrollment in 
the CSS Program 

 
 
 

A.5.j. 

 
 
 

On-going as of start 
date of contract 

 
 
 

CSS Program 
participants 

 
 
 

In medical record 
 



1-15-15 GG 

 

4 

 

 
a. Under the guidance of their Gatekeeper, Grantee shall create and maintain an agency 

program profile in the designated state services directory located at 
www.kidcentraltn.com.   Grantee may have more than one service which is appropriate 
for the directory.  The Gatekeeper will provide instructions for which services should be 
included in the directory.  Grantee shall update its agency program profile(s) in the 
designated state services directory at least every six months.  In addition, Grantee shall 
update its agency program profile(s) within ten (10) business days of any change in 
information.   
For the purposes of this section, Gatekeeper shall be the person designated by State to   

 do the following tasks:  
 
(1) invite Grantee to create a profile;  
(2) review, approve, and publish program profiles created by Grantee; and 
(3) monitor update activity.   

 
b. If Grantee has a website, they must link to www.kidcentraltn.com from an appropriate 

section of that website.  If Grantee would like to link to specific features of the kidcentral 
tn website such as the My Profile, Mobile App, Facebook, or State Services Directory 
features, State can provide specific copy, links, and images for those features. 
 
If Grantee uses State funds to develop or distribute materials (print or electronic) 
intended for parents, families, children, or professionals working directly with children or 
families, Grantee must place the kidcentral tn logo on those materials.  Examples of 
covered materials would include brochures, flyers, posters, and promotional postcards or 
mailers. State provides the kidcentral tn logo at the following link 
http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09p/. If Grantee would like to apply the full kidcentral tn brand 
to print materials such as brochures, flyers, posters, or postcards, State also provides 
those templates at the following link http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09p/. 

 
This kidcentral tn logo requirement does not apply to materials that have already been 
printed or designed.  This kidcentral tn logo requirement does not apply to materials that 
originate from the federal government, national organizations, or other groups where 
Grantee serves as a pass through of those materials.  The kidcentral tn logo should not 
be applied to individualized correspondence or individualized materials which are 
intended for a single family or professional and should not be applied to materials where 
the subject is purely administrative, such as materials about rules, sanctions, regulations, 
or enforcement. 

 
A.10. Incorporation of Additional Documents.  Each of the following documents is included as a part of 

this Grant Contract by reference or attachment.  In the event of a discrepancy or ambiguity 
regarding the Grantee's duties, responsibilities, and performance hereunder, these items shall 
govern in order of precedence below. 

 
 a. this Grant Contract document with any attachments or exhibits (excluding the items listed 

at subsections b., below); 
 

 b. CSS Policy Manual. 
 
A.11. Incorporation of Federal Award Identification Worksheet. The federal award identification 

worksheet, which appears as Attachment 1, is incorporated in this Grant Contract. 
 
B. TERM OF CONTRACT: 
 
 This Grant Contract shall be effective on July 1, 2015 (“Effective Date”) and extend for a period of 

twelve (12) months after the Effective Date (“Term”).  The State shall have no obligation to the 
Grantee for fulfillment of the Scope outside the Term.  

 

http://www.kidcentraltn.com/
http://www.kidcentraltn.com/
http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09p
http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09p


1-15-15 GG 

 

5 

 

C. PAYMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   
 
C.1. Maximum Liability.  In no event shall the maximum liability of the State under this Grant Contract 

exceed Two Hundred Forty Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($247,500.00) (“Maximum 
Liability”).  The Grant Budget, attached and incorporated as Attachment 2 is the maximum 
amount due the Grantee under this Grant Contract.  The Grant Budget line-items include, but are 
not limited to, all applicable taxes, fees, overhead, and all other direct and indirect costs incurred 
or to be incurred by the Grantee. 

 
C.2. Compensation Firm.  The Maximum Liability of the State is not subject to escalation for any 

reason unless amended.  The Grant Budget amounts are firm for the duration of the Grant 
Contract and are not subject to escalation for any reason unless amended, except as provided in 
Section C.6. 

 
C.3. Payment Methodology.  The Grantee shall be reimbursed for actual, reasonable, and necessary 

costs based upon the Grant Budget, not to exceed the Maximum Liability established in Section 
C.1.  Upon progress toward the completion of the Scope, as described in Section A of this Grant 
Contract, the Grantee shall submit invoices (Attachment 3) prior to any reimbursement of 
allowable costs.   
 

C.4. Travel Compensation.  Reimbursement to the Grantee for travel, meals, or lodging shall be 
subject to amounts and limitations specified in the "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," as 
they are amended from time to time, and shall be contingent upon and limited by the Grant 
Budget funding for said reimbursement.   

 
C.5. Invoice Requirements. The Grantee shall invoice the State no more often than monthly, with all 

necessary supporting documentation, and present such to: 
 

By email: Ondria.Stevenson@tn.gov  
 
By regular mail: 
 
Invoice Administrator 
Division of Family Health and Wellness 
Tennessee Department of Health 
8

th
 Floor, Andrew Johnson Tower 

710 James Robertson Parkway 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 
 
a. Each invoice shall clearly and accurately detail all of the following required information 

(calculations must be extended and totaled correctly). 
 
(1) Invoice/Reference Number (assigned by the Grantee). 
(2) Invoice Date. 
(3) Invoice Period (to which the reimbursement request is applicable). 
(4) Grant Contract Number (assigned by the State).  
(5) Grantor:  Tennessee Department of Health, Family Health and Wellness.`  
(6) Grantor Number (assigned by the Grantee to the above-referenced Grantor). 
(7) Grantee Name.  
(8) Grantee Tennessee Edison Registration ID Number Referenced in Preamble of 

this Grant Contract. 
(9) Grantee Remittance Address. 
(10) Grantee Contact for Invoice Questions (name, phone, or fax). 
(11) Itemization of Reimbursement Requested for the Invoice Period— it must detail, 

at minimum, all of the following:  
 
i. The amount requested by Grant Budget line-item (including any travel 

expenditure reimbursement requested and for which documentation and 

mailto:Ondria.Stevenson@tn.gov


1-15-15 GG 

 

6 

 

receipts, as required by "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," are 
attached to the invoice). 

ii. The amount reimbursed by Grant Budget line-item to date. 
iii. The total amount reimbursed under the Grant Contract to date.  
iv. The total amount requested (all line-items) for the Invoice Period. 
 

b. The Grantee understands and agrees to all of the following. 
 
(1) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall include only reimbursement requests 

for actual, reasonable, and necessary expenditures required in the delivery of 
service described by this Grant Contract and shall be subject to the Grant Budget 
and any other provision of this Grant Contract relating to allowable 
reimbursements.  

(2) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall not include any reimbursement 
request for future expenditures. 

(3) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall initiate the timeframe for 
reimbursement only when the State is in receipt of the invoice, and the invoice 
meets the minimum requirements of this section C.5. 

(4) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall be presented to the State within thirty 
(30) days after the end of the calendar month in which the subject costs were 
incurred or services were rendered by the Grantee.  An invoice submitted more 
than thirty (30) days after such date will NOT be paid.  The State will not deem 
such Grantee costs to be allowable and reimbursable by the State unless, at the 
sole discretion of the State, the failure to submit a timely invoice is 
warranted.  The Grantee shall submit a special, written request for 
reimbursement with any such untimely invoice.  The request must detail the 
reason the invoice is untimely as well as the Grantee’s plan for submitting future 
invoices as required, and it must be signed by a Grantee agent that would be 
authorized to sign this Grant Contract. 

 
C.6. Budget Line-items.  Expenditures, reimbursements, and payments under this Grant Contract shall 

adhere to the Grant Budget.  The Grantee may move up to one percent (1%) of a line-item 
amount to another line item category provided that any increase is off-set by an equal reduction 
of other line-item amount(s) and the total Grant Contract amount detailed by the Grant Budget 
does not increase.  An increase of any line item funded at zero dollars ($0.00) shall require prior 
approval of the Grantor State Agency. 

 
C.7.      Disbursement Reconciliation and Close Out. The Grantee shall submit a grant disbursement 

reconciliation report within thirty (30) days following the end of each quarter and a final invoice 
and final grant disbursement reconciliation report within forty five (45) days of the Grant Contract 
end date and in form and substance acceptable to the State (Attachment 4). 

 
a. If total disbursements by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract exceed the amounts 

permitted by the section C, payment terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the 
Grantee shall refund the difference to the State.  The Grantee shall submit the refund 
with the final grant disbursement reconciliation report. 

 
b.         The State shall not be responsible for the payment of any invoice submitted to the state  

after the grant disbursement reconciliation report.  The State will not deem any Grantee 
costs submitted for reimbursement after the grant disbursement reconciliation report to 
be allowable and reimbursable by the State, and such invoices will NOT be paid. 

 
c.         The Grantee’s failure to provide a final grant disbursement reconciliation report to the  

state as required shall result in the Grantee being deemed ineligible for reimbursement 
under this Grant Contract, and the Grantee shall be required to refund any and all 
payments by the state pursuant to this Grant Contract. 

 
d.         The Grantee must close out its accounting records at the end of the contract period in  



1-15-15 GG 

 

7 

 

such a way that reimbursable expenditures and revenue collections are NOT carried 
forward. 

 
C.8. Indirect Cost.  Should the Grantee request reimbursement for indirect costs, the Grantee must 

submit to the State a copy of the indirect cost rate approved by the cognizant federal agency or 
the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  The Grantee will be reimbursed for indirect costs in 
accordance with the approved indirect cost rate and amounts and limitations specified in the 
attached Grant Budget.  Once the Grantee makes an election and treats a given cost as direct or 
indirect, it must apply that treatment consistently and may not change during the Term.  Any 
changes in the approved indirect cost rate must have prior approval of the cognizant federal 
agency or the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  If the indirect cost rate is provisional during 
the Term, once the rate becomes final, the Grantee agrees to remit any overpayment of funds to 
the State, and subject to the availability of funds the State agrees to remit any underpayment to 
the Grantee. 

 
C.9. Cost Allocation.  If any part of the costs to be reimbursed under this Grant Contract are joint costs 

involving allocation to more than one program or activity, such costs shall be allocated and 
reported in accordance with the provisions of Department of Finance and Administration Policy 
Statement 03 or any amendments or revisions made to this policy statement during the Term. 

 
C.10. Payment of Invoice.  A payment by the State shall not prejudice the State's right to object to or 

question any reimbursement, invoice, or related matter.  A payment by the State shall not be 
construed as acceptance of any part of the work or service provided or as approval of any 
amount as an allowable cost.   

 
C.11. Non-allowable Costs.  Any amounts payable to the Grantee shall be subject to reduction for 

amounts included in any invoice or payment that are determined by the State, on the basis of 
audits or monitoring conducted in accordance with the terms of this Grant Contract, to constitute 
unallowable costs.   

 
C.12. State’s Right to Set Off.  The State reserves the right to set off or deduct from amounts that are or 

shall become due and payable to the Grantee under this Grant Contract or under any other 
agreement between the Grantee and the State of Tennessee under which the Grantee has a right 
to receive payment from the State. 

 
C.13. Prerequisite Documentation.  The Grantee shall not invoice the State under this Grant Contract 

until the State has received the following documentation properly completed.   
 

a. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State an "Authorization Agreement 
for Automatic Deposit (ACH Credits) Form" provided by the State.  The State will pay via  
ACH Credits. 

 
b. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State a "Substitute W-9 Form” 

provided by the State.  The Grantee taxpayer identification number must agree with the 
Federal Employer Identification Number or Social Security Number referenced in this 
Grant Contract or the Grantee's Tennessee Edison Registration.   

 
D. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
D.1. Required Approvals.  The State is not bound by this Grant Contract until it is signed by the parties 

and approved by appropriate officials in accordance with applicable Tennessee laws and 
regulations (depending upon the specifics of this Grant Contract, the officials may include, but are 
not limited to, the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human 
Resources, and the Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.2. Modification and Amendment.  This Grant Contract may be modified only by a written amendment 

signed by all parties and approved by the officials who approved the Grant Contract and, 
depending upon the specifics of the Grant Contract as amended, any additional officials required 



1-15-15 GG 

 

8 

 

by Tennessee laws and regulations (the officials may include, but are not limited to, the 
Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human Resources, and the 
Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.3. Termination for Convenience.  The State may terminate this Grant Contract without cause for any 

reason.  A termination for convenience shall not be a breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  
The State shall give the Grantee at least thirty (30) days written notice before the effective 
termination date.  The Grantee shall be entitled to compensation for authorized expenditures and 
satisfactory services completed as of the termination date, but in no event shall the State be liable 
to the Grantee for compensation for any service that has not been rendered.  The final decision 
as to the amount for which the State is liable shall be determined by the State.   The Grantee 
shall not have any right to any actual general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other 
damages whatsoever of any description or amount for the State’s exercise of its right to terminate 
for convenience.  

 
D.4. Termination for Cause.  If the Grantee fails to properly perform its obligations under this Grant 

Contract, or if the Grantee violates any terms of this Grant Contract, the State shall have the right 
to immediately terminate this Grant Contract and withhold payments in excess of fair 
compensation for completed services.  Notwithstanding the exercise of the State’s right to 
terminate this Grant Contract for cause, the Grantee shall not be relieved of liability to the State 
for damages sustained by virtue of any breach of this Grant Contract by the Grantee. 

 
D.5. Subcontracting.  The Grantee shall not assign this Grant Contract or enter into a subcontract for 

any of the services performed under this Grant Contract without obtaining the prior written 
approval of the State.  If such subcontracts are approved by the State, each shall contain, at a 
minimum, sections of this Grant Contract pertaining to "Conflicts of Interest," “Lobbying,” 
"Nondiscrimination," “Public Accountability,” “Public Notice,” and “Records" (as identified by the 
section headings).  Notwithstanding any use of approved subcontractors, the Grantee shall 
remain responsible for all work performed. 

 
D.6. Conflicts of Interest.  The Grantee warrants that no part of the total Grant Contract Amount shall 

be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of Tennessee as wages, 
compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or 
consultant to the Grantee in connection with any work contemplated or performed relative to this 
Grant Contract.   

 
D.7. Lobbying.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that:  
 

a. No federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal 
contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering into 
of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or 
modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

 
b. If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 

person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the 
Grantee shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure of Lobbying 
Activities,'' in accordance with its instructions. 

 
c. The Grantee shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 

documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and 
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients 
shall certify and disclose accordingly.   

 



1-15-15 GG 

 

9 

 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into and is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. 

 
D.8. Communications and Contacts.  All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other 

communications required or contemplated by this Grant Contract shall be in writing and shall be 
made by certified, first class mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, by overnight 
courier service with an asset tracking system, or by email or facsimile transmission with recipient 
confirmation.  All communications, regardless of method of transmission, shall be addressed to 
the respective party as set out below:   
 

 The State: 
 
Ondria Stevenson, Program Director 

 Children’s Special Services 
 Family Health and Wellness 
 Tennessee Department of Health 
 8

th
 Floor Andrew Johnson Tower 

 710 James Robertson Parkway 
 Nashville, Tennessee 37243 
 Email Address: Ondria.Stevenson@tn.gov 

Telephone # (615) 532-375 
 FAX # (615) 741-1063  
 

The Grantee: 
 
Rebekah Barnes, Administrator 

 Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department 
 921 East Third Street 
 Chattanooga, Tennessee 37403 
 Email Address: Beckyb@hamiltontn@tn.gov  
 Telephone # (423) 209-8010 

FAX # (423) 209-8001   
 
A change to the above contact information requires written notice to the person designated by the 
other party to receive notice.    

 
All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other communications shall be considered 
effectively given upon receipt or recipient confirmation as may be required. 

 
D.9. Subject to Funds Availability.  This Grant Contract is subject to the appropriation and availability 

of State or Federal funds.  In the event that the funds are not appropriated or are otherwise 
unavailable, the State reserves the right to terminate this Grant Contract upon written notice to 
the Grantee.  The State’s right to terminate this Grant Contract due to lack of funds is not a 
breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  Upon receipt of the written notice, the Grantee shall 
cease all work associated with the Grant Contract.  Should such an event occur, the Grantee 
shall be entitled to compensation for all satisfactory and authorized services completed as of the 
termination date.  Upon such termination, the Grantee shall have no right to recover from the 
State any actual, general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other damages whatsoever of 
any description or amount. 

 
D.10. Nondiscrimination.  The Grantee hereby agrees, warrants, and assures that no person shall be 

excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination 
in the performance of this Grant Contract or in the employment practices of the Grantee on the 
grounds of handicap or disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other 
classification protected by federal, Tennessee state constitutional, or statutory law.  The Grantee 
shall, upon request, show proof of nondiscrimination and shall post in conspicuous places, 
available to all employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination. 

mailto:Beckyb@hamiltontn@tn.gov


1-15-15 GG 

 

10 

 

 
D.11. HIPAA Compliance.  The State and the Grantee shall comply with obligations under the Health 

Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), Health Information Technology for 
Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH) and any other relevant laws and regulations 
regarding privacy (collectively the “Privacy Rules”).  The obligations set forth in this Section shall 
survive the termination of this Grant Contract.  

 
a. The Grantee warrants to the State that it is familiar with the requirements of the Privacy 

Rules and will comply with all applicable HIPAA requirements in the course of this Grant 
Contract. 

 
b. The Grantee warrants that it will cooperate with the State, including cooperation and 

coordination with State privacy officials and other compliance officers required by the 
Privacy Rules, in the course of performance of this  Grant Contract so that both parties 
will be in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  

 
c. The State and the Grantee will sign documents, including but not limited to business 

associate agreements, as required by the Privacy Rules and that are reasonably 
necessary to keep the State and the Grantee in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  This 
provision shall not apply if information received by the State under this Grant Contract is 
NOT “protected health information” as defined by the Privacy Rules, or if the Privacy 
Rules permit the State to receive such information without entering into a business 
associate agreement or signing another such document. 

 
D.12. Public Accountability.  If the Grantee is subject to Tenn. Code Ann. § 8-4-401 et seq., or if this 

Grant Contract involves the provision of services to citizens by the Grantee on behalf of the State, 
the Grantee agrees to establish a system through which recipients of services may present 
grievances about the operation of the service program. The Grantee shall also display in a 
prominent place, located near the passageway through which the public enters in order to receive 
Grant supported services, a sign at least eleven inches (11") in height and seventeen inches (17") 
in width stating: 
 
NOTICE:  THIS AGENCY IS A RECIPIENT OF TAXPAYER FUNDING. IF YOU OBSERVE AN 
AGENCY DIRECTOR OR EMPLOYEE ENGAGING IN ANY ACTIVITY WHICH YOU CONSIDER 
TO BE ILLEGAL, IMPROPER, OR WASTEFUL, PLEASE CALL THE STATE COMPTROLLER’S 
TOLL-FREE HOTLINE:  1-800-232-5454. 

 
 The sign shall be on the form prescribed by the Comptroller of the Treasury.  The Grantor State 

Agency shall obtain copies of the sign from the Comptroller of the Treasury, and upon request 
from the Grantee, provide Grantee with any necessary signs. 

 
D.13. Public Notice.  All notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, research reports, signs, and 

similar public notices prepared and released by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall 
include the statement, “This project is funded under a grant contract with the State of 
Tennessee.”  All notices by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall be approved by the 
State. 

 
D.14. Licensure.  The Grantee,  its employees, and any approved subcontractor shall be licensed 

pursuant to all applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations and 
shall upon request provide proof of all licenses. 

 
D.15. Records.  The Grantee and any approved subcontractor shall maintain documentation for all 
 charges under this Grant Contract.  The books, records, and documents of the Grantee and any 
 approved subcontractor, insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under this 
 Grant Contract, shall be maintained in accordance with Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 10-7-404 or 10-7-
 702, as appropriate.  In no case shall the records be maintained for a period of less than five (5) 
 full years from the date of the final payment.  The Grantee’s records shall be subject to audit at 



1-15-15 GG 

 

11 

 

 any reasonable time and upon reasonable notice by the Grantor State Agency, the Comptroller of 
 the Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives.   

 The records shall be maintained in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
 (GASB) Accounting Standards or the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting 
 Standards Codification, as applicable, and any related AICPA Industry Audit and Accounting 
 guides.   

 In addition, documentation of grant applications, budgets, reports, awards, and expenditures will 
 be maintained in accordance with U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform 
 Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. 

 Grant expenditures shall be made in accordance with local government purchasing policies and 
 procedures and purchasing procedures for local governments authorized under state law. 

 The Grantee shall also comply with any recordkeeping and reporting requirements prescribed by 
 the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. 

 The Grantee shall establish a system of internal controls that utilize the COSO Internal Control - 
 Integrated Framework model as the basic foundation for the internal control system.  The Grantee 
 shall incorporate any additional Comptroller of the Treasury directives into its internal control 
 system. 

 Any other required records or reports which are not contemplated in the above standards shall 
follow the format designated by the head of the Grantor State Agency, the Central Procurement 
Office, or the Commissioner of Finance and Administration of the State of Tennessee. 

 
D.16. Monitoring.  The Grantee’s activities conducted and records maintained pursuant to this Grant 

Contract shall be subject to monitoring and evaluation by the State, the Comptroller of the 
Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives. 

 
D.17. Progress Reports.  The Grantee shall submit brief, periodic, progress reports to the State as 

requested. 
 
D.18. Annual and Final Reports.  The Grantee shall submit, within three (3) months of the conclusion of 

each year of the Term, an annual report. For grant contracts with a term of less than one (1) year, 
the Grantee shall submit a final report within three (3) months of the conclusion of the Term. For 
grant contracts with multiyear terms, the final report will take the place of the annual report for the 
final year of the Term. The Grantee shall submit annual and final reports to the Grantor State 
Agency and the Department of Finance and Administration (“F&A”).  Send electronic copies of 
annual and final reports to F&A at faaudit@tn.gov.  At minimum, annual and final reports shall 
include: (a) the Grantee’s name; (b) the Grant Contract’s Edison identification number, Term, and 
total amount; (c) a narrative section that describes the program’s goals, outcomes, successes 
and setbacks, whether the Grantee used benchmarks or indicators to determine progress, and 
whether any proposed activities were not completed; and (d) other relevant details requested by 
the Grantor State Agency. Annual and final report documents to be completed by the Grantee 
shall appear on the Grantor State Agency’s website or as Attachment 5 to the Grant Contract.       

 
D.19. Audit Report.  When the Grantee has received seven hundred fifty thousand dollars 

($750,000.00) or more in aggregate federal and state funding for all of its programs within the 
Grantee’s fiscal year, the Grantee shall provide audited financial statements to the Tennessee 
Comptroller of the Treasury.  The Grantee may, with the prior approval of the Comptroller of the 
Treasury, engage a licensed independent public accountant to perform the audit.  The audit 
contract between the Grantee and the licensed independent public accountant shall be on a 
contract form prescribed by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury.  When an audit is 
required under this Section, the audit shall be performed in accordance with U.S. Office of 
Management and Budget’s Uniform Administration Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards. 

The Grantee shall be responsible for reimbursing the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury for 
any costs of an audit prepared by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. 

mailto:faaudit@tn.gov


1-15-15 GG 

 

12 

 

The Grantee shall be responsible for payment of fees for an audit prepared by a licensed 
independent public accountant.  Payment of the audit fees for the licensed independent public 
accountant by the Grantee shall be subject to the provision relating to such fees contained within 
this Grant Contract.  Copies of such audit reports shall be provided to the designated cognizant 
state agency, the Grantor State Agency, the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury, the Central 
Procurement Office, and the Commissioner of Finance and Administration. 

Audit reports shall be made available to the public.  
 
D.20. Procurement.  If other terms of this Grant Contract allow reimbursement for the cost of goods, 

materials, supplies, equipment, motor vehicles, or contracted services, procurements by the 
Grantee shall be competitive where practicable.  For any procurement for which reimbursement is 
paid under this Grant Contract, the Grantee shall document the competitive procurement method. 
In each instance where it is determined that use of a competitive procurement method is not 
practicable, supporting documentation shall include a written justification for the decision and for 
the use of a non-competitive procurement.  If the Grantee is a subrecipient, the Grantee shall 
comply with 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.318—200.326 when procuring property and services under a federal 
award. 
 
The Grantee shall obtain prior approval from the State before purchasing any equipment or motor 
vehicles under this Grant Contract. 

 
D.21. Strict Performance.  Failure by any party to this Grant Contract to insist in any one or more cases 

upon the strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, or provisions of this Grant 
Contract is not a waiver or relinquishment of any term, covenant, condition, or provision. No term 
or condition of this Grant Contract shall be held to be waived, modified, or deleted except by a 
written amendment signed by the parties. 

 
D.22. Independent Contractor.  The parties shall not act as employees, partners, joint venturers, or 

associates of one another in the performance of this Grant Contract.  The parties acknowledge 
that they are independent contracting entities and that nothing in this Grant Contract shall be 
construed to create a principal/agent relationship or to allow either to exercise control or direction 
over the manner or method by which the other transacts its business affairs or provides its usual 
services.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be deemed or construed to be the 
employees or agents of the other party for any purpose whatsoever.  
 

D.23. State Liability.  The State shall have no liability except as specifically provided in this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.24. Force Majeure.   “Force Majeure Event” means fire, flood, earthquake, elements of nature or acts 

of God, wars, riots, civil disorders, rebellions or revolutions, acts of terrorism or any other similar 
cause beyond the reasonable control of the Party except to the extent that the non-performing 
Party is at fault in failing to prevent or causing the default or delay, and provided that the default 
or delay cannot reasonably be circumvented by the non-performing Party through the use of 
alternate sources, workaround plans or other means.  A strike, lockout or labor dispute shall not 
excuse either Party from its obligations under this Grant Contract.  Except as set forth in this 
Section, any failure or delay by a Party in the performance of its obligations under this Grant 
Contract arising from a Force Majeure Event is not a default under this Grant Contract or grounds 
for termination.  The non-performing Party will be excused from performing those obligations 
directly affected by the Force Majeure Event, and only for as long as the Force Majeure Event 
continues, provided that the Party continues to use diligent, good faith efforts to resume 
performance without delay.  The occurrence of a Force Majeure Event affecting Grantee’s 
representatives, suppliers, subcontractors, customers or business apart from this Grant Contract 
is not a Force Majeure Event under this Grant Contract.  Grantee will promptly notify the State of 
any delay caused by a Force Majeure Event (to be confirmed in a written notice to the State 
within one (1) day of the inception of the delay) that a Force Majeure Event has occurred, and will 
describe in reasonable detail the nature of the Force Majeure Event.  If any Force Majeure Event 
results in a delay in Grantee’s performance longer than forty-eight (48) hours, the State may, 
upon notice to Grantee: (a) cease payment of the fees until Grantee resumes performance of the 



1-15-15 GG 

 

13 

 

affected obligations; or (b) immediately terminate this Grant Contract or any purchase order, in 
whole or in part, without further payment except for fees then due and payable.  Grantee will not 
increase its charges under this Grant Contract or charge the State any fees other than those 
provided for in this Grant Contract as the result of a Force Majeure Event. 

 
D.25. Tennessee Department of Revenue Registration.  The Grantee shall be registered with the 

Tennessee Department of Revenue for the collection of Tennessee sales and use tax. This 
registration requirement is a material provision of this Grant Contract. 

 
D.26. Charges to Service Recipients Prohibited.  The Grantee shall not collect any amount in the form 

of fees or reimbursements from the recipients of any service provided pursuant to this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.27. No  Acquisition of Equipment or Motor Vehicles.  This Grant Contract does not involve the 

acquisition and disposition of equipment or motor vehicles acquired with funds provided under 
this Grant Contract. 

 
D.28. State and Federal Compliance.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable state and federal 

laws and regulations in the performance of this Grant Contract. The U.S. Office of Management 
and Budget’s Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards is available here: http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-
idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl   

 
D.29. Governing Law.  This Grant Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Tennessee.  The Grantee agrees that it will be subject to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Tennessee in actions that may arise under this Grant 
Contract.  The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that any rights or claims against the State of 
Tennessee or its employees hereunder, and any remedies arising there from, shall be subject to 
and limited to those rights and remedies, if any, available under Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 9-8-101 
through 9-8-407. 

 
D.30. Completeness.  This Grant Contract is complete and contains the entire understanding between 

the parties relating to the subject matter contained herein, including all the terms and conditions 
agreed to by the parties.  This Grant Contract supersedes any and all prior understandings, 
representations, negotiations, or agreements between the parties, whether written or oral. 

 
D.31. Severability.  If any terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are held to be invalid or 

unenforceable as a matter of law, the other terms and conditions shall not be affected and shall 
remain in full force and effect.  To this end, the terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are 
declared severable. 

 
D.32. Headings.  Section headings are for reference purposes only and shall not be construed as part 

of this Grant Contract. 
 
E. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  
 
E.1. Conflicting Terms and Conditions.  Should any of these special terms and conditions conflict with 

any other terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the special terms and conditions shall be 
subordinate to the Grant Contract’s other terms and conditions. 

 
E.2. Debarment and Suspension.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it, 

its current and future principals, its current and future subcontractors and their principals: 
 
 a. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any federal or state department or 
agency; 

 

http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl


1-15-15 GG 

 

14 

 

 b. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract been convicted of, 
or had a civil judgment rendered against them from commission of fraud, or a criminal 
offence in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (federal, 
state, or local) transaction or grant under a public transaction; violation of federal or state 
antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification, or 
destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 

 
 c. are not presently indicted or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity 

(federal, state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses detailed in section b. of 
this certification;  and 

 
 d. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract had one or more 

public transactions (federal, state, or local) terminated for cause or default. 
 
 The Grantee shall provide immediate written notice to the State if at any time it learns that there 

was an earlier failure to disclose information or that due to changed circumstances, its principals 
or the principals of its subcontractors are excluded or disqualified. 

 
E.3.      Confidentiality of Records.  Strict standards of confidentiality of records and information shall be 

maintained in accordance with applicable state and federal law.  All material and information, 
regardless of form, medium or method of communication, provided to the Grantee by the State or 
acquired by the Grantee on behalf of the State that is regarded as confidential under state or 
federal law shall be regarded as “Confidential Information.”  Nothing in this Section shall permit 
Grantee to disclose any Confidential Information, regardless of whether it has been disclosed or 
made available to the Grantee due to intentional or negligent actions or inactions of agents of the 
State or third parties.  Confidential Information shall not be disclosed except as required or 
permitted under state or federal law.  Grantee shall take all necessary steps to safeguard the 
confidentiality of such material or information in conformance with applicable state and federal 
law.    

              
             The obligations set forth in this Section shall survive the termination of this Grant Contract. 
 
E.4. Printing Authorization.  The Grantee agrees that no publication coming within the jurisdiction of 

Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-7-101, et seq., shall be printed pursuant to this Grant Contract unless a 
printing authorization number has been obtained and affixed as required by Tenn. Code Ann. § 
12-7-103(d). 

 
E.5. Environmental Tobacco Smoke.  Pursuant to the provisions of the federal “Pro-Children Act of 

1994” and the “Children’s Act for Clean Indoor Air of 1995,” Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 39-17-1601 
through 1606, the Grantee shall prohibit smoking of tobacco products within any indoor premises 
in which services are provided to individuals under the age of eighteen (18) years.  The Grantee 
shall post “no smoking” signs in appropriate, permanent sites within such premises.  This 
prohibition shall be applicable during all hours, not just the hours in which children are present.  
Violators of the prohibition may be subject to civil penalties and fines.  This prohibition shall apply 
to and be made part of any subcontract related to this Grant Contract. 

 
E.6. Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA).  This Grant Contract requires the 

Grantee to provide supplies or services that are funded in whole or in part by federal funds that 
are subject to FFATA. The Grantee is responsible for ensuring that all applicable FFATA 
requirements, including but not limited to those below, are met and that the Grantee provides 
information to the State as required.   

 
 The Grantee shall comply with the following: 
 
 a. Reporting of Total Compensation of the Grantee’s Executives.  
 
  (1) The Grantee shall report the names and total compensation of each of its five  



1-15-15 GG 

 

15 

 

 most highly compensated executives for the Grantee’s preceding completed 
fiscal year, if in the Grantee’s preceding fiscal year it received: 

 
   i. 80 percent or more of the Grantee’s annual gross revenues from Federal  
    procurement contracts and federal financial assistance subject to the  
    Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR 170.320 (and sub awards); and  
   ii. $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from federal procurement  
    contracts (and subcontracts), and federal financial assistance subject to  
    the Transparency Act (and sub awards); and 
   iii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation  
    of the executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or  
    15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78m(a),  

  78o(d)) or § 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. (To determine if  
  the public has access to the compensation information, see the U.S.  
  Security and Exchange Commission total compensation filings at  
  http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm.). 

 
  As defined in 2 C.F.R. § 170.315, “Executive” means officers, managing partners, or any  
  other employees in management positions. 
 
  (2) Total compensation means the cash and noncash dollar value earned by the  
   executive during the Grantee’s preceding fiscal year and includes the following  
   (for more information see 17 CFR § 229.402(c)(2)):  
 
   i. Salary and bonus.  
   ii. Awards of stock, stock options, and stock appreciation rights. Use the  
    dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with  
    respect to the fiscal year in accordance with the Statement of Financial  

  Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004) (FAS 123R), Shared  
  Based Payments.  

   iii. Earnings for services under non-equity incentive plans. This does not  
    include group life, health, hospitalization or medical reimbursement plans  
    that do not discriminate in favor of executives, and are available  
    generally to all salaried employees.  
   iv. Change in pension value. This is the change in present value of defined  
    benefit and actuarial pension plans.  
   v. Above-market earnings on deferred compensation which is not tax  
    qualified.  
   vi. Other compensation, if the aggregate value of all such other  
    compensation (e.g. severance, termination payments, value of life  
    insurance paid on behalf of the employee, perquisites or property) for the  
    executive exceeds $10,000. 
 
 b. The Grantee must report executive total compensation described above to the State by  
  the end of the month during which this Grant Contract is established.   
 
 c. If this Grant Contract is amended to extend its term, the Grantee must submit an

 executive total compensation report to the State by the end of the month in which the  
  amendment to this Grant Contract becomes effective. 
 
 d. The Grantee will obtain a Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number and  

 maintain its DUNS number for the term of this Grant Contract.  More information about 
obtaining a DUNS Number can be found at: http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/. 

 
 The Grantee’s failure to comply with the above requirements is a material breach of this Grant 

Contract for which the State may terminate this Grant Contract for cause.  The State will not be 
obligated to pay any outstanding invoice received from the Grantee unless and until the Grantee 
is in full compliance with the above requirements. 



1-15-15 GG 

 

16 

 

 
E.7. CFDA Number(s).  When applicable, the Grantee shall inform its licensed independent public 

accountant of the federal regulations that are to be complied with in performance of an audit.  
This information shall consist of the following Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Numbers 
and Grant Names: 

 
 93.994 – Maternal and Child Health Block Grant 
 
E.8. Health Care Data.  The Grantee shall provide data reports about health care services provided 

under this Grant using the Department of Health’s Patient Tracking and Billing Management 
Information System (or its successor).  Data regarding health care services provided by the 
Grantee shall be coded and entered into the Patient Tracking and Billing Management 
Information System (PTBMIS), using the PTBMIS Codes Manual.  The PTBMIS Codes manual is 
available electronically at http://hsaintranet.health.tn.gov/ and e-mail notices shall be sent to the 
Grantee regarding new revisions and/or updates, which can be accessed through the above-
referenced website. 

 
 On a schedule defined by the State, the Grantee shall submit Central Office Database Report 

(CODB) files, as defined in PTBMIS, electronically to the State.  The Grantee shall also submit 
other health care data reports, as requested by the State, and in a format acceptable to the State. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 
 
CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT: 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT: 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 

 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY  (above) 

 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH: 

 

JOHN J. DREYZEHNER, MD, MPH, FACOEM, 
COMMISSIONER 

 DATE 

 

 



1-15-15 GG 
ATTACHMENT 1 

 

Federal Award Identification Worksheet 

 
Subrecipient’s name (must match registered name in 
DUNS) 

County of Hamilton Health Dept. 

Subrecipient’s DUNS number 029870271 
Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN) B04MC253720 
Federal award date 11/04/2013 
CFDA number and name 93.994, Maternal and Child Health 

Block Grant 
Grant contract’s begin date July 1, 2015 
Grant contract’s end date June 30, 2016 
Amount of federal funds obligated by this grant 
contract 

$141,100.00 

Total amount of federal funds obligated to the 
subrecipient 

 

Total amount of the federal award to the pass-through 
entity (Grantor State Agency) 

$2,293,414 

Name of federal awarding agency Health Resource and Services 

Administration 
Name and contact information for the federal awarding 
official 
 
 
 
 

Crystal Howard 

(301) 443-3844 

choward@hrsa.gov 

Is the federal award for research and development? No 
Indirect cost rate for the federal award (See 2 C.F.R. 
§200.331 for information on type of indirect cost rate)  

11.50% 

 



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$162,900.00 $0.00 $162,900.00

2 Benefits & Taxes (51.44%)
$83,800.00 $0.00 $83,800.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

6 Telephone
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

10 Printing & Publications
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$800.00 $0.00 $800.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost (10% of Salaries and Benefits)
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$247,500.00 $0.00 $247,500.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation 

Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

ATTACHMENT 2

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department - Children's Special Services 

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period 

beginning July 1, 2015, and ending June 30, 2016.



SALARIES AMOUNT

Pamela Brady, Social Counselor (PT)  $   3,439.86 x 12 x 50% $20,639.16

Patti Gervin, Program Manager  $   4,344.84 x 12 x 25% + $394 Longevity $13,428.52

Angela Gonzales, Social Worker - Billingual  $   3,670.16 x 12 x 100% + $975 Longevity $45,016.92

Bille Higdon, Health Care Manager  $   3,153.32 x 12 x 100% + $2,100 Longevity $39,939.84

Miika Montgomery, Social Worker  $   3,565.69 x 12 x 100% + $1,050 Longevity $43,838.28

TOTAL ROUNDED $162,900.00 

TRAVEL/CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT

Local Travel $800.00

TOTAL $800.00 

ATTACHMENT 2 (continued)

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 2)



NAME AND REMITTANCE ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE   

INVOICE NUMBER 

INVOICE DATE 

INVOICE PERIOD 
FROM TO

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY   CONTRACT PERIOD 
FROM TO

PROGRAM AREA   11

EDISON CONTRACT NUMBER   CONTACT PERSON/TELEPHONE NO.

OCR CONTRACT NUMBER

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

USERCODE:

Printing & Publications PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Specific Assistance to Individuals USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the data Please check one of the following boxes
above are correct, that all expenditures were made in These services are for medical services
accordance with the contract conditions, and that payment 
is due and has not been previously requested. non-medical services

Title: Title: Title:

Date: Date: Date:

ATTACHMENT: 3

FOR CENTRAL OFFICE USE ONLY

(MO./DAY/YR.)

(C)

MONTHLY

EXPENDITURES

AMOUNT BILLED

YTD

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

BUDGET

LINE

ITEMS

AMOUNT:

(A)

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

CONTRACTOR'S/GRANTEE'S AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE PROGRAM APPROVAL AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

TOTAL

RECOMMENDED FOR PAYMENT

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Indirect Cost

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY'S AUTHORIZED CERTIFICATION
FOR FISCAL USE ONLY

Other Non Personnel

Capital Purchase

Depreciation

Interest

Insurance

Travel/Conferences & Meetings

Occupancy

Equipment Rental & Maintenance

Telephone

Postage & Shipping

Professional Fee/Grant & Award

Supplies

BUDGET

Benefits

(B)

Salaries

DUE

TOTAL

CONTRACT

FEDERAL ID#   Edison Vendor #   
Tennessee Department of Health

STATE OF TENNESSEE
INVOICE FOR REIMBURSEMENT

TDOH AGENCY INVOICE NUMBER (ONLY FOR FISCAL OFFICE USE) 



Instructions & Hints

Do not send a worksheet that is linked to another file
Line by line instructions are on the "line by line info" tab

Retain this file in blank form
Use "File Save As" to save information for a specific contract or reporting period
File Names: Please use the following format when naming files.

name of agency REPORTING PERIOD END.xls

do not abbreviate the agency name

example: davidson county health MARCH 02.xls
Reporting period - the start and end dates of the quarter being reported

Reporting periods are based on the Agency's fiscal year
Grant period - the start and end dates of the contract being reported
Send a report for every quarter even if there is no activity for that quarter
Abbreviations - do not abbreviate the Agency name
Number pages using the "page_____of _____ pages" format

THE WORKSHEET IS NOT PROTECTED

do not overwrite formulas (identified by yellow shading and "0" ) or change formats

do not overwrite/edit shaded areas (move to the cell beyond the shading for input)

do not add (insert) lines do not change shaded areas

Expense and Revenue pages can show information for 2 contracts
Use separate Schedules A & B to report contracts for each granting State agency

Use additional expense and revenue pages for more than 2 contracts
     copy all lines & fields to the first blank line below the last line in column A
     with the cursor at the start of the added page, use "insert" "page break" for print purposes
     reset print range to cover the added page(s) and correct the page numbers

Contract Number is the State Contract Number, NOT the agency program number
Report by program within the State Contract Number within State Department
Summarize programs into totals by State Contract Number and State Department totals
Do not combine State Contract Numbers 
One Funding Information Summary and one Schedule C are required from each contractor submitting reports
Review Section C in all contracts for reporting requirements

ALLOCATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

Requires completion of all attached sheets

NOTE If files are not properly named and print ranges not set, the report will be returned for correction

Do not send invoices with expense reports
If refund due, mail reports with check or send note with e-mail that check in the mail

e-mail completed files to: Doug.Curry@tn.gov
e-mail filing replaces mailing forms

Mailing Address:
Doug Curry Telephone:615-532-7115
Tennessee Department of Health FAX 615-741-9533
Fiscal Services
6th Floor - Andrew Johnson Tower
710 James Robertson Parkway
Nashville, TN 37243

Attachment 4

mailto:Doug.Curry@tn.gov


PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT (Excerpted from Policy 3 statement)

SCHEDULE A

EXPENSE BY OBJECT LINE-ITEMS

There are seventeen specific object expense categories; two subtotals (Line 3, Total 

Personnel Expenses, and Line 19, Total Non-personnel Expenses); and Reimbursable 

Capital Purchases (Line 20), above Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses. All expenses

should be included in one or more of the specific categories, or in an additional expense

category entered under Line 18, Other Non-personnel Expenses. The contracting state 

state agency may determine these requirements.

With the exception of depreciation, everything reported in Lines 1 through 21 must 

represent an actual cash disbursement or accrual as defined in the Basis For Reporting 

Expenses/Expenditures section on page 13.

THE YEAR-TO-DATE EXPENSES MUST BE TRACABLE TO THE REPORTING

AGENCY'S GENERAL LEDGER

Line 1 Salaries And Wages

On this line, enter compensation, fees, salaries, and wages paid to officers, directors, 

trustees, and employees. An attached schedule may be required showing client wages or 

other included in the aggregations.

Line 2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes

Enter (a) the organization's contributions to pension plans and to employee benefit 

programs such as health, life, and disability insurance; and (b) the organization's portion of

payroll taxes such as social security and medicare taxes and unemployment and workers’ 

compensation insurance. An attached schedule may be required showing client benefits and

taxes or other included in the aggregations.

Line 3 Total Personnel Expenses

Add lines 1 and 2.

Line 4 Professional Fees

Enter the organization's fees to outside professionals, consultants, and personal-service

contractors. Include legal, accounting, and auditing fees. An attached schedule may be required 

showing the details in the aggregation of professional fees.

Line 5 Supplies

Enter the organization's expenses for office supplies, housekeeping supplies, food and

beverages, and other supplies. An attached schedule may be required showing food

expenses or other details included in the aggregations.

Line 6 Telephone

Enter the organization's expenses for telephone, cellular phones, beepers, telegram, FAX,

E-mail, telephone equipment maintenance, and other related expenses.

Attachment 4



Line 7 Postage And Shipping

Enter the organization's expenses for postage, messenger services, overnight delivery, 

outside mailing service fees, freight and trucking, and maintenance of delivery and 

shipping vehicles. Include vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 8 Occupancy

Enter the organization's expenses for use of office space and other facilities, heat, light,

power, other utilities, outside janitorial services, mortgage interest, real estate taxes, and 

similar expenses. Include property insurance here or on line 14.

Line 9 Equipment Rental And Maintenance

Enter the organization's expenses for renting and maintaining computers, copiers, postage

meters, other office equipment, and other equipment, except for telephone, truck, and

automobile expenses, reportable on lines 6, 7, and 11, respectively.

Line 10 Printing And Publications

Enter the organization's expenses for producing printed materials, purchasing books and

publications, and buying subscriptions to publications.

Line 11 Travel

Enter the organization's expenses for travel, including transportation, meals and lodging, 

and per diem payments. Include gas and oil, repairs, licenses and permits, and leasing 

costs for company vehicles. Include travel expenses for meetings and conferences. Include

vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 12 Conferences And Meetings

Enter the organization's expenses for conducting or attending meetings, conferences, and

conventions. Include rental of facilities, speakers' fees and expenses, printed materials, and

registration fees (but not travel).

Line 13 Interest

Enter the organization's interest expense for loans and capital leases on equipment, trucks

and automobiles, and other notes and loans. Do not include mortgage interest reportable on line 8.

Line 14 Insurance

Enter the organization's expenses for liability insurance, fidelity bonds, and other

insurance. Do not include employee-related insurance reportable on line 2. Do not include 

property and vehicle insurance if reported on lines 7, 8, or 11.

Line 15 Grants And Awards

Enter the organization's awards, grants, subsidies, and other pass-through expenditures to

individuals and to other organizations. Include allocations to affiliated organizations. 

Include in-kind grants to individuals and organizations. Include scholarships, tuition

payments, travel allowances, and equipment allowances to clients and individual beneficiaries.

Pass-through funds are not included when computing administrative expenses reported on Line 22.

Attachment 4



Line 16 Specific Assistance to Individuals

Enter the organization's direct payment of expenses of clients, patients, and individual

beneficiaries. Include such expenses as medicines, medical and dental fees, children's

board, food and homemaker services, clothing, transportation, insurance coverage, and

wage supplements.

Line 17 Depreciation

Enter the expenses the organization records for depreciation of equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other depreciable fixed assets.

Line 18 Other Non-personnel Expenses

NOTE: Expenses reportable on lines 1 through 17 should not be reported in an additional

expense category on line 18. A description should be attached for each additional category

entered on line 18. The contracting state agency may determine these requirements.

Enter the organization's allowable expenses for advertising (1), bad debts (2), contingency

provisions (7), fines and penalties (14), independent research and development (reserved) 

(17), organization (27), page charges in professional journals (29), rearrangement and 

alteration (39), recruiting (41), and taxes (47). Include the organization’s and employees'

membership dues in associations and professional societies (26). Include other fees for the

organization's licenses, permits, registrations, etc.

Line 19 Total Non-personnel Expenses

Add lines 4 through 18.

Line 20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases

Enter the organization's purchases of fixed assets. Include land, equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other fixed assets. An attached schedule may be required

showing the details for each such purchase.

Line 21 Total Direct Program Expenses

Add lines 3, 19, and 20.

Includes direct and allocated direct program expenses.

Line 22 Administrative Expenses

The distribution will be made in accordance with an allocation plan approved by your cognizant 

state agency.

Line 23 Total Direct And Administrative Expenses

Line 23 is the total of Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses, and Line 22, 

Administrative Expenses. Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses Year-to-Date

should agree with the Total of Column B, Year-to-Date Actual Expenditures of the 

Invoice for Reimbursement.

Attachment 4



Line 24 In-Kind Expenses

In-kind Expenses (Line 24) is for reporting the value of contributed resources applied to

the program. Approval and reporting guidelines for in-kind contributions will be specified

by those contracting state agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Carry forward to Schedule B, Line 38.

Line 25 Total Expenses

The sum of Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses, and Line 24, In-kind Expenses,

goes on this line.

PROGRAM REVENUE REPORT (PRR)

SCHEDULE B

SOURCES OF REVENUE

The revenue page is intended to be an extension of the total expenses page, in that the

columns should match up by contract/attachment number and program title. There are ten

revenue sources (Schedule B, Part 1) and three subtotals (Lines 33, 41, and 43). Additional

supplemental schedules for one or more of the line items may be attached, if needed. Each

revenue column should be aligned with its corresponding expense column from Schedule A.

Reimbursable Program Funds

Line 31 Reimbursable Federal Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23, 

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from federal program funds. The state funding agency 

may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 32 Reimbursable State Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23,

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from state program funds. The state funding agency may

require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (Equals Schedule B, Line 55)

Add lines 31 and 32.

Matching Revenue Funds

Line 34 Other Federal Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other federal funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 35 Other State Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other state funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Attachment 4



Line 36 Other Government Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses 

(Equals Line 41), that is from other government funds. The state funding agency may

an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 37 Cash Contributions (Non-government)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from such sources of cash contributions as corporations, 

foundations, trusts, individuals, United Ways, other not-for-profit organizations, and from

affiliated organizations. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing and

reconciliation schedule.

Line 38 In-Kind Contributions (Equals Schedule A, Line 24)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from direct and administrative in-kind contributions. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Approval and guidelines for valuation and reporting of in-kind contributions will be

specified by those grantor agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Line 39 Program Income

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from program income related to the program funded by the state

agency. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 40 Other Matching Revenue

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other revenues not included in lines 34 through 39. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 41 Total Matching Revenue Funds

Add lines 34 through 40

Line 42 Other Program Funds

Enter program income related to the program funded by the state agency but not reported

as matching revenue funds on Line 54.

Line 43 Total Revenue

Add lines 33, 41, and 42

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TOTAL EXPENSES

AND REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES

SCHEDULE B - (Lines 51 to 59)

This section, at the bottom of Schedule B, is for subtracting non-reimbursable amounts

included in Total Expenses (Line 25, Schedule A and Line 51, Schedule B).

The first line of this section, Line 51, Total Expenses, is brought forward from the last

last line of the corresponding Schedule A Total Expense Page.

Attachment 4



There are three categories of adjustments for which titled lines are provided:

Line 52 OTHER UNALLOWABLE EXPENSES:

Some program expenses may not be reimbursable under certain grants. This is a matter

between the contracting parties, and will vary according to the state agency involved and

the type of grant or contract. Consult your contract or the department that funds the

program for guidelines.

Line 53 EXCESS ADMINISTRATION:

This adjustment line may be used to deduct allocated Administration and General expenses

in excess of an allowable percentage specified in the grant contract. It may also be used to

deduct an adjustment resulting from limitations on certain components of Administration

and General expenses. Again, the specific guidelines of the department and grant involved

are the controlling factor.

Line 54 MATCHING EXPENSES (Equals Schedule B, Line 41)

Since the goal is to arrive at a reimbursable amount, the expenses paid out of other sources

of funding, local support and program user fees for example, will have to be deducted. The

amount left should be only that which is to be paid for by the contracting state agency.

Line 55 REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES (Line 51 less Lines 52, 53, and 54)

(Equals Schedule B, Line 33)

This is the amount that the contracting state agency will pay for the quarter's operations of

the program. The cumulative column is what the grant actually paid to date.

Line 56 TOTAL REIMBURSEMENT-TO-DATE

In the quarter-to-date column, this is the total received for this quarter from filing of the

Invoice For Reimbursement. The cumulative column's amount is the total received for the

grant year-to-date.

Line 57 DIFFERENCE (Line 55 less Line 56)

This is the portion of Reimbursable Expenses not yet paid.

Line 58 ADVANCES

Any advance payments for a grant should appear on this line.

Line 59 THIS REIMBURSEMENT (Line 57 less Line 58)

The remainder should be the amount due under the grant contract. Actual payments are

made through the invoicing process and not through the filing of this report.

Attachment 4



POLICY 3 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS - SUMMARY

Policy 3 requires reporting the entire operation of the Grantee agency.  This could include

numerous programs and contracts.  Policy 3 requirements are outlined in each contract and are

available on line at:  http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/policyb.html

The “Contractor/Grantee” is the agency receiving the state grant.

The “Contracting State Agency” is the state agency that gives the grant.

Reports are normally due 30 days after the close of the Grantee's accounting quarter and year,

which may/may not coincide with the State accounting quarter and year end.  Exact requirements

are in the contract.

Policy 3 reporting requires one report from each contracting agency consisting of Schedules A, B,

and C and a Funding Information Summary.  Schedules A and B detail each program added to a

contract total.  Schedules A and B are designed to show 2 programs per page and there would be

only one Schedule C per grantee.  On Schedules A and B, programs that are not state funded can

be rolled into a single program category.  The lines on Schedule A for year-to-date information add

across all programs/contracts to the corresponding line on the Schedule C - Grant contracts in the

first column and non-grant operations in the second column.

The third column of the Schedule C shows Administrative Expenses incurred by the Grantee.

Administrative expenses are generally those that benefit programs but are not directly associated

with the program/contract.  These could include the Executive Director, office operation, accounting

staff, and other similar expenses.  This column will also show the allocation of Administrative

Expenses to the various programs/contracts, if this is done by the Grantee.  If allocated, a negative

on line 22 is equal to the Administrative Expense allocated to the grant and non-grant

programs/contracts.  Administrative Expenses may include some items that are not subject to

allocation so the amount allocated may/may not equal the total Administrative Expense reported.

Allocation of Administrative Expenses requires an approved allocation plan.

The fourth column of the Schedule C shows the total operation of the reporting grantee for the

year-to-date.  The Policy 3 report should, in total, match the total operation of the Grantee.

The funding Information Summary shows the method of allocating Administrative Expenses.  If

there is no approved allocation plan and the grantee does not allocate Administrative Expenses,

then there is no entry on Schedule C, line 22 and no allocation to the programs/contracts.  This

form must be submitted with every report.

Attachment 4

http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/policyb.html


AGENCY NAME

ADDRESS

CITY, STATE, ZIP

REPORTING PERIOD: (MM/DD/YY) FROM: THRU:

AGENCY FISCAL YEAR END (MM/DD)

COST ALLOCATION: DOES YOUR ORGANIZATION HAVE AN APPROVED COST ALLOCATION PLAN?

YES NO

If yes, Name of organization that approved the Plan:

IF COST ALLOCATION IS APPLIED, INDICATE THE METHOD OF ALLOCATION:

Ratio of direct program salaries to total direct salaries applied to administrative cost.

Ratio of direct program expenditure to total direct expenditures applied to administrative cost.

Cost step down.

Other (describe)

Is your organization: A private not-for-profit organization?

A state college or university, or part of a city government?

DIRECTOR PHONE #

PREPARER OF REPORT PHONE #

DATE COMPLETED

Tennessee Department of Health

Funding Information Summary

Attachment 4



Page ___ of ___
Schedule A, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule A
Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages
2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes
3      Total Personnel Expenses (add lines 1 and 2)
4 Professional Fees
5 Supplies
6 Telephone
7 Postage and Shipping
8 Occupancy
9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications
11 Travel
12 Conferences and Meetings
13 Interest
14 Insurance
15 Grants and Awards
16 Specific Assistance to Individuals
17 Depreciation
18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)

a
b
c
d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses (add lines 4 - 18)
20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases
21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES
22 Administrative Expenses
23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
24 In-Kind Expenses
25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 4



Page ___ of ___

Schedule B, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule B
Item # SOURCES OF REVENUE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

Reimbursable Program Funds ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------------
31      Reimbursable Federal Program Funds
32      Reimbursable State Program Funds
33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (equals line 55)

Matching Revenue Funds
34      Other Federal Funds
35      Other State Funds
36      Other Government Funds
37      Cash Contributions (non-government)
38      In-Kind Contributions (equals line 24)
39      Program Income
40      Other Matching Revenue
41 Total Matching Revenue Funds (lines 34 - 40)

42 Other Program Funds

43 Total Revenue (lines 33, 41, & 42)

Reconciliation Between Total and Reimbursable Expenses
51 Total Expenses (line 25)
52 Subtract Other Unallowable Expenses (contractual)
53 Subtract Excess Administration Expenses (contractual)
54 Subtract Matching Expenses (equals line 41)
55 Reimbursable Expenses (line 51 less lines 52,53,54)

56 Total Reimbursement To Date
57 Difference (line 55 less line 56)
58 Advances
59 This reimbursement (line 57 less line 58)

Attachment 4



Page   ___  of ___

Schedule C - Final Page STATE OF TENNESSEE   PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

TOTAL DIRECT 
PROGRAM 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
NONGRANT/ 

UNALLOWABLE 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

EXPENSES GRAND TOTAL

Schedule A Year-To-Date Information

Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages

2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes

3      Total Personnel Expenses

4 Professional Fees

5 Supplies

6 Telephone

7 Postage and Shipping

8 Occupancy

9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications

11 Travel

12 Conferences and Meetings

13 Interest

14 Insurance

15 Grants and Awards

16 Specific Assistance to Individuals

17 Depreciation

18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)

a

b

c

d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses

20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases

21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES

22 Administrative Expenses

23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

24 In-Kind Expenses

25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 4



1-15-15 GG 
ATTACHMENT 5 

 

            

 

Annual (Final) Report* 

 

1.  Grantee Name: 

2.  Grant Contract Edison Number: 

3.  Grant Term: 

4.  Grant Amount: 

5.  Narrative Performance Details: (Description of program goals, outcomes, successes and setbacks, 

benchmarks or indicators used to determine progress, any activities that were not completed) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Submit one copy to:  

 

Ondria Stevenson, Director, Children’s Special Services Program, TN Department of Health; 

John D. Dreyzehner, MD, MPH, FCOEM, Commissioner, TN Department of Health; and 

faaudit@tn.gov,  TN Department of Finance and Administration 

mailto:faaudit@tn.gov


No. 315-40 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH 
SERVICES DIVISION AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CONTINUATION 
CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH FOR THE TIME PERIOD JULY 1, 2015 THROUGH JUNE 30, 
2016, IN THE  AMOUNT OF $230,000.00 TO PROVIDE FOR THE COORDINATION OF FETAL INFANT MORTALITY REVIEW 
AND COMMUNITY INFANT MORTALITY REDUCTION SERVICES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT 
OF HEALTH’S GUIDELINES. 
 
WHEREAS, the infant mortality rate of a community is one of the most predictive statistics of a community’s current and 

future health status, and 
   
WHEREAS, Tennessee’s infant mortality rate is one of the worst in the nation, and 
 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County’s 2013 Infant Mortality rate is 6.7 per 1,000 live births or 28 deaths, and 
 
WHEREAS,  the Fetal Infant Mortality Review (FIMR) process is a nationally recognized system to identify factors 

associated with fetal and infant deaths, determine if they represent service system problems that require 
change, develop recommendations for change, and assist in the implementation of change, and  

 
WHEREAS, the presence of FIMR appears to significantly improve a community’s performance of public health 

functions as well as enhance the existing perinatal care system’s goals, components and communication 
mechanisms, and 

  
WHEREAS, the focus of FIMR on systems of care and identifying gaps in care results in action being taken in a way that 

interpretation of vital statistics data alone does not necessarily promote, and 
 
WHEREAS FIMR is being implemented in over 200 communities in 40 states, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Tennessee Department of Health has identified funds to provide a FIMR and Community Infant 

Mortality Reduction process in Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
 That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract for the July 1, 2015 – June 30, 2016 

contract period in an amount of $230,000.00. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC 
WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 
  

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



1-15-15 GG 

 

 

 
 

 

G O V E R N M E N T A L  G R A N T  C O N T R A C T  
(cost reimbursement grant contract with a federal or Tennessee local governmental entity or their 
agents and instrumentalities) 

Begin Date End Date Agency Tracking # Edison ID 

July 1, 2015 June 30, 2016 34347-33416       

Grantee Legal Entity Name Edison Vendor ID 

Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department   4208 

Subrecipient or Contractor CFDA # 

 Subrecipient   

 Contractor Grantee’s fiscal year end 

Service Caption (one line only) 

Fetal Infant Mortality Review and Community Infant Mortality Reduction Services  

Funding — 

FY State Federal Interdepartmental Other TOTAL Grant Contract Amount 

2016              $230,000       $230,000 

                                   

                                   

                                   

                                   

TOTAL:             $230,000       $230,000 

 

Grantee Selection Process Summary 

 Competitive Selection 
 

 Non-competitive Selection The Grantee was chosen for its current capacity to perform all 
needed services, and its prior experience with Fetal Infant Mortality 
Review Services. 

Budget Officer Confirmation:  There is a balance in the 
appropriation from which obligations hereunder are 
required to be paid that is not already encumbered to pay 
other obligations. 

CPO USE - GG 

Speed Chart (optional) Account Code (optional)  

HL00008299 71301000  

 

 



1-15-15 GG 

 

1 

 

GRANT CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 
AND 

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 
 

This grant contract (“Grant Contract”), by and between the State of Tennessee, Tennessee Department 
of Health, hereinafter referred to as the “State” or the “Grantor State Agency” and Grantee Chattanooga-
Hamilton County Health Department, hereinafter referred to as the “Grantee,” is for the provision of Fetal 
Infant Mortality Review and Community Infant Mortality Reduction services, as further defined in the 
"SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES." 
 
Grantee Edison Vendor ID #  4208 
 
A. SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES: 
 
A.1. The Grantee shall provide the scope of services and deliverables (“Scope”) as required, 

described, and detailed in this Grant Contract. 
 
A.2. Service Definitions. 

 
a. “CAT” means Community Action Team. 
 
b. “CRT” means Case Review Team; 

 
c. “FIMR” means Fetal Infant Mortality Review; 

 
d. “FIMR process” is as set out in and authorized by Tennessee Code Annotated 68-142-              

201 et.seq;  
 

e. “National FIMR guidelines” are as described at (www.acog.org); 
 

A.3. Service Goals – FIMR. 
 
 a.  To enhance the health and well-being of women, infants and families by improving the                 

community resources and service delivery systems available to them. 
              
 b.  To eliminate disparities and decrease the rate of fetal and infant deaths in Tennessee.   
 
A.4. Service Recipients – FIMR.  Service recipients are women and families in the state of Tennessee 

who have experienced one (1) or more unexplained infant and/or fetal deaths. 
 
A.5. Service Description – FIMR. 

 
a. The Grantee shall monitor and maintain the security of statistics abstracted from 

interviews, medical records, autopsies, death certificates, health care facilities, providers 
and other sources.  Access to the databases will be strictly limited to designated FIMR 
users and hard copies of all files will be maintained in locked storage.  

 
b. The Grantee shall monitor and maintain the confidentiality of FIMR verbal and written 

communications.  All FIMR CRT and CAT volunteers will be required to sign an 
agreement to confidentiality, acknowledging the possible civil and criminal consequences 
of any breach of confidence.  FIMR committee meetings will not be subject to public 
meeting standards. 

 
c. The Grantee shall recruit members of two (2) teams assigned to complete the key 

components of the FIMR process in order to insure a diverse group of qualified 
professionals. The first team shall be labeled the FIMR CRT which has the responsibility 
of investigating and data gathering related to fetal and infant mortality.  The second team, 

http://www.acog.org/


1-15-15 GG 

 

2 

 

the FIMR CAT, composed of volunteer members and FIMR staff, will review CRT 
recommendations, prioritize identified issues and design and implement interventions to 
improve systems and resources. The CAT should implement a minimum of five (5) infant 
mortality reduction interventions during the contract period.  A listing of the respective 
team members and any changes, as they occur, shall be submitted to the State. 

 
d. The Grantee shall report factors to the State, related to the causes of fetal and infant 

deaths by the identification of social, economic, cultural, safety, health disparity, and 
other factors.  The Grantee will report factors to the State in an annual report to be 
submitted within forty-five (45) days following the end of the contract.   

 
e. The Grantee shall develop supportive partnerships and collaborations to support the 

infrastructure of a FIMR program, such as the March of Dimes, professional obstetrics 
and pediatric organizations, medical-based universities, community leaders, private 
businesses, children advocacy groups and other key stakeholders.   

 
f. The Grantee will attend the FIMR meeting that is held in Nashville annually. 

 
A.6.  Service Reporting – FIMR.  
 

a. The Grantee shall submit to the State quarterly reports on progress toward the FIMR 
goals and objectives.  

 
b. The Grantee shall submit to the State an annual report forty-five (45) days after the end 

of the contract period.  Based on CAT recommendations, the annual report will include a 
minimum of five (5) strategies which the Grantee has implemented to improve health 
outcomes for women, infants and families as it relates to the identified causes of 
mortality. The report will include information related to the causes of fetal and infant 
deaths reviewed such as social economic, cultural, safety, health disparities and other 
factors.   

 
A.7. Service Deliverables – FIMR.  
 

 
Deliverable Contract 

Section 

 
Delivery 

Date 
Due to 
Whom? 

 
Requested 

Format 

Monitor and maintain the security of 
statistics  

A.5.a. On-going Not Applicable Not Applicable 

Monitor and maintain the confidentiality 
of FIMR verbal and written 
communications 

A.5.b. On-going Not Applicable To Be 
Determined 

Recruit members of two (2) teams as 
indicated and submit names to the 
State.  

A.5.c. On-going State Infant 
Mortality 
Director 

Electronically 

Develop supportive partnerships and 
collaborations as indicated.   

A.5.e. On-going Grantee’s 
community 

To Be 
Determined  

Attend FIMR meeting in Nashville 
annually. 

A.5.f. To Be 
Determined  

Not Applicable In person 

Submit quarterly FIMR report  A.6.a. 45 days after 
the end of 

each quarter 

State Infant 
Mortality 
Program 
Director 

Electronically  

 
A. 8.   Service Goals-Community Infant Mortality Reduction. 
 

a.  To enhance the capacity of Hamilton County to reduce infant mortality and improve birth 
outcomes, including reducing the incidence of low birth weight and prematurity.         

 



1-15-15 GG 

 

3 

 

b. To reduce infant mortality and improve birth outcomes 
 
c. To reduce health disparities 

 
A.9.   Service Recipients-Community Infant Mortality Reduction.  Service recipients are members of the 

community in Hamilton County. 
 
A.10.   Service Description-Community Infant Mortality Reduction. 
 
 a. The Grantee shall develop and implement a plan to reduce infant mortality and improve  
  birth outcomes in the community.  The plan shall align with one (1) or more elements of  
  the “Tennessee Public Health Strategic Plan to Improve Birth Outcomes and Reduce  
  Infant Mortality.” 

 
 b. The Grantee shall submit the plan to the State, along with any necessary budget   
  revisions, for approval by July 15, 2015. Upon approval, the plan shall be incorporated    
  as an addition to the Scope of Services. 
 
A.11.   Service Reporting – Community Infant Mortality Reduction.  The Grantee shall submit to the State 

quarterly reports on progress toward the goals and objectives outlined in the plan described in 
A.10.a.  The State and the Grantee will mutually agree upon the reporting format at the time that 
the plan is approved. 
 

 
Deliverable Contract 

Section 

 
Delivery 

Date 
Due to 
Whom? 

 
Requeste
d Format 

Submit a plan to reduce infant mortality 
and improve birth outcomes in the 
community 

A.10.a. July 15, 2015 State Infant 
Mortality 
Program 
Director 

Electronic
ally  

Implement a plan to reduce infant 
mortality and improve birth outcomes 
in the community 

A.10.a.  After 
approval of 
Community 
Infant 
Mortality 
Reduction 
plan by the 
State 

Grantee’s 
Community  

To Be 
Determine

d 

Submit quarterly progress reports A.11. 45 days after 
the end of 

each quarter 

State Infant 
Mortality  
Program 
Director 

Electronic
ally  

 
A.12. Inspection and Acceptance.  Acceptance of the work outlined above will be made by the State or 

its authorized representative through reports, teleconferences, site visits and/or other periodic 
reviews. The State will make the final determination concerning acceptance of the work 
performed under this Contract.  All “To Be Determined” instances mentioned in the document 
shall be proposed by the Grantee and accepted by the State. 

 
A.13. Incorporation of Additional Documents.  Each of the following documents is included as a part of 

this Grant Contract by reference or attachment.  In the event of a discrepancy or ambiguity 
regarding the Grantee's duties, responsibilities, and performance hereunder, these items shall 
govern in order of precedence below. 
 
a. this Grant Contract document with any attachments or exhibits (excluding the items listed 

at subsection b. below); and 
 



1-15-15 GG 

 

4 

 

 b. the Grantee’s most current approved Infant Mortality Plan based on one (1) or more 
 elements of the “Tennessee Public Health Strategic Plan to Improve Birth Outcomes and 
 Reduce Infant Mortality.” 

 
B. TERM OF CONTRACT: 
 
 This Grant Contract shall be effective on July 1, 2015 (“Effective Date”) and extend for a period of 

twelve (12) months after the Effective Date (“Term”).  The State shall have no obligation to the 
Grantee for fulfillment of the Scope outside the Term.  

 
C. PAYMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   
 
C.1. Maximum Liability.  In no event shall the maximum liability of the State under this Grant Contract 

exceed Two Hundred Thirty Thousand Dollars ($230,000) (“Maximum Liability”).  The Grant 
Budget, attached and incorporated as Attachment 1 is the maximum amount due the Grantee 
under this Grant Contract.  The Grant Budget line-items include, but are not limited to, all 
applicable taxes, fees, overhead, and all other direct and indirect costs incurred or to be incurred 
by the Grantee. 

 
C.2. Compensation Firm.  The Maximum Liability of the State is not subject to escalation for any 

reason unless amended.  The Grant Budget amounts are firm for the duration of the Grant 
Contract and are not subject to escalation for any reason unless amended, except as provided in 
Section C.6. 

 
C.3. Payment Methodology.  The Grantee shall be reimbursed for actual, reasonable, and necessary 

costs based upon the Grant Budget, not to exceed the Maximum Liability established in Section 
C.1.  Upon progress toward the completion of the Scope, as described in Section A of this Grant 
Contract, the Grantee shall submit invoices (Attachment 2) prior to any reimbursement of 
allowable costs.   
 

C.4. Travel Compensation.  Reimbursement to the Grantee for travel, meals, or lodging shall be 
subject to amounts and limitations specified in the "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," as 
they are amended from time to time, and shall be contingent upon and limited by the Grant 
Budget funding for said reimbursement.   

 
C.5. Invoice Requirements. The Grantee shall invoice the State no more often than monthly, with all 

necessary supporting documentation, and present such to: 
 
 By email:  rachel.heitmann@tn.gov 

  
             By regular mail: 
 
             Rachel Heitmann, Program Director  

Fetal Infant Mortality Review (FIMR)  
             Division of Family Health and Wellness 
             Tennessee Department of Health 

8th Floor, Andrew Johnson Tower 
710 James Robertson Parkway 
Nashville, Tennessee  37243 
 
a. Each invoice shall clearly and accurately detail all of the following required information 

(calculations must be extended and totaled correctly). 
 
(1) Invoice/Reference Number (assigned by the Grantee). 
(2) Invoice Date. 
(3) Invoice Period (to which the reimbursement request is applicable). 
(4) Grant Contract Number (assigned by the State).  
(5) Grantor:  Department of Health/Division of Family Health and Wellness.  
(6) Grantor Number (assigned by the Grantee to the above-referenced Grantor). 

mailto:%20rachel.heitman@tn.gov


1-15-15 GG 

 

5 

 

(7) Grantee Name.  
(8) Grantee Tennessee Edison Registration ID Number Referenced in Preamble of 

this Grant Contract. 
(9) Grantee Remittance Address. 
(10) Grantee Contact for Invoice Questions (name, phone, or fax). 
(11) Itemization of Reimbursement Requested for the Invoice Period— it must detail, 

at minimum, all of the following:  
 
i. The amount requested by Grant Budget line-item (including any travel 

expenditure reimbursement requested and for which documentation and 
receipts, as required by "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," are 
attached to the invoice). 

ii. The amount reimbursed by Grant Budget line-item to date. 
iii. The total amount reimbursed under the Grant Contract to date.  
iv. The total amount requested (all line-items) for the Invoice Period. 
 

b. The Grantee understands and agrees to all of the following. 
 
(1) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall include only reimbursement requests 

for actual, reasonable, and necessary expenditures required in the delivery of 
service described by this Grant Contract and shall be subject to the Grant Budget 
and any other provision of this Grant Contract relating to allowable 
reimbursements.  

(2) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall not include any reimbursement 
request for future expenditures. 

(3) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall initiate the timeframe for 
reimbursement only when the State is in receipt of the invoice, and the invoice 
meets the minimum requirements of this section C.5. 

              (4) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall be presented to the State within thirty 
(30) days after the end of the calendar month in which the subject costs were 
incurred or services were rendered by the Grantee.  An invoice submitted more 
than thirty (30) days after such date will NOT be paid.  The State will not deem 
such Grantee costs to be allowable and reimbursable by the State unless, at the 
sole discretion of the State, the failure to submit a timely invoice is warranted.  
The Grantee shall submit a special, written request for reimbursement with any 
such untimely invoice.  The request must detail the reason the invoice is untimely 
as well as the Grantee’s plan for submitting future invoices as required, and it 
must be signed by a Grantee agent that would be authorized to sign this Grant 
Contract. 

 
C.6. Budget Line-items.  Expenditures, reimbursements, and payments under this Grant Contract shall 

adhere to the Grant Budget.  The Grantee may move up to twenty percent (20%) of a line-item 
amount to another line item category provided that any increase is off-set by an equal reduction 
of other line-item amount(s) and the total Grant Contract amount detailed by the Grant Budget 
does not increase.  An increase of any line item funded at zero dollars ($0.00) shall require prior 
approval of the Grantor State Agency. 

 
C.7. Disbursement Reconciliation and Close Out.  The Grantee shall submit a grant disbursement 

reconciliation report within thirty (30) days following the end of each quarter and a final invoice 
and final grant disbursement reconciliation report within forty-five (45) days of the Grant Contract 
end date and in form and substance acceptable to the State (Attachment 3). 

 
a. If total disbursements by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract exceed the amounts 

permitted by the section C, payment terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the 
Grantee shall refund the difference to the State.  The Grantee shall submit the refund 
with the final grant disbursement reconciliation report. 

 
b. The State shall not be responsible for the payment of any invoice submitted to the State 

after the grant disbursement reconciliation report.  The State will not deem any Grantee 



1-15-15 GG 

 

6 

 

costs submitted for reimbursement after the grant disbursement reconciliation report to 
be allowable and reimbursable by the State, and such invoices will NOT be paid. 

 
c. The Grantee’s failure to provide a final grant disbursement reconciliation report to the 

State as required by this Grant Contract shall result in the Grantee being deemed 
ineligible for reimbursement under this Grant Contract, and the Grantee shall be required 
to refund any and all payments by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract. 

 
d. The Grantee must close out its accounting records at the end of the Term in such a way 

that reimbursable expenditures and revenue collections are NOT carried forward. 
 

C.8. Indirect Cost.  Should the Grantee request reimbursement for indirect costs, the Grantee must 
submit to the State a copy of the indirect cost rate approved by the cognizant federal agency or 
the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  The Grantee will be reimbursed for indirect costs in 
accordance with the approved indirect cost rate and amounts and limitations specified in the 
attached Grant Budget.  Once the Grantee makes an election and treats a given cost as direct or 
indirect, it must apply that treatment consistently and may not change during the Term.  Any 
changes in the approved indirect cost rate must have prior approval of the cognizant federal 
agency or the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  If the indirect cost rate is provisional during 
the Term, once the rate becomes final, the Grantee agrees to remit any overpayment of funds to 
the State, and subject to the availability of funds the State agrees to remit any underpayment to 
the Grantee. 

 
C.9. Cost Allocation.  If any part of the costs to be reimbursed under this Grant Contract are joint costs 

involving allocation to more than one program or activity, such costs shall be allocated and 
reported in accordance with the provisions of Department of Finance and Administration Policy 
Statement 03 or any amendments or revisions made to this policy statement during the Term. 

 
C.10. Payment of Invoice.  A payment by the State shall not prejudice the State's right to object to or 

question any reimbursement, invoice, or related matter.  A payment by the State shall not be 
construed as acceptance of any part of the work or service provided or as approval of any 
amount as an allowable cost.   

 
C.11. Non-allowable Costs.  Any amounts payable to the Grantee shall be subject to reduction for 

amounts included in any invoice or payment that are determined by the State, on the basis of 
audits or monitoring conducted in accordance with the terms of this Grant Contract, to constitute 
unallowable costs.   

 
C.12. State’s Right to Set Off.  The State reserves the right to set off or deduct from amounts that are or 

shall become due and payable to the Grantee under this Grant Contract or under any other 
agreement between the Grantee and the State of Tennessee under which the Grantee has a right 
to receive payment from the State. 

 
C.13. Prerequisite Documentation.  The Grantee shall not invoice the State under this Grant Contract 

until the State has received the following documentation properly completed.   
 

a. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State an "Authorization Agreement 
for Automatic Deposit (ACH Credits) Form" provided by the State.  The State will pay via  
ACH Credits. 

 
b. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State a "Substitute W-9 Form” 

provided by the State.  The Grantee taxpayer identification number must agree with the 
Federal Employer Identification Number or Social Security Number referenced in this 
Grant Contract or the Grantee's Tennessee Edison Registration.   

 
D. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
D.1. Required Approvals.  The State is not bound by this Grant Contract until it is signed by the parties 

and approved by appropriate officials in accordance with applicable Tennessee laws and 



1-15-15 GG 

 

7 

 

regulations (depending upon the specifics of this Grant Contract, the officials may include, but are 
not limited to, the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human 
Resources, and the Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.2. Modification and Amendment.  This Grant Contract may be modified only by a written amendment 

signed by all parties and approved by the officials who approved the Grant Contract and, 
depending upon the specifics of the Grant Contract as amended, any additional officials required 
by Tennessee laws and regulations (the officials may include, but are not limited to, the 
Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human Resources, and the 
Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.3. Termination for Convenience.  The State may terminate this Grant Contract without cause for any 

reason.  A termination for convenience shall not be a breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  
The State shall give the Grantee at least thirty (30) days written notice before the effective 
termination date.  The Grantee shall be entitled to compensation for authorized expenditures and 
satisfactory services completed as of the termination date, but in no event shall the State be liable 
to the Grantee for compensation for any service that has not been rendered.  The final decision 
as to the amount for which the State is liable shall be determined by the State.   The Grantee 
shall not have any right to any actual general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other 
damages whatsoever of any description or amount for the State’s exercise of its right to terminate 
for convenience.  

 
D.4. Termination for Cause.  If the Grantee fails to properly perform its obligations under this Grant 

Contract, or if the Grantee violates any terms of this Grant Contract, the State shall have the right 
to immediately terminate this Grant Contract and withhold payments in excess of fair 
compensation for completed services.  Notwithstanding the exercise of the State’s right to 
terminate this Grant Contract for cause, the Grantee shall not be relieved of liability to the State 
for damages sustained by virtue of any breach of this Grant Contract by the Grantee. 

 
D.5. Subcontracting.  The Grantee shall not assign this Grant Contract or enter into a subcontract for 

any of the services performed under this Grant Contract without obtaining the prior written 
approval of the State.  If such subcontracts are approved by the State, each shall contain, at a 
minimum, sections of this Grant Contract pertaining to "Conflicts of Interest," “Lobbying,” 
"Nondiscrimination," “Public Accountability,” “Public Notice,” and “Records" (as identified by the 
section headings).  Notwithstanding any use of approved subcontractors, the Grantee shall 
remain responsible for all work performed. 

 
D.6. Conflicts of Interest.  The Grantee warrants that no part of the total Grant Contract Amount shall 

be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of Tennessee as wages, 
compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or 
consultant to the Grantee in connection with any work contemplated or performed relative to this 
Grant Contract.   

 
D.7. Lobbying.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that:  
 

a. No federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal 
contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering into 
of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or 
modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

 
b. If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 

person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the 
Grantee shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure of Lobbying 
Activities,'' in accordance with its instructions. 



1-15-15 GG 

 

8 

 

 
c. The Grantee shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 

documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and 
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients 
shall certify and disclose accordingly.   

 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into and is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. 

 
D.8. Communications and Contacts.  All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other 

communications required or contemplated by this Grant Contract shall be in writing and shall be 
made by certified, first class mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, by overnight 
courier service with an asset tracking system, or by email or facsimile transmission with recipient 
confirmation.  All communications, regardless of method of transmission, shall be addressed to 
the respective party as set out below:   

 
The State: 
 
Rachel Heitmann, Project Director 
Fetal Infant Mortality Review Program 
Tennessee Department of Health 

 Andrew Johnson Tower, 8th Floor 
710 James Robertson Parkway 

 Nashville, TN 37243 
Email Address: Rachel.Heitmann@tn.gov  

 Telephone # 615-741-0368 
FAX # 615-741-1063 
 
The Grantee: 
 
Rebekah Barnes, Administrator 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department 
921 East Third Street 

 Chattanooga, TN 37403 
Email Address: BeckyB@hamiltontn.gov  
Telephone #  423-209-8000 
FAX #  423-209-8001 
 
A change to the above contact information requires written notice to the person designated by the 
other party to receive notice.    

 
All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other communications shall be considered 
effectively given upon receipt or recipient confirmation as may be required. 

 
D.9. Subject to Funds Availability.  This Grant Contract is subject to the appropriation and availability 

of State or Federal funds.  In the event that the funds are not appropriated or are otherwise 
unavailable, the State reserves the right to terminate this Grant Contract upon written notice to 
the Grantee.  The State’s right to terminate this Grant Contract due to lack of funds is not a 
breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  Upon receipt of the written notice, the Grantee shall 
cease all work associated with the Grant Contract.  Should such an event occur, the Grantee 
shall be entitled to compensation for all satisfactory and authorized services completed as of the 
termination date.  Upon such termination, the Grantee shall have no right to recover from the 
State any actual, general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other damages whatsoever of 
any description or amount. 

 
D.10. Nondiscrimination.  The Grantee hereby agrees, warrants, and assures that no person shall be 

excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination 
in the performance of this Grant Contract or in the employment practices of the Grantee on the 

mailto:Rachel.Heitmann@tn.gov
mailto:BeckyB@hamiltontn.gov


1-15-15 GG 

 

9 

 

grounds of handicap or disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other 
classification protected by federal, Tennessee state constitutional, or statutory law.  The Grantee 
shall, upon request, show proof of nondiscrimination and shall post in conspicuous places, 
available to all employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination. 

 
D.11. HIPAA Compliance.  The State and the Grantee shall comply with obligations under the Health 

Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), Health Information Technology for 
Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH) and any other relevant laws and regulations 
regarding privacy (collectively the “Privacy Rules”).  The obligations set forth in this Section shall 
survive the termination of this Grant Contract.  

 
a. The Grantee warrants to the State that it is familiar with the requirements of the Privacy 

Rules and will comply with all applicable HIPAA requirements in the course of this Grant 
Contract. 

 
b. The Grantee warrants that it will cooperate with the State, including cooperation and 

coordination with State privacy officials and other compliance officers required by the 
Privacy Rules, in the course of performance of this  Grant Contract so that both parties 
will be in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  

 
c. The State and the Grantee will sign documents, including but not limited to business 

associate agreements, as required by the Privacy Rules and that are reasonably 
necessary to keep the State and the Grantee in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  This 
provision shall not apply if information received by the State under this Grant Contract is 
NOT “protected health information” as defined by the Privacy Rules, or if the Privacy 
Rules permit the State to receive such information without entering into a business 
associate agreement or signing another such document. 

 
D.12. Public Accountability.  If the Grantee is subject to Tenn. Code Ann. § 8-4-401 et seq., or if this 

Grant Contract involves the provision of services to citizens by the Grantee on behalf of the State, 
the Grantee agrees to establish a system through which recipients of services may present 
grievances about the operation of the service program. The Grantee shall also display in a 
prominent place, located near the passageway through which the public enters in order to receive 
Grant supported services, a sign at least eleven inches (11") in height and seventeen inches (17") 
in width stating: 
 
NOTICE:  THIS AGENCY IS A RECIPIENT OF TAXPAYER FUNDING. IF YOU OBSERVE AN 
AGENCY DIRECTOR OR EMPLOYEE ENGAGING IN ANY ACTIVITY WHICH YOU CONSIDER 
TO BE ILLEGAL, IMPROPER, OR WASTEFUL, PLEASE CALL THE STATE COMPTROLLER’S 
TOLL-FREE HOTLINE:  1-800-232-5454. 

 
 The sign shall be on the form prescribed by the Comptroller of the Treasury.  The Grantor State 

Agency shall obtain copies of the sign from the Comptroller of the Treasury, and upon request 
from the Grantee, provide Grantee with any necessary signs. 

 
D.13. Public Notice.  All notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, research reports, signs, and 

similar public notices prepared and released by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall 
include the statement, “This project is funded under a grant contract with the State of 
Tennessee.”  All notices by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall be approved by the 
State. 

 
D.14. Licensure.  The Grantee,  its employees, and any approved subcontractor shall be licensed 

pursuant to all applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations and 
shall upon request provide proof of all licenses. 

 
D.15. Records.  The Grantee and any approved subcontractor shall maintain documentation for all 
 charges under this Grant Contract.  The books, records, and documents of the Grantee and any 
 approved subcontractor, insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under this 
 Grant Contract, shall be maintained in accordance with Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 10-7-404 or 10-7-



1-15-15 GG 

 

10 

 

 702, as appropriate.  In no case shall the records be maintained for a period of less than five (5) 
 full years from the date of the final payment.  The Grantee’s records shall be subject to audit at 
 any reasonable time and upon reasonable notice by the Grantor State Agency, the Comptroller of 
 the Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives.   

 The records shall be maintained in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
 (GASB) Accounting Standards or the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting 
 Standards Codification, as applicable, and any related AICPA Industry Audit and Accounting 
 guides.   

 In addition, documentation of grant applications, budgets, reports, awards, and expenditures will 
 be maintained in accordance with U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform 
 Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. 

 Grant expenditures shall be made in accordance with local government purchasing policies and 
 procedures and purchasing procedures for local governments authorized under state law. 

 The Grantee shall also comply with any recordkeeping and reporting requirements prescribed by 
 the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. 

 The Grantee shall establish a system of internal controls that utilize the COSO Internal Control - 
 Integrated Framework model as the basic foundation for the internal control system.  The Grantee 
 shall incorporate any additional Comptroller of the Treasury directives into its internal control 
 system. 

 Any other required records or reports which are not contemplated in the above standards shall 
 follow the format designated by the head of the Grantor State Agency, the Central Procurement 
 Office, or the Commissioner of Finance and Administration of the State of Tennessee. 

 
D.16. Monitoring.  The Grantee’s activities conducted and records maintained pursuant to this Grant 

Contract shall be subject to monitoring and evaluation by the State, the Comptroller of the 
Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives. 

 
D.17. Progress Reports.  The Grantee shall submit brief, periodic, progress reports to the State as 

requested. 
 
D.18. Annual and Final Reports.  The Grantee shall submit, within three (3) months of the conclusion of 

each year of the Term, an annual report. For grant contracts with a term of less than one (1) year, 
the Grantee shall submit a final report within three (3) months of the conclusion of the Term. For 
grant contracts with multiyear terms, the final report will take the place of the annual report for the 
final year of the Term. The Grantee shall submit annual and final reports to the Grantor State 
Agency and the Department of Finance and Administration (“F&A”).  Send electronic copies of 
annual and final reports to F&A at fa.audit@tn.gov.  At minimum, annual and final reports shall 
include: (a) the Grantee’s name; (b) the Grant Contract’s Edison identification number, Term, and 
total amount; (c) a narrative section that describes the program’s goals, outcomes, successes 
and setbacks, whether the Grantee used benchmarks or indicators to determine progress, and 
whether any proposed activities were not completed; and (d) other relevant details requested by 
the Grantor State Agency. Annual and final report documents to be completed by the Grantee 
shall appear on the Grantor State Agency’s website or as an Attachment 4 to the Grant Contract.       

 
D.19. Audit Report.  When the Grantee has received seven hundred fifty thousand dollars 

($750,000.00) or more in aggregate federal and state funding for all of its programs within the 
Grantee’s fiscal year, the Grantee shall provide audited financial statements to the Tennessee 
Comptroller of the Treasury.  The Grantee may, with the prior approval of the Comptroller of the 
Treasury, engage a licensed independent public accountant to perform the audit.  The audit 
contract between the Grantee and the licensed independent public accountant shall be on a 
contract form prescribed by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury.  When an audit is 
required under this Section, the audit shall be performed in accordance with U.S. Office of 
Management and Budget’s Uniform Administration Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards. 

mailto:fa.audit@tn.gov


1-15-15 GG 

 

11 

 

The Grantee shall be responsible for reimbursing the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury for 
any costs of an audit prepared by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. 

The Grantee shall be responsible for payment of fees for an audit prepared by a licensed 
independent public accountant.  Payment of the audit fees for the licensed independent public 
accountant by the Grantee shall be subject to the provision relating to such fees contained within 
this Grant Contract.  Copies of such audit reports shall be provided to the designated cognizant 
state agency, the Grantor State Agency, the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury, the Central 
Procurement Office, and the Commissioner of Finance and Administration. 

Audit reports shall be made available to the public.  
 
D.20. Procurement.  If other terms of this Grant Contract allow reimbursement for the cost of goods, 

materials, supplies, equipment, motor vehicles, or contracted services, procurements by the 
Grantee shall be competitive where practicable.  For any procurement for which reimbursement is 
paid under this Grant Contract, the Grantee shall document the competitive procurement method. 
In each instance where it is determined that use of a competitive procurement method is not 
practicable, supporting documentation shall include a written justification for the decision and for 
the use of a non-competitive procurement.  If the Grantee is a subrecipient, the Grantee shall 
comply with 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.318—200.326 when procuring property and services under a federal 
award. 
 
The Grantee shall obtain prior approval from the State before purchasing any equipment or motor 
vehicles under this Grant Contract. 

 
D.21. Strict Performance.  Failure by any party to this Grant Contract to insist in any one or more cases 

upon the strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, or provisions of this Grant 
Contract is not a waiver or relinquishment of any term, covenant, condition, or provision. No term 
or condition of this Grant Contract shall be held to be waived, modified, or deleted except by a 
written amendment signed by the parties. 

 
D.22. Independent Contractor.  The parties shall not act as employees, partners, joint venturers, or 

associates of one another in the performance of this Grant Contract.  The parties acknowledge 
that they are independent contracting entities and that nothing in this Grant Contract shall be 
construed to create a principal/agent relationship or to allow either to exercise control or direction 
over the manner or method by which the other transacts its business affairs or provides its usual 
services.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be deemed or construed to be the 
employees or agents of the other party for any purpose whatsoever.  
 

D.23. State Liability.  The State shall have no liability except as specifically provided in this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.24. Force Majeure.   “Force Majeure Event” means fire, flood, earthquake, elements of nature or acts 

of God, wars, riots, civil disorders, rebellions or revolutions, acts of terrorism or any other similar 
cause beyond the reasonable control of the Party except to the extent that the non-performing 
Party is at fault in failing to prevent or causing the default or delay, and provided that the default 
or delay cannot reasonably be circumvented by the non-performing Party through the use of 
alternate sources, workaround plans or other means.  A strike, lockout or labor dispute shall not 
excuse either Party from its obligations under this Grant Contract.  Except as set forth in this 
Section, any failure or delay by a Party in the performance of its obligations under this Grant 
Contract arising from a Force Majeure Event is not a default under this Grant Contract or grounds 
for termination.  The non-performing Party will be excused from performing those obligations 
directly affected by the Force Majeure Event, and only for as long as the Force Majeure Event 
continues, provided that the Party continues to use diligent, good faith efforts to resume 
performance without delay.  The occurrence of a Force Majeure Event affecting Grantee’s 
representatives, suppliers, subcontractors, customers or business apart from this Grant Contract 
is not a Force Majeure Event under this Grant Contract.  Grantee will promptly notify the State of 
any delay caused by a Force Majeure Event (to be confirmed in a written notice to the State 
within one (1) day of the inception of the delay) that a Force Majeure Event has occurred, and will 
describe in reasonable detail the nature of the Force Majeure Event.  If any Force Majeure Event 



1-15-15 GG 

 

12 

 

results in a delay in Grantee’s performance longer than forty-eight (48) hours, the State may, 
upon notice to Grantee: (a) cease payment of the fees until Grantee resumes performance of the 
affected obligations; or (b) immediately terminate this Grant Contract or any purchase order, in 
whole or in part, without further payment except for fees then due and payable.  Grantee will not 
increase its charges under this Grant Contract or charge the State any fees other than those 
provided for in this Grant Contract as the result of a Force Majeure Event. 

 
D.25. Tennessee Department of Revenue Registration.  The Grantee shall be registered with the 

Tennessee Department of Revenue for the collection of Tennessee sales and use tax. This 
registration requirement is a material provision of this Grant Contract. 

 
D.26. Charges to Service Recipients Prohibited.  The Grantee shall not collect any amount in the form 

of fees or reimbursements from the recipients of any service provided pursuant to this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.27. No  Acquisition of Equipment or Motor Vehicles.  This Grant Contract does not involve the 

acquisition and disposition of equipment or motor vehicles acquired with funds provided under 
this Grant Contract. 

 
D.28. State and Federal Compliance.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable state and federal 

laws and regulations in the performance of this Grant Contract. The U.S. Office of Management 
and Budget’s Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards is available here: http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-
idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl   

 
D.29. Governing Law.  This Grant Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Tennessee.  The Grantee agrees that it will be subject to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Tennessee in actions that may arise under this Grant 
Contract.  The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that any rights or claims against the State of 
Tennessee or its employees hereunder, and any remedies arising there from, shall be subject to 
and limited to those rights and remedies, if any, available under Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 9-8-101 
through 9-8-407. 

 
D.30. Completeness.  This Grant Contract is complete and contains the entire understanding between 

the parties relating to the subject matter contained herein, including all the terms and conditions 
agreed to by the parties.  This Grant Contract supersedes any and all prior understandings, 
representations, negotiations, or agreements between the parties, whether written or oral. 

 
D.31. Severability.  If any terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are held to be invalid or 

unenforceable as a matter of law, the other terms and conditions shall not be affected and shall 
remain in full force and effect.  To this end, the terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are 
declared severable. 

 
D.32. Headings.  Section headings are for reference purposes only and shall not be construed as part 

of this Grant Contract. 
 
E. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  
 
E.1. Conflicting Terms and Conditions.  Should any of these special terms and conditions conflict with 

any other terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the special terms and conditions shall be 
subordinate to the Grant Contract’s other terms and conditions. 

 
E.2. Debarment and Suspension.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it, 

its current and future principals, its current and future subcontractors and their principals: 
 

a. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any federal or state department or 
agency; 

 

http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl


1-15-15 GG 

 

13 

 

b. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract been convicted of, 
or had a civil judgment rendered against them from commission of fraud, or a criminal 
offence in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (federal, 
state, or local) transaction or grant under a public transaction; violation of federal or state 
antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification, or 
destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 

 
c. are not presently indicted or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity 

(federal, state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses detailed in section b. of 
this certification;  and 

 
d. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract had one or more 

public transactions (federal, state, or local) terminated for cause or default. 
 

 The Grantee shall provide immediate written notice to the State if at any time it learns  that there 
was an earlier failure to disclose information or that due to changed circumstances, its principals 
or the principals of its subcontractors are excluded or disqualified 

 
E.3.      Confidentiality of Records.  Strict standards of confidentiality of records and information shall be 

maintained in accordance with applicable state and federal law.  All material and information, 
regardless of form, medium or method of communication, provided to the Grantee by the State or 
acquired by the Grantee on behalf of the State that is regarded as confidential under state or 
federal law shall be regarded as “Confidential Information.”  Nothing in this Section shall permit 
Grantee to disclose any Confidential Information, regardless of whether it has been disclosed or 
made available to the Grantee due to intentional or negligent actions or inactions of agents of the 
State or third parties.  Confidential Information shall not be disclosed except as required or 
permitted under state or federal law.  Grantee shall take all necessary steps to safeguard the 
confidentiality of such material or information in conformance with applicable state and federal 
law.    

              
             The obligations set forth in this Section shall survive the termination of this Grant Contract 
 
E.4. Printing Authorization.  The Grantee agrees that no publication coming within the jurisdiction of 

Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-7-101, et seq., shall be printed pursuant to this Grant Contract unless a 
printing authorization number has been obtained and affixed as required by Tenn. Code Ann. § 
12-7-103(d). 

 
E.5. Environmental Tobacco Smoke.  Pursuant to the provisions of the federal “Pro-Children Act of 

1994” and the “Children’s Act for Clean Indoor Air of 1995,” Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 39-17-1601 
through 1606, the Grantee shall prohibit smoking of tobacco products within any indoor premises 
in which services are provided to individuals under the age of eighteen (18) years.  The Grantee 
shall post “no smoking” signs in appropriate, permanent sites within such premises.  This 
prohibition shall be applicable during all hours, not just the hours in which children are present.  
Violators of the prohibition may be subject to civil penalties and fines.  This prohibition shall apply 
to and be made part of any subcontract related to this Grant Contract. 

 
E.6. Health Care Data.  The Grantee shall provide data reports about health care services provided 

under this Grant using the Department of Health’s Patient Tracking and Billing Management 
Information System (or its successor).  Data regarding health care services provided by the 
Grantee shall be coded and entered into the Patient Tracking and Billing Management 
Information System (PTBMIS), using the PTBMIS Codes Manual.  The PTBMIS Codes manual is 
available electronically at http://hsaintranet.health.tn.gov/ and e-mail notices shall be sent to the 
Grantee regarding new revisions and/or updates, which can be accessed through the above-
referenced website. 

 
On a schedule defined by the State, the Grantee shall submit Central Office Database Report 
(CODB) files, as defined in PTBMIS, electronically to the State.  The Grantee shall also submit  
other health care data reports, as requested by the State, and in a format acceptable to the State. 
 

http://hsaintranet.health.tn.gov/


1-15-15 GG 

 

14 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 

 

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT: 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT: 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH: 

 

JOHN J. DREYZEHNER, MD, MPH, FACOEM, COMMISSIONER DATE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$125,600.00 $0.00 $125,600.00

2 Benefits & Taxes
$52,700.00 $0.00 $52,700.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$29,800.00 $0.00 $29,800.00

6 Telephone
$400.00 $0.00 $400.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$200.00 $0.00 $200.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

10 Printing & Publications
$15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$6,200.00 $0.00 $6,200.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$100.00 $0.00 $100.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost 
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$230,000.00 $0.00 $230,000.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation 

Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

ATTACHMENT 1

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department COUNTY GOVERNMENT - LOCAL HEALTH SERVICES

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period 

beginning July 1, 2015, and ending June 30, 2016.



SALARIES  Longevity AMOUNT

Barbara Breedwell, Senior Secretary  $   2,525.75 x 12 x 50% +  $               338 $15,492.50

Varissia Chapman, Public Health Nurse  $   2,176.46 x 12 x 100% $26,117.52

Lisa, Vincent, Nurse Manager  $   4,837.73 x 12 x 100% $58,052.76

Sheila Jones, Public Health Nurse  $   2,517.43 x 12 x 8% $2,416.73

First Name, Last Name, Public Health Rep (PT)  $   1,791.99 x 12 x 100% $21,503.88

Overtime  $      166.67 x 12 x 100% $2,000.04

TOTAL ROUNDED $125,600.00 

TRAVEL / CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT

CRT/CAT Meetings $3,600.00 

Local Travel $2,600.00 

TOTAL $6,200.00 

ATTACHMENT 1 (continued)

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 2)



NAME AND REMITTANCE ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE   

INVOICE NUMBER  

INVOICE DATE  

INVOICE PERIOD  
FROM TO

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY   CONTRACT PERIOD   

FROM TO

PROGRAM AREA   

EDISON CONTRACT NUMBER   CONTACT PERSON/TELEPHONE NO.   

OCR CONTRACT NUMBER  

 

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

USERCODE:

Printing & Publications PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Specific Assistance to Individuals USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the data Please check one of the following boxes

above are correct, that all expenditures were made in These services are for medical services

accordance with the contract conditions, and that payment  

is due and has not been previously requested. non-medical services

Title: Title: Title:

Date: Date: Date:

ATTACHMENT: 2

STATE OF TENNESSEE

INVOICE FOR REIMBURSEMENT

TDOH AGENCY INVOICE NUMBER (ONLY FOR FISCAL OFFICE USE)  

FEDERAL ID#   Edison Vendor #   

Tennessee Department of Health

(B)

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Salaries $0.00

DUE

 

BUDGET

 

TOTAL

CONTRACT

Benefits $0.00

Professional Fee/Grant & Award $0.00

Supplies $0.00

Occupancy $0.00

Equipment Rental & Maintenance $0.00

Telephone $0.00

Postage & Shipping $0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

Depreciation $0.00

Interest $0.00

Insurance

Travel/Conferences & Meetings $0.00

CONTRACTOR'S/GRANTEE'S AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE PROGRAM APPROVAL AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

TOTAL $0.00

RECOMMENDED FOR PAYMENT

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY'S AUTHORIZED CERTIFICATION
FOR FISCAL USE ONLY

Other Non Personnel $0.00

Capital Purchase $0.00

Indirect Cost $0.00

FOR CENTRAL OFFICE USE ONLY  

(MO./DAY/YR.)

(C)

MONTHLY

EXPENDITURES

AMOUNT BILLED

YTD

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

BUDGET

LINE

ITEMS

AMOUNT:

(A)

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  



Instructions & Hints

Do not send a worksheet that is linked to another file
Line by line instructions are on the "line by line info" tab

Retain this file in blank form
Use "File Save As" to save information for a specific contract or reporting period
File Names: Please use the following format when naming files.

name of agency REPORTING PERIOD END.xls

do not abbreviate the agency name

example: davidson county health MARCH 02.xls
Reporting period - the start and end dates of the quarter being reported

Reporting periods are based on the Agency's fiscal year
Grant period - the start and end dates of the contract being reported
Send a report for every quarter even if there is no activity for that quarter
Abbreviations - do not abbreviate the Agency name
Number pages using the "page_____of _____ pages" format

THE WORKSHEET IS NOT PROTECTED

do not overwrite formulas (identified by yellow shading and "0" ) or change formats

do not overwrite/edit shaded areas (move to the cell beyond the shading for input)

do not add (insert) lines do not change shaded areas

Expense and Revenue pages can show information for 2 contracts
Use separate Schedules A & B to report contracts for each granting State agency

Use additional expense and revenue pages for more than 2 contracts
     copy all lines & fields to the first blank line below the last line in column A
     with the cursor at the start of the added page, use "insert" "page break" for print purposes
     reset print range to cover the added page(s) and correct the page numbers

Contract Number is the State Contract Number, NOT the agency program number
Report by program within the State Contract Number within State Department
Summarize programs into totals by State Contract Number and State Department totals
Do not combine State Contract Numbers 
One Funding Information Summary and one Schedule C are required from each contractor submitting reports
Review Section C in all contracts for reporting requirements

ALLOCATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

Requires completion of all attached sheets

NOTE If files are not properly named and print ranges not set, the report will be returned for correction

Do not send invoices with expense reports
If refund due, mail reports with check or send note with e-mail that check in the mail

e-mail completed files to: Doug.Curry@tn.gov
e-mail filing replaces mailing forms

Mailing Address:
Doug Curry Telephone:615-532-7115
Tennessee Department of Health FAX 615-741-9533
Fiscal Services
6th Floor - Andrew Johnson Tower
710 James Robertson Parkway
Nashville, TN 37243

Attachment 3

mailto:Doug.Curry@tn.gov


PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT (Excerpted from Policy 3 statement)

SCHEDULE A

EXPENSE BY OBJECT LINE-ITEMS

There are seventeen specific object expense categories; two subtotals (Line 3, Total 

Personnel Expenses, and Line 19, Total Non-personnel Expenses); and Reimbursable 

Capital Purchases (Line 20), above Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses. All expenses

should be included in one or more of the specific categories, or in an additional expense

category entered under Line 18, Other Non-personnel Expenses. The contracting state 

state agency may determine these requirements.

With the exception of depreciation, everything reported in Lines 1 through 21 must 

represent an actual cash disbursement or accrual as defined in the Basis For Reporting 

Expenses/Expenditures section on page 13.

THE YEAR-TO-DATE EXPENSES MUST BE TRACABLE TO THE REPORTING

AGENCY'S GENERAL LEDGER

Line 1 Salaries And Wages

On this line, enter compensation, fees, salaries, and wages paid to officers, directors, 

trustees, and employees. An attached schedule may be required showing client wages or 

other included in the aggregations.

Line 2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes

Enter (a) the organization's contributions to pension plans and to employee benefit 

programs such as health, life, and disability insurance; and (b) the organization's portion of

payroll taxes such as social security and medicare taxes and unemployment and workers’ 

compensation insurance. An attached schedule may be required showing client benefits and

taxes or other included in the aggregations.

Line 3 Total Personnel Expenses

Add lines 1 and 2.

Line 4 Professional Fees

Enter the organization's fees to outside professionals, consultants, and personal-service

contractors. Include legal, accounting, and auditing fees. An attached schedule may be required 

showing the details in the aggregation of professional fees.

Line 5 Supplies

Enter the organization's expenses for office supplies, housekeeping supplies, food and

beverages, and other supplies. An attached schedule may be required showing food

expenses or other details included in the aggregations.

Line 6 Telephone

Enter the organization's expenses for telephone, cellular phones, beepers, telegram, FAX,

E-mail, telephone equipment maintenance, and other related expenses.

Attachment 3



Line 7 Postage And Shipping

Enter the organization's expenses for postage, messenger services, overnight delivery, 

outside mailing service fees, freight and trucking, and maintenance of delivery and 

shipping vehicles. Include vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 8 Occupancy

Enter the organization's expenses for use of office space and other facilities, heat, light,

power, other utilities, outside janitorial services, mortgage interest, real estate taxes, and 

similar expenses. Include property insurance here or on line 14.

Line 9 Equipment Rental And Maintenance

Enter the organization's expenses for renting and maintaining computers, copiers, postage

meters, other office equipment, and other equipment, except for telephone, truck, and

automobile expenses, reportable on lines 6, 7, and 11, respectively.

Line 10 Printing And Publications

Enter the organization's expenses for producing printed materials, purchasing books and

publications, and buying subscriptions to publications.

Line 11 Travel

Enter the organization's expenses for travel, including transportation, meals and lodging, 

and per diem payments. Include gas and oil, repairs, licenses and permits, and leasing 

costs for company vehicles. Include travel expenses for meetings and conferences. Include

vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 12 Conferences And Meetings

Enter the organization's expenses for conducting or attending meetings, conferences, and

conventions. Include rental of facilities, speakers' fees and expenses, printed materials, and

registration fees (but not travel).

Line 13 Interest

Enter the organization's interest expense for loans and capital leases on equipment, trucks

and automobiles, and other notes and loans. Do not include mortgage interest reportable on line 8.

Line 14 Insurance

Enter the organization's expenses for liability insurance, fidelity bonds, and other

insurance. Do not include employee-related insurance reportable on line 2. Do not include 

property and vehicle insurance if reported on lines 7, 8, or 11.

Line 15 Grants And Awards

Enter the organization's awards, grants, subsidies, and other pass-through expenditures to

individuals and to other organizations. Include allocations to affiliated organizations. 

Include in-kind grants to individuals and organizations. Include scholarships, tuition

payments, travel allowances, and equipment allowances to clients and individual beneficiaries.

Pass-through funds are not included when computing administrative expenses reported on Line 22.

Attachment 3



Line 16 Specific Assistance to Individuals

Enter the organization's direct payment of expenses of clients, patients, and individual

beneficiaries. Include such expenses as medicines, medical and dental fees, children's

board, food and homemaker services, clothing, transportation, insurance coverage, and

wage supplements.

Line 17 Depreciation

Enter the expenses the organization records for depreciation of equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other depreciable fixed assets.

Line 18 Other Non-personnel Expenses

NOTE: Expenses reportable on lines 1 through 17 should not be reported in an additional

expense category on line 18. A description should be attached for each additional category

entered on line 18. The contracting state agency may determine these requirements.

Enter the organization's allowable expenses for advertising (1), bad debts (2), contingency

provisions (7), fines and penalties (14), independent research and development (reserved) 

(17), organization (27), page charges in professional journals (29), rearrangement and 

alteration (39), recruiting (41), and taxes (47). Include the organization’s and employees'

membership dues in associations and professional societies (26). Include other fees for the

organization's licenses, permits, registrations, etc.

Line 19 Total Non-personnel Expenses

Add lines 4 through 18.

Line 20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases

Enter the organization's purchases of fixed assets. Include land, equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other fixed assets. An attached schedule may be required

showing the details for each such purchase.

Line 21 Total Direct Program Expenses

Add lines 3, 19, and 20.

Includes direct and allocated direct program expenses.

Line 22 Administrative Expenses

The distribution will be made in accordance with an allocation plan approved by your cognizant 

state agency.

Line 23 Total Direct And Administrative Expenses

Line 23 is the total of Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses, and Line 22, 

Administrative Expenses. Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses Year-to-Date

should agree with the Total of Column B, Year-to-Date Actual Expenditures of the 

Invoice for Reimbursement.

Attachment 3



Line 24 In-Kind Expenses

In-kind Expenses (Line 24) is for reporting the value of contributed resources applied to

the program. Approval and reporting guidelines for in-kind contributions will be specified

by those contracting state agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Carry forward to Schedule B, Line 38.

Line 25 Total Expenses

The sum of Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses, and Line 24, In-kind Expenses,

goes on this line.

PROGRAM REVENUE REPORT (PRR)

SCHEDULE B

SOURCES OF REVENUE

The revenue page is intended to be an extension of the total expenses page, in that the

columns should match up by contract/attachment number and program title. There are ten

revenue sources (Schedule B, Part 1) and three subtotals (Lines 33, 41, and 43). Additional

supplemental schedules for one or more of the line items may be attached, if needed. Each

revenue column should be aligned with its corresponding expense column from Schedule A.

Reimbursable Program Funds

Line 31 Reimbursable Federal Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23, 

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from federal program funds. The state funding agency 

may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 32 Reimbursable State Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23,

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from state program funds. The state funding agency may

require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (Equals Schedule B, Line 55)

Add lines 31 and 32.

Matching Revenue Funds

Line 34 Other Federal Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other federal funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 35 Other State Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other state funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Attachment 3



Line 36 Other Government Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses 

(Equals Line 41), that is from other government funds. The state funding agency may

an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 37 Cash Contributions (Non-government)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from such sources of cash contributions as corporations, 

foundations, trusts, individuals, United Ways, other not-for-profit organizations, and from

affiliated organizations. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing and

reconciliation schedule.

Line 38 In-Kind Contributions (Equals Schedule A, Line 24)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from direct and administrative in-kind contributions. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Approval and guidelines for valuation and reporting of in-kind contributions will be

specified by those grantor agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Line 39 Program Income

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from program income related to the program funded by the state

agency. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 40 Other Matching Revenue

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other revenues not included in lines 34 through 39. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 41 Total Matching Revenue Funds

Add lines 34 through 40

Line 42 Other Program Funds

Enter program income related to the program funded by the state agency but not reported

as matching revenue funds on Line 54.

Line 43 Total Revenue

Add lines 33, 41, and 42

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TOTAL EXPENSES

AND REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES

SCHEDULE B - (Lines 51 to 59)

This section, at the bottom of Schedule B, is for subtracting non-reimbursable amounts

included in Total Expenses (Line 25, Schedule A and Line 51, Schedule B).

The first line of this section, Line 51, Total Expenses, is brought forward from the last

last line of the corresponding Schedule A Total Expense Page.

Attachment 3



There are three categories of adjustments for which titled lines are provided:

Line 52 OTHER UNALLOWABLE EXPENSES:

Some program expenses may not be reimbursable under certain grants. This is a matter

between the contracting parties, and will vary according to the state agency involved and

the type of grant or contract. Consult your contract or the department that funds the

program for guidelines.

Line 53 EXCESS ADMINISTRATION:

This adjustment line may be used to deduct allocated Administration and General expenses

in excess of an allowable percentage specified in the grant contract. It may also be used to

deduct an adjustment resulting from limitations on certain components of Administration

and General expenses. Again, the specific guidelines of the department and grant involved

are the controlling factor.

Line 54 MATCHING EXPENSES (Equals Schedule B, Line 41)

Since the goal is to arrive at a reimbursable amount, the expenses paid out of other sources

of funding, local support and program user fees for example, will have to be deducted. The

amount left should be only that which is to be paid for by the contracting state agency.

Line 55 REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES (Line 51 less Lines 52, 53, and 54)

(Equals Schedule B, Line 33)

This is the amount that the contracting state agency will pay for the quarter's operations of

the program. The cumulative column is what the grant actually paid to date.

Line 56 TOTAL REIMBURSEMENT-TO-DATE

In the quarter-to-date column, this is the total received for this quarter from filing of the

Invoice For Reimbursement. The cumulative column's amount is the total received for the

grant year-to-date.

Line 57 DIFFERENCE (Line 55 less Line 56)

This is the portion of Reimbursable Expenses not yet paid.

Line 58 ADVANCES

Any advance payments for a grant should appear on this line.

Line 59 THIS REIMBURSEMENT (Line 57 less Line 58)

The remainder should be the amount due under the grant contract. Actual payments are

made through the invoicing process and not through the filing of this report.

Attachment 3



POLICY 3 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS - SUMMARY

Policy 3 requires reporting the entire operation of the Grantee agency.  This could include

numerous programs and contracts.  Policy 3 requirements are outlined in each contract and are

available on line at:  http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/policyb.html

The “Contractor/Grantee” is the agency receiving the state grant.

The “Contracting State Agency” is the state agency that gives the grant.

Reports are normally due 30 days after the close of the Grantee's accounting quarter and year,

which may/may not coincide with the State accounting quarter and year end.  Exact requirements

are in the contract.

Policy 3 reporting requires one report from each contracting agency consisting of Schedules A, B,

and C and a Funding Information Summary.  Schedules A and B detail each program added to a

contract total.  Schedules A and B are designed to show 2 programs per page and there would be

only one Schedule C per grantee.  On Schedules A and B, programs that are not state funded can

be rolled into a single program category.  The lines on Schedule A for year-to-date information add

across all programs/contracts to the corresponding line on the Schedule C - Grant contracts in the

first column and non-grant operations in the second column.

The third column of the Schedule C shows Administrative Expenses incurred by the Grantee.

Administrative expenses are generally those that benefit programs but are not directly associated

with the program/contract.  These could include the Executive Director, office operation, accounting

staff, and other similar expenses.  This column will also show the allocation of Administrative

Expenses to the various programs/contracts, if this is done by the Grantee.  If allocated, a negative

on line 22 is equal to the Administrative Expense allocated to the grant and non-grant

programs/contracts.  Administrative Expenses may include some items that are not subject to

allocation so the amount allocated may/may not equal the total Administrative Expense reported.

Allocation of Administrative Expenses requires an approved allocation plan.

The fourth column of the Schedule C shows the total operation of the reporting grantee for the

year-to-date.  The Policy 3 report should, in total, match the total operation of the Grantee.

The funding Information Summary shows the method of allocating Administrative Expenses.  If

there is no approved allocation plan and the grantee does not allocate Administrative Expenses,

then there is no entry on Schedule C, line 22 and no allocation to the programs/contracts.  This

form must be submitted with every report.

Attachment 3

http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/policyb.html


AGENCY NAME

ADDRESS

CITY, STATE, ZIP

REPORTING PERIOD: (MM/DD/YY) FROM: THRU:

AGENCY FISCAL YEAR END (MM/DD)

COST ALLOCATION: DOES YOUR ORGANIZATION HAVE AN APPROVED COST ALLOCATION PLAN?

YES NO

If yes, Name of organization that approved the Plan:

IF COST ALLOCATION IS APPLIED, INDICATE THE METHOD OF ALLOCATION:

Ratio of direct program salaries to total direct salaries applied to administrative cost.

Ratio of direct program expenditure to total direct expenditures applied to administrative cost.

Cost step down.

Other (describe)

Is your organization: A private not-for-profit organization?

A state college or university, or part of a city government?

DIRECTOR PHONE #

PREPARER OF REPORT PHONE #

DATE COMPLETED

Tennessee Department of Health

Funding Information Summary

Attachment 3



Page ___ of ___
Schedule A, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule A
Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages
2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes
3      Total Personnel Expenses (add lines 1 and 2)
4 Professional Fees
5 Supplies
6 Telephone
7 Postage and Shipping
8 Occupancy
9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications
11 Travel
12 Conferences and Meetings
13 Interest
14 Insurance
15 Grants and Awards
16 Specific Assistance to Individuals
17 Depreciation
18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)

a
b
c
d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses (add lines 4 - 18)
20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases
21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES
22 Administrative Expenses
23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
24 In-Kind Expenses
25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 3



Page ___ of ___

Schedule B, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule B
Item # SOURCES OF REVENUE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

Reimbursable Program Funds ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------------
31      Reimbursable Federal Program Funds
32      Reimbursable State Program Funds
33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (equals line 55)

Matching Revenue Funds
34      Other Federal Funds
35      Other State Funds
36      Other Government Funds
37      Cash Contributions (non-government)
38      In-Kind Contributions (equals line 24)
39      Program Income
40      Other Matching Revenue
41 Total Matching Revenue Funds (lines 34 - 40)

42 Other Program Funds

43 Total Revenue (lines 33, 41, & 42)

Reconciliation Between Total and Reimbursable Expenses
51 Total Expenses (line 25)
52 Subtract Other Unallowable Expenses (contractual)
53 Subtract Excess Administration Expenses (contractual)
54 Subtract Matching Expenses (equals line 41)
55 Reimbursable Expenses (line 51 less lines 52,53,54)

56 Total Reimbursement To Date
57 Difference (line 55 less line 56)
58 Advances
59 This reimbursement (line 57 less line 58)

Attachment 3



Page   ___  of ___

Schedule C - Final Page STATE OF TENNESSEE   PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

TOTAL DIRECT 
PROGRAM 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
NONGRANT/ 

UNALLOWABLE 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

EXPENSES GRAND TOTAL

Schedule A Year-To-Date Information

Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages

2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes

3      Total Personnel Expenses

4 Professional Fees

5 Supplies

6 Telephone

7 Postage and Shipping

8 Occupancy

9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications

11 Travel

12 Conferences and Meetings

13 Interest

14 Insurance

15 Grants and Awards

16 Specific Assistance to Individuals

17 Depreciation

18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)

a

b

c

d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses

20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases

21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES

22 Administrative Expenses

23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

24 In-Kind Expenses

25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 3



No. 315-41 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ACCEPT A TWO-
YEAR $250,000.00 GRANT, BEGINNING APRIL 1, 2015 AND ENDING MARCH 31, 
2017, FROM THE OFFICE ON VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN (OVW) TO 
CONTINUE SUPERVISED VISITATION AND EXCHANGE SERVICES FOR 
ELIGIBLE FAMILIES.  
 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County is committed to improving the safety of victims of domestic 
violence and their children; and, 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Justice for Families Program, OVW seeks to continue its 
contractual agreement with Hamilton County for Supervised Visitation and Exchange services 
as prescribed by the Violence Against Women Act for persons who meet the eligibility 
requirements; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the County subcontracts with Partnership for Families, Children, and Adults 
Inc. to provide supervised visitation and exchange services; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the grant is budgeted in the Community Services Department. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
The County Mayor is hereby authorized to accept a two-year agreement (copies available upon 
request) between Hamilton County and the Department of Justice OVW to provide supervised 
visitation and exchange services in the amount of $250,000.00 for eligible families. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 315-42 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROPRIATING TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($20,000.00) TO THE 
MOUNTAIN EDUCATION FOUNDATION FROM THE DISCRETIONARY FUNDS OF 
COMMISSION DISTRICT TWO. 
 

WHEREAS,  the Mountain Educational Foundation (MEF), a 501 (c) (3) organization, was 
formed to provide ongoing financial support to achieve and maintain 
excellence in the public schools located on Signal Mountain, Hamilton 
County, Tennessee; and  

 
WHEREAS,  MEF provides financial assistance for items such as books, computer 

equipment, art instruction, teachers, and other education resources to the 
students attending Hamilton County Public Schools located on Signal 
Mountain; and  

 
WHEREAS,  the County Commissioner for District 2 has expressed a desire to assist MEF 

by allocating Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) of discretionary funds 
of District 2 to assist MEF in its mission; and  

 
WHEREAS,  said allocation is deemed in the best interest of the citizens of Hamilton 

County. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the sum of Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) is hereby appropriated to the Mountain 
Education Foundation from those discretionary funds attributed to County Commission District 
Two. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 315-43 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
March 18, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS RELATING TO THE CHOO 
CHOO PARTNERS, LP PROJECT, TO DELEGATE CERTAIN AUTHORITY TO 
THE HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL, AND HOUSING FACILITY BOARD OF THE CITY 
OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR 
TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF 
AD VALOREM TAXES. 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 7-53-305(b) Hamilton County 

(the “County”) is permitted to delegate to The Health, Educational, and 
Housing Facility Board of the City of Chattanooga (the "Board") the authority 
to negotiate and accept payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from lessees of the 
Board upon a finding by the County that such payments are deemed to be in 
furtherance of the Board's public purposes; and 

 
WHEREAS, Choo Choo Partners, LP (the “Company”) is contemplating the renovation of 

converting ninety-seven (97) hotel rooms located in Building 2 to multi-family 
apartments (collectively, the “Project”) and because of the substantial economic 
benefits to the City and Hamilton County resulting from the Project, has asked 
the Board, the City Council, and the County Commission (the “Commission”) 
to approve payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Commission has determined that payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from 

such a project would be in furtherance of the Board's public purposes as set 
forth within Chapter 53 of Title 7 of the Tennessee Code Annotated; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That we do hereby find that the Project is in the best interest of Hamilton County, and that 
payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes derived therefrom would be in furtherance of the Board's 
public purposes; and 



 

 

 
That, having made such a finding in this instance, we do hereby delegate to the Board the 
authority to negotiate and accept payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from the Company, it 
being further noted that this delegation is for this purpose and this project only; and 
 
That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to enter into an Agreement for Payments In Lieu 
Of Ad Valorem Taxes in substantially the form attached hereto, with such changes thereto as 
he shall approve. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 18, 2015 

  
Date 

 



This Instrument Prepared By: 
Phillip A. Noblett, Deputy City Attorney 
100 E. 11th Street, Suite 200 
Chattanooga, TN  37402 
 

LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT, made and entered as of this ___ day of 
___________________, 2015, by and between THE HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL AND 
HOUSING FACILITY BOARD OF THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE (the 
“Board”), a public corporation duly created and existing under the laws of the State of 
Tennessee, and CHOO CHOO PARTNERS, L.P. (the “Company”), a Delaware limited 
partnership. 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

In consideration of the respective covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, the 
Board and the Company agree as follows: 
 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 

Section  1.01  Definitions.  The following terms when used in this Agreement, unless the 
context shall clearly indicate another or different meaning or intent, shall be construed as 
follows: 
 

“Act” means Chapter 333 of the Public Acts of 1969, as codified in Tennessee Code 
Annotated Sections 48-101-301 et seq., as heretofore amended and as hereafter amended from 
time to time. 

 
“Act of Bankruptcy” means the filing of a petition in bankruptcy (or other 

commencement of a bankruptcy or similar proceeding) by or against the Company or the Board 
under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law as now or hereafter in effect. 

 
“Agreement” means this Lease Agreement as it now exists and as it may hereafter be 

amended. 
 
“Board” means The Health, Educational and Housing Facility Board of the City of 

Chattanooga, Tennessee, a public corporation duly created and existing under the Act, and its 
successors and assigns. 

 
“City” means the City of Chattanooga, Tennessee. 

 
“County” means Hamilton County, Tennessee. 

 

1 
12998487v2 



 
The terms “default” and “event of default” mean any occurrence or event specified in 

Section 10.01 hereof. 
 

The term “pending” with respect to any proceedings commenced by an Act of 
Bankruptcy means that such proceedings have not been dismissed, or are subject to further 
appeal. 

 
“PILOT Agreement” means the Agreement for Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes 

entered into by and among the Board, the Company, the City and the County. 
 
“Project” means the multi-family rental housing project located on the Property. 
 
“Property” means the real and personal property described in Exhibit “A” attached 

hereto, together with additions thereto, replacements thereof and substitutions therefor. 
 

 
ARTICLE II 

 
CERTIFICATIONS 

 
Section  2.01  Certifications by Board.  The Board makes the following certifications as 

the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 
 

(a) The Board is a public corporation of the State of Tennessee, duly 
organized and existing under the provisions of the Act.  The Act authorizes the Board to acquire 
real and personal property constituting a “Project” under the Act. 

 
(b) The Board has found and does hereby declare that the Project constitutes 

“multi-family housing facilities” qualifying as a “Project” under the Act and that the acquisition 
of the Project and the leasing of the same to the Company will be in furtherance of the public 
purposes for which the Board was created. 

 
(c) The Board has been induced to enter into this undertaking by the promise 

of the Company to operate a housing facility in the State of Tennessee. 
 
(d) There are no actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries or investigations 

pending, or to the knowledge of the Board threatened, against or affecting the Board in any court 
or before any governmental authority or arbitration board or tribunal, which involve the 
possibility of materially and adversely affecting the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 
or which, in any way, would materially and adversely affect the validity or enforceability of this 
Agreement or any agreement or instrument to which the Board is a party and which is used or 
contemplated for use in the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. 
 

 

2 
12998487v2 



Section  2.02  Certifications by Company.  The Company makes the following 
certifications as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 
 

(a) The Company is a limited partnership duly formed under the laws of the 
State of Delaware, is in good standing under Delaware law, is fully qualified to do business in 
the State of Tennessee, has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform 
all obligations contained herein and therein, and has, by proper action, been duly authorized to 
execute and deliver this Agreement and, when executed and delivered by the parties thereto, this 
Agreement will constitute the valid and binding obligation of the Company enforceable in 
accordance with its terms. 
 

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated herein by the Company, nor the fulfillment of or 
compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, does or will conflict with or result 
in a breach of the terms, conditions or provisions of any restriction or internal governing 
document of the Company or any agreement or instrument to which the Company is now a party 
or by which it is bound, or any existing law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or decree to which 
it is subject, or constitutes a default under any of the foregoing or, except as contemplated 
hereby, results in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge or encumbrance whatsoever upon 
any of the property or assets of the Company under the terms of any instrument or agreement. 

 
(c) There are no proceedings pending, or to the knowledge of the Company 

threatened, against or affecting the Company in any court or before any governmental authority, 
arbitration board or tribunal which involve the possibility of materially and adversely affecting 
the properties, business, prospects, profits or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Company, 
or the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement.  The Company is 
not in default with respect to an order of any court, governmental authority, arbitration board or 
tribunal. 

 
(d) No event has occurred and no condition exists with respect to the 

Company that would constitute an “event of default” under this Agreement, or which, with the 
lapse of time or with the giving of notice, or both, would become such an “event of default.” 
 

ARTICLE III 
 

LEASING CLAUSES; WARRANTY OF TITLE 
 

Section  3.01  Lease of Property.  The Board hereby  leases to the Company, and the 
Company hereby leases from the Board, the Property, for the consideration set forth in Section 
5.03 hereof and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

Section  3.02  Title.  The Board will obtain upon the acquisition thereof good and 
marketable title to the Property, free from all encumbrances. 
 

 

3 
12998487v2 



Section  3.03  Quiet Enjoyment.  The Board covenants and agrees that it will warrant and 
defend the Company in the quiet enjoyment and peaceable possession of the Property, free from 
all claims of all persons whatsoever, throughout the Lease Term, so long as the Company shall 
perform the covenants, conditions and agreements to be performed by it hereunder, or so long as 
the period for remedying any default in such performance shall not have expired.  If the Board 
shall at any time be called upon to defend the title to said property as aforesaid, it shall not be 
required to incur any costs or expenses in connection therewith unless indemnified to its 
satisfaction against all such costs and expenses. 

 
ARTICLE IV 

 
ACQUISITION, CONSTRUCTION AND INSTALLATION OF PROPERTY 

 
Section  4.01  Agreement to Acquire, Construct and Install Project.  The Company agrees 

that: 
 

(a) It will cause title in and to the Property to be vested in the Board. 
 
(b) It will acquire, construct and install the Project in the name of and on 

behalf of the Board.  
 
(c)  It will complete the acquisition, construction  and equipping of the Project 

as promptly as practicable. 
 

ARTICLE V 
 

EFFECTIVE DATE; DURATION OF LEASE TERM; CONSIDERATION 
 

Section  5.01  Effective Date of this Agreement; Duration of Lease Term.  This 
Agreement shall become effective upon its delivery, and the leasehold estate created hereunder 
shall then begin, and, subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, shall expire at midnight, 
December 31, 2024. 

 
Section  5.02  Delivery and Acceptance of Possession.  The Board agrees to deliver to the 

Company sole and exclusive possession of the Project, and the Company agrees to accept 
possession of the Project upon such delivery. 
 

Section  5.03  Consideration for Lease.  In consideration of the lease granted hereunder the 
Company agrees to: 
 

(a) Acquire, construct and install the Project as described in Section 4.01 
hereof; 

 
(b) Operate the Project as a multi-family housing facility for its own benefit 

and for the benefit of the citizens of the County and the City; and 

 

4 
12998487v2 



 
(c) Make the payments required of it under the PILOT Agreement. 
 

  
ARTICLE VI 

 
MAINTENANCE: MODIFICATION: TAXES AND INSURANCE 

 
Section  6.01  Maintenance and Modification of Property by Company.  The Company 

agrees that throughout the term of this Agreement it will, at its own expense, keep the Property 
(i) in as reasonably safe condition as its operations shall permit, and (ii) in good repair and in 
good operating condition, normal wear and tear and obsolescence excepted, making from time to 
time all necessary repairs thereto and renewals and replacements thereof. 

 
Section  6.02  Removal of Personal Property Included in Project.  The Board shall not be 

under any obligation to renew, repair or replace any inadequate, obsolete, worn-out, unsuitable, 
undesirable or unnecessary personal property constituting a part of the Project.  In any instance 
where the Company in its sole discretion determines that any items of such personal property 
have become inadequate, obsolete, worn-out, unsuitable, undesirable or unnecessary, the 
Company may remove such items of personal property and (on behalf of the Board) sell, trade-
in, exchange or otherwise dispose of them (as a whole or in part) without any responsibility or 
accountability to the Board therefor. 

 
Section  6.03  Taxes, Other Governmental Charges and Utility Charges.  The Board and 

the Company acknowledge that under present law the Project will be exempt from taxation in the 
State of Tennessee.  The Company will pay, as the same become lawfully due and payable, (i) all 
taxes and governmental charges of any kind whatsoever upon or with respect to the Project and 
(ii) all utility and other charges incurred in the operation, maintenance, use, occupancy and 
upkeep of the Project. 

 
The Company may, at its own expense and in its own name, in good faith contest any 

such taxes, assessments or other charges and, in the event of any such contest, may permit the 
taxes, assessments or other charges so contested to remain unpaid during the period of such 
contest and any appeal therefrom.  The Board will cooperate fully with the Company in any such 
contest.   

 
Section  6.04  Maintenance of Insurance.  Throughout the term of this Agreement, the 

Company shall keep the Property continuously insured against such risks as are customarily 
insured against with respect to property similar to the Property by businesses of like size and 
type (other than business interruption insurance), paying as the same become due all premiums 
in respect thereto. 

 
Section  6.05  Indemnification of Board.   The Company shall and hereby agrees to 

indemnify and save the Board and its officers, directors, agents, servants and employees 
harmless from and against all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation arising 

 

5 
12998487v2 



from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done on, the Property during the 
term of this Agreement, and against and from all claims arising during the term of this 
Agreement, from  
 

(a) any condition of the Property caused by the Company; 
 
(b) any breach or default on the part of the Company in the performance of any its 

obligations under this Agreement; and 
 
(c) any act of negligence of the Company or of any agents, contractors, 

servants, employees or licensees of the Company or of any assignee or sublessee of the 
Company. 
 

The Company shall indemnify and save the Board and its officers, directors, agents, 
servants and employees harmless from and against all costs and expenses incurred in or in 
connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and, upon notice from the Board, the 
Company shall defend the Board and any such officer, director, agent, servant or employee or 
any of them in any such action or proceeding. 
 

Section  6.06  Board Expenses.  In addition to other payments required to be made by the 
Company hereunder, the Company shall pay any reasonable expenses not specifically mentioned 
herein which are incurred by the Board in connection with the Property or this Agreement. 
 

Section  6.07  Depreciation and Investment Credit.  The Board covenants and agrees that 
depreciation expenses and investment tax credit, if any, with respect to the Project shall be made 
available to the Company, and the Board will fully cooperate with the Company in any effort by 
the Company to avail itself of any such depreciation expenses or investment tax credit, but the 
Board shall have no responsibility or liability for failure of the Company to receive any such 
expenses or credits. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
 

DAMAGE, DESTRUCTION AND CONDEMNATION 
 

Section  7.01  Damage and Destruction.  If during the term hereof the Property is 
damaged by fire or other casualty, the Board shall cause the proceeds received by it from 
insurance to be paid to the Company for application in one or both of the following ways, as 
shall be determined by the Company: 
 

(a) Repair, rebuilding or restoration of the property damaged. 
 
(b) Reimbursement to the Company for loss in value of its interest in the 

Property. 
 

 

6 
12998487v2 



Section  7.02  Condemnation of Property.  If title in and to, or the temporary use of, the 
Property or any part thereof shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain by 
any governmental body or by any person, firm or corporation acting under governmental 
authority, the Board shall cause the proceeds received by it from any award made in such 
eminent domain proceeding to be paid to the Company for application in one or more of the 
following ways, as shall be determined by the Company: 
 

(a) Restoration of the Property to substantially the same condition as existed 
prior to the exercise of said power of eminent domain. 

 
(b) Acquisition, by construction or otherwise, of other property having 

substantially the same use and utility as the property taken in such proceedings (which property 
will be deemed a part of the Property available for use by the Company under this Agreement).   

 
(c) Reimbursement to the Company for loss in value of its interest in the 

Property. 
 

The Board shall cooperate fully with the Company in the handling and conduct of any 
prospective or pending eminent domain proceeding with respect to the Property or any part 
thereof and shall, to the extent it may lawfully do so, permit the Company to litigate in any such 
proceeding in the name and on behalf of the Board.   In no event will the Board voluntarily 
settle, or consent to the settlement of, any prospective or pending eminent domain proceeding 
with respect to the Property or any part thereof without the written consent of the Company. 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

SPECIAL COVENANTS 
 

Section  8.01  No Warranty of Condition or Suitability by Board.  The Board makes no 
warranty, either express or implied, as to the condition of the Property or that it will be suitable 
for the purposes or needs of the Company.  The Company releases the Board from, agrees that 
the Board shall not be liable for, and agrees to hold the Board and its officers, directors, agents, 
servants and employees harmless against, any loss or damage to property or any injury to or 
death of any person that may be occasioned by any cause whatsoever pertaining to the Property 
or the use thereof.  The members of the Board of Directors of the Board shall incur no liability 
either individually or collectively by reason of the obligations undertaken by the Board 
hereunder. 

 
Section  8.02  Identification of Personal Property Included in Project.  The Company will 

at all times maintain in its permanent records a complete list of the personal property constituting 
a part of the Project, which will specifically identify each item of such personal property as being 
property of the Board. 

 

7 
12998487v2 



 
ARTICLE IX 

 
ASSIGNMENT, SUBLEASING, PLEDGING AND SELLING 

 
Section  9.01  Assignment or Subleasing.  This Agreement may be assigned and the 

Property be subleased, as a whole  or in part, by the Company without the prior written consent 
of the Board provided that: 
 

(a) No assignment shall relieve the Company from primary liability for any of 
its obligations hereunder, and, in the event of any such assignment, the Company shall continue 
to remain primarily liable for performance and observance of the agreements on its part herein 
provided to be performed and observed by it to the same extent as though no assignment had 
been made. 

 
(b) The assignee or sublessee shall assume the obligations of the Company 

hereunder to the extent of the interest assigned or subleased. 
 
(c) The Company shall, within thirty (30) days after the execution and 

delivery thereof, furnish or cause to be furnished to the Board a true and complete copy of each 
such assignment, sublease and assumption of obligation, as the case may be. 
 

Section  9.02  Restrictions on Sale of Property by Board.  The Board agrees that, except 
for transactions effected in accordance with Section 11.03 hereof and except as requested by the 
Company, it will not sell, assign, mortgage, transfer or convey the Property during the Lease 
Term or create or suffer to be created any debt, lien or charge on the rents, revenues or receipts 
arising out of or in connection with its ownership of the Property, and it will not take any other 
action which may reasonably be construed as tending to cause or induce the levy or assessment 
of ad valorem taxes; provided, that if the laws of the State of Tennessee at the time shall permit, 
nothing contained in this Section shall prevent the consolidation of the Board with, or merger 
into, or transfer of the Property as an entirety to, any public corporation whose property and 
income are not subject to taxation and which has corporate authority to carry on the business of 
owning, leasing and selling of the Property; provided that such consolidation, merger or transfer 
shall be authorized by the governing body of the State of Tennessee. 
 

ARTICLE X 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 
 

Section 10.01  Events of Default Defined.  The following shall be “events of default” 
under this Agreement, and the terms “event of default” or “default” shall mean, whenever they  
are used in this Agreement, any one or more of the following events: 
 

(a) Failure by the Board or the Company to observe and perform any 
covenant, condition or agreement on its part to be observed or performed, for a period of thirty 

 

8 
12998487v2 



(30) days after written notice specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied is given 
to one party by the other, unless the one giving notice shall agree in writing to an extension of 
such time prior to its expiration.  If a failure under this Section 10.01(a) is such that it can be 
corrected but not within the applicable period, it shall not constitute an event of default if 
appropriate corrective action is instituted within the applicable period and diligently pursued 
until the default is corrected. 
 

(b) A voluntary Act of Bankruptcy or an Act of Bankruptcy which, if 
resulting from the filing or commencement of involuntary proceedings against the Company or 
the Board, is not dismissed or discharged within sixty (60) days of the filing or commencement 
thereof. 
 

The foregoing provisions of subsection (a) of this Section are subject to the following 
limitations:  if by reasons of force majeure, the Board or the Company is unable in whole or in 
part to carry out the agreements on its part herein referred to, the failure to perform such 
agreements due to such inability shall not constitute an event of default nor shall it become an 
event of default upon appropriate notification or the passage of this stated period of time.  The 
term “force majeure” as used herein shall mean, without limitation, the following:  acts of God; 
strikes, lockouts or other industrial disturbances; act of public enemies; orders of any kind of the 
government of the United States of America or of the State of Tennessee or any of their 
respective departments, agencies, political subdivisions or officials, or any civil or military 
authority; insurrections; riots; epidemics; landslides; lightning; earthquakes; fires, hurricanes, 
tornadoes; storms; floods; washouts; droughts; arrests; restraint of government and people; civil 
disturbances; explosions; breakage or accident to machinery, transmission pipes or canals; partial 
or entire failure of utilities; or any other cause or event not reasonably within the control of the 
Board or the Company.  The Board and the Company agree, however, to remedy with all 
reasonable dispatch the cause or causes preventing it from carrying out its agreements; provided, 
that the settlement of strikes, lockouts and other industrial disturbances shall be entirely within 
the discretion of the Board or the Company, as the case may be and the Board and the Company 
shall not be required to make settlement of strikes, lockouts and other industrial disturbances by 
acceding to the demands of the opposing party or parties when such course is, in the judgment of 
the Board or the Company, unfavorable to it. 
 

Section 10.02  Remedies on Default.  Whenever any event of default referred to in 
Section 10.01 hereof shall have occurred and be subsisting, the Board or the Company, as the 
case may be, may take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to 
enforce performance and observance of any obligation, agreement, or covenant under this 
Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE XI 
 

OPTIONS IN FAVOR OF COMPANY 
 

Section 11.01  Options to Terminate.  The Company  shall have the following options to 
cancel or terminate the term of this Agreement: 

 

9 
12998487v2 



 
(a) At any time, the Company may terminate the Lease Term by giving 

written notice to the Board of such termination. 
 
(b) At any time, the Company may terminate this Agreement as to a part of 

the Property by giving written notice to the Board of such termination, and such termination shall 
forthwith become effective as to that part of the Property. 
 

Section 11.02  Option to Purchase Property.  Upon termination or expiration of the Lease 
Term or termination of this Agreement as to a part of the Property, the Company shall have, and 
is hereby granted, the option to purchase the Property or that part of the Property as to which the 
Agreement has been terminated, as the case may be, for the purchase price, in each case, of One 
Dollar ($1.00).  This option may be exercised whether or not the Company is in default 
hereunder. 
 

Section 11.03  Conveyance on Exercise of Option.  Upon exercise of the option granted 
above, the Board will, upon receipt of the purchase price, deliver to the Company documents 
conveying to the Company title to the Property or part of the Property, as the case shall be, by 
appropriate deeds and bills of sale, subject only to   
 

(a) those liens and encumbrances, if any, to which title to said property was 
subject when conveyed to the Board; 
 

(b) those liens and encumbrances created by or with the consent of the 
Company; and 

 
(c) those liens and encumbrances resulting from the failure of the Company to 

perform or observe any of the agreements on its part contained in this Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE XII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 

Section 12.01  Notices.  All notices, certificates or other communications hereunder shall 
be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when delivered or mailed by first class United 
States mail, postage prepaid, or sent by telegram addressed as follows: 
 

Board: The Health, Educational and Housing Facility 
Board of the City of Chattanooga, Tennessee 
c/o Phillip A. Noblett, Deputy City Attorney 
Suite 200, 100 E. 11th Street 
Chattanooga, TN 37402 

 

 

10 
12998487v2 



Company: Choo Choo Partners, L.P. 
 c/o Kinsey Probasco Hays LLC 
 201 West Main Street 
 Suite 100 
 Chattanooga, Tennessee 37408 

 
Any such person may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to 
which subsequent notices, certificates or other communication shall be sent. 
 

Section 12.02  Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be 
binding upon the Company, the Board, and their respective successors and assigns. 

 
Section 12.03  Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or 

unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision hereof. 

 
Section 12.04  Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be simultaneously 

executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall 
constitute but one and the same instrument. 

 
Section 12.05  Captions.  The captions and headings in this Agreement are for 

convenience only and in no way define, limit or describe the scope, extent or intent of any 
provision or Section hereof. 

 
Section 12.06  Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed 

and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee. 

 

11 
12998487v2 



 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board and the Company have caused this Agreement to 

be duly executed in their respective corporate names, all as of the date first above written. 
 
 

ATTEST: 

By:       
 Secretary 

THE HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL AND 
HOUSING FACILITY BOARD OF THE CITY 
OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 
 
By:        
 Chairman 
 
 
CHOO CHOO PARTNERS, L.P. 
By LKA, LLC 
 
By:        
Title:        
 
 

 

 

12 
12998487v2 



STATE OF TENNESSEE 
COUNTY OF HAMILTON 
 

Personally appeared before me, _______________, Notary Public, 
_____________________ and ___________________, with whom I am personally acquainted, 
and who acknowledged that they executed the within instrument for the purposes therein 
contained, and who further acknowledged that they are the Chairman and Secretary of the 
Maker, THE HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL AND HOUSING FACILITY BOARD OF THE CITY 
OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE, and are authorized by the Maker to execute this 
instrument on behalf of the Maker. 
 

WITNESS my hand, at office, this ____ day of ____________, 2015. 
 

       
Notary Public 
My Commission Expires:     

 
 
 
STATE OF TENNESSEE 
COUNTY OF HAMILTON 
 

Personally appeared before me, __________________, Notary Public, 
_________________, with whom I am personally acquainted, and who acknowledged that (s)he 
executed the within instrument for the purposes therein contained, and who further 
acknowledged that (s)he is the Manager of LKA, LLC, General Partner of the Maker, CHOO 
CHOO PARTNERS, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, and is authorized by the Maker to 
execute this instrument on behalf of the Maker. 
 

WITNESS my hand, at office, this ____ day of ____________, 2015. 
 

       
Notary Public 
My Commission Expires:     

 

13 
12998487v2 



EXHIBIT “A” 
TO LEASE 

 
REAL PROPERTY 

 
IN THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, HAMILTON COUNTY, STATE OF TENNESSEE: 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

PERSONAL PROPERTY 
 
All personal property used by the Company in connection with its housing facility located on the 
real property described above. 

 

14 
12998487v2 



AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU 
OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of the ___ day of _______________, 

2015, by and among THE HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL AND HOUSING FACILITY BOARD 

OF THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE (the “Board”); CHOO CHOO 

PARTNERS, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “Company”); the CITY OF 

CHATTANOOGA (the “City”); and HAMILTON COUNTY (the “County”) and is joined in, for 

purposes of evidencing their acceptance of the agency relationship established herein, by 

WILLIAM F. HULLANDER and his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON 

COUNTY TRUSTEE (“Trustee”), and by WILLIAM C. BENNETT and his successors, acting 

in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY ASSESSOR OF PROPERTY (“Assessor”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Company is contemplating the conversion of an existing hotel structure 

(Building No. 2) located on the Chattanooga Choo Choo Property at 1400 Market Street, 

Chattanooga, Hamilton County, Tennessee into residential multi-family rental property 

consisting of ninety-seven (97) units (the “Project”) and has requested the Board’s assistance in 

the financing of the Project; and 

WHEREAS, substantial public welfare benefits to the City and County will be derived 

from the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has agreed to take title to certain real and personal property that 

constitutes the Project, as described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (the “Property”), which 

Property is to be owned by the Board and leased to the Company; and 

WHEREAS, because the Property is to be owned by the Board, which is a public 

corporation organized under the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, §48-101-301, et seq., 

 1 
12998407v3  09607-0120 



all such property will be exempt from ad valorem property taxes (“property taxes”) normally 

paid to the City and to the County, so long as the Property is owned by the Board, pursuant to the 

provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, §48-101-312; and 

WHEREAS, for the public benefit of the citizens of the City and the County, the Board 

has requested that the Company make certain payments to the Board in lieu of the payment of 

property taxes that would otherwise be payable on the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to make such payments to the Board in lieu of the 

property taxes otherwise payable on the Property (the “In Lieu Payments”), as more particularly 

set forth hereinafter; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has been authorized to receive the In Lieu Payments in lieu of 

property taxes by resolutions adopted by the City and the County, acting through their duly 

elected Council and Commission, respectively, which resolutions delegate to the Board the 

authority to accept the In Lieu Payments upon compliance with certain terms and conditions; and 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Board have agreed that all In Lieu Payments made to 

the Board by the Company shall be paid to the Trustee, who shall disburse such amounts to the 

general funds of the City and the County in accordance with the requirements specified herein; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the County Assessor as its agents to appraise 

the Property and assess a percentage of its value in the manner specified herein; and  

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Trustee as its agent to receive the In Lieu 

Payments in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants and 

agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 2 
12998407v3  09607-0120 



1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The Board 

hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor 

shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State 

of Tennessee as though the Property were subject to property taxes.  The Assessor shall give the 

Trustee, the City Treasurer, the Board, and the Company written notice of any changes in 

appraisals of the Property in the same manner that notices are given to owners of taxable 

property.  The Assessor shall make available to the Board and the Company all records relating 

to the appraisal and assessment of the Property. 

2. Designation of Trustee; Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  

The Board hereby designates the Trustee as its agent to compute the amounts of the In Lieu 

Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payments to the 

City and the County.  On or about October 1 of each year during the term of this agreement, the 

Trustee shall compute the taxes which would be payable on the Property if it were subject to 

property taxes, in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Tennessee and in 

accordance with the appraisal and assessment of the Assessor.  Each year hereunder, the Trustee 

shall send the Board and the Company a bill for appropriate amounts of In Lieu Payments (the 

“Tax Bill”). 

3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company shall pay 

to the Trustee the amounts indicated on the Tax Bill in accordance with the amount set forth 

below in Paragraph 4.  The In Lieu Payments shall be made by the Company in lieu of the 

property taxes which would otherwise be payable on the Property if it were subject to property 

taxes.   

 3 
12998407v3  09607-0120 



4. Amount of Payments by the Company.   

(a) Land.  For each of the years 2016 and thereafter, the Company shall make 

payments with respect to the Property in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all 

City and County annual ad valorem property taxes levied on the value of the land of the 

associated Property.  The intent is for the City and County to continue receiving throughout the 

term of this Agreement all taxes assessed as to the value of the land exclusive of the 

improvements. 

(b) Improvements.  After construction is completed and the Assessor of 

Property has reassessed the then improved Property, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments 

in the amount required to satisfy the Hamilton County Schools portion of the property taxes that 

would be due on the Property (as improved) if it were subject to taxation (the “School Portion”), 

which the parties acknowledge and agree currently equates to 27.1% of the amount of the total 

City and County taxes that would have been payable on the Property if it were subject to 

property taxes. In Lieu Payments on the improvements will be as follows: 

 
Year 

City General 
Fund (1) 

County General 
Fund (1) 

County School 
Fund (1) 

2015 - 2027 0% 0% 100% 
2028 20%  20% 100% 
2029 40%  40%  100% 

2030 60%  60%  100% 
2031 80%  80%  100% 
2032 100%  100%  100% 

 
(1) – The above percentages refer to the percent of the amount of taxes that would have 

been payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes. 

As noted above, during such years 2028 to 2031, the Company shall continue to pay the 

School Portion attributable to the Hamilton County Schools.  For any periods before or after such 

 4 
12998407v3  09607-0120 



16-year period that the Property is owned by the Board, the Company shall make In Lieu 

Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor and the Trustee, equal to one hundred 

percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been payable on the Property if it were 

subject to property taxes. 

5. Penalties and Late Charges.  The Company shall make the In Lieu Payments for 

each year before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments to the City and County 

shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows: 

(a) If the Company fails to make any In Lieu Payment when due, then a late 

charge shall be charged and shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be 

in the amount of one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount, for each month that 

each payment has been unpaid.  Such one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) per month late charge 

amount shall accumulate each month and be payable so long as there remains any outstanding 

unpaid amount. 

(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as 

provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit in the Chancery 

Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments due, late charges, expenses 

and costs of collection in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

(c) If the Company should fail to reserve for lease at least Twenty (20%) 

percent of the available units in the Project to persons whose income does not exceed Eighty 

(80%) percent of the area median income as annually defined in the most recent guidelines 

published by the Department of Housing and Urban Development, then the City and the County 

reserve the right but are not obligated to adjust the terms and conditions of the tax abatement 

granted to the Company under this Agreement for the Tax Abatement Period by requiring the 

 5 
12998407v3  09607-0120 



Company to pay an additional amount of the In Lieu Payments on the Property.  The County and 

the City shall look solely to the Company for any repayment obligations. 

6. Disbursements by the Treasurer and Trustee.  All sums received by the Treasurer 

pursuant to Paragraph 4 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to the general 

funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordance with the normal 

requirements of law governing the settlement and paying over of taxes to counties and 

municipalities.  All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 4 for the benefit of the 

County general fund shall be disbursed to the general fund of the County in accordance with this 

paragraph and in accordance with the normal requirements of law governing the settlement and 

paying over of taxes to counties and municipalities.  All such sums received by the Treasurer 

shall be placed into an account for the use and benefit of the City. All such sums received by the 

Trustee shall be placed into an account for the use and benefit of the County. The account for the 

use and benefit of the City shall be funded with the proportionate amount to which the In Lieu 

Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed to the City, and the 

account for the use and benefit of the County shall be funded with the proportionate amount to 

which the In Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed to 

the County. All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 4 for the benefit of the 

County school system shall be disbursed to the County and thereafter deposited into an account 

for the educational use and benefit of the County schools.  The parties acknowledge and agree 

that all disbursements to the City and County pursuant to this Agreement are in furtherance of 

the Board’s purposes as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated § 7-53-305. 

7. Contest by the Company.  The Company shall have the right to contest the 

appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor and the computation by the Trustee of 

 6 
12998407v3  09607-0120 



the amount of the In Lieu Payment.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, 

then it shall present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position.  Likewise, if the Company 

contests any such computation, it shall present evidence to the Trustee in favor of its position.  If 

the In Lieu Payments being contested shall be or become due and payable, the Company shall 

make such payments under protest. The Company and the Assessor or the Trustee, as the case 

may be, shall negotiate in good faith to resolve any disputes as to appraisal, assessment or 

computation.  If the Company and the Assessor or the Trustee are unable to resolve a dispute, 

then the Company may file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the 

provisions of this Agreement, including those covering appraisal, assessment and computation, 

be construed or applied to the relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such 

dispute. 

8. Annual Report. The Company will provide, on or before January 31 of each 

calendar year during this Agreement, an annual report to the Board, the Mayor of the City, and 

the Mayor of the County, summarizing its investment in the Property and a certified rent roll.   

9. Lien on Property.  Any amounts which remain payable under this Agreement 

shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the 

event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accordance with this Agreement. 

10. Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board attains 

title to the Property and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property 

or the Company has made all payments required hereunder, whichever shall later occur. 

11. Leasehold Taxation.  If the leasehold interest of the Company should be subject to 

ad valorem taxation, then any amounts assessed as taxes thereon shall be credited against any In 

Lieu Payments due hereunder.  The Company agrees to cooperate fully with the Assessor in 

 7 
12998407v3  09607-0120 



supplying information for completion of leasehold taxation questionnaires with respect to the 

Property. 

12. Stormwater Fees.  In addition to the in-lieu-of payments specified herein, the 

Company shall be responsible for all stormwater fees assessed by the City of Chattanooga 

against the Real Property. 

13. Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall 

be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via facsimile 

transmission or delivered, if to the City or the Board, c/o Mr. Phillip A. Noblett, Suite 200, 100 

E. 11th Street, Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402; if to the County, c/o Mr. Rheubin M. Taylor, 

County Attorney, Hamilton County Government, Room 204, County Courthouse, Chattanooga, 

Tennessee 37402-1956; if to the Company, 201 West Main Street, Suite 100, Chattanooga, 

Tennessee 37408; if to the Trustee, at his address at Hamilton County Courthouse, Chattanooga, 

Tennessee 37402; and if to the Assessor, at his address at Hamilton County Courthouse, 

Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402; or, as to each party, at such other address as shall be designated 

by such party in a written notice to the other party.  All such notices and communications shall, 

when mailed by registered and certified mail, return receipt requested, Express Mail, or 

facsimile, be effective when deposited in the mails or if sent upon facsimile transmission, 

confirmed electronically, respectively, addressed as aforesaid. 

14. Assignability; No Waiver; Remedies.  The Company may not assign this 

Agreement, or any part hereof, without prior written approval of the Chattanooga City Council 

and the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners.  Any attempt to assign without such 

approval shall be void and shall constitute grounds for the cancellation of this Agreement at the 

option of the Board, the City, and/or the County.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and 

 8 
12998407v3  09607-0120 



no delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall 

any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further 

exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies provided in this Agreement are 

cumulative and are not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. 

15. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be 

held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall 

not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

16. No Liability of Board’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any obligation, 

covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, 

member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or future, either directly 

or through the Board.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at common law or 

in equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, member, 

director or officer, as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of and 

consideration for the execution of this Agreement. 

17. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of 

each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns. 

18. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in 

accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee. 

19. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each 

of the parties hereto, except that the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in 

amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder. 

 

 

 9 
12998407v3  09607-0120 



 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 

[Signature Page Follows] 

 10 
12998407v3  09607-0120 



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day 

and date first above written. 

 

ATTEST: 

By:       
 Secretary 

THE HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL AND HOUSING 
FACILITY BOARD OF THE CITY OF 
CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 
 
By:        
 Chairman 
 
 
CHOO CHOO PARTNERS, L.P. 
By LKA, LLC, General Partner 
 
By:        
Title:        
 
 
CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 
 
By:        
 Mayor 
 
 
HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
By:        
 County Mayor 
 
 
WILLIAM F. HULLANDER 
 
By:        
 Hamilton County Trustee 
 
 
WILLIAM C. BENNETT 
 
By:        
 Hamilton County Assessor of 
 Property 
 

 11 
12998407v3  09607-0120 



EXHIBIT “A” 
TO AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

 
REAL PROPERTY 

 
IN THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, HAMILTON COUNTY, STATE OF TENNESSEE: 

Being a portion of the Choo Choo Partners LP property described in Deed Book 3572, Page 420, 
in the Register’s Office of Hamilton County, Tennessee, and being more particularly described 
as follows: 

Beginning at a point on the North right-of-way of East 14th Street and being North 64 degrees 59 
minutes 23 seconds West 32.60 feet from the intersection of said right-of-way with the East 
right-of-way of Passenger Street; thence with and along the North right-of-way of East 14th 
Street, North 64 degrees 59 minutes 23 seconds West 384.19 feet to a point; thence leaving said 
right-of-way, North 24 degrees 57 minutes 51 seconds East 20.50 feet to a point; thence South 65 
degrees 02 minutes 09 seconds  East 8.16 feet to a point; thence North 24 degrees 57 minutes 51 
seconds  East 17.04 feet to a point; thence South 65 degrees 02 minutes 09 seconds  East 29.41 
feet to a point; thence North 20 degrees 13 minutes 17 seconds  East 74.43 feet to a point; thence 
South 78 degrees 42 minutes 10 seconds  East 98.22 feet to a point; thence North 58 degrees 46 
minutes 48 seconds  East 26.62 feet to a point; thence South 80 degrees 06 minutes 38 seconds  
East 47.81 feet to a point; thence North 25 degrees 00 minutes 12 seconds  East 8.33 feet to a 
point; thence South 65 degrees 00 minutes 38 seconds  East 25.62 feet to a point; thence North 
22 degrees 59 minutes 17 seconds  East 6.10 feet to a point; thence South 64 degrees 42 minutes 
12 seconds  East 31.75 feet to a point; thence south 76 degrees 31 minutes 28 seconds  East 
29.51 feet to a point; thence North 85 degrees 19 minutes 40 seconds  East 53.84 feet to a point; 
thence North 82 degrees 05 minutes 47 seconds  East 39.58 feet to a point; thence South 18 
degrees 38 minutes 55 seconds  East 42.02 feet to a point; thence South 25 degrees 02 minutes 
06 seconds  West 120.15 feet to a point; thence South 24 degrees 02 minutes 53 seconds  West 
87.44 feet to the Point of Beginning. Being and containing 61,616 square feet or 1.415 acres, 
more or less. 

 
PERSONAL PROPERTY 

 
All personal property used by the Company in connection with its housing facility located on the 
real property described above. 
 
 

12998407v3  09607-0120 


	3-18-15 Revised Agenda
	315-_S_Minutes_ Agenda Meeting - February 25, 2015_1456_02-25-15 Agenda
	315-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - February 25, 2015 _1455_02-25-15 Recessed
	315-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - March 4, 2015 _1457_03-04-15 Regular
	315-_S_Report_Juvenile Court Clerk's Report November 2014_1459_Juvenile Court Clerks Report Nov 2014
	315-15_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_1451_03-18-15
	315-15_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_1451_03-18-15A
	315-16_R_Bill Knowles_Renewing a contract with BIS for the annual maintenance of the motor vehicle system software package._1458_03-18-15 BIS Contract Resolution
	315-16_S_Bill Knowles_Renewing a contract with BIS for the annual maintenance of the motor vehicle system software package._1458_Hamilton Software Maint Clk Contract 2015
	315-17_R_Sheriff Hammond_AEGIS Law Enforcement Foundation Donation of Body Worn Cameras._1425_AEGIS
	315-18_R_Sheriff Hammond_Inmate Video Visitation_1426_RES. INMATE VIDEO VISITATION
	315-18_S_Sheriff Hammond_Inmate Video Visitation_1426_Inmate Video Visitation
	315-19_R_Sheriff Hammond_Clothing and miscellaneous items for the jail_1439_RES. CLOTHING & MISC. ITEMS
	315-19_S_Sheriff Hammond_Clothing and miscellaneous items for the jail_1439_Clothing & Miscellaneous items for jail
	315-20_R_Sheriff Hammond_Area Storage Network Solution_1448_RES. AREA STORAGE NETWORK (SAN) SOLUTION
	315-20_S_Sheriff Hammond_Area Storage Network Solution_1448_Storage Area Network (SAN) Solution
	315-21_R_Zoning_Zoning_1429_15-021
	315-21_S_Zoning_Zoning_1429_0105_001
	315-22_R_Zoning_Zoning_1430_15-023
	315-22_S_Zoning_Zoning_1430_0106_001
	315-23_R_Zoning_Zoning_1431_15-024
	315-23_S_Zoning_Zoning_1431_0107_001
	315-24_R_Zoning_Zoning_1432_15-025
	315-24_S_Zoning_Zoning_1432_0108_001
	315-24B_R_Zoning Addition
	315-24B_S_Zoning Addition
	315-25A_R_Zoning_Revised
	315-25A_S_Zoning Revised
	315-25B_R_Zoning Revised
	315-25B_S_Zoning Revised
	315-26_R_Bill McGriff_HP Data Communications Equipment_1436_RES. HP DATA COMMUNICATIONS EQUIPMENT
	315-26_S_Bill McGriff_HP Data Communications Equipment_1436_Additional HP Data Communications Equipment Contract
	315-27_R_Alecia Poe_Employee Benefits Consultant_1446_RES. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CONSULTANT - RUSS BLAKELY
	315-27_S_Alecia Poe_Employee Benefits Consultant_1446_Employee Benefits Consultant
	315-28_R_Todd Leamon_Two dump trucks and equipment_1438_RES. SINGLE AXLE DUMP TRUCKS
	315-28_S_Todd Leamon_Two Dump Trucks and Equipment_1438_(2) Single Axle Dump Trucks
	315-29_R_Don Allen_Woodcarpet for playgrounds_1428_RES. WOODCARPET CONTRACT
	315-29_S_Don Allen_Woodcarpet for playgrounds_1428_Woodcarpet Contract
	315-30_R_Don Allen_Six Fire Training Air Packs_1437_RES. FIRE TRAINING AIR PACKS
	315-30_S_Don Allen_Six Fire Training Air Packs_1437_Fire Training Air Packs
	315-31_R_Don Allen_Landscape Maintenance for EMS Stations and Sheriff's Annexes_1445_RES. LANDSCAPE MAINT EMS STATIONS
	315-31_S_Don Allen_Landscape Maintenance for EMS Stations and Sheriff's Annexes_1445_Landscape Maintenance at EMS Stations & Sheriff's Annexes
	315-32_R_Albert Kiser_Adding Hazardous Materials Waste Remediation Services to Purchasing Rules_1435_RES. ADD PROFESSIONAL SERVICE -HAZARDOUR MATERIALS-WASTE REMEDIATION SERVICES
	315-33_R_Albert Kiser_Intergovernmental Transfer To Secure Funding for Erlanger._1447_STATE OF TENNESSEE
	315-34_R_Albert Kiser_Resolution authorizing the issuance of interest bearing G. O. Bonds._1450_STATE OF TENNESSEE
	315-34_S_Albert Kiser_Resolution authorizing the issuance of interest bearing G. O. Bonds._1450_0912_001
	315-34_S_Albert Kiser_Resolution authorizing the issuance of interest bearing G. O. Bonds._1450_Authorizing Resolution Attachment
	exhibit a
	CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION
	ASSIGNMENT
	exhibit B
	CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION
	ASSIGNMENT

	315-34_S_Albert Kiser_Resolution authorizing the issuance of interest bearing G. O. Bonds._1450_Escrow_Agreement_-_Hamilton_County_2015
	ARTICLE I   DEFINITIONS; INCORPORATION OF RECITALS
	Section 1.01  Definitions.  In addition to words and terms elsewhere defined in this Agreement, the following words and terms as used in this Agreement will have the following meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.
	Section 1.02  Incorporation of Recitals.  The recital clauses and the definitions set forth hereinabove are specifically incorporated into the text of this Agreement and are to be interpreted as a material part hereof.

	ARTICLE II   CREATION OF TRUST FUND
	Section 2.01  Escrow Fund.  There is hereby created and established with the Escrow Agent a special and irrevocable escrow fund designated the Escrow Fund to be held in the custody of the Escrow Agent separate and apart from other funds and accounts o...
	Section 2.02  Initial Deposit; Securities Purchase.  Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, the County will deposit or cause to be deposited with the Escrow Agent for deposit in the Escrow Fund, and the Escrow Agent hereby acknowledges rec...
	Section 2.03  Irrevocable Deposit; Control.  The deposit of the cash in the Escrow Fund shall constitute an irrevocable deposit of such cash exclusively for the benefit of the Refunded Bonds, and such proceeds and Government Obligations, together with...
	Section 2.04    Reinvestment; SLGS.  (a) The Escrow Agent is hereby authorized and directed to reinvest proceeds of the Government Obligations which are attributable to amounts received as principal of or interest on the Government Obligations and not...
	Section 2.05    Substitute Securities.  The County may at any time substitute cash or other Government Obligations for the Government Obligations listed in Schedule II provided that such cash or Government Obligations:

	ARTICLE III   DUTIES OF THE ESCROW AGENT; FEES AND COSTS
	Section 3.01  Payments on Refunded Bonds.  The Escrow Agent, without further authorization and direction from the County, will pay from moneys available in the Escrow Fund to the persons entitled thereto on the dates and in the amounts set forth in Sc...
	Section 3.02    Fund Established. The Escrow Agent hereby accepts the money caused to be deposited in the Escrow Fund by the County.  The Escrow Agent shall purchase or cause to be purchased those Government Obligations listed in Schedule II solely fr...
	(a) a certificate of an independent certified public accountant stating that after giving effect to such request the Government Obligations held for the credit of such account are of such maturities and interest payment dates and bear such interest as...
	(b) an opinion of counsel acceptable to the County and the Escrow Agent, which shall be nationally recognized bond or tax counsel, stating that the Refunded Bonds are deemed defeased and that the compliance with such request of the County will not adv...

	Section 3.03    Escrow Agent’s Fees, Costs and Expenses.  The Escrow Agent’s fees, costs and expenses for and in carrying out the provisions of this Agreement have been fixed, which fees, costs and expenses are to be paid by the County as they are due...
	Section 3.04  Notice of Optional Redemption.  Not less than 30 days nor more than 60 days prior to each Redemption Date, the Escrow Agent hereby agrees to deliver a notice of redemption in substantially the form set forth in UExhibit A-1U and UExhibit...
	Section 3.05    Concerning the Escrow Agent.  It is expressly understood and agreed that the Escrow Agent’s duties and obligations in connection with this Agreement are confined to those expressly defined herein and no additional covenants or obligati...

	ARTICLE IV   GENERAL PROVISIONS
	Section 4.01  Escrow Fund Irrevocable.  The Escrow Fund hereby created shall be irrevocable, and the registered owners of the Refunded Bonds are hereby granted an express lien on the Escrow Fund until applied in accordance with this Agreement.

	The Escrow Agent shall hold the Escrow Fund as a separate trust account wholly segregated from all other funds and accounts held in any capacity and shall make disbursements from such accounts only in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. ...
	Section 4.02  Reports.  The Escrow Agent shall deliver to the County not later than the fifteen day of each month beginning on May 15, 2015, a report of each transaction relating to the Escrow Fund for the prior month.
	Section 4.03    Verification.  The accuracy of the mathematical computations of the adequacy of the Government Obligations in the Escrow Fund to pay the principal of and interest due and to become due on the Refunded Bonds (including certain fees and ...
	Section 4.04  Deficiency.  If there is any deficiency in the Escrow Fund, the County will remedy such deficiency promptly by paying to the Escrow Agent the amount of such deficiency.  The Escrow Agent is not liable for any such deficiency, except as m...
	Section 4.05  Termination.  This Agreement will terminate when all payments of the principal of and interest on the Refunded Bonds (including certain fees and expenses related thereto) required to be made to the owners of the Refunded Bonds under the ...
	Section 4.06  Indemnification.  To the extent permitted by applicable law, the County hereby agrees to indemnify the Escrow Agent and save it harmless from and against any and all actions or suits and from and against any and all losses, liabilities, ...
	Section 4.07    Resignation of Escrow Agent.  The Escrow Agent may resign at any time by giving written notice thereof to the County; provided that such resignation will not take effect until the appointment of a successor Escrow Agent and the accepta...
	Section 4.08  Severability.  If any one or more of the covenants or agreements provided in this Agreement on the part of the parties hereto to be performed should be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, such covenant ...
	Section 4.09  Law.  This Agreement shall be governed exclusively by the laws of the State of Tennessee.
	Section 4.10  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, all or any of which shall be regarded for all purposes as one original and shall constitute and be one and the same instrument.
	Section 4.11  Notices.  Any notice or other communication to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and may be given by certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested), telegraph or personal delivery:
	(a) to the County at the following address:    Hamilton County, Tennessee   117 East 7PthP Street, 5PthP Floor, Newell Tower    Chattanooga, Tennessee  37402   Attention:  Administrator of Finance
	(b) to the Escrow Agent at the following address:    The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.   2001 Bryan Street, 11PthP Floor   Dallas, Texas  75201   Attention:  Corporate Trust Department

	Section 4.12    Electronic Communications.  The Escrow Agent agrees to accept and act upon instructions or directions from the County pursuant to this Agreement sent by unsecured e-mail, facsimile transmission or other similar unsecured electronic met...


	315-34_S_Albert Kiser_Resolution authorizing the issuance of interest bearing G. O. Bonds._1450_Hamilton 3 4 15
	315-35_R_Albert Kiser_Adoption of a Hybrid Pension Plan for employees hired on or after October 1 2015._1462_Change of Benefit Plan
	315-36_R_Albert Kiser_This Resolution enables the County to make contributions to a tax deferred retirement plan in addition to TCRS._1463_Tax Deferred Retirement Plan
	315-37_R_Albert Kiser_This Resolution allows County employees to participate in a 401K defined contribution plan._1464_Defined Contribution Plan
	315-37_S_Albert Kiser_This Resolution allows County employees to participate in a 401K defined contribution plan._1464_0931_001
	315-38_R_Becky Barnes_Tobacco Prevention Program_1440_RESOLUTION - TOBACCO PREVENTION - APRIL 1, 2015 - MARCH 31, 2017
	315-38_S_Becky Barnes_Tobacco Prevention Program_1440_CONTRACT - TOBACCO USE PREVENTION - APRIL 2015 - MARCH 2017
	315-39_R_Becky Barnes_Children's Special Services Care Coordination_1441_CSS Resolution for CERP final
	315-39_S_Becky Barnes_Children's Special Services Care Coordination_1441_34360-38716 Hamilton County CSS GG sig
	315-40_R_Becky Barnes_Fetal Infant Mortality Review_1449_Resolution FIMR 2015-16 for CERP final.1
	315-40_S_Becky Barnes_Fetal Infant Mortality Review_1449_34347-33416 ready for sign revised sign page (2)
	315-41_R_Becky Barnes_Office of Violence Against Women grant agreement._1454_Violence Against Women Resolution 2017
	315-42_R_Rheubin Taylor_Appropriation of funds for the Mountain Education Foundation._1422_Appropriation of funds for the Mountain Education Foundation - Template
	315-43_R_Rheubin Taylor_Choo Choo Partners LP Project Pilot Agreement_1460_Template - Choo Choo Pilot
	315-43_S_Rheubin Taylor_Choo Choo Partners LP Project Pilot Agreement_1460_CHOO CHOO Lease Agreement
	315-43_S_Rheubin Taylor_Choo Choo Partners LP Payments in Lieu of AD Valorem Taxes



